FUNDEMENTAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS

VOLUME I

ISSUE I

FUJMA

http://dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN 2645-8845 VOLUME I ISSUE I ISSN 2645-8845 June 2018 http://dergipark.gov.tr/fujma

FUNDAMENTAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS



Honorary Editor-in-Chief

Murat Tosun Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE tosun@sakarya.edu.tr

Editors

Editor in Chief

Murat Kirişçi Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, İstanbul University, İstanbul-TÜRKİYE murat.kirisci@istanbul.edu.tr

Co-Editor in Chief

Emrah Evren Kara Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE eevrenkara@duzce.edu.tr

Managing Editor

Merve İlkhan Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE merveilkhan@duzce.edu.tr

Editor in Chief

Fuat Usta Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE fuatusta@duzce.edu.tr

Co-Editor in Chief Mahmut Akyiğit Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE makyigit@sakarya.edu.tr

Editorial Board of Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Hari Mohan Srivastava University of Victoria, CANADA

Sidney Allen Morris Federation University, AUSTRALIA

Yeol Je Cho Gyeongsang National University, KOREA

Naseer Shahzad King Abdulaziz University, SAUDI ARABIA Mohammad Mursaleen Aligarh Muslim University, INDIA

> Michael Th. Rassias University of Zurich, SWITZERLAND

Syed Abdul Mohiuddine King Abdulaziz University, SAUDI ARABIA

> Selçuk Topal Bitlis Eren University, TÜRKİYE

Stojan Radenovic University of Belgrade, SERBIA

Soley Ersoy Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Editorial Secretariat

Pınar Zengin Alp Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE Mujahid Abbas University of Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA

Mehmet Ali Güngör Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Editorial Secretariat Hande Kormalı Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE

Contents

1	Quantum contextuality in classical information retrieval Roman Zapatrin	1-5
2	Stability conditions for non-autonomous linear differential equations in a Hilbert space commutators	ce via
	Michael Gil'	6-11
3	The new UP-isomorphism theorems for UP-algebras in the meaning of the congruence of	leter-
	mined by a UP-homomorphism SPhakawat Mosrijai, Akarachai Satirad, Aiyared Iampan	12-17
4	A horizontal endomorphism of the canonical superspray Esmaeil Azizpour, Mohammad Hassan Zarifi	18-24
5	Chebyshev Wavelet collocation method for solving a class of linear and nonlinear nonl	
	boundary value problems İbrahim Çelik	25-35
6	Establishing the existence of Hilfer fractional pantograph equations with impulses Sugumaran Harikrishnan, Rabha Ibrahim, Kuppusamy Kanagarajan	36-42
7	Best proximity points for weak \mathcal{MT} -cyclic Kannan contractions Hossein Lakzian, Ing-Jer Lin	43-48
8	Characterizations of slant and spherical helices due to pseudo-Sabban frame Bülent Altunkaya, Levent Kula	49-56
9	Quantum metrics on noncommutative spaces Maysam Maysami Sadr	57-60
10	Some new Pascal sequence spaces Harun Polat	61-68
11	A comparison study for solving systems of high-order ordinary differential equations	with
	constants coefficients by exponential Legendre collocation method Mohamed Elarbi Benattia, Kacem Belghaba, Bouteraa Noureddine	69-76
12	Transverse vibration of nonuniform Euler-Bernoulli beams on bounded Time scales Hüseyin Tuna, Hatice Bulut	77-81
13	Differential bubordinations and argument inequalities for certain multivalent functions de	efined
	by convolution structure Mohamed Kamal Aouf, Rabha El-Ashwah, Ekram Elsayed Ali	82-87
14	Initial value problems spreadsheet solver using VBA for engineering education <i>Çiğdem Dinçkal</i>	88-101
15	Elzaki transform combined with variational iteration method for partial differential equa of fractional order	ations
	Djelloul Ziane, Tarig M Elzaki, Mountassir Hamdi Cherif	102-108



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Quantum contextuality in classical information retrieval

Romàn Zapatrin^{a*}

^aDepartment of Informatics, The State Russian Museum, Inżenernaya 4, 191186, St.Petersburg, Russia ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: Roman.Zapatrin@gmail.com

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Quantum entanglement, Non-classical correlation, Information retrieval 2010 AMS: 81P13, 62F15 Received: 12 March 2018 Accepted: 15 April 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018

Document ranking based on probabilistic evaluations of relevance is known to exhibit nonclassical correlations, which may be explained by admitting a complex structure of the event space, namely, by assuming the events to emerge from multiple sample spaces. The structure of event space formed by overlapping sample spaces is known in quantum mechanics, they may exhibit some counter-intuitive features, called quantum contextuality. In this Note I observe that from the structural point of view quantum contextuality looks similar to personalization of information retrieval scenarios. Along these lines, Knowledge Revision is treated as operationalistic measurement and a way to quantify the rate of personalization of Information Retrieval scenarios is suggested.

1. The evolution of information needs

The notion of information needs was clearly formulated by Tailor [12]. Along with the development of IR systems the very structure of information needs, of queries was subject to evolution. Briefly, its mainstream can be described as a transition (read upwards)



(1.1)

each stage using the previous one as a background. Information Retrieval uses Data Retrieval environment yet modifying the structure of queries, as formulated by Lancaster "An information retrieval system does not inform (i.e. change the knowledge of) the user on the subject of his inquiry. It merely informs on the existence (or non-existence) and whereabouts of documents relating to his request" [5]. Then the next stage is the increasing personalization of search. The user interacts with an IR environment having a goal to update the state of his knowledge (belief) rather than to retrieve a particular document. This way Information Retrieval serves for Knowledge Revision (KR). How quantum mechanics comes? The chain (1.1) can be compared with the transition from classical mechanics, dealing with the absolute character of the values measured, to quantum mechanics, where the result of a measurement is a result of an act of will of an observer rather

than retrieving a pre-existing value. In both extreme cases, the retrieval act is nothing but a measurement. Similar to the evolution of the notion of measurement, the retrieval metaphors evolve.

We shall deal and with the general notion of Information Needs (IN), ranging them in four levels [12]



with the following meaning

- The visceral need is the actual, but unexpressed, need for information.
- The conscious need is a within-brain description of the need.
- The formalized need is a formal statement of the question.
- The compromised need is the question as presented to the information system.

The chain (1.1) reflects the upwards transition in the above list, and the personalization tightly approaches to the visceral IN. In this Note I deal with the quantification of personalization – the crucial part of Knowledge Revision – using quantum metaphor. The technical basis for this quantitative approach is formed of the following research lines:

- Simulation of quantum contextuality effects by finite automata and the evaluation of the amount of memory required for this simulation [4]. Our basic idea is to revert this argumentation and to evaluate the features of a quantum system, which can be in certain sense simulated by giver IR environment.
- The evaluations of violations of classical probabilistic laws by index term probabilities, carried out by Melucci [7] and the quantitative evaluation of the amount of contextuality by Svozil [11]

2. On the nature of non-classical correlations

In general, non-classical correlations appear when Kolmogorovian probability model is no longer applicable. The basic point of Kolmogorovian model is the existence of a (single) sample space Ω . The events are subsets of Ω , while the points of the sample space are elementary and independent.

In order to test this or that model, we employ Accardi's statistical invariants [2], they allow to test the applicability of Kolmogorovian model. Given:

- a family of discrete maximal observables $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha = 1, ..., T\}$ (*T* being finite), each observable A_{α} takes the finite number of values $a_{j\alpha}^{(\alpha)}$ labelled by $j_{\alpha} = 1, ..., n$
- the experimentally measurable conditional probabilities $p_{i_{\alpha},i_{\beta}}(\beta \mid \alpha)$

$$p_{j_{\alpha},j_{\beta}}(\beta \mid \alpha) = P\left(A_{\beta} = a_{j\beta}^{(\beta)} \mid A_{\alpha} = a_{j\alpha}^{(\alpha)}\right)$$
(2.1)

The problem is: does there exist a probability space $(\Omega; \mathscr{F}; P)$ and *T* measurable partitions $A_j^{(\alpha)}$ of cardinality *n* (the number of distinct values of each observable is assumed to be the same)

$$A_j^{(\alpha)}, \alpha = 1, \dots, T, j = 1, \dots, n$$

such that for any $\alpha, \beta = 1, \dots T$ one has

$$P\left(A^{(\beta)} = a_j^{(\beta)} \mid A^{(\alpha)} = a_i^{(\alpha)}\right) = \frac{P\left(A_j^{(\beta)} \cup A_i^{(\alpha)}\right)}{P\left(A_j^{(\beta)}\right)}$$
(2.2)

(1.2)

In order to get the answer, a linear programming problem is to be solved [1], that is, the problem of the existence of a single sample space is finitely decidable.

In the sequel we shall need the special case of three observables A, B, C, each taking only two values a_1, a_2 for A, b_1, b_2 for B and c_1, c_2 for the observable C. The transition probability matrices for each pair of observables, being bistochastic, each has only one numeric parameter, denote the appropriate matrices as

$$P(A \mid B) = P = \begin{pmatrix} p & 1-p \\ 1-p & p \end{pmatrix}$$

$$P(B \mid C) = Q = \begin{pmatrix} q & 1-q \\ 1-q & q \end{pmatrix}$$

$$P(C \mid A) = R = \begin{pmatrix} r & 1-r \\ 1-r & r \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.3)

then these transition probabilities can be described by a Kolmogorovian model (that is, they are produced by a single sample space) if and only if

$$|p+q-1| \le r \le 1 - |p-q| \tag{2.4}$$

3. Melucci operationalistic metaphor

There is a straightforward analogy between IR and the process of measurement, called Melucci metaphor. There is a search machine, which we may treat to be prepared in certain state, and there is an observer, which performs a measurement. It is typical that the preparation of query system does not assume a query asked by the user, this causes a mismatch, which is to be handled [7].

The situation when a mismatch between the preparation and measurement occurs is a source of paradoxes and counter-intuitive observable consequences of quantum mechanics. It results in the possible randomness of single accounts, though previous stages were deterministically prepared. To deal with it, context translation is introduced as handling the mismatch between state preparation and measurement. In quantum mechanics this metaphorically looks as follows [10]. Suppose an electron is prepared, using Stern-Gerlach device, in pure spin stat along *z* axis, always showing spin up. Then we decide to ask the so-prepared electron a complementary question: "what is direction of spin along the *x* axis?" Quantum mechanics tells us that the electron is completely incapable to store more than one bit of information (assuming this is not so leads to direct experimental contradictions). That is why the electron gives a random reply on this query. This is what makes it different from deterministic query agents, who are not able to handle improper input, on which they offer no answer.

Modern IR environments are no longer so rigid, they easily handle any kind of input: if you ask them, almost always you get an answer, but sometimes the relevance of this answer for you personally may be of zero value. To overcome this, search engines are configured to track user's requests, or, in other words, to keep the context associated with particular user and his present role. Altogether, each such particular action I call knowledge revision scenario. In practice this is done by seeding pebbles along the way the user goes through the jungles of World Wide Web, say, by storing browser's cookies. These pebbles are, after all, just sequences of bits. Now suppose our task is to judge to what extent the act of measurement is personalized, let us view it from a perspective of quantum measurement. To do it, recall a series of recent works summarized in [4].

4. Quantifying the personality in Knowledge Revision scenarios

In brief, quantum contextuality manifests itself as follows: when measuring quantum systems, the result may depend on which other compatible observables are measured simultaneously. Furthermore, these other observables may be just intended to be measured rather than really measured. This cloud of potentially co-measurable values is referred to as **context**. When simulating a quantum system by agents with internal memory (recall that, as told above, quantum system are so smart that they behave in this way without having internal memory), the agent will attain different internal states in course of carrying out a sequence of elementary queries. The minimal amount of memory needed to simulate particular manifestations of quantum contextuality is called memory cost of this quantum effect. The paper [4] explores the memory cost of simulating quantum contextuality effect observed on singlet states of positronium. It gives a clue to draw a correspondence:

quantum contextuality \longrightarrow its memory cost

In general, the memory cost increases as more and more contextuality constraints are considered. The complexity of contextuality constrains depends, in its turn, on the dimension of the state space of the system in question.

I suggest the following technical idea. The argumentation of the authors of [4] is reverted. We start with an IR environment and ask how complex quantum contextual features it may exhibit? Furthermore, we may reduce the answer to just a number (or a string of numbers), namely, the dimensionality (or a tensor product structure – TPS [13]) of a quantum system demonstrating similar context dependence.

KR scenario
$$\longrightarrow$$
 quantum system

How to do this? What is to be simulated? Here, I dwell only on the logical and certain probabilistic aspects of simulation. To do it, the proper tools to deal with the structure of the collection of properties of a system are introduced.

Overlapping contexts. It was observed by different authors that complex IR systems are not well described by probabilistic models based on a single sample space. In [9] it was explicitly shown that Bayesian reasoning in its direct for fails and, in order to get adequate evaluations, when writing conditional probabilities P(A | B) one should take care about specifying the context – a particular sample space, in which these conditional probabilities are calculated. In the meantime, the small sample spaces are not separated - thy overlap, there are events belonging to different contexts. It occurs that the classical contingency table

	RETRIEVED	NOT RETRIEVED	
RELEVANT	$A \cap B$	$A\cap ar{B}$	A
NON-RELEVANT	$ar{A}\cap B$	$ar{A}\capar{B}$	Ā
	В	Ē	

ceases to be adequate. The reason is that even within a single scenario both A and B may belong to different contexts, in particular, \overline{A} is no longer uniquely defined by A (the same to B and \overline{B}). How to capture this structure? A tool of combinatorial nature is needed to describe overlapping contexts. First note that a single sample space is structureless, all its elements are equally (un)related with each other. In case of overlapping contexts this is no longer the case. A graphical (and combinatorial) way to capture such relations was suggested by R.Greechie (see [3] for an overview). The idea is to

- (i) consider all the elements of all sample spaces together
- (ii) label each element with a tag pointing to appropriate context

The Kolmogorovian probabilities (and hence Bayesian inference) come from the fact that the logic of statements about the appropriate sample space is Boolean. In case of pasted contexts this is no longer so, the structure of all the statements about the IR environment is no longer Boolean.

How contextuality effects come? Mainly, in the form of Kochen-Specker reasoning stating that particular hypothetical probability assignments do not exist such as a total probability distribution on the whole diagram viewed as a single sample space. The consequence of such results is signaling that the evaluation of conditional probabilities based on standard Bayes model will be no loner adequate. For examples of such violations in quantum mechanics see [4], in IR this also takes place, see, for instance [7]. Quantitatively it looks as follows.

'How much contextuality'? So far, only qualitative ideas were provided. The next step is to try to evaluate them, putting the question 'How much contextuality'? A possible transparent answer was recently proposed in [11]. We take a representative sampling of observables, and simply check the ratio of the triples, for which Accardi inequalities (2.4) are violated.

Using the ideas of [11], the rate of personalization can be evaluated in a similar way. First, by random sampling, triples of properties, that is, yes-no queries are picked. Then, for each triple, the transition probability matrices (2.3) are calculated. For each particular sample triple the inequalities (2.4) are checked. Then the ratio of samples is calculated:

$$\mathbf{Pers} = \frac{\text{number of triples violating (2.4)}}{\text{total number of sampled triples}}$$
(4.1)

Conclusions

Vector models of IR become more and more popular, first of all because they make it possible to carry out multi-document actions. In this paper I dwell on a QIA framework [8]. The basic ingredient of QIA framework is a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} called the information need space. In its simplest form, IN space is linear space of elementary (atomic) topics. In my approach, I suggest to start introducing the IN space to satisfy the necessary amount of capturing contextuality. The ideology of IN space is the closest to that of quantum mechanics. In QM, the state space of a system is a space of some internal (in the deepest possible sense) features of a system, while the observables are expressed in terms of operators and other derived structures on the state space. Similar things happen in QIA approach. The space of information needs exists per se, we may treat it as spanned on elementary entities, but this will be nothing, but a representation of this space. The source of emergence of this space lies in the multicontextual structure described in the previous section. Furthermore, as pointed in [6], [7], the correlations, which occur in IR environment may even be stronger than quantum ones. In this case a straightforward Hilbert space model may fail to work properly, and we may call 'foil quantum theories¹" to grip these situations.

So far, I was interested in information retrieval situations, when the result of a particular action may depend on other actions, which the IR agent could in principle do alongside with the actions actually performed. This phenomenon is called contextuality, we encounter it in IR, we have to take it into account, to work with it. A similar kind of dependence takes place in quantum mechanics.

Quantum Mechanics		Information Retrieval
	\leftrightarrow	
contextuality		personalization

The difference is that in QM contextuality appears by itself, not being originated by some 'internal mechanisms'. The situations where contextuality occurs depend on the state space of the system the structure of observables involved. In the realm of QM we can quantitatively evaluate the rate of contextuality [11]. The origin of contextuality effects in IR stems from personalization of query scenarios. The personalization, in turn, can be quantified by memory resources required to keep tracking the information needs of a particular user (note that 'user' in this context might not be a single person, nor even a 'person' at all). The idea of this Note was to demonstrate that using quantum mechanics formalism, we can quantify the rate of personalization in particular IR environments. To do this, I suggest to reverse the procedure of estimation of memory cost of quantum contextuality based on simulating quantum systems by finite automata. Instead, a KR scenario (which as a matter of fact is a sequence of queries upon a finite automaton) is suggested to be simulated by appropriate scenario of quantum measurement, demonstrating the same contextuality features. As a result, a Hilbert space of appropriate quantum system emerges together with a collection of observables. This Hilbert space is suggested to play the role of information need space, which is developed within QIA (quantum information access) framework for Information Retrieval. Technically, the IN space is built starting from Greechie-like diagrams (pasted overlapping contexts, see Section 4 above, capturing the particular IR environment. QIA framework provides more flexible machinery to deal with information needs than any classical probabilistic approach by that simple reason that it incorporates the latter. But

¹Mathematically rigorous constructions, describing ways the world could have been were it not quantum mechanical

we should be aware that it is not ultimately general. In quantum realm, we have non-classical correlations and the present state of our knowledge shows that quantum mechanics is enough to explain all them. However, IR may in principle provide stronger-than-quantum correlations. For them, 'foils of quantum theory' - the operational theories, which do not compete with quantum mechanics, but generalize it to the extent not demanded in modern physics [6, 14], these theories may be of help in Information Processing.

Acknowledgments. I greatly appreciate Cris Calude, Karl Svozil and Jozef Tkadlec for stimulating discussions on quantum contextuality during my stay in Technical University of Vienna, supported by the Ausseninstitut and the Institute of Theoretical Physics of the Vienna University of Technology. A financial support from Russian Basic Research Foundation (grant 10-06-00178a) is appreciated.

References

- [1] L. Accardi and Fedullo A. On the statistical meaning of complex numbers in quantum mechanics. Il Nuovo Cimento, 34(7):161–172, October 1982.
- [2] Luigi Accardi. Axioms for quantum probability. In *Quantum Probability*, volume 73 of *Banach Center Publications*, page 1. Polish Academy of Sciences, 2006.
 [2] P. L. B. C. A. Hasher et al. C. A.
- [3] R. J. Greechie and S. P. Gudder. Quantum logics. In C.A. Hooker, editor, *Contemporary Research in the Foundations and Philosophy of Quantum Theory*, pages 143–173. Reidel, Dordrecht, 1973.
- [4] Matthias Kleinmann, Otfried Guehne, Jose R. Portillo, Jan-Åke Larsson, and Adan Cabello. Memory cost of quantum contextuality. New Journal of Physics, 13:113011, 2011.
- [5] F.W. Lancaster. Information Retrieval Systems: Characteristics, Testing and Evaluation. Wiley, New York, 1968.
- [6] Yeong-Cheng Liang, Robert W. Spekkens, and Howard M. Wiseman. Specker's parable of the overprotective seer: a road to contextuality, nonlocality and complementarity. *Phys. Rep.*, 506(1-2):1–39, 2011.
 [7] Massimo Melucci. When Index Term Probability Violates the Classical Probability Axioms Quantum Probability can be a Necessary Theory for
- Information Retrieval. [8] Benjamin Piwowarski, Ingo Frommholz, Mounia Lalmas, and Keith van Rijsbergen. Exploring a multidimensional representation of documents and
- queries. In *Proceedings of RIAO*, 2010.
 [9] Stephen Robertson. On event spaces and probabilistic models in information retrieval, presented at. In *SIGIR 2002 Workshop on Mathematical/Formal Methods in Information Retrieval*, 2004.
- [10] Karl Svozil. Quantum information via state partitions and the context translation principle. Journal of Modern Optics, 51:811–819, 2004.
- [11] Karl Svozil. How much contextuality? *Natural Computing*, Online First(nn):nn–nn, 2012.
- [12] Robert S. Taylor. Process of asking questions. American Documentation, 13:391–396, October 1962.
- [13] Paolo Zanardi. Virtual quantum subsystems. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 87:077901, 2001.
- [14] Roman Zapatrin. Factory of realities: on the emergence of virtual spatiotemporal structures. In: "Beyond Peaceful Coexistence: The Emergence of Space, Time and Quantum", Ignazio Licata, Ed., World Scientific (2016), pp. 201–220, 2016.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Stability conditions for non-autonomous linear differential equations in a Hilbert space via commutators

Michael Gil'a*

^aDepartment of Mathematics Ben Gurion University of the Negev P.0. Box 653, Beer-Sheva 84105, Israel ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: gilmi@bezeqint.net

Abstract

Keywords: Hilbert space, Differentia	l
equation, Stability, Integro-differentia	l
equation, Barbashin type equation	
2010 AMS: 34G10, 34H15	
Received: 28 March 2018	
Accepted: 15 May 2018	
Available online: 30 June 2018	

In a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} we consider the equation dx(t)/dt = (A + B(t))x(t) $(t \ge 0)$, where A is a constant bounded operator, and B(t) is a piece-wise continuous function defined on $[0,\infty)$ whose values are bounded operators in \mathscr{H} . Conditions for the exponential stability are derived in terms of the commutator AB(t) - B(t)A. Applications to integro-differential equations are also discussed. Our results are new even in the finite dimensional case.

1. Introduction

Article Info

Let \mathscr{H} be a Hilbert space with a scalar product $\langle .,. \rangle$, the norm $\|.\| = \sqrt{\langle .,. \rangle}$ and unit operator *I*. In addition, $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ denotes the algebra of bounded linear operators in \mathscr{H} . For an $A \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$, A^* is the adjoint operator, $\sigma(A)$ is the spectrum of A, $\Re A := (A + A^*)/2$, $\Im A := (A - A^*)/2i$, $\|A\|$ denotes the operator norm of A. We consider the equation

$$\frac{du(t)}{dt} = (A + B(t))u(t) \quad (t \ge 0),$$
(1.1)

where *A* is a constant bounded operator and $B(t) : [0, \infty) \to \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ is a strongly piece-wise continuous function. A solution of (1.1) is a function u(t), defined on $[0, \infty)$ with values in \mathscr{H} , absolutely continuous in *t* and satisfying the given initial condition and (1.1) almost everywhere on $[0, \infty)$. The existence of solutions follows from the a priory estimates proved below. We will say that equation (1.1) is exponentially stable, if there are positive constants *M* and ε , such that any solution u(t) of (1.1) satisfies $||u(t)|| \le Me^{-\varepsilon t} ||u(0)||$ ($t \ge 0$). Equation (1.1) can be considered as the equation

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = C(t)x(t), \tag{1.2}$$

with a variable linear operator C(t). This identification which is a common device in the theory of concrete differential or integro-differential equations when passing from a given equation to an abstract evolution equation turns out to be useful also here. Observe that C(t) in the considered case has a special form: it is the sum of operators *A* and B(t). This fact allows us to use the information about the coefficients more completely than the theory of differential equations (1.2) containing an arbitrary operator C(t).

The basic method for the stability analysis of (1.2) is the direct Lyapunov method, cf. [2]. By that method many very strong results are obtained, but finding Lyapunov's functions is often connected with serious mathematical difficulties.

For a selfadjoint operator *S* put $\Lambda(S) = \sup \sigma(S)$ and $\lambda(S) = \inf \sigma(S)$. So $\Lambda(\Re C(s)) = \sup \sigma(\Re C(s))$ and $\lambda(\Re C(s)) = \inf \sigma(\Re C(s))$. The important tool of the stability analysis is the Wintner inequalities [7, Theorem III.4.7]:

$$\exp[\int_{s}^{t} \lambda(\Re C(s_{1}))ds_{1}] \le \frac{\|u(t)\|}{\|u(s)\|} \le \exp[\int_{s}^{t} \Lambda(\Re C(s_{1}))ds_{1}] \ (t \ge s \ge 0),$$
(1.3)

for any solution x(t) of equation (1.2). If C(t) is not dissipative, i.e. if $C(t) + C^*(t)$ is not negative definite for sufficiently large t, then the just mentioned inequalities do not give us stability conditions even in the case of a constant operator. In addition, in [14] the stability test

for (1.2) has been derived for equations whose operator coefficients have "small" derivatives. The approach in [14] is the extension of the freezing method for ordinary differential equations. In this paper, we suggest a stability test via the commutator K(t) = AB(t) - B(t)A, which in the appropriate situations improves the published results. To the best of our knowledge, our results are new even in finite dimensional case, cf. [20].

As an illustrative example we consider a class of the so called Barbashin integro-differential equations, which play an essential role in numerous applications, in particular, in kinetic theory [5], transport theory [18], continuous mechanics [1], radiation theory [4], the dynamics of populations [21], etc.

2. The main result

Assume that

$$\alpha(A) := \sup \Re \sigma(A) < 0 \tag{2.1}$$

and put

and

$$\begin{split} W &:= 2 \int_0^\infty e^{A^*t} e^{At} dt, \ \zeta(A) := 2 \int_0^\infty \|e^{At}\| \int_0^t \|e^{As}\| \|e^{A(t-s)}\| ds \, dt \\ \psi(W, B(t)) &:= \begin{cases} \Lambda(\Re B(t)) \|W\| & \text{if } \Lambda(\Re B(t)) > 0, \\ \Lambda(\Re B(t)) \lambda(W) & \text{if } \Lambda(\Re B(t)) \le 0. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Below we suggest estimates for ||W|| and $\lambda(W)$. Furthermore, let $[A_1, A_2] = A_1A_2 - A_2A_1$ (the commutator of $A_1, A_2 \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$). So K(t) = [A, B(t)].

Now we are in a position to formulate our main result.

Theorem 2.1. Let the conditions (2.1) and

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\psi(W, B(t)) + \|K(t)\|\zeta(A) \right) < 1$$
(2.2)

hold. Then equation (1.1) is exponentially stable.

This theorem is proved in the next section. If

$$\|e^{As}\| \le ce^{-vs} \ (s \ge 0; c, v = const > 0), \tag{2.3}$$

then

$$\langle Wv, v \rangle = 2 \int_0^\infty \|e^{At}v\|^2 dt \le 2c^2 \int_0^\infty e^{-2vt} dt \|v\|^2 \ (v \in \mathscr{H}).$$

Consequently,

$$||W|| \le \frac{c^2}{\nu} \text{ and } \zeta(A) \le 2c^3 \int_0^\infty e^{-\nu t} \int_0^t e^{-\nu s} e^{-\nu(t-s)} ds \, dt = 2c^3 \int_0^\infty e^{-2\nu t} t dt = \frac{c^3}{2\nu^2}.$$
(2.4)

Now let us estimate $\lambda(W)$. Due to the Wintner inequalities (1.3),

$$\|e^{At}v\| \ge e^{\lambda(\Re A)t} \|v\| \ (v \in \mathscr{H}).$$

So in view of (2.1), $\lambda(\Re A)$ is negative. Consequently,

$$\langle Wv,v \rangle = 2 \int_0^\infty \|e^{At}v\|^2 dt \ge 2 \int_0^\infty e^{2\lambda(\Re A)t} \|v\|^2 dt \ge \|v\|^2 / |\lambda(\Re A)| \ (v \in \mathscr{H}).$$

Thus

$$\lambda(W) \ge 1/|\lambda(\Re A)|. \tag{2.5}$$

If *A* is a normal operator: $AA^* = A^*A$, then $||e^{At}|| = e^{\alpha(A)t}$ $(t \ge 0)$, and according to (2.4),

$$\|W\| \leq \frac{1}{|\alpha(A)|}, \zeta(A) = \frac{1}{2|\alpha(A)|^2}$$
 and, in addition, $\lambda(\Re A) = \beta(A)$,

where $\beta(A) := \inf \Re \sigma(A)$. Consequently, $\psi(W, B(t)) = \psi_0(A, B(t))$, where

$$\psi_0(A,B(t)) = \begin{cases} \frac{\Lambda(\Re B(t))}{|\alpha(A)|} & \text{ if } \Lambda(\Re B(t)) > 0, \\ \frac{\Lambda(\Re B(t))}{|\beta(A)|} & \text{ if } \Lambda(\Re B(t)) \le 0. \end{cases}$$

So we arrive at

Corollary 2.2. Let A be a normal operator, and the conditions (2.1) and

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\psi_0(A, B(t)) + \frac{\|K(t)\|}{2|\alpha(A)|^2} \right) < 1$$
(2.6)

hold. Then equation (1.1) is exponentially stable.

Theorem 2.1 *is sharp* in the following sense: if B(t) = 0, then $\psi(A, B(t)) = ||K(t)|| = 0$, and (2.2) obviously holds. But condition (2.1) is necessary in this case.

Traditionally (1.1) is considered as a perturbation of the equation du/dt = Au with stable A. Besides, it is supposed that

$$\int_0^\infty \|e^{sA}\| ds \sup_t \|B(t)\| < 1,$$
(2.7)

e.g. [2, 14] and references therein. We do not assume this condition. For example, if A and B(t) commute, then takes the form

$$\sup_{t\geq 0}\psi_0(A,B(t))<1$$

which is sharper than (2.7).

Moreover, in the contrary to the Wintner inequalities, we do not require the dissipativity of A + B(t).

1

3. Proof of theorem 2.1

Lemma 3.1. Let A, B be constant bounded operators and K = [A, B]. Then

$$[e^{At}, B] = \int_0^t e^{As} K e^{A(t-s)} ds \ (t \ge 0).$$
(3.1)

Proof: For the proof see [15].

Under condition (2.1), the Lyapunov equation

$$WA + A^*W = -2I \tag{3.2}$$

has a unique solution $W \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ and it can be represented as in Section 2, cf. [7, Theorem I.5.1] (see also equation (4.12) from Chapter I of [7]). For two selfadjoint operators *S* and *S*₁ the inequality $S < S_1$ ($S \le S_1$) means (Sh,h) < (S_1h,h) ((Sh,h) \le (S_1h,h)) ($h \in \mathscr{H}$). In particular, the inequality S < 0 (S > 0) means that *S* is strongly negative (strongly positive) definite.

Lemma 3.2. If condition (2.1) holds, then

$$\Re(WB(t)) = \frac{1}{2}(WB(t) + (WB(t))^*) \le (\psi(W, B(t)) + \|K(t)\|\zeta(A))I$$

Proof. Making use of (2.1) we can write

$$\Re(WB(t)) = \frac{1}{2}(WB(t) + B^*(t)W) = \int_0^\infty (e^{A^*t_1}e^{At_1}B(t) + B^*(t)e^{A^*t_1}e^{At_1})dt_1$$

But

$$e^{At_1}B(t) = B(t)e^{At_1} + [e^{At_1}, B(t)], B^*(t)e^{A^*t_1} = e^{A^*t_1}B^*(t) + [B^*(t), e^{A^*t_1}].$$

So $\Re(WB(t)) = J_1 + J_2$, where

$$J_1 = \int_0^\infty e^{A^* t_1} (B(t) + B^*(t)) e^{At_1} dt \text{ and } J_2 = \int_0^\infty (e^{A^* t_1} [e^{At_1}, B(t)] + (e^{A^* t_1} [e^{At_1}, B(t)])^*) dt_1.$$

We have

$$J_1 \leq 2\Lambda(\Re B(t)) \int_0^\infty e^{A^* t_1} e^{A t_1} dt_1 = \Lambda(\Re B(t)) W_1$$

If $\Lambda(\mathfrak{R}B(t)) > 0$, then $J_1 \leq \Lambda(\mathfrak{R}B(t)) ||W|| I$. If $\Lambda(\mathfrak{R}B(t)) < 0$, then $J_1 \leq \Lambda(\mathfrak{R}B(t))\lambda(W)I$. So $J_1 \leq \psi(W, B(t))I$. In addition, by Lemma 3.1

$$\begin{aligned} \|J_2\| &\leq 2\int_0^\infty \|e^{At_1}\| \|[e^{At_1}, B(t)]\| dt_1 \leq 2\int_0^\infty \|e^{At_1}\| \|K(t)\| \int_0^{t_1} \|e^{As}\| \|e^{A(t_1-s)}\| ds \, dt_1 \\ &= \|K(t)\| \zeta(A). \end{aligned}$$

This proves the lemma. \Box

Proof of Theorem 2.1: Due to the Lyapunov equation and Lemma 3.2 we have,

$$\Re W(A+B(t)) \leq -(1-\psi(W,B(t))-\|K(t)\|\zeta(A))I.$$

So (2.2) implies

$$\Re W(A+B(t)) < \sup(-1+\psi(W,B(t)) + \|K(t)\|\zeta(A))I < 0.$$
(3.3)

Applying the right-hand Wintner inequality (1.3) with the scalar product $(.,.)_W$ defined by $(h,g)_W = \langle Wh,g \rangle$ $(h,g \in \mathcal{H})$, we can assert that equation (1.1) is exponentially stable, as claimed. \Box

4. Equations with finite dimensional operators

In this section $\mathscr{H} = \mathbb{C}^n$ -the *n*-dimension complex Euclidean space, A and B(t) are $n \times n$ matrices. Put

$$g(A) = [N_2^2(A) - \sum_{k=1}^n |\lambda_k(A)|^2]^{1/2}$$

where $\lambda_k(A)$ (k = 1, ..., n) are the eigenvalues of A, counted with their multiplicities; $N_2(A) = (\text{trace } AA^*)^{1/2}$ is the Frobenius (Hilbert-Schmidt) norm of A. The following relations are checked in [12, Section 2.1]: $g^2(A) \le N_2^2(A) - |\text{trace } A^2|$,

$$g(e^{i\tau}A+zI)=g(A)\;(\tau\in\mathbb{R},z\in\mathbb{C},) ext{ and }g^2(A)\leq rac{N_2^2(A-A^*)}{2}.$$

If *A* is a normal matrix, then g(A) = 0. It is shown in [12, Example 2.7.3], that

$$\|e^{At}\| \le e^{\alpha(A)t} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{t^k g^k(A)}{(k!)^{3/2}} \ (t \ge 0).$$

So

$$\|W\| \le 2\int_0^\infty \|e^{At}\|^2 dt \le 2\int_0^\infty e^{2\alpha(A)t} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{t^k g^k(A)}{(k!)^{3/2}}\right)^2 dt = \chi_n(A),$$

where

$$\chi_n(A) = \sum_{j,k=0}^{n-1} \frac{g^{j+k}(A)(k+j)!}{2^{j+k}|\alpha(A)|^{j+k+1}(j!\,k!)^{3/2}}.$$

Put

$$p_n(A,t) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{t^k g^k(A)}{(k!)^{3/2}} \quad (t \ge 0).$$

Then $||e^{At}|| \le e^{\alpha(A)t} p_n(A,t)$ and $\zeta(A) \le \zeta_n(A)$, where

$$\zeta_n(A) := 2 \int_0^\infty e^{2\alpha(A)t} p_n(A,t) \int_0^t p_n(A,t-s) p(A,s) ds dt.$$

Moreover, according to (2.5), $\psi(W, B(t)) \leq \hat{\psi}_n(A, B(t))$, where

$$\hat{\psi}_n(A,B(t)) := \begin{cases} \chi_n(A)\Lambda(\Re B(t)) & \text{ if } \Lambda(\Re B(t)) > 0, \\ \frac{\Lambda(\Re B(t))}{|\lambda(\Re A)|} & \text{ if } \Lambda(\Re B(t)) \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Now Theorem 2.1 and (2.5) imply

Corollary 4.1. Let $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}^n$, A be a Hurwitzian matrix (i.e. condition (2.1) holds), and

$$\sup_{t\geq 0} (\hat{\psi}_n(A, B(t)) + ||K(t)|| \zeta_n(A)) < 1.$$

Then (1.1) is exponentially stable.

5. Equations with infinite dimensional operators

In this section we consider equation (1.1) in the infinite dimensional space assuming that

 $\Im A$ is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator.

(5.1)

i.e. $N_2(\Im A) = (\text{trace } (\Im A)^2)^{1/2} < \infty$. Put

$$\hat{u}(A) = [2N_2^2(\Im A) - 2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\Im \hat{\lambda}_k(A)|^2]^{1/2},$$

where $\hat{\lambda}_k(A), k = 1, 2, ...$, are nonreal eigenvalues of *A*, enumerated with their multiplicities in the decreasing order of the absolute values of their imaginary parts. Recall the classical Weyl inequality

$$N_2^2(\Im A) \ge \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\Im \hat{\lambda}_k(A)|^2$$

cf. [12, p. 98]. So $\hat{u}(A) \le \sqrt{2}N_2(\Im A)$. If A is a normal operator, then $\hat{u}(A) = 0$, cf. [12, Section 7.7]. As is shown in [12, Example 7.10.3],

$$||e^{At}|| \le e^{\alpha(A)t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^k \hat{u}^k(A)}{(k!)^{3/2}} \ (t \ge 0),$$

So

$$\|W\| \le 2\int_0^\infty \|e^{At}\|^2 dt \le 2\int_0^\infty e^{\alpha(A)t} \left(\sum_{k=0}^\infty \frac{t^k \hat{u}^k(A)}{(k!)^{3/2}}\right)^2 dt = \tilde{\chi}(A)$$

where

$$\tilde{\chi}(A) = \sum_{j,k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\hat{u}^{j+k}(A)(k+j)!}{2^{j+k}|\alpha(A)|^{j+k+1}(j!\,k!)^{3/2}}$$

Put

$$\tilde{p}(A,t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^k \hat{u}^k(A)}{(k!)^{3/2}} \ (t \ge 0).$$

Then $||e^{At}|| \leq e^{\alpha(A)t}\hat{p}(A,t)$ and

$$\zeta(A) \leq \tilde{\zeta}(A) := 2 \int_0^\infty e^{2\alpha(A)t} \tilde{p}(t,A) \int_0^t \tilde{p}(t-s,A) \tilde{p}(s,A) ds dt.$$

Moreover, $\psi(W, B(t)) \leq \tilde{\psi}(A, B(t))$, where

$$\tilde{\psi}(A,B(t)) := \begin{cases} \tilde{\chi}(A)\Lambda(\Re B(t)) & \text{ if } \Lambda(\Re B(t)) > 0, \\ \frac{\Lambda(\Re B(t))}{|\lambda(\Re A)|} & \text{ if } \Lambda(\Re B(t)) \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Now Theorem 2.1 and (2.5) imply

Corollary 5.1. If the conditions (2.1), (5.1) and

$$\sup_{t\geq 0} \left(\tilde{\psi}(A,B(t)) + \|K(t)\|\tilde{\zeta}(A) \right) < 1,$$

hold, then (1.1) is exponentially stable.

6. Example

Put $\Omega = [0,1] \times [0,1]$. In this section $\mathscr{H} = L^2(\Omega)$ is the Hilbert spaces of complex square integrable functions defined on Ω with the traditional scalar product and norm.

Consider the equation

$$\frac{\partial u(t,x,y)}{\partial t} = c(x)u(t,x,y) + \int_0^1 k_1(x,s)u(t,s,y)ds + \int_0^1 k_2(t,y,s)u(t,x,s)ds$$
(6.1)
(0 \le x, y \le 1;t \ge 0),

where $c(\cdot) : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is piece-wise continuous, $k_1(\cdot, \cdot) : [0,1]^2 \to \mathbb{C}$, $k_2(\cdot, \cdot, \cdot) : [0,\infty) \times [0,1]^2 \to \mathbb{C}$, are given functions satisfying the conditions pointed below. Equation of the type (6.1) is the Barbashin type integro-differential equation or simply the Barbashin equation, [2]. The stability of (6.1) can also be investigated by perturbations of the simple equation

$$\frac{\partial u(t,x,y)}{\partial t} = c(x)u(t,x,y)$$

cf. [2, Section 2.5], but this approach gives rather rough results if the norm of k_1 and k_2 are large enough. Define the operators A and B(t) by

$$(Aw)(x,y) = c(x)w(x,y) + \int_0^1 k_1(x,s)w(s,y)ds$$

and

$$(B(t)w)(x,y) = \int_0^1 k_2(t,x,s)w(x,s)ds \ (x,y \in [0,1]; \ w \in L^2(\Omega)),$$

respectively. Under consideration we have [A, B(t)] = 0 for all $t \ge 0$. Moreover, assume that

$$N_2(A - A^*) = \left(\int_0^1 \int_0^1 |k_1(x, s) - \overline{k}_1(s, x))|^2 \, ds \, dx\right)^{1/2} < \infty$$

and k_2 provides the boundedness of B(t). Various estimates for $\alpha(A)$ under considerations can be found in [13]. In particular, if $k_1(x,s) = 0$ for $x \le s$, then $\alpha(A) = \sup_x c(x)$. Furthermore, it is not hard to check that

$$\Lambda(\Re B(t)) = \frac{1}{2} \sup_{v \in L^2(0,1)} \int_0^1 \int_0^1 (k_2(t,y,s) + \bar{k}_2(t,s,y)) v(s) \,\bar{v}(y) \, ds \, dy$$

and

$$\lambda(\Re A) = \frac{1}{2} \inf_{v \in L^2(0,1)} \int_0^1 \int_0^1 (k_1(x,s) + \overline{k}_1(s,x)) v(s) \,\overline{v}(x) \, ds \, dx.$$

Now we can directly apply Corollary 5.1.

Note that the theory of of various classes of integro-differential equations is rather rich, cf. [3, 6], [8]-[11], [16, 17, 19, 22, 23] and references therein, but the stability conditions in terms of the commutators have not been derived.

References

- [1] V.M. Aleksandrov, and E.V. Kovalenko, Problems in Continuous Mechanics with Mixed Boundary Conditions, Nauka, Moscow 1986. In Russian.
- [2] J. Appel, A. Kalitvin and P. Zabreiko, Partial Integral Operators and Integrodifferential Equations, Marcel Dekker, New York, 2000.
- [3] J.A.D. Appleby and D.W. Reynolds, On the non-exponential convergence of asymptotically stable solutions of linear scalar Volterra integro-differential equations, Journal of Integral Equations and Applications, 14, no 2 (2002), 521-543. K. M. Case, P. F. Zweifel, *Linear Transport Theory*, Addison-Wesley, Reading Mass. 1967. M.C. Cercignani, *Mathematical Methods in Kinetic Theory*, Macmillian, New York, 1969.
- [5]
- [6] Chuhu Jin and Jiaowan Luo, Stability of an integro-differential equation, Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 57 (2009) 1080–1088.
 [7] Yu L. Daleckii, and M. G. Krein, *Stability of Solutions of Differential Equations in Banach Space*, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R. I. 1974.
 [8] A. Domoshnitsky and Ya. Goltser, An approach to study bifurcations and stability of integro-differential equations. Math. Comput. Modelling, 36 (2002), 663-678.
- [9] A.D. Drozdov, Explicit stability conditions for integro-differential equations with periodic coefficients, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 21 (1998), 565-588.
- [19] A.D. Drozdov, Explicit stability conditions for integro-differential equations with periodic coefficients, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 21 (1998), 565-588.
 [10] A.D. Drozdov and M. I. Gil', Stability of linear integro-differential equations with periodic coefficients. Quart. Appl. Math. 54 (1996), 609-624.
 [11] N.T. Dung, On exponential stability of linear Levin-Nohel integro-differential equations, Journal of Mathematical Physics 56, 022702 (2015); doi: 10.1063/1.4906811
 [12] M.I. Gil', *Operator Functions and Localization of Spectra*, Lecture Notes In Mathematics vol. 1830, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003.
 [13] M.I. Gil', On stability of linear Barbashin type integro-differential equations, *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2015, Article ID 962565, (2015), 500-500.
- 5 pages
- [15] M.I. Gil', A bound for the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of generalized commutators of nonself-adjoint operators, Operators and Matrices, 11, no. 1 (2017),
- 115-123[16] Ya. Goltser and A. Domoshnitsky, Bifurcation and stability of integrodifferential equations, Nonlinear Anal. 47 (2001), 953-967. [17] Ya. Coltser and A. Domoshnitsky, Burdeaton and stability of integrounderential equations, Nonincar Anal. 47 (2001), 953-967.
 [17] Ya. Coltser and A. Domoshnitsky, About reducing integro-differential equations with infinite limits of integration to systems of ordinary differential equations. Advances in Difference Equations 2013:187, (2013) 17 pages.
 [18] H.G. Kaper, C.G. Lekkerkerker, and J. Hejtmanek, *Spectral Methods in Linear Transport Theory*, Birkhauser, Basel, 1982.
 [19] B. G. Pachpatte, On a parabolic integrodifferential equation of Barbashin type, *Comment. Math.Univ. Carolin. 52*, no. 3 (2011) 391-401
 [20] W.J. Rugh, *Linear System Theory*. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, 1996.

- [21] H. R. Thieme, A differential-integral equation modelling the dynamics of populations with a rank structure, Lect. Notes Biomath. 68 (1986), 496-511
- [22] J. Vanualailai and S. Nakagiri, Stability of a system of Volterra integro-differential equations J. Math. Anal. Appl. 281 (2003) 602-619
- [23] B. Zhang, Construction of Liapunov functionals for linear Volterra integrodifferential equations and stability of delay systems, Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ. 30 (2000) 1-17.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



The new UP-isomorphism theorems for UP-algebras in the meaning of the congruence determined by a UP-homomorphism

Phakawat Mosrijai^a, Akarachai Satirad^a and Aiyared Iampan^{a*}

^aDepartment of Mathematics, School of Science, University of Phayao, Phayao 56000, Thailand ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: aiyared.ia@up.ac.th

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords:UP-algebra,UP-homomorphism,Fundamentaltheorem,UP-isomorphism theorem.2010 AMS:03G25,06F35Received:16 March 2018Accepted:19 May 2018Available online:30 June 2018

The aim of this paper is to construct the new fundamental theorem of UP-algebras in the meaning of the congruence determined by a UP-homomorphism. We also give an application of the theorem to the first, second, and third UP-isomorphism theorems in UP-algebras.

1. Introduction and preliminaries

Among many algebraic structures, algebras of logic form important class of algebras. Examples of these are BCK-algebras [7], BCI-algebras [8], BCH-algebras [4], KU-algebras [15], SU-algebras [10], UP-algebras [6] and others. They are strongly connected with logic. For example, BCI-algebras introduced by Iséki [8] in 1966 have connections with BCI-logic being the BCI-system in combinatory logic which has application in the language of functional programming. BCK and BCI-algebras are two classes of logical algebras. They were introduced by Imai and Iséki [7, 8] in 1966 and have been extensively investigated by many researchers. It is known that the class of BCK-algebras is a proper subclass of the class of BCI-algebras.

The isomorphism theorems play an important role in a general logical algebra, which were studied by several researches such as: In 1998, Jun, Hong, Xin and Roh [9] proved isomorphism theorems by using Chinese Remainder Theorem in BCI-algebras. In 2001, Park, Shim and Roh [14] proved isomorphism theorems of IS-algebras. In 2004, Hao and Li [3] introduced the concept of ideals of an ideal in a BCI-algebra and some isomorphism theorems are obtained by using this concept. They obtained several isomorphism theorems of BG-algebras and related properties. In 2006, Kim [12] introduced the notion of KS-semigroups. He characterized ideals of a KS-semigroup and proved the first isomorphism theorem for KS-semigroups. In 2007, Dar and Akram [2] introduced the notion of K-algebras. In 2008, Kim and Kim [11] introduced the notion of BG-algebras which is a generalization of B-algebras. They obtained several isomorphism theorems of BG-algebras and proved the isomorphism theorems for KS-semigroups. In 2009, Paradero-Vilela and Cawi [13] characterized KS-semigroup homomorphisms and proved the isomorphism theorems for SU-semigroups. In 2011, Keawrahun and Leerawat [10] introduced the notion of SU-semigroups and proved the isomorphism theorems for SU-semigroups. In 2012, Asawasamrit [1] introduced the notion of KK-algebras and studied isomorphism theorems of KK-algebras. In 2015, Iampan [5] studied UP-isomorphism theorems of UP-algebras.

In this paper, we construct the new fundamental theorem of UP-algebras in the meaning of the congruence determined by a UP-homomorphism. We also give an application of the theorem to the first, second, and third UP-isomorphism theorems in UP-algebras.

Before we begin our study, we will introduce to the definition of a UP-algebra.

Definition 1.1. [6] An algebra $A = (A, \cdot, 0)$ of type (2,0) is called a UP-algebra, where A is a nonempty set, \cdot is a binary operation on A, and 0 is a fixed element of A (i.e., a nullary operation) if it satisfies the following axioms: for any $x, y, z \in A$,

(UP-1) $(y \cdot z) \cdot ((x \cdot y) \cdot (x \cdot z)) = 0$, (UP-2) $0 \cdot x = x$, (UP-3) $x \cdot 0 = 0$, (UP-4) $x \cdot y = y \cdot x = 0$ implies x = y.

Email addresses: phakawat.mo@gmail.com (P. Mosrijai), akarachai.sa@gmail.com (A. Satirad), aiyared.ia@up.ac.th (A. Iampan)

Example 1.2. [6] Let X be a universal set. Define two binary operations \cdot and * on the power set of X by putting $A \cdot B = B \cap A'$ and $A * B = B \cup A'$ for all $A, B \in \mathscr{P}(X)$. Then $(\mathscr{P}(X), \cdot, \emptyset)$ and $(\mathscr{P}(X), *, X)$ are UP-algebras and we shall call it the power UP-algebra of type 1 and the power UP-algebra of type 2, respectively.

Example 1.3. [6] Let $A = \{0, a, b, c\}$ be a set with a binary operation \cdot defined by the following Cayley table:

Then $(A, \cdot, 0)$ is a UP-algebra.

In what follows, let *A* and *B* denote UP-algebras unless otherwise specified. The following proposition is very important for the study of UP-algebras.

Proposition 1.4. [6] In a UP-algebra A, the following properties hold: for any $x, y, z \in A$,

(1) $x \cdot x = 0$, (2) $x \cdot y = 0$ and $y \cdot z = 0$ implies $x \cdot z = 0$, (3) $x \cdot y = 0$ implies $(z \cdot x) \cdot (z \cdot y) = 0$, (4) $x \cdot y = 0$ implies $(y \cdot z) \cdot (x \cdot z) = 0$, (5) $x \cdot (y \cdot x) = 0$, (6) $(y \cdot x) \cdot x = 0$ if and only if $x = y \cdot x$, and (7) $x \cdot (y \cdot y) = 0$.

Definition 1.5. [6] Let A be a UP-algebra. A nonempty subset B of A is called a UP-ideal of A if it satisfies the following properties:

- (1) the constant 0 of A is in B, and
- (2) for any $x, y, z \in A, x \cdot (y \cdot z) \in B$ and $y \in B$ implies $x \cdot z \in B$.

Definition 1.6. [6] Let $A = (A, \cdot, 0)$ be a UP-algebra. A subset S of A is called a UP-subalgebra of A if the constant 0 of A is in S, and $(S, \cdot, 0)$ itself forms a UP-algebra.

Proposition 1.7. [6] A nonempty subset S of a UP-algebra $A = (A, \cdot, 0)$ is a UP-subalgebra of A if and only if S is closed under the \cdot multiplication on A.

Definition 1.8. [6] Let A be a UP-algebra. An equivalence relation ρ on A is called a congruence if for any $x, y, z \in A$,

$$x\rho y$$
 implies $x \cdot z\rho y \cdot z$ and $z \cdot x\rho z \cdot y$.

Lemma 1.9. [6] An equivalence relation ρ on A is a congruence if and only if for any $x, y, u, v \in A$, $x\rho y$ and $u\rho v$ imply $x \cdot u\rho y \cdot v$.

Definition 1.10. [6] Let A be a UP-algebra and B a UP-ideal of A. Define the binary relation \sim_B on A as follows: for all $x, y \in A$,

$$x \sim_B y$$
 if and only if $x \cdot y \in B$ and $y \cdot x \in B$. (1.2)

Proposition 1.11. [6] Let A be a UP-algebra and B a UP-ideal of A with a binary relation \sim_B defined by (1.2). Then \sim_B is a congruence on A.

Let *A* be a UP-algebra and ρ a congruence on *A*. If $x \in A$, then the ρ -class of *x* is the $(x)_{\rho}$ defined as follows:

$$(x)_{\rho} = \{ y \in A \mid y \rho x \}.$$

Then the set of all ρ -classes is called the *quotient set of A by* ρ , and is denoted by A/ρ . That is,

$$A/\rho = \{(x)_{\rho} \mid x \in A\}.$$

Theorem 1.12. [6] Let A be a UP-algebra and B a UP-ideal of A. Then $(A / \sim_B, *, (0)_{\sim_B})$ is a UP-algebra under the * multiplication defined by $(x)_{\sim_B} * (y)_{\sim_B} = (x \cdot y)_{\sim_B}$ for all $x, y \in A$, called the quotient UP-algebra of A induced by the congruence \sim_B .

Definition 1.13. [6] Let $(A, \cdot, 0)$ and $(A', \cdot', 0')$ be UP-algebras. A mapping f from A to A' is called a UP-homomorphism if

$$f(x \cdot y) = f(x) \cdot f(y)$$
 for all $x, y \in A$.

A UP-homomorphism $f: A \to A'$ is called a

- (1) UP-epimorphism if f is surjective,
- (2) UP-monomorphism if f is injective,
- (3) UP-isomorphism if f is bijective. Moreover, we say A is UP-isomorphic to A', symbolically, $A \cong A'$, if there is a UP-isomorphism from A to A'.

Let f be a mapping from A to A', and let B be a nonempty subset of A, and B' of A'. The set $\{f(x) \mid x \in B\}$ is called the image of B under f, denoted by f(B). In particular, f(A) is called the image of f, denoted by Im(f). Dually, the set $\{x \in A \mid f(x) \in B'\}$ is said the inverse image of B' under f, symbolically, $f^{-1}(B')$. Especially, we say $f^{-1}(\{0'\})$ is the kernel of f, written by Ker(f). That is,

$$\operatorname{Im}(f) = \{ f(x) \in A' \mid x \in A \}$$

and

$$Ker(f) = \{ x \in A \mid f(x) = 0' \}.$$

Theorem 1.14. [6] Let A be a UP-algebra and B a UP-ideal of A. Then the mapping $\pi_B: A \to A/\sim_B defined by \pi_B(x) = (x)_{\sim_B}$ for all $x \in A$ is a UP-epimorphism, called the natural projection from A to A / \sim_B .

On a UP-algebra $A = (A, \cdot, 0)$, we define a binary relation \leq on A as follows: for all $x, y \in A$,

$$x \le y$$
 if and only if $x \cdot y = 0.$ (1.3)

Proposition 1.15. [6] Let A be a UP-algebra with a binary relation \leq defined by (1.3). Then (A, \leq) is a partially ordered set with 0 as the greatest element.

We often call the partial ordering \leq defined by (1.3) the *UP-ordering* on A. From now on, the symbol \leq will be used to denote the UP-ordering, unless specified otherwise.

Theorem 1.16. [6] Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, *, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras and let $f: A \to B$ be a UP-homomorphism. Then the following statements hold:

- (1) $f(0_A) = 0_B$,
- (2) for any $x, y \in A$, if $x \leq y$, then $f(x) \leq f(y)$,

(3) if C is a UP-subalgebra of A, then the image f(C) is a UP-subalgebra of B. In particular, Im(f) is a UP-subalgebra of B,

- (4) if D is a UP-subalgebra of B, then the inverse image $f^{-1}(D)$ is a UP-subalgebra of A. In particular, Ker(f) is a UP-subalgebra of A, (5) if C is a UP-ideal of A such that $\text{Ker}(f) \subseteq C$, then the image f(C) is a UP-ideal of f(A),
- (6) if D is a UP-ideal of B, then the inverse image $f^{-1}(D)$ is a UP-ideal of A. In particular, Ker(f) is a UP-ideal of A, and
- (7) $\text{Ker}(f) = \{0_A\}$ if and only if f is injective.

2. Main results

In this section, we introduce the congruence determined by a UP-homomorphism and prove the new fundamental theorem of UP-algebras in the meaning of the congruence determined by a UP-homomorphism. We also prove the first, second, and third UP-isomorphism theorems in UP-algebras.

Definition 2.1. Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, and $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism. Define the binary relation \sim_f on A as *follows: for all* $x, y \in A$ *,*

$$x \sim_f y$$
 if and only if $f(x) = f(y)$. (2.1)

Theorem 2.2. Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, and $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism with a binary relation \sim_f on A defined by (2.1). Then \sim_f is a congruence on A, called the congruence determined by f.

Proof. Reflexive: For all $x \in A$, we have f(x) = f(x). Thus $x \sim_f x$. Symmetric: Let $x, y \in A$ be such that $x \sim_f y$. Then f(x) = f(y), so f(y) = f(x). Thus $y \sim_f x$. *Transitive:* Let x, y, z be such that $x \sim_f y$ and $y \sim_f z$. Then f(x) = f(y) and f(y) = f(z), so f(x) = f(z). Thus $x \sim_f z$. Therefore, \sim_f is an equivalence relation on A. Finally, let $x, y, u, v \in A$ be such that $x \sim_f u$ and $y \sim_f v$. Then f(x) = f(u) and f(y) = f(v). Since f is a UP-homomorphism, we get

$$f(x \cdot y) = f(x) \bullet f(y) = f(u) \bullet f(v) = f(u \cdot v).$$

Thus $x \cdot y \sim_f u \cdot v$. By Lemma 1.9, we have \sim_f is a congruence on A.

Theorem 2.3. Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, and $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism. Then $(A/\sim_f, *, (0_A)\sim_f)$ is a UP-algebra under the * multiplication defined by $(x)_{\sim_f} * (y)_{\sim_f} = (x \cdot y)_{\sim_f}$ for all $x, y \in A$, called the quotient UP-algebra of A induced by the congruence \sim_{f} .

Proof. Let $x, y, u, v \in A$ be such that $(x)_{\sim_f} = (y)_{\sim_f}$ and $(u)_{\sim_f} = (v)_{\sim_f}$. Since \sim_f is an equivalence relation on A, we get $x \sim_f y$ and $u \sim_f v$. By Lemma 1.9, we have $x \cdot u \sim_f y \cdot v$. Hence, $(x)_{\sim_f} * (u)_{\sim_f} = (x \cdot u)_{\sim_f} = (y \cdot v)_{\sim_f} = (y)_{\sim_f} * (v)_{\sim_f}$, showing * is well defined. $(UP-1): \text{Let } x, y, z \in A. \text{ By (UP-1), we have } ((y)_{\sim_f} * (z)_{\sim_f}) * (((x)_{\sim_f} * (y)_{\sim_f}) * ((x)_{\sim_f} * (z)_{\sim_f})) = ((y \cdot z) \cdot ((x \cdot y) \cdot (x \cdot z)))_{\sim_f} = (0_A)_{\sim_f}.$ (*UP-2*): Let $x \in A$. By (UP-2), we have $(0_A)_{\sim_f} * (x)_{\sim_f} = (0_A \cdot x)_{\sim_f} = (x)_{\sim_f}$.

 $(UP-3): \text{ Let } x \in A. \text{ By (UP-3), we have } (x)_{\sim_f} * (0_A)_{\sim_f} = (x \cdot 0_A)_{\sim_f} = (0_A)_{\sim_f}.$ $(UP-4): \text{ Let } x, y \in A \text{ be such that } (x)_{\sim_f} * (y)_{\sim_f} = (y)_{\sim_f} * (x)_{\sim_f} = (0_A)_{\sim_f}. \text{ Then } (x \cdot y)_{\sim_f} = (y \cdot x)_{\sim_f} = (0_A)_{\sim_f}, \text{ it follows that } f(x) \bullet f(y) = (y \cdot x)_{\sim_f} = (y \cdot x)_{\sim_f} = (y \cdot x)_{\sim_f} = (y \cdot x)_{\sim_f}.$ $f(x \cdot y) = f(0_A) = f(y \cdot x) = f(y) \bullet f(x)$. By Theorem 1.16 (1), we have $f(x) \bullet f(y) = f(y) \bullet f(x) = 0_B$. By (UP-4), we have f(x) = f(y). Thus $x \sim_f y$, so $(x)_{\sim_f} = (y)_{\sim_f}$. Hence, $(A/\sim_f, *, (0_A)_{\sim_f})$ is a UP-algebra.

Theorem 2.4. Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, and $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism. Then the mapping $\pi_f: A \to A / \sim_f defined$ by $\pi_f(x) = (x)_{\sim f}$ for all $x \in A$ is a UP-epimorphism, called the natural projection from A to A/\sim_f .

Proof. Let $x, y \in A$ be such that x = y. Then $(x)_{\sim_f} = (y)_{\sim_f}$, so $\pi_f(x) = \pi_f(y)$. Thus π_f is well defined. Note that by the definition of π_f , we have π_f is surjective. Let $x, y \in A$. Then

$$\pi_f(x \cdot y) = (x \cdot y)_{\sim_f} = (x)_{\sim_f} * (y)_{\sim_f} = \pi_f(x) * \pi_f(y)$$

Thus π_f is a UP-homomorphism. So we conclude that π_f is a UP-epimorphism.

Theorem 2.5. (Fundamental Theorem of UP-homomorphisms) Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, and $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism. Then there exists uniquely a UP-homomorphism φ from A/\sim_f to B such that $f = \varphi \circ \pi_f$. Moreover,

- (1) π_f is a UP-epimorphism and φ a UP-monomorphism, and
- (2) f is a UP-epimorphism if and only if φ is a UP-isomorphism.

As f makes the following diagram commute,



Proof. By Theorem 2.3, we have $(A/\sim_f, *, (0_A)\sim_f)$ is a UP-algebra. Define a mapping $\varphi: A/\sim_f \to B$ by

$$\varphi((x)_{\sim_f}) = f(x) \text{ for all } (x)_{\sim_f} \in A/\sim_f.$$
(2.2)

Indeed, let $(x)_{\sim_f}, (y)_{\sim_f} \in A/\sim_f$ be such that $(x)_{\sim_f} = (y)_{\sim_f}$. Then $x \sim_f y$, so

$$\boldsymbol{\varphi}((x)_{\sim_f}) = f(x) = f(y) = \boldsymbol{\varphi}((y)_{\sim_f}).$$

For any $x, y \in A$, we see that

$$\varphi((x)_{\sim_f} * (y)_{\sim_f}) = \varphi((x \cdot y)_{\sim_f})$$

= $f(x \cdot y)$
= $f(x) \bullet f(y)$
= $\varphi((x)_{\sim_f}) \bullet \varphi((y)_{\sim_f}).$

Thus φ is a UP-homomorphism. Also, since

$$(\boldsymbol{\varphi} \circ \boldsymbol{\pi}_f)(x) = \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{\pi}_f(x)) = \boldsymbol{\varphi}((x)_{\sim f}) = f(x)$$
 for all $x \in A$

we obtain $f = \varphi \circ \pi_f$. We have shown the existence. Let φ' be a mapping from A / \sim_f to B such that $f = \varphi' \circ \pi_f$. Then for any $(x)_{\sim_f} \in A / \sim_f$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi'((x)_{\sim_f}) &= \varphi'(\pi_f(x)) \\ &= (\varphi' \circ \pi_f)(x) \\ &= f(x) \\ &= (\varphi \circ \pi_f)(x) \\ &= \varphi(\pi_f(x)) \\ &= \varphi((x)_{\sim_f}). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, $\varphi = \varphi'$, showing the uniqueness.

(1) By Theorem 2.4, we have π_f is a UP-epimorphism. Also, let $(x)_{\sim_f}, (y)_{\sim_f} \in A/\sim_f$ be such that $\varphi((x)_{\sim_f}) = \varphi((y)_{\sim_f})$. Then f(x) = f(y), so $x \sim_f y$. Thus $(x)_{\sim_f} = (y)_{\sim_f}$. Therefore, φ a UP-monomorphism.

(2) Assume that f is a UP-epimorphism. By (1), it suffices to prove φ is surjective. Let $y \in B$. Then there exists $x \in A$ such that f(x) = y. Thus $y = f(x) = \varphi((x)_{\sim_f})$, so φ is surjective. Hence, φ is a UP-isomorphism.

Conversely, assume that φ is a UP-isomorphism. Then φ is surjective. Let $y \in B$. Then there exists $(x)_{\sim_f} \in A/\sim_f$ such that $\varphi((x)_{\sim_f}) = y$. Thus $f(x) = \varphi((x)_{\sim_f}) = y$, so f is surjective. Hence, f is a UP-epimorphism.

Theorem 2.6. (*First UP-isomorphism Theorem*) Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, and $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism. Then

$$A/\sim_f \cong \operatorname{Im}(f).$$

Proof. By Theorem 1.16 (3), we have Im(f) is a UP-subalgebra of *B*. Thus $f: A \to \text{Im}(f)$ is a UP-epimorphism. Applying Theorem 2.5 (2), we obtain $A/\sim_f \cong \text{Im}(f)$.

Lemma 2.7. Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism, and H a UP-subalgebra of A. Denote $H_{\sim_f} = \bigcup_{h \in H} (h)_{\sim_f}$. Then H_{\sim_f} is a UP-subalgebra of A.

Proof. Clearly, $\emptyset \neq H_{\sim_f} \subseteq A$. Let $a, b \in H_{\sim_f}$. Then $a \in (x)_{\sim_f}$ and $b \in (y)_{\sim_f}$ for some $x, y \in H$, so $(a)_{\sim_f} = (x)_{\sim_f}$ and $(b)_{\sim_f} = (y)_{\sim_f}$. Theorem 2.3 gives $(A / \sim_f, *, (0_A)_{\sim_f})$ is a UP-algebra, so

$$(a \cdot b)_{\sim_f} = (a)_{\sim_f} * (b)_{\sim_f} = (x)_{\sim_f} * (y)_{\sim_f} = (x \cdot y)_{\sim_f}.$$

Thus $a \cdot b \in (x \cdot y)_{\sim_f}$. Since $x, y \in H$, it follows from Proposition 1.7 that $x \cdot y \in H$. Thus $a \cdot b \in (x \cdot y)_{\sim_f} \subseteq H_{\sim_f}$. Hence, H_{\sim_f} is a UP-subalgebra of *A*.

Theorem 2.8. (Second UP-isomorphism Theorem) Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism, and H a UP-subalgebra of A. Denote $H_{\sim_f}/\sim_f = \{(x)_{\sim_f} \mid x \in H_{\sim_f}\}$. Then

$$H/\sim_{\pi_f|_H}\cong H_{\sim_f}/\sim_f$$
.

Proof. By Lemma 2.7, we have $H_{\sim f}$ is a UP-subalgebra of A. Then it is easy to check that $H_{\sim f}/\sim_f$ is a UP-subalgebra of A/\sim_f , thus $(H_{\sim f}/\sim_f, *, (0_A)_{\sim f})$ itself is a UP-algebra. Also, it is obvious that $H \subseteq H_{\sim f}$, then

$$(\pi_f|_H =)g \colon H \to H_{\sim_f} / \sim_f , x \mapsto (x)_{\sim_f}, \tag{2.3}$$

is a mapping. Indeed, g is the restriction of π_f to H. Thus g is a UP-epimorphism. Indeed, $H_{\sim_f}/\sim_f = H/\sim_f$. Theorem 2.6 gives $H/\sim_{\pi_f|_H} \cong H_{\sim_f}/\sim_f$.

Theorem 2.9. Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, $f: A \to B$ and $g: A \to B$ UP-homomorphisms with $\sim_f \subseteq \sim_g$. Define the binary relation \sim_g / \sim_f on A / \sim_f as follows: for all $x, y \in A$,

$$(x)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (y)_{\sim_f} \text{ if and only if } x \sim_g y.$$

$$(2.4)$$

Then \sim_g / \sim_f is a congruence on A / \sim_f .

Proof. By Theorem 2.3, we have $(A / \sim_f, *, (0_A)_{\sim_f})$ is a UP-algebra.

Reflexive: For all $x \in A$, we have $x \sim_g x$. Thus $(x)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (x)_{\sim_f}$.

Symmetric: Let $x, y \in A$ be such that $(x)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (y)_{\sim_f}$. Then $x \sim_g y$, so $y \sim_g x$. Thus $(y)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (x)_{\sim_f}$.

Transitive: Let x, y, z be such that $(x)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (y)_{\sim_f}$ and $(y)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (z)_{\sim_f}$. Then $x \sim_g y$ and $y \sim_g z$, so $x \sim_g z$. Thus $(x)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (z)_{\sim_f}$. Therefore, \sim_g / \sim_f is an equivalence relation on A / \sim_f . Finally, let $x, y, u, v \in A$ be such that $(x)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (u)_{\sim_f}$ and $(y)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (v)_{\sim_f}$. Then $x \sim_g u$ and $y \sim_g v$. The binary relation \sim_g is a congruence on A by Theorem 2.2, that is $x \cdot y \sim_g u \cdot v$. Thus $(x \cdot y)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (u \cdot v)_{\sim_f}$, so $(x)_{\sim_f} * (y)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (u)_{\sim_f} * (v)_{\sim_f}$. Hence, \sim_g / \sim_f is a congruence on A / \sim_f .

Theorem 2.10. (*Third UP-isomorphism Theorem*) Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, $f : A \to B$ and $g : A \to B$ UP-homomorphisms with $\sim_f \subseteq \sim_g$. Then

$$(A/\sim_f)/(\sim_g/\sim_f)\cong A/\sim_g A$$

Proof. By Theorem 2.3, we obtain $(A/\sim_f, *, (0_A)_{\sim_f})$ and $(A/\sim_g, *', (0_A)_{\sim_g})$ are UP-algebras. By Theorem 2.4, we obtain

$$\pi_f: A \to A/\sim_f, x \mapsto (x)_{\sim}$$

and

$$\pi_g: A \to A / \sim_g, x \mapsto (x)_{\sim_g}$$

are UP-epimorphisms. Applying Theorem 2.5 (2), there exists a UP-isomorphism

$$g/f: A/\sim_f \to A/\sim_g, (x)_{\sim_f} \mapsto (x)_{\sim_g}.$$
(2.5)

Indeed, $A/\sim_f \cong A/\sim_g$. By Theorem 2.9 and 2.3, we have $(A/\sim_f)/\sim_{g/f}$ is a UP-algebra. By Theorem 2.4, we obtain

$$\pi_{g/f}: A/\sim_f \to (A/\sim_f)/\sim_{g/f}, (x)_{\sim_f} \mapsto ((x)_{\sim_f})_{\sim_{g/f}}$$

is a UP-epimorphism. Applying Theorem 2.5 (2), there exists a UP-isomorphism

$$\varphi\colon (A/\sim_f)/\sim_{g/f} \to A/\sim_g, ((x)_{\sim_f})_{\sim_{g/f}} \mapsto (x)_{\sim_g}.$$

$$(2.6)$$

That is,

$$(A/\sim_f)/\sim_{g/f}\cong A/\sim_g A$$

We shall show that $\sim_{g/f} = \sim_g / \sim_f$. For any $(x)_{\sim_f}, (y)_{\sim_f} \in A / \sim_f$,

$$\begin{aligned} (x)_{\sim_f} \sim_{g/f} (y)_{\sim_f} & \Leftrightarrow \quad (g/f)((x)_{\sim_f}) = (g/f)((y)_{\sim_f}) \\ & \Leftrightarrow \quad (x)_{\sim_g} = (y)_{\sim_g} \\ & \Leftrightarrow \quad x \sim_g y \\ & \Leftrightarrow \quad (x)_{\sim_f} \sim_g / \sim_f (y)_{\sim_f} \end{aligned}$$

by (2.1) and (2.4). Thus $\sim_{g/f} = \sim_g / \sim_f$. Hence, $(A/\sim_f)/(\sim_g / \sim_f) \cong A/\sim_g$.

Corollary 2.11. Let $(A, \cdot, 0_A)$ and $(B, \bullet, 0_B)$ be UP-algebras, $f: A \to B$ a UP-homomorphism, and C a UP-ideal of A. Then

$$A/\sim_C\cong A/\sim_f$$
.

As π_f makes the following diagram commute,



Proof. It is straightforward by Theorem 1.12, 1.14, 2.4, and 2.5 (2).

Acknowledgment

The authors wish to express their sincere thanks to the referees for the valuable suggestions which lead to an improvement of this paper.

References

- [1] S. Asawasamrit, KK-isomorphism and its properties, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math. 78 (2012), no. 1, 65-73.
- [2] K. H. Dar and M. Akram, On K-homomorphisms of K-algebras, Int. Math. Forum 2 (2007), no. 46, 2283–2293.
- [3] J. Hao and C. X. Li, On ideals of an ideal in a BCI-algebra, Sci. Math. Jpn. (in Editione Electronica) 10 (2004), no. 16, 493–500.
- [4] Q. P. Hu and X. Li, On BCH-algebras, Math. Semin. Notes, Kobe Univ. 11 (1983), 313–320.

- [4] Q. P. Hu and X. Li, On BCH-algebras, Math. Semin. Notes, Kobe Univ. 11 (1983), 313–320.
 [5] A. Iampan, The UP-isomorphism theorems for UP-algebras, Manuscript submitted for publication, April 2015.
 [6] A. Iampan, A new branch of the logical algebra: UP-algebras, J. Algebra Relat. Top. 5 (2017), no. 1, 35–54.
 [7] Y. Imai and K. Iséki, On axiom system of propositional calculus, Proc. Japan Acad. 42 (1966), no. 1, 19–22.
 [8] K. Iséki, An algebra related with a propositional calculus, Proc. Japan Acad. 42 (1966), no. 1, 26–29.
 [9] Y. B. Jun, S. M. Hong, X. L. Xin, and E. H. Roh, Chinese remainder theorems in BCI-algebras, Soochow J. Math. 24 (1998), no. 3, 219–230.
 [10] S. Keawrahun and U. Leerawat, On isomorphisms of SU-algebras, Sci. Magna 7 (2011), no. 2, 39–44.
 [11] C. B. Kim and H. S. Kim, On BG-algebras, Demonstr. Math. 41 (2008), no. 3, 497–505.
 [12] K. H. Kim, On structure of KS-semigroup, Int. Math. Forum 1 (2006), no. 2, 67–76.

- [13] J. S. Paradero-Vilela and M. Cawi, On KS-semigroup homomorphism, Int. Math. Forum 4 (2009), no. 23, 1129–1138.
- [14] J. K. Park, W. H. Shim, and E. H. Roh, On isomorphism theorems in IS-algebras, Soochow J. Math. 27 (2001), no. 2, 153-160.
- [15] C. Prabpayak and U. Leerawat, On ideals and congruences in KU-algebras, Sci. Magna 5 (2009), no. 1, 54-57.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



A horizontal endomorphism of the canonical superspray

Esmaeil Azizpour^{a*} and Mohammad Hassan Zarifi^a

^aDepartment of Pure Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematical Sciences, University of Guilan, PO Box 1914, Rasht, Iran ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: eazizpour@gmail.com

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Horizontal endomorphism, Riemann-Finsler supermetric, Superspray 2010 AMS: 53C60, 58A50 Received: 12 March 2018 Accepted: 15 April 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018 Giving up the homogeneity condition of a Lagrange superfunction, we prove that there is a unique horizontal endomorphism h (nonlinear connection) on a supermanifold \mathcal{M} , such that h is conservative and its torsion vanishes. There are several examples for nonhomogeneous Lagrangians such that this result is not true.

1. Introduction

The fundamental relation between the horizontal endomorphisms and semisprays was discovered, independently, by M. Crampin [3] and J. Grifone [6, 7]. The conditions for a system of second order differential equations to be derivable from a Lagrangian are related to the differential geometry of the tangent bundle of configuration space. These conditions are simply expressed in terms of the horizontal distribution which is associated with any vector field representing a system of second-order differential equations.

In supergeometry, relationship between nonlinear connections and supersprays structures to be discussed. Also it was shown that there exists a homogeneous superspray, so called the Euler-Lagrange supervector field, which is induced by a Finsler metric [8, 13]. This superspray can help us to introduce a horizontal endomorphism which will be used to obtain the main result. So we will show that on a Finsler supermanifold (\mathcal{M}, F) , there is a unique horizontal endomorphism *h* which is conservative (see theorem 3.6) i.e. $d_h L = 0$. The property $d_h L = 0$ tells us that the Lagrangian L is constant along the horizontal curves of the nonlinear connection and hence it is constant along the geodesics of the superspace. This result is not true for an arbitrary Lagrangian L. We will find non homogeneous Lagrangian superfunctions for which $d_h L \neq 0$.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 deals with the vertical and complete lift of supervector fields to the tangent superbundle. It contains a brief review of the notion of superspray and the relationship between supersprays and nonlinear connections. We also introduce the notion of Euler-Lagrange supervector field which is an important tool to construct the horizontal endomorphism. In section three, we introduce a horizontal endomorphism h on a supermanifold \mathcal{M} , such that h is conservative and its torsion vanishes. We consider an example for a nonhomogeneous Lagrangian such that this result is not true.

2. Preliminary

The basic structure for building up supermanifolds is the Grassmann algebra. With $B_L = (B_L)_0 + (B_L)_1$ we shall denote a real Grassmann algebra with *L* generators. If $L = \infty$, B_L is given a suitable Banach norm, making B_∞ a Banach-Grassmann algebra as defined in [9]. Here B_L is a graded commutative algebra, namely,

$$ab \in (B_L)_{|a|+|b|}, \quad ab = (-1)^{|a||b|} ba$$

where the element $a, b \in B_L$ are the homogeneous. A (m, n)-dimensional supermanifold \mathcal{M} is defined on $B_L^{m,n}$ (see details in [4]). Throughout this paper, \mathcal{M} will denote an (m, n)-dimensional supermanifold.

The concept of nonlinear connection (N-connection) was introduced in component form in a number of works by Cartan [2], Kawaguchi [10, 11] and Ehresmann [5]. But the first global definition is due to Barthel [1]. The geometry of N-connection in superspaces are considered in detail in [16], [14].

Let us consider a vector superbundle $\mathscr{E} = (E, \pi_E, \mathscr{M})$ whose type fiber is \mathscr{F} and $\pi^T : T\mathscr{E} \to T\mathscr{M}$ is the superdifferential of the map π_E . The kernel of this vector superbundle morphism being a subbundle of (TE, τ_E, E) is called the vertical subbundle over \mathscr{E} and is denoted by $V\mathscr{E} = (VE, \tau_V, E)$. Its total space is $V\mathscr{E} = \bigcup_{u \in \mathscr{E}} V_u$, where $V_u = ker\pi^T$, $u \in \mathscr{E}$.

A nonlinear connection, N-connection [15, 16], in vector superbundle \mathscr{E} is a splitting on the left of the exact sequence

$$0 \longmapsto V\mathscr{E} \stackrel{\iota}{\longmapsto} T\mathscr{E} \longmapsto T\mathscr{E} / V\mathscr{E} \longmapsto 0, \tag{2.1}$$

i.e. a morphism of vector superbundles $N: T\mathscr{E} \to V\mathscr{E}$ such that $N \circ i$ is the identity on $V\mathscr{E}$.

The kernel of the morphism *N* is called the horizontal subbundle and is denoted by (HE, τ_H, E) . From the exact sequence (2.1) it follows that N-connection structure can be equivalently defined as a distribution $T_u E = H_u E \oplus V_u E$, $u \in E$ on *E* defining a global decomposition, as a Whitney sum,

$$T\mathscr{E} = H\mathscr{E} \oplus V\mathscr{E}. \tag{2.2}$$

Locally a nonlinear connection in ${\mathscr E}$ is given by its coefficients

$$N_i^j(x,y,\eta,\theta), N_i^{\beta}(x,y,\eta,\theta), N_{\alpha}^j(x,y,\eta,\theta), N_{\alpha}^{\beta}(x,y,\eta,\theta)$$

In the tangent superbundle a local basis adapted to the given nonlinear connection N is introduced by

$$(\frac{\delta}{\delta x_i}, \frac{\delta}{\delta \eta_{\alpha}}, \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i}, \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}}),$$

where

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta x_i} := \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} - N_i^j \frac{\partial}{\partial y_j} - N_i^\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha}$$
(2.3)

and

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\eta_{\alpha}} := \frac{\partial}{\partial\eta_{\alpha}} - N^{i}_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{i}} - N^{\beta}_{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial\theta_{\beta}}.$$
(2.4)

Let $X = X^i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + X^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_{\alpha}}$ be a supervector field in a coordinate neighborhood \mathscr{U} of \mathscr{M} , then the vertical lift X^{ν} and the complete lift X^c of X have the form

$$X^{\nu} = X^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{i}} + X^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}},$$

and

$$X^{c} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(X^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} + \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} y_{j} \frac{\partial X^{i}}{\partial x_{j}} + \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \theta_{\gamma} \frac{\partial X^{i}}{\partial \eta_{\gamma}} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{i}} \right)$$

+
$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \left(X^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_{\alpha}} + \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} y_{j} \frac{\partial X^{\alpha}}{\partial x_{j}} + \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \theta_{\gamma} \frac{\partial X^{\alpha}}{\partial \eta_{\gamma}} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\gamma}} \right)$$

Definition 2.1. A vertical endomorphism on the tangent superbundle $T \mathcal{M}$ is a (super) tensor field

$$J: \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M}) \mapsto \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M})$$

satisfies in ImJ = KerJ, $J^2 = 0$.

If *J* is a vertical endomorphism, the vertical differentiation d_J is the mapping $d_J = [i_J, d] = i_J od - doi_J$. In particular, for any superfunction *f* on \mathcal{M} , we have $d_J f = i_j df$.

Let $(x_i; \eta_\alpha)$ be local coordinates on \mathscr{M} and $(x_i, y_i; \eta_\alpha, \theta_\alpha)$ the corresponding local coordinates on $T\mathscr{M}$. The Liouville supervector field C on $\mathscr{K}(T\mathscr{M})$ defined by

$$C = y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + \theta_\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha}.$$
(2.5)

Definition 2.2. A morphism $h: \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M}) \mapsto \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M})$ is said to be a horizontal endomorphism on \mathscr{M} if it satisfies the following conditions: (i) $h^2 = h$ (ii) Kerk $= \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M})$

(*ii*)Kerh =
$$\mathscr{X}^{\nu}(T\mathscr{M})$$
.

Assume *h* is a horizontal endomorphism. The supervector 1-form, or simply the vector 1-form, [h, C] is said to be the tension of *h*. The vector 2-form [J, h] is said to be the torsion of *h*.

Let *h* be a horizontal endomorphism. If $\mathscr{X}^h(T\mathscr{M}) := Imh$, then $\mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M}) = \mathscr{X}^h(T\mathscr{M}) \oplus \mathscr{X}^v(T\mathscr{M})$ and $\mathscr{X}^h(T\mathscr{M})$ is called the supermodule of horizontal supervector fields. $v := (id - h) : \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M}) \mapsto \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M})$, is the vertical projection on $\mathscr{X}^v(T\mathscr{M})$ along $\mathscr{X}^h(T\mathscr{M})$. Also, we have hoJ = 0 and Joh = J.

Definition 2.3. A morphism $\mathscr{F}: \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M}) \mapsto \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M})$ is said to be an almost complex structure on \mathscr{M} if $\mathscr{F}^2 = -1$.

Definition 2.4. A supervector field S on $T \mathcal{M}$ is a superspray if

$$J(S) = y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + \theta_\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha}.$$
(2.6)

When the coefficients of a superspray S are homogeneous of degree 2, we say that S is a homogeneous superspray.

If *S* is a homogeneous superspray and *C* the Liouville supervector field, then [C, S] = S. It is not difficult to show that if *h* is a horizontal endomorphism on \mathcal{M} and *S'* an arbitrary superspray then S := hS' is also a superspray on \mathcal{M} . It satisfies the relation h[C, S] = S. So *S* is called the superspray associated to *h*.

A generalized Lagrange superspace is a pair $GL^{m,n} = (\mathcal{M}, g(x, y; \eta, \theta))$, where $g(x, y; \eta, \theta)$ is a distinguished tensor field on $T\mathcal{M}^o = T\mathcal{M} - \{0\}$, supersymmetric of superrank (m, n). A Lagrange superspace is defined as a particular case of generalize Lagrange superspace when the distinguished tensor field on \mathcal{M} can be expressed as

$$g_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial y_i \partial y_j}, \ g_{i\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial y_i \partial \theta_\beta}, \ g_{\alpha j} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial \theta_\alpha \partial y_j}, \ g_{\alpha \beta} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial \theta_\alpha \partial \theta_\beta}$$
(2.7)

where $L: T\mathcal{M} \mapsto B_L$, is a superfunction called a Lagrangian on \mathcal{M} (see [15]). Locally, *L* is regular if and only if the matrix

$$g = \left[\begin{array}{cc} g_{ij} & g_{i\beta} \\ g_{\alpha j} & g_{\alpha\beta} \end{array} \right]$$

is invertible. For example, if $L = F^2$, where F will be defined in the following definition, then L is a regular Lagrangian. In this case L is a homogeneous superfunction of degree 2.

To define a (super) metric on a supermanifold, We consider the base manifold *M* of a vector superbundle $\mathscr{E} = (E, \pi_E, \mathscr{M})$ to be a connected and paracompact manifold.

Definition 2.5. A metric structure on the total space *E* of a vector superbundle \mathscr{E} is a supersymmetric, second order, covariant supertensor field *g* which in every point $u \in \mathscr{E}$ is given by nondegenerate supermatrix $g_{ab} = g(\partial_a, \partial_b)$ (with nonvanishing superdeterminant, det $g \neq 0$).

Definition 2.6. A function $F : T \mathcal{M} \to B_L$ is called a Finsler metric (see [15]) if the following conditions are satisfied: (1) The restriction of F to $T \mathcal{M}^o = T \mathcal{M} - \{0\}$ is of the class G^{∞} and F is only supersmooth on the image of the null cross-section in the tangent supermanifold to M.

(2) $F(x, \lambda y; \eta, \lambda \theta) = \lambda F(x, y; \eta, \theta)$, where λ is a real positive number.

(3) The restriction of F to the even subspace of $T\mathcal{M}^o$ is a positive function.

(4) If we put

$$g_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 F^2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j}, \ g_{i\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 F^2}{\partial y_i \partial \theta_\beta}, \ g_{\alpha j} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 F^2}{\partial \theta_\alpha \partial y_j}, \ g_{\alpha \beta} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 F^2}{\partial \theta_\alpha \partial \theta_\beta}$$
(2.8)

then

$$g = \left[\begin{array}{cc} g_{ij} & g_{i\beta} \\ g_{\alpha j} & g_{\alpha\beta} \end{array} \right]$$

is invertible.

A pair (\mathcal{M}, F) is called a Finsler Supermanifold.

It is obvious that Finsler superspaces form a particular class of Lagrange superspaces with Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} = F^2$.

Definition 2.7. The dynamics of a system $(T\mathcal{M}, \omega, L)$, associated to a Lagrangian $L \in T\mathcal{M}$, is given by a supervector field $X \in \mathscr{X}(T\mathcal{M})$ satisfying the equation

$$i_X \omega = -dL \tag{2.9}$$

where $\omega = dd_J L$.

It is shown that the Euler-Lagrange supervector field is a superspray [13].

Theorem 2.8. ([13]) On any Finsler supermanifold (\mathcal{M}, F) , there is a homogeneous superspray

$$S = y_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} + \theta_\beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_\beta} - 2G^j(x, y; \eta, \theta) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_j} - 2G^\beta(x, y; \eta, \theta) \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\beta}$$

where

$$G^{j} = \frac{1}{4}g^{jm}(y^{k}\frac{\partial^{2}F^{2}}{\partial x_{k}\partial y_{m}} - \frac{\partial^{2}F^{2}}{\partial \eta_{\alpha}\partial y_{m}}\theta_{\alpha} - \frac{\partial F^{2}}{\partial x_{m}})$$
$$-\frac{1}{4}g^{m\beta}(y^{j}\frac{\partial^{2}F^{2}}{\partial x_{j}\partial \theta_{\gamma}} + \frac{\partial^{2}F^{2}}{\partial \eta_{\mu}\partial \theta_{\gamma}}\theta_{\mu} - \frac{\partial F^{2}}{\partial \eta_{\gamma}})$$
(2.10)

and

$$G^{\beta} = \frac{1}{4}g^{\beta m}(y^{k}\frac{\partial^{2}F^{2}}{\partial x_{k}\partial y_{m}} - \frac{\partial^{2}F^{2}}{\partial\eta_{\alpha}\partial y_{m}}\theta_{\alpha} - \frac{\partial F^{2}}{\partial x_{m}})$$

$$+\frac{1}{4}g^{\beta\gamma}(y^{j}\frac{\partial^{2}F^{2}}{\partial x_{j}\partial\theta_{\gamma}}+\frac{\partial^{2}F^{2}}{\partial\eta_{\mu}\partial\theta_{\gamma}}\theta_{\mu}-\frac{\partial F^{2}}{\partial\eta_{\gamma}}).$$
(2.11)

We call this superspray the canonical superspray of a Finsler metric.

Let (\mathcal{M}, F) be a Finsler supermanifold and consider $T\mathcal{M}^o = T\mathcal{M} - \{0\}$ and denote by $VT\mathcal{M}^o$ the vertical superbundle over $T\mathcal{M}^o$. It is easy to show that a Finsler metric *F* allows to define a (super) metric *g* on the vertical superbundle $VT\mathcal{M}^o$, by setting $L = F^2$ and

$$g(JX, JY) = \omega(JX, Y) \tag{2.12}$$

for $X, Y \in T(TM)$. So the coefficients of this metric are superfunctions defined in (2.8). If *h* is a horizontal endomorphism on \mathcal{M} and v = id - h, *g* can be extended to $T\mathcal{M}$ by putting

$$G(X,Y) = g(JX,JY) + g(vX,vY),$$

where J is the vertical endomorphism.

3. A Horizontal endomorphism

We are now in position to define a horizontal endomorphism which is conservative and torsion-free. To do it we need to define a supervector 1-form [J,X], where J is a vector 1-form and X a supervector field. Since J is a vector form of degree 0, for each supervector field Y on $T\mathcal{M}$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} [J,X]Y &= (-1)^{|X||Y|} \left(Y^i[\frac{\partial}{\partial y_i},X] + Y^{\alpha}[\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}},X] \right) \\ &- (-1)^{|X||Y|} \left(Y(X^i)\frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + Y(X^{\alpha})\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

An easy computation shows that

$$[J,X]Y = (-1)^{|X||Y|} [JY,X] - (-1)^{|X||Y|} J[Y,X].$$
(3.1)

Theorem 3.1. (1) Any superspray S generates a torsion-free horizontal endomorphism

$$h = \frac{1}{2}(id + [J,S]), \tag{3.2}$$

where id is the identity map on T(TM). The horizontal lift of a supervector field X on \mathcal{M} is

$$X^{h} := hX^{c} = \frac{1}{2}(X^{c} + [X^{\nu}, S]).$$
(3.3)

(2) A superspray associated to h is

$$S_h = \frac{1}{2}(S + [C, S]). \tag{3.4}$$

If S is a homogeneous superspray, then $S_h = S$. (3) The torsion of h vanishes.

Proof. (1) First, we show that h is a horizontal endomorphism. So let X be a homogeneous supervector field on \mathcal{M} . Since S is an even supervector field, thus

$$\begin{split} h(X^{\nu}) &= \frac{1}{2} \Big(X^{\nu} - J \Big\{ X^{i} \big(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} - 2 \frac{\partial G^{j}}{\partial y_{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{j}} - 2 \frac{\partial G^{\beta}}{\partial y_{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\beta}} \big) \\ &+ X^{\alpha} \big(\frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_{\alpha}} - 2 \frac{\partial G^{i}}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{i}} - 2 \frac{\partial G^{\beta}}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\beta}} \big) \Big\} - y_{j} \big(\frac{\partial X^{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{i}} + \frac{\partial X^{\alpha}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} \big) \\ &- \theta^{\beta} \big(\frac{\partial X^{i}}{\partial \eta_{\beta}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{i}} + \frac{\partial X^{\alpha}}{\partial \eta_{\beta}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\beta}} \big) \Big) = \frac{1}{2} \big(X^{\nu} - X^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{i}} - X^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} \big) = 0. \end{split}$$

This shows that $X^{\nu}(T\mathcal{M}) \subset kerh$. Now, let $Y \in kerh$, then

$$0 = 2h(Y) = Y + [JY,S] - J[Y,S],$$

so Y = -[JY, S] + J[Y, S]. If we compute JY, it follows that

$$JY = -J[JY,S] = 0$$

Thus $kerh \subset X^{\nu}(T\mathcal{M})$ and therefore $X^{\nu}(T\mathcal{M}) = kerh$. It is clear that for any supervector field $X^{\nu} \in \mathscr{X}(T\mathcal{M})$, we have $h^2(X^{\nu}) = 0$. On the other hand

$$\begin{aligned} h^2(X^c) &= \frac{1}{2} \Big(hX^c + h[JX^c,S] - hoJ[X^c,S] \Big) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \Big(hX^c + h[X^v,S] \Big) = hX^c. \end{aligned}$$

This shows that on $\mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M})$ we have $h^2 = h$.

(2) If \tilde{S} is an arbitrary superspray on \mathcal{M} and h is the horizontal endomorphism defined by (3.2), then $Joh(\tilde{S}) = C$. So $S_h = h(\tilde{S})$ is a superspray.

Now let \tilde{S} has the local form

$$\tilde{S} = y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + \theta_\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_\alpha} - 2\tilde{G}^i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} - 2\tilde{G}^\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha}.$$

It is not difficult to show that $J[\tilde{S},S] = -S + \tilde{S}$. If S is a homogeneous superspray, i.e. G^i and G^{α} are superfunctions of degree two, then [C,S] = S and

$$h(\tilde{S}) = \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{S} + [J\tilde{S}, S] - J[\tilde{S}, S]) = S.$$

(3) We begin this part of proof with the definition of horizontal endomorphism h, thus we have

$$[J,h] = \frac{1}{2}[J,id] + \frac{1}{2}[J,[J,S]].$$

It is clear that [J, id] = 0, so we show that [J, [J, S]] = 0. Note that in this case J is an even 1-vector valued form and S an even supervector field. From the Bianchi identities for the lie superalgebra of vector-valued forms, we have

$$(-1)^{1.0}[J,[J,S]] + (-1)^{1.1}[J,[S,J]] + (-1)^{0.1}[S,[J,J]] = 0.$$

Apply (3.1) to [S, J], we see that [S, J] = -[J, S]. Since [J, J] = 0, therefore [J, [J, S]] = 0 and the torsion of *h* is zero.

Lemma 3.2. If h is the horizontal endomorphism defined by (3.2), then there is a unique almost complex structure \mathcal{F} on $T\mathcal{M}$ such that

$$\mathscr{F}oJ = h, \quad \mathscr{F}oh = -J.$$

Proof. If we use the above conditions, it is easy to see that F permutes the vertical and horizontal superspaces if and only if

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{F}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}) &= -\frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + N_i^j \frac{\delta}{\delta x_j} + N_i^\alpha \frac{\delta}{\delta \eta_\alpha} \quad , \quad \mathscr{F}(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_i}) = \frac{\delta}{\delta x_i}, \\ \mathscr{F}(\frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_\alpha}) &= -\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha} + N_\alpha^i \frac{\delta}{\delta x_i} + N_\alpha^\beta \frac{\delta}{\delta \eta_\beta} \quad , \quad \mathscr{F}(\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha}) = \frac{\delta}{\delta \eta_\alpha}. \end{aligned}$$

For example $\mathscr{F}oJ = h$ implies that $\mathscr{F}oJ(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}) = \frac{\delta}{\delta x_i}$, so $\mathscr{F}(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_i}) = \frac{\delta}{\delta x_i}$. Similarly, $\mathscr{F}(\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}}) = \frac{\delta}{\delta \eta_{\alpha}}$. Also $\mathscr{F}oh = -J$ implies that $\mathscr{F}(\frac{\delta}{\delta x_i}) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial y_i}$, so $\mathscr{F}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + N_i^j \frac{\delta}{\delta x_j} + N_i^\alpha \frac{\delta}{\delta \eta_{\alpha}}$.

Definition 3.3. With respect to the (super) metric G on $T\mathcal{M}$, we define the Kahler form

$$K(X,Y) = G(X,JY) - G(JX,Y).$$
 (3.5)

Theorem 3.4. Let h be a horizontal endomorphism defined by (3.2). So

$$i_v \omega = K.$$

Proof. The canonical expression of the vertical projection v = 1 - h is

$$v = (N_i^j \frac{\partial}{\partial y_j} + N_i^\beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\beta}) \otimes dx_i - (N_\alpha^i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + N_\alpha^\beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\beta}) \otimes d\eta_\alpha + \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} \otimes dy_i - \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha} \otimes d\theta_\alpha$$

A long but standard computation shows that

$$\begin{split} i_{v} \omega &= \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial y_{j} \partial y_{i}} N_{k}^{j} dx_{k} \wedge dx_{i} - \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial y_{j} \partial y_{i}} N_{\alpha}^{j} d\eta_{\alpha} \wedge dx_{i} + \frac{\partial^{2} \mathscr{L}}{\partial y_{j} \partial y_{i}} dy_{j} \wedge dx_{i} \\ - & (-1)^{L} \left\{ \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial \theta_{\alpha} \partial y_{i}} N_{k}^{\alpha} dx_{k} \wedge dx_{i} + \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial \theta_{\alpha} \partial y_{i}} N_{\alpha}^{\alpha} d\eta_{\beta} \wedge dx_{i} + \frac{\partial^{2} \mathscr{L}}{\partial \theta_{\alpha} \partial y_{i}} d\theta_{\alpha} \wedge dx_{i} \right\} \\ - & (-1)^{L} \left\{ \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial y_{i} \partial \theta_{\alpha}} N_{j}^{i} dx_{j} \wedge d\eta_{\alpha} - \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial y_{i} \partial \theta_{\alpha}} N_{\beta}^{i} d\eta_{\beta} \wedge d\eta_{\alpha} + \frac{\partial^{2} \mathscr{L}}{\partial y_{i} \partial \theta_{\alpha}} dy_{i} \wedge d\eta_{\alpha} \right\} \\ - & \left\{ \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial \theta_{\beta} \partial \theta_{\alpha}} N_{i}^{\beta} dx_{i} \wedge d\eta_{\alpha} + \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial \theta_{\beta} \partial \theta_{\alpha}} N_{\gamma}^{\beta} d\eta_{\gamma} \wedge d\eta_{\alpha} + \frac{\partial^{2} \mathscr{L}}{\partial \theta_{\beta} \partial \theta_{\alpha}} d\theta_{\beta} \wedge d\eta_{\alpha} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Now, it is easy to check that for two supervector fields $X, Y \in \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M})$, we have

$$(i_v \omega)(X, Y) = \omega(vX, Y) + \omega(X, vY).$$
(3.6)

Since $\omega(X, vY) = -(-1)^{XY} \omega(vX, Y)$ so

$$\begin{array}{lcl} (i_{v}\omega)(X,Y) & = & g(vX,JY) - (-1)^{XY}g(vY,JX) = \{g(JvX,JJY)\} \\ & + & g(vvX,vJY) - (-1)^{XY}\{g(vvY,vJX) + g(JvY,JJX)\} \\ & = & G(vX,JY) - (-1)^{XY}G(vY,JX) \end{array}$$

But G(vX, JY) = G(X, JY), thus $(i_v \omega)(X, Y) = K(X, Y)$.

Definition 3.5. A nonlinear connection is called Lagrangian if the horizontal superspace is Lagrangian with respect to the 2-form $\omega = dd_J L$, *i.e.* if $\omega(hX,hY) = 0$ for any $X, Y \in \mathcal{X}(T\mathcal{M})$.

An easy computation will show that if a nonlinear connection is Lagrangian then $i_h \omega = \omega$. So from the above proposition we have

$$2\omega = i_{id}\omega = i_h\omega + i_v\omega$$

therefore $K = \omega$.

Theorem 3.6. Consider a regular homogeneous Lagrangian L and N a Lagrangian connection. There exist a unique horizontal endomorphism h on \mathcal{M} such that (i) h is conservative, i.e. $d_h L = 0$, (ii) h is torsion-free,

(ii) *h* is torsion-free, (iii) The tension of *h* is zero, i.e. [h,C] = 0. Explicitly, *h* is given by

$$h = \frac{1}{2}(id + [J,S])$$
(3.7)

where S is the canonical superspray of a Finsler metric.

Proof. Let $(x_i; \eta_\alpha)$ be local coordinates on \mathscr{M} and $(x_i, y_i; \eta_\alpha, \theta_\alpha)$ the corresponding local coordinates on $T\mathscr{M}$. It should be mentioned that we assume L is a homogeneous Lagrangian superfunction of degree K > 1 with respect to (y, θ) . We proved before that $h = \frac{1}{2}(id + [J, S])$ is a torsion-free horizontal endomorphism. Given the local forms of $h = dx_i \otimes \frac{\delta}{\delta x_i} + d\eta_\alpha \otimes \frac{\delta}{\delta \eta_\alpha}$ and $C = y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + \theta_\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha}$ and using the method used in Lemma 3.5, it is easy to see that [h, C] = 0. To complete the proof, we only need to prove that $d_h L = 0$. Let *S* be the canonical superspray introduced in theorem 2.8. As we mentioned earlier, *S* is even supervector field, so for any supervector field *X* on $T\mathscr{M}$, we have $(i_S\omega)(X) = \omega(S, X)$. Since $K = \omega$ thus

$$\begin{aligned} (i_S\omega)(X) &= G(S,JX) - G(JS,X) = -g(vC,vX) \\ &= -g(vC,J\mathscr{F}X) = -\omega(C,\mathscr{F}X). \end{aligned}$$

Now, we show that for any homogeneous supervector field $X \in \mathscr{X}(T\mathscr{M})$, $\omega(X,\mathscr{F}X) = i_v dL(X)$. So if X has a local form $X = X^i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + \bar{X}^i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + X^\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_\alpha} + \bar{X}^\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha}$, then we have

$$\begin{aligned} (i_{v}dL)(X) &= \frac{\partial L}{\partial y_{i}} \left(N_{k}^{i}dx_{k} - N_{\alpha}^{i}d\eta_{\alpha} + dy_{i} \right)(X) \\ &- (-1)^{|L|} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} \left(N_{i}^{\alpha}dx_{i} + N_{\beta}^{\alpha}d\eta_{\beta} + d\theta_{\alpha} \right)(X) \\ &= \frac{\partial L}{\partial y_{i}} \left(N_{k}^{i}X^{k} - (-1)^{|X|}N_{\alpha}^{i}X^{\alpha} + \bar{X}^{i} \right) \\ &- (-1)^{|L|} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} \left(N_{i}^{\alpha}X^{i} + (-1)^{|X|}N_{\beta}^{\alpha}X^{\beta} + (-1)^{|X|}\bar{X}^{\alpha} \right) \end{aligned}$$

One can easily check that $\omega(X, \mathscr{F}X) = i_v dL(X)$. Now, $i_S \omega = -dL$, because S is the canonical superspray and $dL = d_v L + d_h L$ then $d_h L = 0$.

Let h be the horizontal endomorphism (3.2), the horizontal differential operator is defined by

$$d_h L(X) := dL(hX),$$

where X is a homogeneous supervector field on \mathcal{M} .

The horizontal covariant derivatives of a Lagrange superfunction *L* with respect to even or odd coordinates are denoted respectively by $L_{|i} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_i}$ and $L_{|\alpha} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta \eta_{\alpha}}$. In the following theorem, we use the canonical superspray to have a local expression for the horizontal covariant derivative of a Lagrange superfunction.

Theorem 3.7. Let h be the horizontal endomorphism (3.2). The horizontal covariant derivatives of a Lagrange superfunction L are

$$L_{|i} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(S(L))}{\partial y_i}, \qquad (3.8)$$

$$L_{|\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(S(L))}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}}$$
(3.9)

Proof. First we compute the right hand of the above formulas. Then we have

$$\frac{\partial (S(L))}{\partial y_i} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial x_i} + y_j \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial y_i \partial x_j} + \theta_\alpha \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial y_i \partial \eta_\alpha} - 2N_i^j \frac{\partial L}{\partial y_j} - 4G^j \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} - 2N_i^\alpha \frac{\partial L}{\partial \theta_\alpha} - 4G^\alpha \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial y_i \partial \theta_\alpha}, \qquad (3.10)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial (S(L))}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \eta_{\alpha}} + y_j \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial \theta_{\alpha} \partial x_j} - \theta_{\beta} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial \theta_{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\beta}} - 2N^j_{\alpha} \frac{\partial L}{\partial y_j} - 4G^j \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial \theta_{\alpha} \partial y_j} - 2N^\beta_{\alpha} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \theta_{\beta}} + 4G^\beta \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial \theta_{\alpha} \partial \theta_{\beta}}.$$
(3.11)

If we now replace the superfunctions G^i and G^{α} with (2.10) and (2.11) respectively, then some terms of (3.10) and (3.11) cancel with some terms of the replaced sentences and the only terms that survive are $L_{|i|} = 2 \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_i}$ and $L_{|\alpha|} = 2 \frac{\delta L}{\delta \eta_{\alpha}}$, and the theorem is proved.

From the above theorem we found a condition under which the horizontal differential of a Lagrangian L is vanishes. In other words we found that S(L) = 0 implies $d_h L = 0$.

In the previous theorem, we showed that if L is a homogeneous superfunction then there exist a unique horizontal endomorphism h on \mathcal{M} such that $d_h L = 0$. In the following, we will show that this result is not true for an arbitrary Lagrangian L. We will find non homogeneous Lagrangian superfunctions for which $d_h L \neq 0$.

Let \mathscr{M} be a Riemannian supermanifold with a supermetric \tilde{g} . In the standard local coordinate system (x, η) in \mathscr{M}, \tilde{g} is expressed in the form

$$\tilde{g} = \tilde{g}_{ij} dx_i \otimes dx_j + \tilde{g}_{i\alpha} dx_i \otimes d\eta_\alpha + \tilde{g}_{\alpha i} d\eta_\alpha \otimes dx_i + \tilde{g}_{\alpha \beta} d\eta_\alpha \otimes d\eta_\beta$$

where $\tilde{g}_{ij}, \tilde{g}_{i\alpha}$ and $\tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta}$ are superfunctions on \mathscr{M} and $\tilde{g}_{ij} = \tilde{g}_{ji}, \tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} = -\tilde{g}_{\beta\alpha}, \tilde{g}_{i\alpha} = \tilde{g}_{\alpha i}$. The superfunction

$$L(x,y,\eta,\theta) = \tilde{g}_{ij}(x,\eta)y_iy_j + \tilde{g}_{i\alpha}y_i\theta_\alpha + \tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta}\theta_\alpha\theta_\beta$$
(3.12)

is a regular Lagrangian on $T\mathcal{M}$.

Now we are ready to introduce a Lagrangian superfunction which is not homogeneous and its horizontal differential is not zero. To construct this superfunction, let L be the superfunction (3.12) and ϕ an even homogeneous superfunction on the supermanifold \mathcal{M} , then

$$L' = L(x, y, \eta, \theta) + \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x_i}(x, \eta)y_i + \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \eta_\alpha}(x, \eta)\theta_\alpha$$
(3.13)

is a regular Lagrangian on $T\mathcal{M}$. Using (2.9), it is easy to check that the Cartan 2-forms associated to the superfunctions L and L' are equal (see [8]), then the canonical superspray associated to these superfunctions are equal (see (2.10) and (2.11)). On the other hand, in the definition of the endomorphism (3.7) we see that it depends on the canonical superspray, so we conclude that L and L' have the same horizontal endomorphism.

In local coordinates, let $X = X^i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + \bar{X}^i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} + X^\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_\alpha} + \bar{X}^\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_\alpha}$ be a homogeneous supervector field on $T \mathcal{M}$. We have showed that $d_h L = 0$, so

$$\begin{split} d_{h}L'(X) &= d_{h}\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_{i}}(x,\eta)y_{i} + \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\eta_{\alpha}}(x,\eta)\theta_{\alpha}\right)(X) \\ &= d\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_{i}}y_{i} + \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\eta_{\alpha}}\theta_{\alpha}\right)\right)(h(X)) \\ &= \left(\frac{\partial^{2}\phi}{\partial x_{j}\partial x_{i}}y_{i} - \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_{k}}N_{j}^{k} + \frac{\partial^{2}\phi}{\partial x_{j}\partial\eta_{\alpha}}\theta_{\alpha} - \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\eta_{\beta}}N_{j}^{\beta}\right)X^{j} \\ &- (-1)^{|X|}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\phi}{\partial\eta_{\beta}\partial x_{i}}y_{i} - \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_{j}}N_{\beta}^{j} + \frac{\partial^{2}\phi}{\partial\eta_{\beta}\partial\eta_{\alpha}}\theta_{\alpha} + \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\eta_{\gamma}}N_{\beta}^{\gamma}\right)X^{\beta} \end{split}$$

Now we need to get the coefficients of X^j and X^β in the last equation to be nonzero. We can do this using a linear type of the superfunction ϕ in x and η . Then $d_h L' \neq 0$.

References

- [1] W. Barthel, Nichtlineare zusammenhänge und deren holonomie gruppen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 212 (1963) 120-149.
- [2] E. Cartan, Les espaces de Finsler, Hermann, Paris (1934).
- [3] M. Crampin, On horizontal distributions on the tangent bundle of a differentiable manifold, J. Lond. Math. Soc., (2) 3, (1971) 178-182.
- [4] B. DeWitt, Supermanifolds, (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press) 2nd edn, 1992.
- [5] C. Ehresmann, Les connexions infinitésimales dans un espace fibré différentiable, *Coll. Topologia, Bruxelles* 29-55 (1950).
- [6] J. Grifone, Structure presque-tangente et connexions. I. (French)Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 22 (1972), no. 1, 287–334.
- [7] J. Grifone, Structure presque-tangente et connexions. II. (French)Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 22 (1972), no. 3, 291–338.
- [8] L. A. Ibort; G. Landi; J. Marn-Solano and G. Marmo, On the inverse problem of Lagrangian supermechanics, *Internat. J. Modern Phys. A* 8 (1993), no. 20, 3565–3576.
 [9] A. Landi; J. Marn-Solano and G. Marmo, On the inverse problem of Lagrangian supermechanics, *Internat. J. Modern Phys. A* 8 (1993), no. 20, 3565–3576.
- [9] A. Jadczyk and K. Pilch, Superspaces and supersymmetries, Comm. Math. Phys. 78 (1980) 373-390.
- [10] A. Kawaguchi, Beziehung zwischen einer metrischen linearen Übertragung und einer nicht-metrischen in einem allgemeinen metrischen Räume, *Proc. Akad. Wet. Amsterdam* 40, (1937) 596-601.
- [11] A. Kawaguchi, On the theory of non-linear connections II, theory of Minkowski spaces and of non-linear connections in a Finsler spaces, *Tensor, New Ser.* 6, 165-199 (1956).
- [12] Y. Kosmann-Schwarzbach, Derived brackets, Lett. Math. Phys. 69 (2004), 61-87.
- [13] M.M. Rezaii and E. Azizpour, On a superspray in Lagrange superspaces, Rep. Math. Phys. 56 (2005) 257-269.
- [14] S. Vacaru and H. Dehnen, Locally anisotropic structures and nonlinear connections in Einstein and gauge gravity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 35 (2003) 209-250.
- [15] S. I. Vacaru, Superstrings in higher order extensions of Finsler superspaces Nucl. Phys. B494 (1997) no. 3, 590-656.
- [16] S. I. Vacaru, Interactions, strings and isotopies in higher order anisotropic superspaces, Hadronic Press, Palm Harbor, FL, USA, 1998.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Chebyshev Wavelet collocation method for solving a class of linear and nonlinear nonlocal boundary value problems

İbrahim Çelik^{a*}

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: i.celik@pau.edu.tr

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Approximate solution, Boundary-value problems, Chebyshev Wavelet, Colocation method, Nonlocal boundary conditions 2010 AMS: 34B10, 65D20, 65T60 Received: 8 May 2018 Accepted: 21 June 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018

1. Introduction

This study proposes the Chebyshev Wavelet Colocation method for solving a class of rthorder Boundary-Value Problems (BVPs) with nonlocal boundary conditions. This method is an extension of the Chebyshev wavelet method to the linear and nonlinear BVPs with a class of nonlocal boundary conditions. In this study, the method is tested on second and fourth-order BVPs and approximate solutions are compared with the existing methods in the literature and analytical solutions. The proposed method has promising results in terms of the accuracy.

Many physical phenomena may be modelled by differential equations with nonlocal boundary conditions. Therefore, they have a great attention for researchers of mathematics and physics. Nonlocal conditions occur when values of a function on the boundary are depended on values inside the domain or when direct measurements on the boundary are not taken. These problems with nonlocal boundary conditions are found in many problems such as population dynamics, the process of heat conduction, control theory, theory of elastic stability, evolution equation for species population densities, image processing, porous media flow and turbulence [1, 2]. Henderson et al[3] considered uniqueness questions for certain nonlocal boundary value problems for the nth-order linear differential equation. Xue [4] studied the existence of integral solutions for nonlinear differential equations with nonlocal initial conditions in Banach spaces. Babak [5] investigated the uniqueness and existence of nonlocal initial problems for a system of nonlinear parabolic equations weakly coupled with ordinary differential equations. Liang et al [6] established some new theorems about the existence and uniqueness of solutions for semilinear integrodifferential equations with nonlocal initial conditions. Geng et al [7] gave an effective method for solving nonlocal fractional boundary value problems based on the reproducing kernel theory. Zhou et al [8] discussed the nonlocal Cauchy problem for the fractional evolution equations. All methods given here such as, Finite Difference Method (FDM) [9], Shooting Method [10, 11], Adomian Decomposition Method (ADM) [12], Variational Iteration Method (VIM) [13], Homotopy Analysis Method (HAM) [14], Sinc-Collocation Method (SCM) [15], Differential Transform Method (DTM) [16], Optimal Homotopy Asymptotic Method (OHAM) [17], combination of the VIM and the Homotopy Perturbed Method (HPM) [18], Reproducing Kernel Method (RKM) [19, 20], Monotone Iterative [21] and a spectral method based on operational matrices of Bernstein polynomials using collocation method [22] were used to solve multi-point BVPs. Tzanetis et al [23] studied a nonlocal problem modelling Ohmic heating with variable thermal conductivity including an analysis of the asymptotic behaviour and the blow-up of solutions. Bogoya et al [24] studied a nonlocal diffusion model analogous to heat equation with Neumann boundary conditions and proved an existence and uniqueness of solutions. Pao [25] studied some dynamical property of a reaction-diffusion equation with nonlocal boundary condition. Pao et al [26, 27] investigated a class of fourth-order nonlinear and semilinear elliptic boundary value problem with nonlocal boundary condition.

The Legendre and Chebyshev wavelets operational matrixes of integration and product operation matrix have been introduced in [28, 29, 30, 31]. Our analyses show that there are some disadvantages in applying Legendre wavelet and Chebyshev wavelet. In[32, 33], these disadvantages are eliminated by Çelik with the Chebyshev Wavelet Collocation Method.

This study presents a Chebyshev Wavelet Collocation Method for the solution of the rth-order linear and nonlinear BVPs given in the following form:

$$y^{(r)}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{r} A_i(x) \frac{d^{r-i}y(x)}{dx^{r-i}} + g(x)$$
(1.1)

$$y^{(r)}(x) = F\left(x, y(x), y'(x), \dots, y^{(r-1)}(x)\right)$$
(1.2)

with the nonlocal boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} y^{(i-1)}(x_j) = b_{i,j}, \ 1 \le i \le m_j, \ 1 \le j \le \beta \\ y(x_{\beta+1}) - y(x_{\beta+2}) = b_r \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

where $m_1, m_2, ..., m_\beta$ are positive integers satisfied $m_1 + m_2 + ... + m_\beta = r - 1$ and $a < x_1 < x_2 < ... < x_{\beta+2} < b$, $b_{i,j}, b_r$ are real numbers. The uniqueness of the BVP in Eqs. (1.1), (1.3) has been discussed in [4].

Chebyshev wavelet collocation method is based on the approximation by the truncated Chebyshev wavelets series. By using the Chebyshev collocation points, algebraic equation system has been obtained. The coefficients of the Chebyshev wavelet series can be found from the solution of the algebraic equation system. The method is applied to the linear and nonlinear boundary value problems with nonlocal boundary conditions. Calculations demonstrated that the accuracy of the Chebyshev wavelet collocation method is quite good even for the case of a small number of grid points.

2. Chebyshev Wavelet method

Wavelets have been used in many different fields of science and engineering in recent years. They constitute a family of functions constructed from dilation and translation of a single function called the mother wavelet. If the dilation parameter a and the translation parameter b vary continuously, the following family of continuous wavelets can be obtained [34]

$$\Psi_{a,b}(x) = |a|^{1/2} \Psi\left(\frac{x-b}{a}\right), \quad a,b \in \mathbb{R}, \ a \neq 0.$$

$$(2.1)$$

Chebyshev wavelets are written as

$$\psi_{nm}(x) = \psi(k, n, m, x)$$

where $k = 0, 1, 2, ..., n = 1, 2, ..., 2^k$, *m* is degree of Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind and *x* denotes the normalized time. They are defined on the interval [0, 1) by:

$$\Psi_{nm}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{\alpha_m 2^{k/2}}{\sqrt{\pi}} T_m(2^{k+1}x - 2n + 1), & \frac{n-1}{2^k} \le x < \frac{n}{2^k}, \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

where

$$\alpha_m = \begin{cases} \sqrt{2} & m = 0 \\ 2 & m = 1, 2, \dots \end{cases}$$

and $T_m(2^{k+1}x-2n+1)$ are Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind of degree *m* orthogonal with respect to the weight function $w_n(x) = w(2^{k+1}x-2n+1) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-(2^{k+1}x-2n+1)^2}}$ on [-1, 1] [35].

A function $f(x) \in L^2_w[0,1]$ may be expanded as:

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} f_{nm} \psi_{nm}(x)$$
(2.3)

where

$$f_{nm} = \langle f(x), \psi_{nm}(x) \rangle \tag{2.4}$$

and $\langle ., . \rangle$ denotes the inner product with weight function $w_n(x)$ in Eq. (2.4). Truncated form of Eq. (2.3) can be written as:

$$f(x) \cong \sum_{n=1}^{2^{k}} \sum_{m=0}^{M-1} f_{nm} \,\psi_{nm}(x) = C^{T} \,\Psi(x)$$
(2.5)

where *C* and $\Psi(x)$ are $2^k M \times 1$ columns vectors given by:

$$C^{I} = [f_{10}, f_{11}, ..., f_{1M-1}, f_{20}, ..., f_{2M-1}, ..., f_{2^{k}0}, ..., f_{2^{k}M-1}]$$
(2.6)

$$\Psi(x) = [\psi_{10}, \psi_{11}, ..., \psi_{1M-1}, \psi_{20}, ..., \psi_{2M-1}, ..., \psi_{2^k0}, ..., \psi_{2^kM-1}]^T$$
(2.7)

The integration of the $\psi_{nm}(x)$ given in Eq. (2.2) can be represented as

$$p_{nm}(x) = \int_0^x \psi_{nm}(s) ds \tag{2.8}$$

For m = 0, m = 1 and $m > 1, p_{nm}(x)$ can be obtained as

$$p_{n0}(x) = \begin{cases} \begin{array}{ll} 0 & 0 \leq x < \frac{n-1}{2^{k}} \\ \frac{\alpha_{0}2^{-k/2-1}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \left[T_{1}(2^{k+1}x - 2n+1) + T_{0}(2^{k+1}x - 2n+1) \right] & \frac{n-1}{2^{k}} \leq x < \frac{n}{2^{k}} \\ \frac{\alpha_{0}2^{-k/2}}{\sqrt{\pi}} T_{0}(2^{k+1}x - 2n+1) & \frac{n}{2^{k}} \leq x < 1 \end{cases}$$

$$p_{n1}(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & 0 \le x < \frac{n-1}{2^{k}} \\ \frac{\alpha_{1}2^{-k/2-3}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \left[T_{2}(2^{k+1}x - 2n+1) - T_{0}(2^{k+1}x - 2n+1) \right] & \frac{n-1}{2^{k}} \le x < \frac{n}{2^{k}} \\ 0 & \frac{n}{2^{k}} \le x < 1 \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\chi_k} = x < \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 2^k \le x \end{bmatrix}$$

$$p_{nm}(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & 0 \le x < \frac{n-1}{2^k} \\ \frac{\alpha_m 2^{-k/2-2}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{T_{m+1}(u) - (-1)^{m+1}}{m+1} - \frac{T_{m-1}(u) - (-1)^{m-1}}{m-1} \end{bmatrix} & \frac{n-1}{2^k} \le x < \frac{n}{2^k} \\ \frac{\alpha_m 2^{-k/2-2}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{T_{m+1}(u) - (-1)^{m+1}}{m+1} - \frac{1 - (-1)^{m-1}}{m-1} \end{bmatrix} & \frac{n}{2^k} \le x < 1 \end{cases}$$

where $u = 2^{k+1}x - 2n + 1$. The integration of the $\Psi(x)$ can be represented as

$$\int_{0}^{x} \Psi(s) ds = [p_{10}, p_{11}, ..., p_{1M-1}, p_{20}, ..., p_{2M-1}, ..., p_{2^{k}0}, ..., p_{2^{k}M-1}]^{T} = P_{1} \Psi_{1}(x)$$

where

$$\Psi_1(x) = [\psi_{10}, \psi_{11}, ..., \psi_{1M}, \psi_{20}, ..., \psi_{2M}, ..., \psi_{2^k0}, ..., \psi_{2^kM}]^T$$

$$L_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{4} & 0 & \frac{1}{4} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{3} & -\frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{6} & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\frac{(-1)^{M-3}}{M-3} - \frac{(-1)^{M-1}}{M-1}\right) & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -\frac{1}{2(M-3)} & 0 & \frac{1}{2(M-1)} & 0 \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\frac{(-1)^{M-2}}{M-2} - \frac{(-1)^{M}}{M}\right) & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & -\frac{1}{2(M-2)} & 0 & \frac{1}{2M} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$F_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1-(-1)^{M-1}}{M-1} - \frac{1-(-1)^{M-3}}{M-3}\right) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1-(-1)^{M-1}}{M} - \frac{1-(-1)^{M-3}}{M-2}\right) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} P_{1} = \frac{1}{2^{k+1}} \begin{bmatrix} L_{1} & F_{1} & F_{1} & \cdots & F_{1} & F_{1} \\ 0 & L_{1} & F_{1} & \cdots & F_{1} & F_{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & L_{1} \end{bmatrix}$$

The second integrations of the $\Psi(x)$ can be represented as

$$\int_0^x \int_0^{x_1} \Psi(s) ds dx_1 = \int_0^x P_1 \Psi_1(x_1) dx_1 = P_1 \int_0^x \Psi_1(x_1) dx_1 = P_1 P_2 \Psi_2(x)$$

The r^{th} integrations of the $\Psi(x)$ can be represented as

$$\int_0^x \int_0^{x_1} \int_0^{x_2} \cdots \int_0^{x_{r-1}} \Psi(s) \, ds \, dx_{r-1} \, dx_{r-2} \cdots dx_1 = P_1 P_2 \cdots P_r \, \Psi_r(x)$$

where

 $\frac{n}{2^k}$

$$F_r = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & 0 \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1-(-1)^{M-1}}{M-1} - \frac{1-(-1)^{M-3}}{M-2}\right) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1-(-1)^M}{M} - \frac{1-(-1)^{M-2}}{M-2}\right) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1-(-1)^{M+1}}{M+1} - \frac{1-(-1)^{M-1}}{M-1}\right) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & 0 \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1-(-1)^{M+r-1}}{M+r-1} - \frac{1-(-1)^{M+r-3}}{M+r-3}\right) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} P_r = \frac{1}{2^{k+1}} \begin{bmatrix} L_r & F_r & F_r & \cdots & F_r & F_r \\ 0 & L_r & F_r & \cdots & F_r & F_r \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & L_r \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$\Psi_r(x) = [\psi_{10}, \psi_{11}, \dots, \psi_{1M+r-1}, \psi_{20}, \dots, \psi_{2M+r-1}, \dots, \psi_{2^k0}, \dots, \psi_{2^kM+r-1}]^T$$
(2.10)

Dimensions of the matrices L_r and F_r are $(M+r-1) \times (M+r)$. Hence P_r has the dimension $2^k(M+r-1) \times 2^k(M+r)$.

3. Chebyshev Wavelet collocation method for BVPs with nonlocal conditions

Consider Eq. (1.1) or Eq. (1.2) with the nonlocal boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} y^{(i-1)}(x_j) = b_{i,j}, \ 1 \le i \le m_j, \ 1 \le j \le \beta\\ y(x_{\beta+1}) - y(x_{\beta+2}) = b_r \end{cases}$$

We assume that $y^{(r)}(x)$ can be expanded in terms of truncated Chebyshev wavelet series as

$$y^{(r)}(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{2^k} \sum_{m=0}^{M-1} f_{nm} \psi_{nm}(x) = C^T \Psi(x).$$
(3.1)

By successively integrating Eq. (3.1) from 0 to x, the following equations are obtained

$$y^{(r-1)}(x) = \int_0^x C^T \Psi(s) ds + y^{(r-1)}(0) = C^T P_1 \Psi_1(x) + y^{(r-1)}(0)$$
(3.2)

$$y^{(r-2)}(x) = C^T P_1 P_2 \Psi_2(x) + x y^{(r-1)}(0) + y^{(r-2)}(0)$$
(3.3)

$$y^{(r-3)}(x) = C^T P_1 P_2 P_3 \Psi_3(x) + \frac{x^2}{2} y^{(r-1)}(0) + x y^{(r-2)}(0) + y^{(r-3)}(0)$$
(3.4)

÷

$$y^{(m_j)}(x) = C^T P_1 P_2 P_3 \dots P_{r-m_j} \Psi_{r-m_j}(x) + \sum_{s=1}^{r-m_j} \frac{x^{s-1}}{(s-1)!} y^{(s+m_j-1)}(0)$$
(3.5)

Theorem 3.1. Chebyshev wavelet expression for *z*th-order derivatives of unknown function y(x) satisfying nonlocal boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} y^{(i-1)}(x_j) = b_{i,j}, \ 1 \le i \le m_j, \ 1 \le j \le \beta \\ y(x_{\beta+1}) - y(x_{\beta+2}) = b_r \end{cases}$$

are given as for $z = 0, 1, ..., m_j - 1$ *:*

$$y^{(z)}(x) = C^{T} \left(P_{1}P_{2} \dots P_{r-z} \Psi_{r-z}(x) - \sum_{h=1}^{m_{j}-z} \frac{(x-x_{j})^{h-1}}{(h-1)!} P_{1}P_{2} \dots P_{r+1-z-h} \Psi_{r+1-z-h}(x_{j}) \right) + \sum_{s=2}^{r-m_{j}} \left(\frac{x^{s-1+m_{j}-z}}{(s-1+m_{j}-z)!} - \sum_{u=1}^{m_{j}-z} \frac{(x-x_{j})^{u-1}}{(u-1)!} \frac{x_{j}^{m_{j}-z+s-u}}{(m_{j}-z+s-u)!} \right) y^{(s+m_{j}-1)}(0) + \frac{(x-x_{j})^{m_{j}-z}}{(m_{j}-z)!} y^{(m_{j})}(0) + \sum_{w=1}^{m_{j}-z} \frac{(x-x_{j})^{w-1}}{(w-1)!} b_{z+w,j}$$
(3.6)

 $y^{(m_j)}(0), y^{(m_j+1)}(0), ..., y^{(r-1)}(0)$ in Eq. (3.6) can be obtained the following algebraic equations system

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{s=2}^{r-m_j} \left(\frac{x_{k+2}^{s-1+m_j} - x_{k+1}^{s-1+m_j}}{(s-1+m_j)!} - \sum_{u=1}^{m_j} \frac{(x_{k+2} - x_j)^u - (x_{k+1} - x_j)^u}{u!} \frac{x_j^{m_j+s-u}}{(m_j+s-u)!} \right) y^{(s+m_j-1)}(0) \\ & + \left(\frac{(x_{k+2} - x_j)^{m_j} - (x_{k+1} - x_j)^{m_j}}{m_j!} \right) y^{(m_j)}(0) = -b_r - \sum_{w=1}^{m_j} \left(\frac{(x_{k+2} - x_j)^{w-1} - (x_{k+1} - x_j)^{w-1}}{(w-1)!} \right) b_{w,j} \\ & - C^T \left(P_1 \dots P_r \Psi_r(x_{k+2}) - P_1 P_2 \dots P_r \Psi_r(x_{k+1}) - \sum_{h=1}^{m_j} \left(\frac{(x_{k+2} - x_j)^{h-1} - (x_{k+1} - x_j)^{h-1}}{(h-1)!} P_1 \dots P_{r+1-h} \Psi_{r+1-h}(x_j) \right) \right) \end{split}$$

where $m_1 + m_2 + ... + m_\beta = r - 1$.

Proof. By successively integrating Eq. (3.5) from x_i to x and using boundary conditions

$$y^{(i-1)}(x_j) = b_{i,j}, \ 1 \le i \le m_j, \ 1 \le j \le \beta$$

the following expressions are obtained:

$$y^{(m_j-1)}(x) = C^T P_1 P_2 P_3 \dots P_{r-m_j+1} \left(\Psi_{r-m_j+1}(x) - \Psi_{r-m_j+1}(x_j) \right) + (x-x_j) y^{(m_j)}(0) + \sum_{s=2}^{r-m_j} \frac{x^s - x_j^s}{s!} y^{(s+m_j-1)}(0) + b_{m_j,j}$$

$$\begin{split} y^{(m_j-2)}(x) &= C^T \left(P_1 \dots P_{r-m_j+2} \left(\Psi_{r-m_j+2}(x) - \Psi_{r-m_j+2}(x_j) \right) - (x-x_j) P_1 \dots P_{r-m_j+1} \Psi_{r-m_j+1}(x_j) \right) \\ &+ \frac{(x-x_j)^2}{2} y^{(m_j)}(0) + \sum_{s=2}^{r-m_j} \left(\frac{x^{s+1} - x^{s+1}_j}{(s+1)!} - \frac{(x-x_j) x^s_j}{s!} \right) y^{(s+m_j-1)}(0) + (x-x_j) b_{m_j,j} + b_{m_j-1,j} \end{split}$$

÷

$$\begin{split} y^{(z)}(x) &= C^T \left(P_1 P_2 \dots P_{r-z} \Psi_{r-z}(x) - \sum_{h=1}^{m_j-z} \frac{(x-x_j)^{h-1}}{(h-1)!} P_1 P_2 \dots P_{r+1-z-h} \Psi_{r+1-z-h}(x_j) \right) \\ &+ \sum_{s=2}^{r-m_j} \left(\frac{x^{s-1+m_j-z}}{(s-1+m_j-z)!} - \sum_{u=1}^{m_j-z} \frac{(x-x_j)^{u-1}}{(u-1)!} \frac{x_j^{m_j-z+s-u}}{(m_j-z+s-u)!} \right) y^{(s+m_j-1)}(0) \\ &+ \frac{(x-x_j)^{m_j-z}}{(m_j-z)!} y^{(m_j)}(0) + \sum_{w=1}^{m_j-z} \frac{(x-x_j)^{w-1}}{(w-1)!} b_{z+w,j} \end{split}$$

where $z = 0, 1, ..., m_i - 1$. This is Eq. (3.6) given in Theorem 3.1. For z = 0, the following equation can be obtained.

$$y(x) = C^{T} \left(P_{1}P_{2} \dots P_{r}\Psi_{r}(x) - \sum_{h=1}^{m_{j}} \frac{(x-x_{j})^{h-1}}{(h-1)!} P_{1}P_{2} \dots P_{r+1-h}\Psi_{r+1-h}(x_{j}) \right) + \sum_{s=2}^{r-m_{j}} \left(\frac{x^{s-1+m_{j}}}{(s-1+m_{j})!} - \sum_{u=1}^{m_{j}} \frac{(x-x_{j})^{u}}{u!} \frac{x_{j}^{m_{j}+s-u}}{(m_{j}+s-u)!} \right) y^{(s+m_{j}-1)}(0) + \frac{(x-x_{j})^{m_{j}}}{m_{j}!} y^{(m_{j})}(0) + \sum_{w=1}^{m_{j}} \frac{(x-x_{j})^{w-1}}{(w-1)!} b_{w,j}$$

If boundary condition $y(x_{\beta+1}) - y(x_{\beta+2}) = b_r$ can be satisfied, the following equation can be obtained as:

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{s=2}^{r-m_j} \left(\frac{x_{k+2}^{s-1+m_j} - x_{k+1}^{s-1+m_j}}{(s-1+m_j)!} - \sum_{u=1}^{m_j} \frac{(x_{k+2} - x_j)^u - (x_{k+1} - x_j)^u}{u!} \frac{x_j^{m_j+s-u}}{(m_j+s-u)!} \right) y^{(s+m_j-1)}(0) \\ & + \left(\frac{(x_{k+2} - x_j)^{m_j} - (x_{k+1} - x_j)^{m_j}}{m_j!} \right) y^{(m_j)}(0) = -b_r - \sum_{w=1}^{m_j} \left(\frac{(x_{k+2} - x_j)^{w-1} - (x_{k+1} - x_j)^{w-1}}{(w-1)!} \right) b_{w,j} \\ & - C^T \left(P_1 \dots P_r \Psi_r(x_{k+2}) - P_1 P_2 \dots P_r \Psi_r(x_{k+1}) - \sum_{h=1}^{m_j} \left(\frac{(x_{k+2} - x_j)^{h-1} - (x_{k+1} - x_j)^{h-1}}{(h-1)!} P_1 \dots P_{r+1-h} \Psi_{r+1-h}(x_j) \right) \right) \end{split}$$

where $m_1 + m_2 + ... + m_\beta = r - 1$.

Conclusion 3.2. If $\beta = 1$ then j = 1 and $m_1 = r - 1$ are obtained. Hence

$$\begin{split} y(x) &= C^T \left(P_1 P_2 \dots P_r \Psi_r(x) - \sum_{h=1}^{r-1} \frac{(x-x_1)^{h-1}}{(h-1)!} P_1 P_2 \dots P_{r+1-h} \Psi_{r+1-h}(x_1) \right) \\ &+ \frac{(x-x_1)^{r-1}}{(r-1)!} y^{(r-1)}(0) + \sum_{w=1}^{r-1} \frac{(x-x_1)^{w-1}}{(w-1)!} b_{w,1} \end{split}$$

is obtained, where $y^{(t-1)}(0)$ is obtain as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{(x_3-x_1)^{r-1}-(x_2-x_1)^{r-1}}{(r-1)!} \end{pmatrix} y^{(r-1)}(0) = -b_r - \sum_{w=1}^{r-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{(x_3-x_1)^{w-1}-(x_2-x_2)^{w-1}}{(w-1)!} \end{pmatrix} b_{w,1} \\ -C^T \left(P_1 \dots P_r \Psi_r(x_3) - P_1 P_2 \dots P_r \Psi_r(x_2) - \sum_{h=1}^{r-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{(x_3-x_1)^{h-1}-(x_2-x_2)^{h-1}}{(h-1)!} P_1 \dots P_{r+1-h} \Psi_{r+1-h}(x_1) \end{pmatrix} \right)$$

Replacing (3.1)-(3.6) into Eq. (1.1) or Eq. (1.2), we have linear or nonlinear algebraic equations respectively. The collocation points can be taken as $2^{k+1}x_{ni} - 2n + 1 = \cos \frac{((M+1)-i)\pi}{(M+1)}$ or

$$x_{ni} = \frac{1}{2^{k+1}} \left(2n - 1 + \cos \frac{((M+1) - i)\pi}{(M+1)} \right), i = 1, 2, ..., M, n = 1, 2, ..., 2^k$$
(3.7)

which are also called the turning points of $T_{M+1}(2^{k+1}x-2n+1)$. Substituting the Chebyshev collocation points into linear or nonlinear algebraic equations, a discretizised form of the vectors $\Psi(x_{ni}), \Psi_1(x_{ni})$ and $\Psi_r(x_{ni})$ can be obtained. Hence, we obtain linear or nonlinear algebraic equations systems. By solving linear or nonlinear algebraic equation systems, we can find the coefficients of the Chebyshev wavelet series that satisfied differential equation and its initial or boundary conditions.

4. Error analysis

For error analysis of Chebyshev wavelet method, the following Lemma and Theorems are given.

Lemma 4.1. (See [36]) If the Chebyshev wavelet expansion of a continuous function f(x) converges uniformly, then the Chebyshev wavelet expansion converges to a function f(x).

Theorem 4.2. (See [36]) A function $f(x) \in L^2_{\omega}([0, 1])$ with bounded second derivative $|f''(x)| \leq N$, can be expanded as an infinite sum of Chebyshev wavelets, and the series converges uniformly to f(x). That is

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} f_{nm} \psi_{nm}(x).$$

Since the truncated Chebyshev wavelets series

$$C^{T}\Psi(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{2^{k}} \sum_{m=0}^{M-1} c_{nm} \psi_{nm}(x)$$

is an approximate solution of given problem and y(x) is an exact solution, an error function f(x) can be given as:

$$E(x) = \left| y(x) - C^T \Psi(x) \right|.$$

The error bound of the approximate solution obtained by using truncated Chebyshev wavelets series is given by the following theorem.

Theorem 4.3. (See [37]) Suppose that $y(x) \in C^m[0,1]$ and $C^T\Psi(x)$ is the approximate solution of problem using the Chebyshev wavelets method. Then the error bound can be obtained as follows:

$$E(x) \le \left\| \frac{2}{m! 4^m 2^{m(k-1)}} \max_{x \in [0,1]} \left| y^{(m)}(x) \right| \right\|^2$$

5. Numerical results

Example 5.1. Consider the forth order linear boundary value problem [19]

$$\begin{cases} y^{(4)}(x) - e^{x} y'''(x) + y(x) = 1 - e^{x} \cosh(x) + 2\sinh(x), & 0 \le x \le 1\\ y(\frac{1}{4}) = 1 + \sinh(\frac{1}{4}), & y'(\frac{1}{4}) = \cosh(\frac{1}{4}), \\ y''(\frac{1}{4}) = \sinh(\frac{1}{4}), & y(\frac{1}{2}) - y(\frac{3}{4}) = \sinh(\frac{1}{2}) - \sinh(\frac{3}{4}). \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

with analytic solution $y(x) = 1 + \sinh(x)$. It is assumed that $y^4(x)$ can be expanded in terms of truncated Chebyshev wavelet series as

$$y^{(4)}(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{2^{k}} \sum_{m=0}^{M-1} f_{nm} \psi_{nm}(x) = C^{T} \Psi(x)$$
(5.2)

By integrating this equation from 0 to xand using boundary condition,

$$y'''(x) = \int_0^x C^T \Psi(s) ds + y'''(0) = C^T P_1 \Psi_1(x) + y'''(0)$$
(5.3)

is obtained. By integrating this equation three times from $\frac{1}{4}$ to x and using boundary conditions, following equations are obtained.

$$y''(x) = C^T \left(P_1 P_2 \Psi_2(x) - P_1 P_2 \Psi_2(\frac{1}{4}) \right) + (x - \frac{1}{4}) y'''(0) + \sinh(\frac{1}{4})$$

$$y'(x) = C^{T} P_{1} P_{2} \left(P_{3} \Psi_{3}(x) - P_{3} \Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) - (x - \frac{1}{4}) \Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \right) + \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2} y'''(0) + (x - \frac{1}{4}) \sinh(\frac{1}{4}) + \cosh(\frac{1}{4})$$

$$y(x) = C^{T} \left(P_{1} P_{2} P_{3} P_{4} \Psi_{4}(x) - P_{1} P_{2} P_{3} P_{4} \Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{4}) - (x - \frac{1}{4}) P_{1} P_{2} P_{3} \Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2} P_{1} P_{2} \Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \right)$$

$$+ \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{3}}{3!} y'''(0) + \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2!} \sinh(\frac{1}{4}) + (x - \frac{1}{4}) \cosh(\frac{1}{4}) + 1 + \sinh(\frac{1}{4})$$
(5.4)

By using boundary condition $y\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) - y\left(\frac{3}{4}\right) = \sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) - \sinh\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)$, y'''(0) is obtained as:

$$y'''(0) = \frac{384}{7}C^{T}\left(P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{2}) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4})\right) - \frac{384}{7}\left(\sinh(\frac{1}{2}) - \sinh(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}\cosh(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}\sinh(\frac{1}{4})\right)$$
(5.5)

Hence, replacing Eq. (5.5) into the Eqs. (5.3) and (5.4), we have

x	M = 4, k = 0	M = 4, k = 1	M = 4, k = 2	M = 8, k = 0	M = 16, k = 0	$ y - y_{101} $ [19]	$ y - y_{151} $ [19]
0	1.57537 e-8	4.63339 e-10	2.61472 e-11	6.32711 e-15	1e-19	0.0000255	1.13356E-6
0.1	2.38097 e-9	1.04070 e-10	5.93744 e-12	3.38417 e-15	1e-19	4.53581E-6	2.01715E-7
0.2	3.88574 e-11	3.13685 e-12	2.31892 e-13	2.12340 e-16	3e-19	1.32679E-7	5.90784E-9
0.3	5.15129 e-12	1.90014 e-12	1.48048 e-14	2.20110 e-17	2e-19	9.91385E-8	4.39712E-9
0.4	9.21096 e-10	2.86581 e-11	8.51610 e-13	4.11361 e-15	3e-19	1.90635E-6	8.46552E-8
0.5	5.55451 e-9	1.46005 e-10	5.70554 e-12	8.99446 e-15	1e-19	5.92446E-6	2.63147E-7
0.6	1.28454 e-8	4.31240 e-10	1.38779 e-11	8.47493 e-15	2e-19	9.75828E-6	4.33469E-7
0.7	1.30931 e-8	3.93193 e-10	1.42221 e-11	7.79239 e-15	2e-19	9.32982E-6	4.14438E-7
0.8	9.97851 e-9	3.11259 e-10	1.24207 e-11	1.01678 e-14	2e-19	5.99989E-7	2.67207E-8
0.9	7.17676 e-8	2.30928 e-9	1.02985 e-10	8.93500 e-15	0	0.0000265	1.17736E-6
1.0	1.81832 e-7	6.63219 e-9	3.16336 e-10	6.03590 e-15	0	0.0000765	3.39732E-6

Table 1: Comparisons of the absolute errors of [19] and proposed method for various values of M, k and x

$$y'''(x) = C^{T} \left(P_{1} \Psi_{1}(x) + \frac{384}{7} C^{T} P_{1} P_{2} \left(P_{3} P_{4} \Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{2}) - P_{3} P_{4} \Psi_{4}(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4} P_{3} \Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32} \Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \right) \right) - \frac{384}{7} \left(\sinh(\frac{1}{2}) - \sinh(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4} \cosh(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32} \sinh(\frac{1}{4}) \right)$$
(5.6)

$$y(x) = C^{T} \left(\begin{array}{c} P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(x) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{4}) - (x - \frac{1}{4})P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \\ + \frac{384(x - \frac{1}{4})^{3}}{42} \left(P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{2}) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4})\right) \\ - \frac{384(x - \frac{1}{4})^{3}}{42} \left(\sinh(\frac{1}{2}) - \sinh(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}\cosh(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}\sinh(\frac{1}{4})\right) + \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}\sinh(\frac{1}{4}) \\ + (x - \frac{1}{4})\cosh(\frac{1}{4}) + 1 + \sinh(\frac{1}{4}) \end{array}$$
(5.7)

Replacing Eqs. (5.2), (5.6) and (5.7) into Eq. (5.1), we have

$$C^{T} \begin{pmatrix} \Psi(x) + P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\left(\Psi_{4}(x) - \Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{4})\right) - (x - \frac{1}{4})P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) - e^{x}P_{1}\Psi_{1}(x) \\ + \frac{384}{7}\left(\frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{3}}{6} - e^{x}\right)\left(P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{2}) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4})\right) \\ = \frac{384}{7}\left(\frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{3}}{6} - e^{x}\right)\left(\sinh(\frac{1}{2}) - \sinh(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}\cosh(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}\sinh(\frac{1}{4})\right) - \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}\sinh(\frac{1}{4}) \\ - (x - \frac{1}{4})\cosh(\frac{1}{4}) - \sinh(\frac{1}{4}) - e^{x}\cosh(x) + 2\sinh(x) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.8)

Algebraic equation system achieved in Eq. (5.8) by using Chebyshev collocation points can be solved and the coefficients C^T in Eq. (5.7) which is satisfied differential equation and whose boundary conditions can be obtained. Table 1 shows the absolute errors for M = 4, k = 0, M = 4, k = 1, M = 4, k = 2, M = 8, k = 0 and M = 16, k = 0. As can be seen in Table 1, the results obtained by the proposed method are superior from Reproducing Kernel Method [19] for small grid points such as M = 4, k = 0.

Example 5.2. Consider the second order nonlinear boundary value problem [21].

$$\begin{cases} y''(x) + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{8}y(x) + \frac{1}{32}y^2(x) = \frac{32}{9}x^2 - \frac{16}{3}x, & 0 \le x \le 1\\ y(0) = 0, & y(1) - y\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.9)

It is assumed that y''(x) can be expanded in terms of truncated Chebyshev wavelet series as

$$y''(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{2^k} \sum_{m=0}^{M-1} f_{nm} \psi_{nm}(x) = C^T \Psi(x)$$

Similar process given in Example 5.1, the following equations can be obtained

$$y(x) = C^{T} \left(P_{1} P_{2} \Psi_{2}(x) - 2x P_{1} P_{2} \Psi_{2}(1) + 2x P_{1} P_{2} \Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{2}) \right)$$
(5.10)

$$C^{T}\left(\Psi(x) + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{8}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(x) - \frac{x\sqrt{2}}{4}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(1) + \frac{x\sqrt{2}}{4}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{2})\right) + \frac{1}{32}\left(C^{T}\left(P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(x) - 2xP_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(1) + 2x(x - \frac{1}{4})P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{2})\right)\right)^{2} - \frac{32}{9}x^{2} + \frac{16}{3}x = 0$$
(5.11)

Nonlinear algebraic equation system achieved from Eq. (5.11) by using collocation points can be solved and the coefficients C^T in Eq. (5.10) which is satisfied differential equation and whose boundary conditions are obtained. Table 2 shows the approximate solutions for M = 4, k = 0, M = 4, k = 1, M = 4, k = 2, M = 8, k = 0 and M = 16, k = 0. As can be seen in Table 2 that the results obtained by the proposed method are satisfied the boundary condition $y(1) - y(\frac{1}{2}) = 0$. When number of grid points increase, the precisions of approximate solutions increase. The results obtained by the proposed method for small grid points such as M = 4, k = 0 are also superior from Monotone Iterative Method [21] not satisfying the boundary condition $y(1) - y(\frac{1}{2}) = 0$ exactly
x	M = 4, k = 0	M = 4, k = 1	M = 4, k = 2	M = 8, k = 0	M = 16, k = 0	[21] Third Term
0	0.260929	0.949067	0.157524	0.260974	0.260974 e-19	0
	e-19	e-21	e-21	e-19		
0.1	0.1035508429	0.1035501266	0.1035502791	0.1035502920	0.1035502920	0.1040764497
0.2	0.2019974623	0.2019955359	0.2019958847	0.2019959102	0.2019959103	0.2027652843
0.3	0.2908872022	0.2908870108	0.2908875266	0.2908875633	0.2908875632	0.2916751511
0.4	0.3664960100	0.3664989187	0.3664995714	0.3664996188	0.3664996189	0.3671584606
0.5	0.4258337040	0.4258381953	0.4258390441	0.4258391011	0.4258391014	0.4263068077
0.6	0.4666492402	0.4666527782	0.4666535640	0.4666536253	0.4666536254	0.4669454120
0.7	0.4874359792	0.4874368797	0.4874377503	0.4874378143	0.4874378143	0.4876278426
0.8	0.4874369540	0.4874368797	0.4874377503	0.4874378140	0.4874378143	0.4876319741
0.9	0.4666501363	0.4666527782	0.4666535639	0.4666536252	0.4666536254	0.4669578065
1.0	0.4258337040	0.4258381953	0.4258390441	0.4258391011	0.4258391014	0.4263274652

Table 2: Approximate solutions of proposed method for various values of M, k and x and [21]

Table 3: Approximate solutions of proposed method for various values of M, k and x and [17]

x	M = 4, k = 0	M = 4, k = 2	M = 16, k = 0	M = 16, k = 1	[17] OHAM	[17] HPM
	,	,	,	,	Second Order	Second Order
0	0.188293	0.734306	0.188296 e-19	0.129858 e-20	0	0
	e-19	e-23				
0.1	0.0656100870	0.0656099762	0.0656099772	0.0656099772	0.0656099707	0.0655919115
0.2	0.1209706322	0.1209703634	0.1209703654	0.1209703653	0.1209703640	0.1209353047
0.3	0.1658758980	0.1658757275	0.1658757303	0.1658757303	0.1658757339	0.1658256598
0.4	0.2001594201	0.2001594622	0.2001594656	0.2001594656	0.2001594697	0.2000971743
0.5	0.2236942481	0.2236943874	0.2236943913	0.2236943913	0.2236943923	0.2236233202
0.6	0.2363931859	0.2363932068	0.2363932109	0.2363932109	0.2363932086	0.2363172683
0.7	0.2382090332	0.2382088205	0.2382088245	0.2382088245	0.2382088217	0.2381321777
0.8	0.2291348258	0.2291344944	0.2291344982	0.2291344982	0.2291344982	0.2290613518
0.9	0.2092040768	0.2092038847	0.2092038882	0.2092038882	0.2092038920	0.2091382608
1.0	0.1784910170	0.1784909168	0.1784909199	0.1784909199	0.1784909250	0.1784364302

Example 5.3. Consider the second order nonlinear boundary value problem [17]

$$\begin{cases} y''(x) + \frac{3}{8}y(x) + \frac{2}{1089}(y'(x))^2 + 1 = 0, & 0 \le x \le 1\\ y(0) = 0, & y(1) - y\left(\frac{1}{3}\right) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.12)

It is assumed that y''(x) can be expanded in terms of truncated Chebyshev wavelet series as

$$y''(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{2^k} \sum_{m=0}^{M-1} f_{nm} \psi_{nm}(x) = C^T \Psi(x)$$

Similar process given in Example 5.1, the following equations can be obtained

$$y(x) = C^T \left(P_1 P_2 \Psi_2(x) - \frac{3x}{2} P_1 P_2 \Psi_2(1) + \frac{3x}{2} P_1 P_2 \Psi_2(\frac{1}{3}) \right)$$
(5.13)

$$C^{T}\left(\Psi(x) + \frac{3}{8}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(x) - \frac{9x}{16}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(1) + \frac{9x}{16}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{3})\right) + \frac{2}{1089}\left(C^{T}\left(P_{1}\Psi_{1}(x) - \frac{3}{2}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(1) + \frac{3}{2}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{3})\right)\right)^{2} + 1 = 0$$
(5.14)

Nonlinear algebraic equation system achieved from Eq. (5.14) by using collocation points can be solved and the coefficients C^T in Eq. (5.13) satisfied differential equation and whose boundary conditions are obtained. Table 3 shows the approximate solutions for M = 4, k = 0, M = 4, k = 2, M = 16, k = 0 and M = 16, k = 1. As can be seen in Table 3, the precisions of approximate solutions obtained by the proposed method increase when number of grid points increase. The results obtained by the proposed method for small grid points such as M = 4, k = 0 are superior from Homotopy Perturbation Method and Optimal Homotopy Asymptotic Method in [17].

Example 5.4. Consider the forth order nonlinear boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} y^{(4)}(x) - \sin(x)y''(x) + y(x) + \sin(y(x)) = 1 + \sin(1 + \sin(x)) + (2 + \sin(x))\sin(x), & 0 \le x \le 1 \\ y(\frac{1}{4}) = 1 + \sin(\frac{1}{4}), & y'(\frac{1}{4}) = \cos(\frac{1}{4}), \\ y''(\frac{1}{4}) = -\sin(\frac{1}{4}), & y(\frac{1}{2}) - y(\frac{3}{4}) = \sin(\frac{1}{2}) - \sin(\frac{3}{4}). \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

with analytic solution $y(x) = 1 + \sin(x)$.

x	M = 4, k = 0	M = 4, k = 1	M = 4, k = 2	M = 8, k = 0	M = 16, k = 0
0	1.305827 e-8	4.55634 e-10	2.69793 e-11	6.48270 e-15	1.0 e-19
0.1	1.889004 e-9	9.89746 e-11	5.96046 e-12	3.14499 e-15	7.0 e-21
0.2	2.754407 e-11	2.85912 e-12	2.25583 e-13	1.87940 e-16	6.0 e-20
0.3	8.825138 e-12	1.59099 e-12	1.50140 e-14	1.88610 e-16	1.0 e-20
0.4	8.503094 e-10	2.02999 e-11	8.22951 e-13	3.39057 e-15	3.0 e-20
0.5	4.775323 e-9	1.04675 e-10	5.14514 e-12	6.96137 e-15	3.0 e-20
0.6	1.061068 e-8	3.18029 e-10	1.20212 e-11	5.91620 e-15	0
0.7	1.058432 e-8	2.81752 e-10	1.20549 e-11	5.57247 e-15	1.3 e-19
0.8	6.632389 e-9	2.09432 e-10	8.86424 e-12	8.34323 e-15	7.0 e-20
0.9	4.857164 e-8	1.52893 e-9	7.46368 e-11	8.29286 e-15	1.4 e-19
1.0	1.148666 e-7	4.21506 e-9	2.18685 e-10	8.17725 e-15	1.5 e-19

Table 4: The absolute errors of proposed method for various values of M, k and x

Similar process given in Example 5.1, the following equations can be obtained

$$y(x) = C^{T} \left(\begin{array}{c} P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(x) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{4}) - (x - \frac{1}{4})P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \\ + \frac{384(x - \frac{1}{4})^{3}}{42} \left(P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{2}) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4})\right) \\ - \frac{384(x - \frac{1}{4})^{3}}{42} \left(\sin(\frac{1}{2}) - \sin(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}\cos(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{3}{32}\sin(\frac{1}{4})\right) - \frac{(x - \frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}\sin(\frac{1}{4}) + (x - \frac{1}{4})\cos(\frac{1}{4}) + 1 + \sin(\frac{1}{4}) \end{array}$$
(5.16)

$$C^{T} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{384}{7} \left(\frac{(x-\frac{1}{4})^{3}}{6} - (x-\frac{1}{4})\sin(x) \right) \left(P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{2}) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \right) \\ + \Psi(x) + P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\left(\Psi_{4}(x) - \Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{4})\right) - (x-\frac{1}{4})P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{(x-\frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \\ -\sin(x)P_{1}P_{2}\left(\Psi_{2}(x) - \Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4})\right) \\ + sin \begin{pmatrix} C^{T} \left(P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(x) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{4}) - (x-\frac{1}{4})P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{(x-\frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \\ + \frac{384(x-\frac{1}{4})^{3}}{42} \left(P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{1}{2}) - P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}P_{4}\Psi_{4}(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}P_{1}P_{2}P_{3}\Psi_{3}(\frac{1}{4}) + \frac{3}{32}P_{1}P_{2}\Psi_{2}(\frac{1}{4}) \right) \\ - \frac{384(x-\frac{1}{4})^{3}}{42} \left(\sin(\frac{1}{2}) - \sin(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}\cos(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{3}{32}\sin(\frac{1}{4})\right) + \left(1 - \frac{(x-\frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}\right)\sin(\frac{1}{4}) + (x-\frac{1}{4})\cos(\frac{1}{4}) + 1 \end{pmatrix} \\ - \frac{384}{7} \left(\frac{(x-\frac{1}{4})^{3}}{6} - (x-\frac{1}{4})\sin(x) \right) \left(\sin(\frac{1}{2}) - \sin(\frac{3}{4}) + \frac{1}{4}\cos(\frac{1}{4}) - \frac{3}{32}\sin(\frac{1}{4})\right) + (x-\frac{1}{4})\cos(\frac{1}{4}) \\ + \left(1 + \sin(x) - \frac{(x-\frac{1}{4})^{2}}{2}\right)\sin(\frac{1}{4}) - \sin(1 + \sin(x)) - (2 + \sin(x))\sin x = 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(5.17)$$

Nonlinear algebraic equation system achieved from Eq. (5.17) by using collocation points can be solved and the coefficients C^T in Eq. (5.16) satisfied differential equation and whose boundary conditions are obtained. Table 4 shows the absolute errors for M = 4, k = 0, M = 4, k = 1, M = 4, k = 2, M = 8, k = 0 and M = 16, k = 0. As can be seen in Table 4 and Fig. 1, absolute errors tend to zero when number of grid points increase. The results obtained by the proposed method for small grid points such as M = 4, k = 0 are superior.

6. Conclusion

Chebyshev wavelet collocation method has been applied to the one linear and three nonlinear nonlocal boundary value problems. Approximate and exact solutions of examples are correspondingly compared. For Example 1, the comparisons of the absolute errors given in Table 1, it is clear that the results obtained by the proposed method are better than Reproducing Kernel Method [19]. Numerical results of Example 2 which is given in Table 2 are stable when number of grid points increase. It can be seen that results of proposed method for small grid points such as M = 4, k = 0 are superior to the results of Monotone Iterative Method [21] as given in Table 2. Numeric solutions of Example 3 for various values of M and k are given in Table 3. The precisions of approximate solutions obtained by the proposed method increase when number of grid points increase as can be seen in Table 3. For small grid points such as M = 4, k = 0, the results of proposed method are superior to the results of Homotopy Perturbation Method and Optimal Homotopy Asymptotic Method in [17]. Absolute errors of Example 4 are given in Table 4 and Fig 1 for various values of M and k. As can be seen from Table 4 and Fig 1, absolute errors tend to zero when number of grid points increase and the proposed method is highly efficient and accurate. All of the calculations in this study have been made by the Maple program. Newton Raphson method has been used to solve nonlinear algebraic equation systems. These calculations demonstrate that the accuracy of the Chebyshev wavelet collocation method is quite good even for small number of grid points. In proposed method, there are no complex integrals or methodology. Applications of this method are very simple. It is also very convenient for solving the initial, boundary and nonlocal boundary value problems since the initial, boundary and nonlocal conditions are automatically taken in the solution. In addition, it can be concluded that the proposed method is reliable, simple, fast, minimal computation costs, flexible, and convenient alternative method.



Figure 5.1: The absolute errors of Example 5.4 for various values of M and k

References

- [1] A, Guezane-Lakoud, A. Frioui, Nonlinear three point boundary-value problem, Sarajevo Journal of Mathematics, 8/20 (2012), 101-106.
- [2] B. Aksoylu, T. Mengesha, Results on nonlocal boundary value problems, Numerical functional analysis and optimization, 31/12 (2010), 1301-1317.
- [3] J. Henderson, CJ.Kunkel, Uniqueness of solution of linear nonlocal boundary value problems, Applied Mathematics Letters, 21 (2008), 1053-1056.
- [4] X. Xue, Nonlinear differential equations with nonlocal conditions in Banach spaces, Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications , 63 (2005), 575-586
- [5] P. Babak, Nonlocal initial problems for coupled reaction-diffusion systems and their applications, Nonlinear analysis: real world applications, 8 (2007), 980-996
- J. Liang, TJ. Xiao, Semilinear integrodifferential equations with nonlocal initial conditions, Computers and Mathematics with Applications , 47 (2004), [6] 863-875
- F. Geng, M. Cui, A repreducing kernel method for solving nonlocal fractional boundary value problems, Applied Mathematics Letters, (2012), 818-823.
- Y. Zhou, F. Jiao, Nonlocal Cauchy problem for fractional evolution equations, Nonlinear analysis: real world applications , 11 (2010), 4465-4475
- [9] Lentini M, Pereyra V. A variable order ?nite difference method for nonlinear multipoint boundary value problems. Mathematics of Computation 1974; 28: 981–1003. MK. Kwong, The shooting method and multiple solutions of two/multi-point BVPs of second-order ODE, Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of
- [10] Differential Equations, 6 (2006), 1-14.
- YK. Zou, QW. Hu and R. Zhang, On numerical studies of multi-point boundary value problem and its fold bifurcation, Applied Mathematics and [11] Computation, 185 (2007), 527-53
- [12] M. Tatari, M. Dehghan, The use of the Adomian decomposition method for solving multipoint boundary value problems, Physical Scripta, 73 (2006),
- [13] M. Tatari, M. Dehghan, An ef?cient method for solving multi-point boundary value problems and applications in physics, Journal of Vibration and Control, (2011), 1116-1124.
- [14] M. Dehghan, F. Shakeri, A semi-numerical technique for solving the multi-point boundary value problems and engineering applications, International Journal of Numerical Methods for Heat and Fluid Flow, 21 (2011), 794-809
- A. Saadatmandi, M. Dehghan, The use of Sinc-collocation method for solving multi-point boundary value problems, Communications in Nonlinear [15] Science and Numerical Simulation, 17 (2012), 593-601
- [16] LJ. Xie, CL. Zhou, S. Xu, A new algorithm based on differential transform method for solving multi-point boundary value problems, International Journal of Computer Mathematics (2015); 1-14
- [17] J. Ali, S. Islam, S. Islam and G. Zaman, The solution of multipoint boundary value problems by the optimal homotopy asymptotic method, Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 59/6 (2010), 2000-2006.
- [18] FZ. Geng, MG. Cui, Multi-point boundary value problem for optimal bridge design, International Journal of Computer Mathematics, 87 (2010), 1051-1056.
- [19] Y. Lin, J. Lin, A numerical algorithm for solving a class of linear nonlocal boundary value problems, Applied Mathematics Letters, 23 (2010), 997-1002. XY. Li, BY. Wu, Reproducing kernel method for singular fourth order four-point boundary value problems, Bulletin of the Malaysian Mathematical [20] Sciences Society Second Series, 34/1 (2011), 147-151
- [21] B. Sun, Y. Aijun and G. Weigao, Successive iteration and positive solutions for some second-order three-point p-Laplacian boundary value problems, Mathematical and Computer Modelling, 50/3 (2009), 344-350.
- [22] M. Behroozifar, Spectral method for solving high order nonlinear boundary value problems via operational matrices, BIT Numerical Mathematics, 55/4 (2015), 901-925
- [23] D. Tzanetis, P. Vlamos, A nonlocal problem modelling ohmic heating with variable thermal conductivity, Nonlinear analysis: real world applications, 2/4 (2001), 443-454.
- [24] M.Bogoya, A. Cesar and S. Gomez, On a nonlocal diffusion model with Neumann boundary conditions, Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications, 75/6 (2012), 3198-3209.
- CV. Pao, Asymptotic behavior of solutions of reaction-diffusion equations with nonlocal boundary conditions, Journal of Computational and Applied [25] Mathematics, 88 (1998), 225-238.
- CV. Pao, YM. Wang, Nonlinear fourth-order elliptic equations with nonlocal boundary conditions, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, [26] 372 (2010), 351-365.

- [27] CV. Pao, YM. Wang, Numerical methods for fourth-order elliptic equations with nonlocal boundary conditions, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 292 (2016), 447-468.
 [28] M. Razzaghi, S. Yousefi, Legendre wavelets direct method for variational problems, Mathematics and Computers in Simulation, 53 (2000) 185-192.
- [29] M. Razzaghi, S. Yousefi, Legendre wavelets operational matrix of integration, International Journal of Systems Science , 32/4 (2001) 495-502. [30] E, Babolian, F. Fattahzadeh, Numerical solution of differential equations by using Chebyshev wavelet operational matrix of integration, Applied Mathematics and Computation 188 (2007), 417-426.
 [31] MT. Kajania, AH. Vencheha and M.Ghasemib, The Chebyshev wavelets operational matrix of integration and product operation matrix, International
- Journal of Computer Mathematics, 86/7 (2009), 1118-1125
- [32] İ. Çelik, Numerical Solution of Differential Equations by Using Chebyshev Wavelet Collocation Method, Cankaya University Journal of Science and Engineering., 10/2 (2013), 169-184.
- I. Çelik, Chebyshev Wavelet Collocation Method for Solving Generalized Burgers-Huxley Equation, Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences, [33] 39/3 (2016), 366-377.
- [34] I. Daubechies, Ten lectures on wavelets, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA (1992)
- [35] L. Fox, IB. Parker, *Chebyshev polynomials in numerical analysis*, Oxford University Press, London (1968)
 [36] H. Adibi, P. Assari, Chebyshev wavelet method for numerical solution of Fredholm integral equations of the first kind, Mathematical Problems in Engineering, Article ID 138408 (2010), p 17
- [37] C. Yang, J.Hou, Chebyshev wavelets method for solving Bratu's problem, Boundary Value Problems, 2013 (2013), 142



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Establishing the existence of Hilfer fractional pantograph equations with impulses

Sugumaran Harikrishnan^a, Rabha W. Ibrahim^{b*} and Kuppusamy Kanagarajan^a

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Sri Ramakrishna Mission Vidyalaya College of Arts and Science, Coimbatore-641020, India ^bFaculty of Computer Science and Information Technology, , University Malaya, 50603, Malaysia ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: rabhaibrahim@yahoo.com

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Pantograph equation, Im- pulsive condition Fixed point stability	In [1], the authors established the existence of a class of fractional differential equations
2010 AMS: 26A33, 34K40, 34K14	solutions to a class of Hilfer fractional pantograph equations with impulsive effect. Further,
Received: 16 March 2018	using the techniques of nonlinear functional analysis, we establish appropriate conditions
Accepted: 17 April 2018	and results to discuss various kinds of Ulam-Hyers stability.

1. Preface

Available online: 30 June 2018

1

Fractional calculus is an emerging field in applied mathematics that deals with derivatives and integrals of arbitrary orders. For their applications and details note, one can refer to [8, 13, 17]. Due to the properties involved in Hilfer fractional type of derivatives (introduced by Hilfer [8]) in the sense that it generalizes the Riemann-Liouville (R-L) and Liouville-Caputo (L-C) fractional derivatives, a lot of studies have been done on it, including the existence and uniqueness of solutions to such differential equations (DEs) involving Hilfer fractional derivative (HFD); see [4, 7, 20, 21], and references therein.

It is well known that the pantograph equations (PEs) arises in quite different fields of pure and applied mathematics and have been investigated extensively. Recently, due to its importance in many applied fields and playing an extremely important role in explaining many different phenomena, for details see [3, 6, 10, 19, 22].

Recently impulsive DEs have been considered by many authors due to their significant applications in various fields of science and technology. For detail study, see [2, 14, 15, 16, 18, 24]. Due to its large number of applications, this area has been received great importance and remarkable attention from the researchers.

In 1940, Ulam posed the following problem about the stability of functional equations: Under what conditions does there exist an additive mapping near an approximately additive mapping? In the following year, Hyers gave an answer to the problem of Ulam for additive functions defined on Banach spaces, [8]. That is why the name of this stability is Ulam-Hyers (U-H) stability. Later on, Hyers results are extended by many mathematicians. The stability analysis is extremely helpful in numerous applications, for example, numerical analysis and optimization, where it is very tough to find the exact solution of a nonlinear problem. The aforementioned stability has very recently attracted the attention of researchers; we refer the reader to some papers [11, 12, 23]. Because of, fractional order system may have more attractive feature over the integer order system.

Consider the PEs with impulsive condition given by

$$\begin{cases} D^{\alpha,\beta}x(t) = f(t,x(t),x(\lambda t)), & t \in J' := J \setminus \{t_1,t_2,...,t_m\}, J = [a,b], t \notin t_k, \\ \Delta I^{1-\gamma}x(t)|_{t=t_k} = \Psi_k(x(t_k)), & t = t_k, k = 1,2,...,m, \\ I^{1-\gamma}x(t)|_{t=a} = x_a, \quad \gamma = \alpha + \beta - \alpha\beta, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where $D^{\alpha,\beta}(0 < \alpha < 1, 0 \le \beta \le 1)$ is the Hilfer fractional derivative of orders α and type β . Here, $0 < \lambda < 1$ the function $f: J \times R \times R \to R$ is continuous, $I_k: R \to R$, and $a \in R$, $a = t_0 < t_1 < ... < t_m < t_{m+1} = b$, $\Delta I^{1-\gamma}x(t)|_{t=t_k} = I^{1-\gamma}x(t_k^+) - I^{1-\gamma}x(t_k^-)$, $I^{1-\gamma}x(t_k^+) = \lim_{h\to 0+} x(t_k + h)$ and $I^{1-\gamma}x(t_k^-) = \lim_{h\to 0-} x(t_k + h)$ represent the right and left limits of x(t) at $t = t_k$.

The paper is organized as follows: In Section 2, we present some necessary definitions and preliminary results that will be used to prove our main results. The proofs of soultion existence and uniqueness are given in Section 3. Finally, stability is proved in Section 4.

2. Prerequisites

In this section, we recall some preliminaries materials required in this paper from. Consider the following space

$$PC[J,R] = \{x : J \to R : x(t) \in C(t_k, t_{k+1}], k = 0, ..., m; \text{ there exists } x(t_k^+) \text{ and } x(t_k^-)\}$$

Now we consider the weighted space $PC_{\gamma}[J,R]$,

$$PC_{\gamma}[J,R] = \left\{ x : (t-a)^{\gamma}x(t)|_{t \in [t_k, t_{k+1}]} \in C[t_k, t_{k+1}], k = 0, ..., m \text{ where } 0 \le \gamma < 1 \right\}.$$

Obviously, which is a Banach space with norm

$$\|x\|_{PC_{\gamma}} = \sup_{t \in (t_k, t_{k+1}]} \{(t - t_k)^{\gamma} x(t)\}, k = 0, ..., m$$

Definition 2.1. [13] The R-L fractional integral of order $\alpha > 0$ of function $f : [0, \infty) \to R$ can be written as

$$I^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s) ds$$

Definition 2.2. [13] The R-L fractional derivative of order $\alpha > 0$ of a continuous function $f: [0,\infty) \to R$ can be written as

$$D^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)^n \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha-n+1} f(s) ds,$$

provided that the right side is pointwise defined on $[0,\infty)$.

Definition 2.3. [13] The L-C fractional derivative of order $\alpha > 0$ of a continuous function $f : [0, \infty) \to R$ can be written as

$${}^{C}D^{\alpha}f(t) = D^{\alpha}\left[f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{t^{k}}{k!} f^{k}(0)\right], \ t > 0, n-1 < \alpha < n.$$

Definition 2.4. [8] The HFD of order $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $0 \le \beta \le 1$ of function f(t) is defined by

$$D^{\alpha,\beta}f(t) = (I^{\beta(1-\alpha)}D(I^{(1-\beta)(1-\alpha)}f))(t).$$

The GRL fractional derivative is considered as an interpolation between the R-L and L-C fractional derivative and the relations are given below.

Remark 2.5. (*i*) Operator $D^{\alpha,\beta}$ also can be written as

$$D^{\alpha,\beta} = (I^{\beta(1-\alpha)}D(I^{(1-\beta)(1-\alpha)})) = I^{\beta(1-\alpha)}D^{\gamma}, \quad \gamma = \alpha + \beta - \alpha\beta.$$

(ii) If $\beta = 0$, then $D^{\alpha,\beta} = D^{\alpha,0}$ is called *R*-*L* fractional derivative. (iii) If $\beta = 1$, then $D^{\alpha,\beta} = I^{1-\alpha}D$ is called *L*-*C* fractional derivative.

Lemma 2.6. [4] If $\alpha > 0$ and $\beta > 0$, there exists

$$\left[I^{\alpha}(t)^{\beta-1}\right](x) = \frac{\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(\beta+\alpha)} x^{\beta+\alpha-1},$$

and

$$\left[D^{\alpha}(t)^{\alpha-1}\right](x) = 0, \quad 0 < \alpha < 1.$$

Lemma 2.7. [4] If $\alpha > 0$ and $\beta > 0$ and $f \in L^1(a,b]$, there exists the following properties

$$I^{\alpha}I^{\beta}f(t) = I^{\alpha+\beta}f(t),$$

and

$$D^{\alpha}I^{\alpha}f(t) = f(t).$$

Lemma 2.8. [4] Let $\gamma = \alpha + \beta - \alpha\beta$ where $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $0 \le \beta \le 1$. Let $f : J \times R \to R$ be a function such that $f(\cdot, (\cdot)) \in C_{1-\gamma}[a,b]$ for any $x \in C_{1-\gamma}[a,b]$. If $x \in C_{1-\gamma}^{\gamma}[a,b]$, then x satisfies

$$D^{\alpha,\beta}x(t) = f(t,x(t)), \quad t \in (a,b]$$

$$I^{1-\gamma}x(a) = x_a.$$

if and only if x satisfies

$$x(t) = \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, x(s)) ds$$
(2.1)

Lemma 2.9. Let $f: J \to R$ be continuous. A function $x \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ is a solution of the fractional differential equation

$$D^{\alpha,\beta}x(t) = f(t), \quad t \in J$$
$$I^{1-\gamma}x(t_i) = x_{t_i},$$

if and only if x is a solution of the integral equation

$$x(t) = \frac{x_{t_i}}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{(t-a)^{\gamma-1}}{\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma(1-\beta(1-\alpha))} \int_a^{t_i} (t_i-s)^{(1-\beta(1-\alpha))-1} f(s) ds + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s) ds.$$
(2.2)

Next, we shall give the definitions and the criteria of U-H stability and U-H-R stability for PEs with impulsive effect under Hilfer fractional derivative. Let ε be a positive number and $\varphi: J \to R^+$ be a continuous function, for every $t \in J'$ and k = 1, 2, ..., m, we have the following inequalities

$$\begin{cases} \left| D^{\alpha,\beta} z(t) - f(t,z(t),z(\lambda t)) \right| \leq \varepsilon, \\ \left| \Delta I^{1-\gamma} z(t) \right|_{t=t_k} - \psi_k(z(t_k)) \right| \leq \varepsilon, \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

$$\begin{cases} \left| D^{\alpha,\beta} z(t) - f(t, z(t), z(\lambda t)) \right| \leq \varepsilon \varphi(t), \\ \left| \Delta I^{1-\gamma} z(t) \right|_{t=t_k} - \psi_k(z(t_k)) \right| \leq \varepsilon \varphi(t), \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

$$\begin{cases} \left| D^{\alpha,\beta}z(t) - f(t,z(t),z(\lambda t)) \right| \leq \varphi(t), \\ \Delta I^{1-\gamma}z(t)|_{t=t_k} - \psi_k(z(t_k)) \right| \leq \varphi(t), \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

Definition 2.10. *Eq.* (1.1) *is U-H stable if there exists a real number* $C_f > 0$ *such that for each* $\varepsilon > 0$ *and for each solution* $z \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ *of the inequality* (2.3) *there exists a solution* $x \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ *of Eq.* (1.1) *with*

$$|z(t)-x(t)| \leq C_f \varepsilon, \quad t \in J.$$

Definition 2.11. *Eq.* (1.1) *is generalized U-H stable if there exist* $\varphi \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R^+]$, $\varphi_f(0) = 0$ *such that for each solution* $z \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ *of the inequality* (2.3) *there exists a solution* $x \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ *of Eq.* (1.1) *with*

$$|z(t)-x(t)| \leq \varphi_f \varepsilon, \quad t \in J.$$

Definition 2.12. *Eq.* (1.1) *is U*-*H*-*R stable with respect to* $\varphi \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R^+]$ *if there exists a real number* $C_f > 0$ *such that for each solution* $z \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ *of the inequality* (2.4) *there exists a solution* $x \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ *of Eq.* (1.1) *with*

$$|z(t)-x(t)| \leq C_f \varepsilon \varphi(t), \quad t \in J.$$

Definition 2.13. *Eq.* (1.1) *is generalized U-H-R stable with respect to* $\varphi \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R^+]$ *if there exists a real number* $C_{f,\varphi} > 0$ *such that for each solution* $z \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ *of the inequality* (2.5) *there exists a solution* $x \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ *of Eq.* (1.1) *with*

$$|z(t) - x(t)| \le C_{f,\varphi}\varphi(t), \quad t \in J.$$

Remark 2.14. A function $z \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ is a solution of the inequality

$$\left| D^{\alpha,\beta} z(t) - f(t,z(t),z(\lambda t)) \right| \leq \varepsilon$$

if and only if there exist a function $g \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ and a sequence g_k , k = 1, 2, ..., m (which depend on z) such that

- (i) $|g(t)| \leq \varepsilon$, $|g_k| < \varepsilon$.
- (ii) $D^{\alpha,\beta}z(t) = f(t,z(t),z(\lambda t)) + g(t).$
- (iii) $\Delta I^{1-\gamma}z(t)|_{t_k} = \Psi_k(z(t_k)) + g_k.$
- (iv) Let $0 < \alpha < 1$, $0 \le \beta \le 1$, if z is solution of the inequality (2.3) then z is a solution of the following integral inequality

$$\left|z(t) - \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} \psi_k(z(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, z(s), z(\lambda s)) ds\right| \le \varepsilon \left(m + \frac{(b-a)^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}\right).$$

Lemma 2.15. [25] Let a(t) be a nonnegative function locally integrable on $a \le t < b$ for some $b \le \infty$, and let g(t) be a nonnegative, nondecreasing continuous function defined on $a \le t < b$, such that $g(t) \le K$ for some constant K. Further let x(t) be a nonnegative locally integrable on $a \le t < b$ function satisfying

$$|x(t)| \le a(t) + g(t) \int_{a}^{t} (t-s)^{\alpha-1} x(s) ds, \ t \in [a,b)$$

with some $\alpha > 0$. Then

$$|x(t)| \le a(t) + \int_a^t \left[\sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{(g(t)\Gamma(\alpha))^n}{\Gamma(n\alpha)} (t-s)^{n\alpha-1} \right] a(s) ds, \ a \le t < b.$$

Remark 2.16. Under the hypethesis of Lemma 2.15 let a(t) be a nondecreasing function on [0,T). Then $y(t) \le a(t)E_{\alpha}(g(t)\Gamma(\alpha)t^{\alpha})$, where E_{α} is the Mittag-Leffler function defined by

$$E_{\alpha}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^k}{\Gamma(k\alpha+1)}, \ z \in C, \ Re(\alpha) > 0.$$

Lemma 2.17. [24] Let $x \in PC_{1-\gamma}(J, R)$ satisfies the following inequality

$$|x(t)| \le c_1 + c_2 \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} |x(t)| \, ds + \sum_{0 < t_k < t} \psi_k |x(t_k)| \, ,$$

where c_1 is a nonnegative, continuous and nondecreasing function and c_2, ψ_i are constants. Then

$$|x(t)| \le c_1 \left(1 + \psi E_{\alpha} (c_2 \Gamma(\alpha) t^{\alpha})^k E_{\alpha} (c_2 \Gamma(\alpha) t^{\alpha} \right) \text{ for } t \in (t_k . t_{k+1}],$$

where $\psi = \sup \{ \psi_k : k = 1, 2, 3, ..., m \}.$

Theorem 2.18. [5](Schaefer's Fixed Point Theorem) Let K be a Banach space and let $N : K \to K$ be completely continuous operator. If the set $\{x \in K : x = \delta Nx \text{ for some } \delta \in (0,1)\}$ is bounded, then N has a fixed point.

Theorem 2.19. [5](Banach Fixed Point Theorem) Suppose Q be a non-empty closed subset of a Banach space E. Then any contraction mapping N from Q into itself has a unique fixed point.

3. Existence of at least one solution

In this section, we investigate the existence and uniqueness of solution to the proposed problem. We need the following lemma to establish our main results.

Lemma 3.1. Let $f: J \times R \times R \rightarrow R$ be continuous. A function x is a solution of the fractional integral equation

$$x(t) = \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{\sum_{0 \le t_k \le t} \psi_k(x(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s)) ds$$
(3.1)

if and only if x is a solution of the problem (1.1).

Let us introduce the following assumptions which are used hereafter.

(H1) Let $f: J \times R \times R \to R$ be a continuous function and there exists a positive constant $\ell > 0$, such that

$$|f(t,x_1,x_2) - f(t,y_1,y_2)| \le \ell(|x_1 - y_1| + |x_2 - y_2|), \text{ for all } x_1,x_2,y_1,y_2 \in \mathbb{R}.$$

(H2) Let $f: J \times R \times R \to R$ is completely continuous function and there exists a function $p \in L^1$ such that

$$|f(t,x,y)| \le p(t), \ \forall \ t \in J, \ x,y \in R.$$

(H3) Let the functions $\psi_k : R \to R$ are continuous and there exists a constant $\ell_k^* > 0$, such that

$$|\psi_k(x) - \psi_k(y)| \le \ell_k^* |x - y|$$
, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}, k = 1, 2, ..., m$.

(H4) Let the functions $\psi_k : R \to R$ are continuous and there exists a constant $p^* > 0$, such that

$$|\psi_k(x)| \le p^*(t)$$
, for all $x \in R, k = 1, 2, ..., m$

(H5) : There exists an increasing functions $\varphi \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J, R^+]$ and there exists $\lambda_{\varphi} > 0$ such that for any $t \in J$,

$$I^{\alpha}\varphi(t) \leq \lambda_{\varphi}\varphi(t).$$

Theorem 3.2 (Existence). Assume that [H1] - [H4] are satisfied. Then, Eq.(1.1) has at least one solution.

Proof. Consider the operator $N: PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R] \to PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$. The operator form of integral equation (3.1) is written as follows

$$x(t) = Nx(t),$$

where

$$Nx(t) = \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{\sum_{0 \le t_k \le t} \psi_k(x(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s,x(s),x(\lambda s)) ds.$$
(3.2)

First, we prove that the operator *N* defined by (3.2) verifies the conditions of Theorem 2.18. **Claim 1:** The operator *N* is continuous. Let x_n be a sequence such that $x_n \to x$ in $PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$. Then for each $t \in J$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| (N(x_n)(t) - N(x)(t))(t-a)^{1-\gamma} \right| &\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\gamma)} \sum_{0 < t_k < t} |\psi_k(x_n(t_k)) - \psi_k(x(t_k))| \\ &+ \frac{(t-a)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} |f(s,x_n(s),x_n(\lambda s)) - f(s,x(s),x(\lambda s))| ds \end{aligned}$$

since f is continuous, then we have

$$||N(x_n)(t) - N(x)(t)||_{PC_{1-\gamma}} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

This proves the continuity of N.

Claim 2: The operator *N* maps bounded sets into bounded sets in $PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$. Indeed, it is enough to show that for r > 0, there exists a positive constant *l* such that

$$B_r = \left\{ x \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R] : ||x||_{PC_{1-\gamma}} \le r \right\}$$

we have $||N(x)||_{PC_{1-\gamma}} \le l$.

$$\begin{split} \left| (Nx)(t)(t-a)^{1-\gamma} \right| &\leq \frac{|x_a|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} |\Psi_k(x(t_k))|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{(t-a)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} |f(s,x(s),x(\lambda s))| \, ds \\ &\leq \frac{|x_a|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{(t-a)^{\gamma-1} \sum_{0 < t_k < t} \left| (t-a)^{1-\gamma} p^*(t) \right|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{(t-a)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} |p(s)| \, ds \\ &\leq \frac{|x_a|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{m(t-a)^{\gamma-1}}{\Gamma(\gamma)} \|p^*\|_{PC_{1-\gamma}} + \frac{(t-a)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} (t-a)^{\alpha+\gamma-1} B(\gamma,\alpha) \|p\|_{PC_{1-\gamma}} \\ &\leq \frac{|x_a|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{m(b-a)^{\gamma-1}}{\Gamma(\gamma)} \|p^*\|_{PC_{1-\gamma}} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} (b-a)^{\alpha} B(\gamma,\alpha) \|p\|_{PC_{1-\gamma}} \end{split}$$

$$||(Nx)(t)||_{PC_{1-\gamma}} := l$$

That is N is bounded.

Claim 3: The operator *N* maps bounded sets into equicontinuous set of $PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$. Let $t_1, t_2 \in J, t_1 > t_2, B_r$ be a bounded set of $PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ as in Claim 2, and $x \in B_r$. Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| (t_1 - a)^{1 - \gamma} (Nx)(t_1) - (t_2 - a)^{1 - \gamma} (Nx)(t_2)) \right| &\leq \left| \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t_1} \psi_k(x(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{(t_1 - a)^{1 - \gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^{t_1} (t_1 - s)^{\alpha - 1} f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s)) ds \right| \\ &- \left| \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t_2} \psi_k(x(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)} - \frac{(t_2 - a)^{1 - \gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^{t_2} (t_2 - s)^{\alpha - 1} f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s)) ds \right|. \end{aligned}$$

As $t_1 \rightarrow t_2$, the right hand side of the above inequality tends to zero. As a consequence of Claim 1 - Claim 3 together with Arzelä-Ascoli theorem, we can conclude that $N : PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R] \rightarrow PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$ is continuous and completely continuous. It is continuous and bounded from Claim 1 - Claim 3. Now, it remains to show that the set

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \left\{ x \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J, R] : x = \tau N(x), 0 < \tau < 1 \right\}$$

is bounded set.

Let $x \in \omega$, $x = \tau N(x)$ for some $0 < \tau < 1$. Thus for each $t \in J$. We have

$$x(t) = \tau \left[\frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} \psi_k(x(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s)) ds \right].$$

This shows that the set ω is bounded. As a consequence of Theorem 2.18, we deduce that *N* has a fixed point which is a solution of problem (1.1).

Theorem 3.3. (Uniqueness) Assume that [H1] and [H3] are satisfied. If

$$\rho = \left(\frac{m\ell^*}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(b-a)^{1-\gamma} + \frac{2\ell}{\Gamma(\alpha)}B(\gamma,\alpha)(b-a)^{\alpha}\right) < 1,$$
(3.3)

then, the Eq. (1.1) has a unique solution.

Proof. Consider the operator $N : PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R] \to PC_{1-\gamma}[J,R]$. The equivalent integral equation (3.1) which can be written in the operator form

$$Nx(t) = \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} \psi_k(x(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s)) ds.$$
(3.4)

By Lemma 3.2, it is clear that the fixed points of *N* are solutions of Eq. (1.1). Let $x, y \in PC_{1-\gamma}[J, R]$ and $t \in J$, then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| (t-a)^{1-\gamma} (Nx(t) - Ny(t)) \right| &\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\gamma)} \sum_{0 < t_k < t} |\psi_k(x(t_k)) - \psi_k(y(t_k))| + \frac{(t-a)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} |f(s,x(s),x(\lambda s)) - f(s,y(s),y(\lambda s))| ds \\ &\leq (t-a)^{1-\gamma} \frac{m\ell^*}{\Gamma(\gamma)} ||x-y||_{PC_{1-\gamma}} + \frac{2\ell(t-a)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} B(\gamma,\alpha)(t-a)^{\alpha+\gamma-1} ||x-y||_{PC_{1-\gamma}} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{m\ell^*}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (b-a)^{1-\gamma} + \frac{2\ell}{\Gamma(\alpha)} B(\gamma,\alpha)(b-a)^{\alpha} \right) ||x-y||_{PC_{1-\gamma}} \\ &= \rho ||x-y||_{PC_{1-\gamma}}. \end{aligned}$$

This yields that N has a unique fixed point which is solution of Eq. (1.1).

4. U-H stability analysis

In this section, we obtain stability results for the proposed problem.

Theorem 4.1. The assumptions [H1], [H3], [H5] and (3.3) hold. Then, Eq.(1.1) is generalized U-H-R stable.

Proof. Let z be solution of inequality (2.5) and by Theorem 3.3 there x is unique solution of the problem

$$D^{\alpha,\beta}x(t) = f(t,x(t),x(\lambda t)),$$

$$\Delta I^{1-\gamma}x(t)|_{t=t_k} = \Psi_k(x(t_k^-)),$$

$$I^{1-\gamma}x(a) = I^{1-\gamma}z(a) = x_a.$$

Then, we have

$$x(t) = \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} \psi_k(x(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s)) ds$$

By differentiating inequality (2.5), for each $t \in (t_k, t_{k+1}]$, we have

$$\begin{vmatrix} z(t) - \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} \psi_k(z(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1}f(s, z(s), z(\lambda s))ds \end{vmatrix}$$
$$\leq \left| \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} g_k}{\Gamma(\gamma)}(t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1}\varphi(t)ds \right|$$
$$\leq m\varphi(t) + \lambda_\varphi\varphi(t)$$
$$\leq (m+\lambda_\varphi)\varphi(t).$$

Hence for each $t \in (t_k, t_{k+1}]$, it follows

$$\begin{aligned} |z(t) - x(t)| &\leq \left| z(t) - \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} \psi_k(x(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s)) ds \right| \\ &\leq \left| z(t) - \frac{x_a}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} \psi_k(z(t_k))}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} f(s, z(s), z(\lambda s)) ds \right| \\ &+ \left| \frac{\sum_{0 < t_k < t} |\psi_k(z(t_k)) - \psi_k(x(t_k))|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} |f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s)) - f(s, x(s), x(\lambda s))| ds \right| \\ &\leq (m + \lambda_{\varphi}) \varphi(t) + \frac{m\ell^*}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (t-a)^{\gamma-1} |z(t) - x(t)| + \frac{2\ell}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} |z(t) - x(t)| ds \end{aligned}$$

By Lemma 2.17, there exists a constant K > 0 independent of $\lambda_{\varphi} \varphi(t)$ such that

$$|z(t) - x(t)| \leq K(m + \lambda_{\varphi})\varphi(t) := C_{f,\varphi}\varphi(t).$$

Thus, Eq.(1.1) is generalized U-H-R stable.

References

- [1] S. Harikrishnan, Rabha W. Ibrahim, K. Kanagarajan, On y-Hilfer Fractional Differential Equation with Complex Order, Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications(1) (2018) 33-38 Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications
- [2] M. I. Abbas, Ulam stability of fractional impulsive differential equations with Riemann-Liouville integral boundary conditions, J. Contemp. Mathemat. Anal., 50, (2015), 209-219.
- [3] K. Balachandran, S. Kiruthika, J.J. Trujillo, Existence of solutions of Nonlinear fractional pantograph equations, *Acta Math. Sci.*, 33B,(2013),1-9.
 [4] K.M. Furati, M.D. Kassim and N.e. Tatar, Existence and uniqueness for a problem involving Hilfer fractional derivative, *Comput. Math. Appl.*, 64,
- (2012), 1616-1626.
- [5] A. Granas, and J. Dugundji, Fixed Point Theory, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2003.
- [6] K. Guan, Q. Wang, X. He, Oscillation of a pantograph differential equation with impulsive perturbations, *Appl. Math. Comput.*, 219, (2012), 3147-3153.
 [7] S. Harikrishnan, K. Kanagarajan and E. M. Elsayed, Existence and stability results for langevin equations with Hilfer fractional derivative, *Res. Fixed* Point Theory Appl., (2018), 10 pages.
- [8] D.H. Hyers, On the stability of the linear functional equation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 27, (1941), 222-224.
- [9] R. Hilfer, Applications of Eractional Calculus in Physics, World scientific, Singapore, 1999.
 [10] A. Iserles, On the generalized pantograph functional differential equation, *European J. Appl. Math.*, 4, (1993), 1-38.
- [11] R.W. Ibrahim, Ulam-Hyers stability for Cauchy fractional differential equation in the unit disk, *Abstract Appl. Anal.*, (2012), 10 pages.
 [12] R.W. Ibrahim, Generalized Ulam-Hyers stability for fractional differential equations, *Int. J. Math.*, 23(5), (2012), 9 pages.
- [13] A. A. Kilbas, H.M. Srivastava and J. J. Trujillo, Theory and applications of fractional differential equations, *Amsterdam: Elsevier*,2006.
 [14] V. Lakshmikantham, D. D. Bainov and P. S. Simeonov, Theory of Impulsive Differential Equations, World scientific, Singapore, 1989.
- [15] X. Liu and Y. Li, Some antiperiodic boundary value problem for nonlinear fractional impulsive differential equations, Abst. Appl. Anal., (2014), 10 [16] Z. Luo and J. Shen, Global existence results for impusive functional differential equation, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, **323(1)**, (2006), 644-653.
- [17] I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential equation, Academic Press, San Diego, 1999.
- [18] A. M. Samoilenko and N. A. Perestyuk, Impulsive differential equations, World scientific, Singapore(1995).
- [19] D. Vivek, K. Kanagarajan and S. Sivasundaram, Dynamics and stability of pantograph equations via Hilfer fractional derivative, Nonlinear Stud., 23(4), (2016),685-698. [20]
- D. Vivek, K. Kanagarajan and E. M. Elsayed, Some existence and stability results for Hilfer-fractional implicit differential equations with nonlocal conditions, *Mediterr. J. Math.*, 15:15, (2018). [21] D. Vivek, K. Kanagarajan and S. Sivasundaram, Dynamics and stability results for Hilfer fractional type thermistor problem, *Fractal Fract.*, **1**(1), (2017),
- -14
- [22] D. Vivek, K. Kanagarajan, S. Harikrishnan, Existence and uniqueness results for pantograph equations with generalized fractional derivative, Journal of Nonlinear Analysis and Application, **2**, (2017), 105-112. J. Wang, L. Lv and Y. Zhou, Ulam stability and data dependence for fractional differential equations with Caputo derivative, *Electron. J. Qual. Theory*
- [23] Differ. Equ., 63, (2011), 1-10. [24] J. Wang, Y. Zhou and M. Fečkanc, Nonlinear impulsive problems for fractional differential equations and Ulam stability, Comp. Math. Appl., 64, (2012),
- 3389-3405. H. Ye, J. Gao and Y. Ding, A generalized Gronwall inequality and its application to a fractional differential equation, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, **328**(2), [25]
- (2007), 1075-1081.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Best proximity points for weak \mathcal{MT} -cyclic Kannan contractions

Hossein Lakzian^{a*} and Ing-Jer Lin^b

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Payame Noor University, 19395-4697 Tehran, I.R. of Iran ^bDepartment of Mathematics, National Kaohsiung Normal University, Kaohsiung 824, Taiwan ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: h_lakzian@pnu.ac.ir

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Cyclic map, Best proximity point, MT-cyclic contraction, Weak MT-cyclic Kannan contraction 2010 AMS: 54H25, 47H10 Received: 14 March 2018	In this paper, we introduce a notion of weak \mathscr{MT} -cyclic Kannan contractions with respect to a \mathscr{MT} -function φ and then we shall prove some new convergent and existence theorems of best proximity point theorems for these contractions in uniformly Banach spaces.
Accepted: 27 March 2018	
Available online: 30 June 2018	

1. Introduction

Let *A* and *B* be nonempty subsets of a Banach space *E*. A map *T* on $A \cup B$ into $A \cup B$ is called a *cyclic* mapping if $T(A) \subset B$ and $T(B) \subset A$. Let $T: A \cup B \to A \cup B$ be a cyclic map. For any nonempty subsets *A* and *B* of *E*, let $dist(A,B) = inf\{||x-y||: x \in A, y \in B\}$. A point $x \in A \cup B$ is called to be a best proximity point for *T* if ||x-Tx|| = dist(A,B).

In [2] A. Anthony Eldred and P. Veeramani introduced cyclic contraction mappings and then in a uniformly convex Banach space a theorem was established which ensures the existence of a best proximity point of cyclic contractions. Afterward, in these spaces, C. Di Bari et al. in [13] introduced the notion of cyclic Meir-Keeler contractions and proved the existence of a best proximity point for cyclic Meir-Keeler contractions in the case of two sets. After this, this result was generalized for *p* sets by S. Karpagam, Sushama Agrawal [11]. In [4] a new class of maps was introduced, called cyclic φ -contraction which contains the cyclic contractions maps as a subclass and for this type of contractive conditions, in uniformly convex Banach spaces, results of best proximity points were obtained. Many authors have been investigated the existence, uniqueness and convergence of iterates to the best proximity point under weaker assumptions over *T*; see [1]-[5], [8], [10]-[14], [16]-[18], and [22]-[24] and their references. See also [25, 26].

The notion of weak cyclic Kannan contractions (see below definition) was introduced by M. A. Petric [14]; see also [21]-[23].

Definition 1.1. [14] Let A and B be nonempty subsets of a metric space (X,d). If a map $T: A \cup B \to A \cup B$ satisfies

- (*i*) $T(A) \subset B$ and $T(B) \subset A$;
- (ii) there exists a $\alpha \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$ such that

 $d(Tx,Ty) \le \alpha[d(x,Tx) + d(y,Ty)] + (1-2\alpha)dist(A,B)$ for any $x \in A$ and $y \in B$,

then T is called a weak cyclic Kannan contraction on $A \cup B$.

The existence and convergence theorems of best proximity points in uniformly convex Banach spaces is proved as follows:

Theorem 1.2. [14] Let A and B be nonempty closed convex subsets of a uniformly convex Banach space. Let $T : A \cup B \rightarrow A \cup B$ be a weak cyclic Kannan contraction map. Then

- (*i*) *T* has a unique best proximity point *z* in *A*.
- (ii) The sequence $\{T^{2n}x\}$ converges to z for any starting point $x \in A$.
- (iii) z is the unique fixed point of T^2 .
- (iv) Tz is a best proximity point of T in B.

2. Preliminaries

Definition 2.1. [6, 7, 20] A function $\varphi : [0, \infty) \to [0, 1)$ is said to be a \mathscr{MT} -function if it satisfies Mizoguchi-Takahashi's condition (i.e. $\limsup_{s \to t+0} \varphi(s) < 1$ for all $t \in [0, \infty)$).

Obviously, if $\varphi : [0,\infty) \to [0,1)$ is a nondecreasing or nonincreasing function, then φ is a \mathscr{MT} -function. So, in particular, if $\varphi : [0,\infty) \to [0,1)$ is defined by $\varphi(t) = c$, where $c \in [0,1)$, then φ is a \mathscr{MT} -function. It is known that $\varphi : [0,\infty) \to [0,1)$ is a \mathscr{MT} -function *if and only if* for each $t \in [0,\infty)$, there exist $r_t \in [0,1)$ and $\varepsilon_t > 0$ such that $\varphi(s) \le r_t$ for all $s \in [t, t + \varepsilon_t)$. For more details, one can see Remark 2.5 in [7].

Note that if φ is a $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -function then clearly $\psi := \frac{\varphi}{2-\varphi}$ is a $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -function.

The notion of \mathscr{MT} -cyclic contraction with respect to a \mathscr{MT} -function φ (see below definition) is introduced by W.-S. Du et al [8] that contain cyclic contractions as a subclass. Some new existence and convergence theorems of iterates of best proximity points for \mathscr{MT} -cyclic contractions has been proved.

Lemma 2.2. [2] Let A be a nonempty closed and convex subset and B be a nonempty closed subset of a uniformly convex Banach space. Let $\{x_n\}$ and $\{z_n\}$ be sequences in A and $\{y_n\}$ be a sequence in B satisfying:

(*i*)
$$||z_n - y_n|| \rightarrow dist(A, B)$$
.

(ii) For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists N_0 such that for all $m > n \ge N_0$, $||x_m - y_n|| \le dist(A, B) + \varepsilon$. Then, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists N_1 such that for all $m > n \ge N_1$, $||x_m - z_n|| \le \varepsilon$.

Lemma 2.3. [2] Let A be a nonempty closed and convex subset and B be a nonempty closed subset of a uniformly convex Banach space. Let $\{x_n\}$ and $\{z_n\}$ be sequences in A and $\{y_n\}$ be a sequence in B satisfying:

(*i*) $||x_n - y_n|| \rightarrow dist(A, B).$ (*ii*) $||z_n - y_n|| \rightarrow dist(A, B).$ Then $||x_n - z_n|| \rightarrow 0.$

In this paper, we first define weak \mathcal{MT} -cyclic Kannan contractions with respect to a \mathcal{MT} -function φ and then we generalized Theorem P for these contractions in uniformly convex Banach spaces.

3. Main results

Definition 3.1. Let A and B be nonempty subsets of a metric space (X,d). If a map $T: A \cup B \to A \cup B$ satisfies

(MTK1) $T(A) \subset B$ and $T(B) \subset A$; (MTK2) there exists a $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -function $\varphi : [0,\infty) \to [0,1)$ such that

$$d(Tx,Ty) \leq \frac{1}{2}\varphi(d(x,y))[d(x,Tx) + d(y,Ty)] + (1 - \varphi(d(x,y)))dist(A,B) \text{ for any } x \in A \text{ and } y \in B,$$

then T is called a weak \mathscr{MT} -cyclic Kannan contraction with respect to φ on $A \cup B$.

Remark 3.2. It is obvious that (MTK2) implies that for any $x \in A$ and $y \in B$, T satisfies $d(Tx,Ty) - dist(A,B) \le \frac{1}{2}\varphi(d(x,y))[d(x,Tx) + d(y,Ty) - 2dist(A,B)] \le 0$ and so $d(Tx,Ty) \le d(x,y)$, for any $x \in A$ and $y \in B$.

In the case that dist(A,B) = 0, we can obtain the following theorem that generalize Kannan theorem [19] and Theorem 2 in [14].

Theorem 3.3. Let A and B be nonempty closed subsets of a complete metric space (X,d) such that $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$ and $T : A \cup B \rightarrow A \cup B$ be a weak \mathscr{MT} -cyclic Kannan contraction with respect to φ such that

$$d(Tx,Ty) \le \frac{1}{2}\varphi(d(x,y))[d(x,Tx) + d(y,Ty)] \text{ for any } x \in A \text{ and } y \in B.$$

$$(3.1)$$

Then T has a unique fixed point z in $A \cap B$.

Proof. Suppose that x is an arbitrary point in A. Then by (3.1), we have

$$d(T^{n}x,T^{n+1}x) \leq \frac{1}{2}\varphi(d(T^{n-1}x,T^{n}x))[d(T^{n-1}x,T^{n}x) + d(T^{n}x,T^{n+1}x)],$$

so,

$$d(T^{n}x, T^{n+1}x) \le \psi(d(T^{n-1}x, T^{n}x))d(T^{n-1}x, T^{n}x),$$
(3.2)

where $\psi := \frac{\varphi}{2-\omega}$; by Definition 2.1 ψ is a $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -function, so $\psi(t) < 1$ for any t > 0; therefore we have,

$$d(T^{n}x, T^{n+1}x) < d(T^{n-1}x, T^{n}x),$$

for any $n \in N$. Thus the sequence $\{d(T^n x, T^{n+1} x)\}$ is decreasing in $[0, \infty)$. Then

$$t_0 := \lim_{n \to \infty} d(T^n x, T^{n+1} x) = \inf_{n \to \infty} d(T^n x, T^{n+1} x) \ge 0.$$
(3.3)

Since ψ is a $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -function, there exist $r_{t_0} \in [0,1)$ and $\varepsilon_{t_0} > 0$ such that $\psi(s) \leq r_{t_0}$ for all $s \in [t_0, t_0 + \varepsilon_{t_0})$. By (3.3), there exists $\ell \in N$, such that

 $t_0 \le d(T^n x, T^{n+1} x) < t_0 + \varepsilon_{t_0}$

for all $n \in N$ with $n \ge \ell$. Hence $\psi(d(T^n x, T^{n+1} x)) \le r_{t_0}$ for all $n \ge \ell$. Let

$$\lambda := \max\{\psi(d(T^1x, T^2x)), \psi(d(T^2x, T^3x)), \cdots, \psi(d(T^{\ell-1}x, T^{\ell}x)), r_{t_0}\}.$$

Then

$$0 \le \psi(d(T^n x, T^{n+1} x)) \le \lambda < 1 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.4)

Now, by (3.2) and (3.4), we have $d(T^nx, T^{n+1}x) \leq \lambda d(T^{n-1}x, T^nx)$ and by induction, we conclude that $d(T^nx, T^{n+1}x) \leq \lambda^n d(x, Tx)$, for any $n \in N$. Now, if m > n,

$$d(T^n x, T^m x) \leq d(T^n x, T^{n+1} x) + \dots + d(T^{m-1} x, T^m x)$$

$$\leq \lambda^n d(x, T x) + \dots + \lambda^{m-1} d(x, T x)$$

$$\leq \frac{\lambda^n}{1-\lambda} d(x, T x),$$

Since $\lambda \in (0,1)$, $\lim_{n\to\infty} \lambda^n = 0$. Thus, $\{T^n x\}$ is a Cauchy sequence. Since A is closed, there exists $z \in A$ such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d(T^n x, z) = 0. \tag{3.5}$$

Now, we show that Tz = z. By (3.2), we have $d(Tz, T^{n+1}x) \le \psi(d(z, T^nx))d(z, T^nx)$, and so

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d(Tz, T^{n+1}x) = 0. \tag{3.6}$$

Hence, by (3.5), (3.6) and Lemma 2.3, d(Tz,z) = 0, or Tz = z. We prove z is unique. Let v be another point such that Tv = v. Then by (3.1),

$$d(v,z) = d(Tv,Tz) \le \frac{1}{2}\varphi(d(v,z))[d(Tv,v) + d(z,Tz)] = 0.$$

So, v = z.

For the main results of this paper we need the following lemma.

Lemma 3.4. Let A be a nonempty closed and convex subset and B be a nonempty closed subset of uniformly convex Banach space X and $T: A \cup B \rightarrow A \cup B$ cyclic map with respect to \mathcal{MT} -function φ satisfying

$$||Tx - T^{2}x|| \le \varphi(||x - Tx||)||x - Tx|| + (1 - \varphi(||x - Tx||))dist(A, B)$$
(3.7)

for all $x \in A \cup B$. Then

(i) $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^n x - T^{n+1} x|| = dist(A, B)$ for all $x \in A \cup B$.

(*ii*) $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^{2n}x - T^{2n\pm 2}x|| = 0$ for all $x \in A \cup B$.

(iii) z is a best proximity point if and only if z is a fixed point of T^2 .

Proof. First we prove (*i*). This proof follows similar patterns as Theorem 2.1 in [8]. We include the proof for completeness reasons. Let $x \in A \cup B$ be given. Clearly, $dist(A,B) \leq ||T^nx - T^{n+1}x||$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If there exists $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $T^jx = T^{j+1}x \in A \cap B$, then $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^nx - T^{n+1}x|| = 0$ and dist(A,B) = 0; therefore (*i*). So it suffices to consider the case $x_{n+1} \neq x_n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By Remark 3.2, it is easy to see that the sequence $\{||T^nx - T^{n+1}x||\}$ is nonincreasing in $(0,\infty)$ and so it is convergent. Set

$$\hat{t} := \lim_{n \to \infty} ||T^n x - T^{n+1} x||.$$
(3.8)

Since φ is a $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -function, there exist $r_{\hat{t}} \in [0,1)$ and $\varepsilon_{\hat{t}} > 0$ such that $\varphi(s) \leq r_{\hat{t}}$ for all $s \in [\hat{t}, \hat{t} + \varepsilon_{\hat{t}})$. By (3.8), there exists $\ell \in N$, such that

$$\widehat{t} \leq ||T^n x - T^{n+1} x|| < \widehat{t} + \varepsilon_{\widehat{t}}$$

for all $n \in N$ with $n \ge \ell$. Hence $\varphi(||T^n x - T^{n+1} x||) \le r_{\hat{t}}$ for all $n \ge \ell$. Let

$$\lambda := \max\{\varphi(||T^{1}x - T^{2}x||), \varphi(||T^{2}x - T^{3}x||), \cdots, \varphi(||T^{\ell-1}x - T^{\ell}x||), r_{\hat{t}}\}.$$

Then $0 \le \varphi(||T^n x - T^{n+1}x||) \le \lambda < 1$ for all $n \in N$. If $x \in A$, then, by (MTK1), we have $T^{2n-1}x \in A$ and $T^{2n}x \in B$ for all $n \in N$. Notice first that (MTK2) implies that

$$||Tx - T^{2}x|| \le \varphi(||x - Tx||)||x - Tx|| + (1 - \varphi(||x - Tx||))dist(A, B) \le \lambda ||x - Tx|| + dist(A, B)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} ||T^{3}x - T^{4}x|| &\leq \varphi(||T^{2}x - T^{3}x||)||T^{2}x - T^{3}x|| + (1 - \varphi(||T^{2}x - T^{3}x||))dist(A,B) \\ &\leq \varphi(||T^{2}x - T^{3}x||)[\lambda||x - Tx|| + dist(A,B)] + (1 - \varphi(||T^{2}x - T^{3}x||))dist(A,B) \\ &= \varphi(||T^{2}x - T^{3}x||)\lambda||x - Tx|| + dist(A,B) \\ &\leq \lambda^{2}||x - Tx|| + dist(A,B). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, by induction, one can obtain

$$dist(A,B) \le ||T^{n+1}x - T^{n+2}x|| \le \lambda^n ||x - Tx|| + dist(A,B) \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}$$

$$(3.9)$$

Since $\lambda \in (0,1)$, $\lim_{n\to\infty} \lambda^n = 0$. Using (3.8) and (3.9), we obtain $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^n x - T^{n+1}x|| = dist(A,B)$. So (*i*) is proved. To see (*ii*), let $x \in A \cup B$. By using (*i*), we have $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^{2n}x - T^{2n-1}x|| = dist(A,B)$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^{2n-2}x - T^{2n-1}x|| = dist(A,B)$. Lemma 2.3 concludes that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} ||T^{2n}x - T^{2n-2}x|| = 0,$$

for any $x \in A \cup B$. In the same way, from $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^{2n}x - T^{2n+1}x|| = dist(A, B)$, $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^{2n+2}x - T^{2n+1}x|| = dist(A, B)$ and Lemma 2.3 we can obtain

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} ||T^{2n}x - T^{2n+2}x|| = 0,$$

for any $x \in A \cup B$.

Now we prove (*iii*). Let z be a fixed point of T^2 but it is not a best proximity point of T, i.e. $dist(A,B) \le ||z - Tz||$. Then by (3.1) we have

$$\begin{aligned} ||z - Tz|| &= ||T^2 z - Tz|| \le \varphi(||z - Tz||) ||z - Tz|| + (1 - \varphi(||z - Tz||)) dist(A, B) \\ &< \varphi(||z - Tz||) ||z - Tz|| + (1 - \varphi(||z - Tz||)) ||z - Tz|| = ||z - Tz||, \end{aligned}$$

a contradiction.

Now, if z is a best proximity point of T i.e. ||z - Tz|| = dist(A, B) then from (3.1) we have $||T^2z - Tz|| = dist(A, B)$. So by Lemma 2.3, $T^2z = z$ which shows that (*iii*) is true.

The following lemma can be obtained immediately from Lemma 3.4.

Lemma 3.5. Let A be a nonempty closed and convex subset and B be a nonempty closed subset of uniformly convex Banach space X and $T: A \cup B \rightarrow A \cup B$ cyclic map. Suppose that there exists a nondecreasing (or nonincreasing) function $\tau : [0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, 1)$ such that

$$||Tx - T^2x|| \le \tau(||x - Tx||)||x - Tx|| + (1 - \tau(||x - Tx||))dist(A, B)$$
 for any $x \in A$ and $y \in B$.

Then (i) $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^nx - T^{n+1}x|| = dist(A,B)$ for all $x \in A \cup B$. (ii) $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^{2n}x - T^{2n\pm 2}x|| = 0$ for all $x \in A \cup B$. (iii) z is a best proximity point if and only if z is a fixed point of T^2 .

The following result is indeed proved in [8], but we give the proof for the sake of completeness.

Theorem 3.6. [8] Let A and B be nonempty subsets of a metric space X and $T : A \cup B \to A \cup B$ be a cyclic map. Let $x_1 \in A$ be given. Define an iterative sequence $\{x_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ by $x_{n+1} = Tx_n$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Suppose that

(i) $d(Tx,Ty) \le d(x,y)$ for any $x \in A$ and $y \in B$; (ii) $\{x_{2n-1}\}$ has a convergent subsequence in A; (iii) $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(x_n,x_{n+1}) = dist(A,B)$.

Then there exists $v \in A$ such that d(v, Tv) = dist(A, B).

Proof. Since *T* is a cyclic map and $x_1 \in A$, $x_{2n-1} \in A$ and $x_{2n} \in B$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By (ii), $\{x_{2n-1}\}$ has a convergent subsequence $\{x_{2n_k-1}\}$ and $x_{2n_k-1} \to v$ as $k \to \infty$ for some $v \in A$. Since

$$dist(A,B) \le d(v, x_{2n_k}) \le d(v, x_{2n_k-1}) + d(x_{2n_k-1}, x_{2n_k})$$
 for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

it follows from $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(v, x_{2n_k-1}) = 0$ and the condition (iii) that $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(v, x_{2n_k}) = dist(A, B)$. By (i), we have

$$dist(A,B) \leq d(Tv, x_{2n_k+1}) \leq d(v, x_{2n_k})$$
 for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

which implies d(v, Tv) = dist(A, B).

In the following theorem we prove a new existence theorem for weak \mathcal{MT} -cyclic Kannan contractions.

Theorem 3.7. Let (X,d) be a metric space, let A and B be nonempty subsets of X. Let $T : A \cup B \to A \cup B$ be a weak $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -cyclic Kannan contraction with respect to a $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -function φ . Let $x \in A$ such that the sequence $\{T^{2n}x\}$ has a convergent subsequence in A. Then there exists a unique point $z \in A$ such that d(z,Tz) = dist(A,B).

Proof. The existence of best proximity point z by using of Lemma 3.4 and Theorem 3.3 is concluded. We prove z is unique. Let v be another point such that d(v, Tv) = dist(A, B). Then by Lemma 3.4 we have $v = T^2v$. If d(v, Tz) > dist(A, B), then by (MTK2) we have

$$\begin{aligned} d(v,Tz) &= d(T^2v,Tz) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2}\varphi(d(Tv,Tz))[d(Tv,v)+d(z,Tz)]+(1-\varphi(d(Tv,Tz)))dist(A,B) \\ &< \varphi(d(Tv,Tz))dist(A,B)+(1-\varphi(d(Tv,Tz)))dist(A,B)=dist(A,B). \end{aligned}$$

So, d(v,Tz) = dist(A,B). On the other hand d(z,Tz) = dist(A,B). Hence by Lemma 2.3 we have d(z,v) = 0 or z = v.

For weak \mathcal{MT} -cyclic Kannan contractions, we establish the following convergence theorem, which is our main result in this paper.

Theorem 3.8. Let A and B be nonempty closed convex subsets of a uniformly convex Banach space. Let $T : A \cup B \rightarrow A \cup B$ be a weak \mathscr{MT} -cyclic Kannan contraction with respect to a \mathscr{MT} -function φ . Then

- (i) T has a unique best proximity point z in A.
- (ii) The sequence $\{T^{2n}x\}$ converges to z for any starting point $x \in A$.
- (iii) z is the unique fixed point of T^2 .
- (iv) Tz is a best proximity point of T in B.

Proof. We divide the proof of theorem into two cases:

case 1: dist(A,B) = 0.

For proof of this case see Theorem 3.6.

case 2: $dist(A,B) \neq 0$. Let x be an arbitrary point in A. Since T is a weak $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -cyclic Kannan contraction, by part (i) of Lemma 3.4, $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||T^{2n}x - T^{2n+1}x|| = dist(A,B)$.

Now, we claim that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $N_0 \in N$ such that for $m > n > N_0$,

$$||T^{2m}x - T^{2n+1}x|| < dist(A,B) + \varepsilon.$$

Hence by Lemma 2.3 and for given $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $N_1 \in N$ such that for $n > N_1$,

$$||T^{2m}x-T^{2n}x|| \leq \varepsilon$$

it follows that $\{T^{2n}x\}$ is a Cauchy sequence and so there exists $z \in A$ such that $T^{2n}x \to z$ as $n \to \infty$. Using Theorem 3.6, z is a unique best proximity point of T in A.

Lemma 3.4-(*iii*) concludes that z is a unique fixed point of T^2 , since z is unique.

Now, we prove the claim. Suppose not. Then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for any $k \in N$ there exists $m_k > n_k > k$ such that

$$||T^{2m_k}x - T^{2n_k+1}x|| \ge dist(A,B) + \varepsilon$$

We can assume that m_k is minimal index such that $||T^{2m}x - T^{2n+1}x|| \ge dist(A,B) + \varepsilon$ but $||T^hx - T^{2n_k+1}x|| < dist(A,B) + \varepsilon$, $h \in \{2n_{k+1}, \dots, 2m_k - 1\}$. We have

$$dist(A,B) + \varepsilon \le ||T^{2m_k}x - T^{2n_k+1}x|| \le ||T^{2m_k}x - T^{2m_k-2}x|| + ||T^{2m_k-2}x - T^{2n_k+1}x||.$$

Using part of (*ii*) in Lemma 3.4 concludes that $||T^{2m_k}x - T^{2m_k-2}x|| \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ this implies $\lim_k ||T^{2m_k}x - T^{2n_k+1}x|| = dist(A, B) + \varepsilon$. Now,

$$||T^{2m_k}x - T^{2n_k+1}x|| \le ||T^{2m_k}x - T^{2m_k+2}x|| + ||T^{2m_k+2}x - T^{2n_k+3}x|| + ||T^{2n_k+3}x - T^{2n_k+1}x|| = ||T^{2m_k+2}x - T^{2n_k+3}x||.$$

So, $dist(A,B) + \varepsilon \leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} ||T^{2m_k+2}x - T^{2n_k+3}x||$. But,

$$\begin{aligned} ||T^{2m_k+2}x - T^{2n_k+3}x|| &\leq \frac{1}{2}\varphi(||T^{2m_k+1}x - T^{2n_k+2}x||)[||T^{2m_k+1}x - T^{2m_k+2}x|| \\ &+ \frac{||T^{2n_k+2}x - T^{2n_k+3}x||](1 - \varphi(||T^{2m_k+1}x - T^{2n_k+2}x||))dist(A,B). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, by "lim sup" from the above inequality, as $(n \to \infty)$, we conclude that $dist(A,B) + \varepsilon \le dist(A,B)$ and so $\varepsilon \le 0$, a contradiction. Now we prove (*iv*). *z* is best proximity point of *T* and so ||z - Tz|| = dist(A,B). Since *T* is a weak $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -cyclic Kannan contraction, we have

$$||Tz - T^{2}z|| \leq \frac{1}{2}\varphi(||z - Tz||)[||z - Tz|| + ||Tz - T^{2}z||] + (1 - \varphi(||z - Tz||))dist(A, B),$$

and so

$$dist(A,B) \le ||Tz - T^{2}z|| \le \frac{\varphi(||z - Tz||)}{2 - \varphi(||z - Tz||)} ||z - Tz|| + \frac{2 - 2\varphi(||z - Tz||)}{2 - \varphi(||z - Tz||)} dist(A,B) = dist(A,B).$$

Therefore $||Tz - T^2z|| = dist(A, B)$, i.e. Tz is best proximity point of T in B. This complete the proof.

The following theorem can be obtain immediately from Lemma 3.5 and Theorem 3.7.

Theorem 3.9. Let A and B be nonempty closed convex subsets of a uniformly convex Banach space. Let $T : A \cup B \to A \cup B$ be a a cyclic map. Suppose that there exists a nondecreasing (or nonincreasing) function $\tau : [0, \infty) \to [0, 1)$ such that

$$||Tx - Ty|| \le \frac{1}{2}\tau(||x - y||)||x - y|| + (1 - \tau(||x - y||))dist(A, B) \text{ for any } x \in A \text{ and } y \in B$$

Then

(i) T has a unique best proximity point z in A.

- (ii) The sequence $\{T^{2n}x\}$ converges to z for any starting point $x \in A$.
- (iii) z is the unique fixed point of T^2 .
- (iv) Tz is a best proximity point of T in B.

Remark 3.10. In Theorems 3.6 and 3.8 if we define $\varphi(t) = c$, where $c \in [0,1)$ and for all $t \in [0,\infty)$, then φ is a $\mathscr{M}\mathscr{T}$ -function and so we can obtain Theorems P[12] as the special cases.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to express their hearty thanks to Professor Wei-Shih Du for their valuable suggestions and comments. This work has been financially supported by the Payame Noor University (PNU), I.R. of Iran under the first author grant (Hossein Lakzian).

References

- [1] W.A. Kirk, P.S. Srinivasan, P. Veeramani, Fixed points for mappings satisfying cyclical contractive conditions, Fixed Point Theory 4 (2003) 79-89.
- [2] A. Anthony Eldred, P. Veeramani, Existence and convergence of best proximity points, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 323 (2006) 1001-1006.
 [3] A. Anthony Eldred, J. Anuradha, P. Veeramani, On the equivalence of the Mizoguchi-Takahashi fixed point theorem to Nadler's theorem, Appl. Math.
- [3] A. Anthony Eldred, J. Anuradha, P. Veeramani, On the equivalence of the Mizoguchi-Takahashi fixed point theorem to Nadler's theorem, Appl. Math. Letters 22 (2009) 1539-1542.
- [4] M.A. Al-Thagafi, Naseer Shahzad, Convergence and existence results for best proximity points, Nonlinear Analysis 70 (2009) 3665-3671
- [5] T. Suzuki, M. Kikkawa, C. Vetro, The existence of the best proximity points in metric spaces with the property UC, Nonlinear Anal. 71 (2009) 2918-2926.
 [6] W.-S. Du, Some new results and generalizations in metric fixed point theory, Nonlinear Anal. 73 (2010) 1439-1446.
- [7] W.-S. Du, Coupled fixed point theorems for nonlinear contractions satisfied Mizoguchi-Takahashi's condition in quasi ordered metric spaces, Fixed Point Theory and Applications (2010), Article ID 876372, doi: 10.1155/2010/876372.
- [8] W.-S. Du, H. Lakzian, Nonlinear conditions and new inequalities for best proximity points, Journal of Inequalities and Applications, 2012 (2012), 206. https://doi.org/10.1186/1029-242x-2012-206.
- [9] S. Banach, Sur les opérations dans les ensembles abstraits et leur application aux équations intégrales, Fund. Math. 3 (1922) 133-181.
- [10] S. Karpagam, Sushama Agrawal, Best proximity point theorems for cyclic orbital Meir-Keeler contraction maps, Nonlinear Anal. Vol. 74, (4), pp. 1040-1046, 2011.
- S. Karpagam, S. Agarwal, Best proximity point theorems for p-cyclic Meir-Keeler contractions, Fixed Point Theory and Applications, 2009, 2009:197308.
 S. Karpagam, B. Zlatanov, Best proximity points of p-cyclic orbital Meir-Keeler contraction maps, Nonlinear Analysis: Modeling and Control, 21(6), 2009.
- 2016, 790-806. [13] C. Di Bari, T. Suzuki, C. Vetro, Best proximity points for cyclic Meir-Keeler contractions, Nonlinear Anal. 69 (2008) 3790-3794.
- [14] M. A. Petric, Best proximity point theorems for weak cyclic Kannan contractions, Filomat, Vol. 25, pp. 145-154, 2011.
- [15] R. Espinola, A new approach to relatively nonexpansive mappings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 136 (6) (2008) 1987-1995.
- [16] R. Espinola, A. Fernandez-Leon, On best proximity points in metric and Banach spaces, Canadian Journal of Mathematics (in press).
- [17] A. Amini-Harandi, A. P. Farajzadeh, D. O'Regan, and R. P. Agarwal, Coincidence point, best approximation and best proximity theorems for condensing set-valued maps in hyperconvex metric spaces, Fixed Point Theory and Applications, 2008, Article ID:543154, 8 pages.
 [18] A. Amini-Harandi, A. P. Farajzadeh, D. O'Regan, and R. P. Agarwal, Best proximity pairs for upper semicontinuous set-valued maps in hyperconvex
- [18] A. Amini-Harandi, A. P. Farajzadeh, D. O'Regan, and R. P. Agarwal, Best proximity pairs for upper semicontinuous set-valued maps in hyperconvex metric spaces, Fixed Point Theory and Applications, vol. 2008, Article ID 648985, 5 pages, 2008.
 [19] R. Kannan, Some results on fixed points-II, Amer. Math. Monthly, 76 (1969), 405-408.
- [10] Z. He, W.-S. Du, I.-J. Lin, The existence of fixed points for new nonlinear multivalued maps and their applications, Fixed Point Theory and Applications 2011, 2011:84, doi:10.1186/1687-1812-2011-84.
- [21] S. Sadiq Basha, N. Shahzad, R. Jeyaraj, Optimal approximate solutions of fixed point equations, Abstract and Applied Analysis, Volume 2011, Article ID 174560, 9 pages, doi:10.1155/2011/174560.
- [22] I.-J. Lin, H. Lakzian and Y. Chou, On Convergence Theorems for Nonlinear Mappings Satisfying *M T C* Conditions, Appl. Math. Sciences, Vol. 6, 2012, no. 67, 3329 3337.
- [23] I.-J. Lin, H. Lakzian and Y. Chou, On Best Proximity Point Theorems for New Cyclic Maps, Int. Math. Forum, Vol. 7, 2012, no. 37, 1839 1849.
 [24] C. Vetro, Best proximity points: convergence and existence theorems for p-cyclic mappings, Non-linear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications, 73(7), 2010, 2283-2291.
- (3)(1), 2010, 2205-2251.
 [25] N. V. Dung and S. Radenović, Remarks on theorems for cyclic quasi-contractions in uniformly convex Banach spaces, Krag. J. Math. Volume 40 (2) (2016). Pages 272-279.
- (2016), Pages 272-279.
 [26] A. Kostić, V. Rakočević, S. Radenović, Best proximity points involving simulation functions with w₀-distance, RACSAM /doi.org/10.1007/s13398-018-0512-1. (2018).



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Characterizations of slant and spherical helices due to pseudo-Sabban frame

Bülent Altunkaya^{a*} and Levent Kula^a

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Faculty of Education, University of Ahi Evran, Kırşehir, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: bulent.altunkaya@ahievran.edu.tr

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Geodesic curvature, Pseu- dosphere, Hyperbolic plane, Helix, Sab- ban frame, Minkowski space 2010 AMS: 51B20, 53A04	In this paper, we investigate that under which conditions of the geodesic curvature of unit speed curve γ that lies on S_1^2 or H^2 , the curve α which is obtained by using γ , is a spherical helix or slant helix in Minkowski 3-space.
Received: 3 April 2018	
Accepted: 19 April 2018	
Available online: 30 June 2018	

1. Introduction

There are several studies in literature examining methodology to use spherical curves to construct some specialized curves. For example, Izuyama and Takeuchi [7], defined a way to construct Bertrand curves from the spherical curve whose spherical evolute coincides with the spherical Darboux image of the Bertrand curve. In addition to this paper, Encheva and Georgiev [4] showed a way to construct all *Frenet* curves ($\kappa > 0$) by the following formula

$$\alpha(s) = b \int e^{\int k(s)ds} \gamma(s)ds + a$$

where *b* is a constant number, *a* is a constant vector, γ is a unit speed curve on S^2 with the *Sabban frame* and $k: I \to R$ is a function of class C^1 . Moreover, they showed that the spherical curve γ is a circle if and only if the corresponding *Frenet curves* are cylindrical helices. Previously, we have found some characterizations to construct spherical helices and slant helices in Euclidean space by using these methods [2].

This paper is organized in the following way. In section 2 basic concepts of Minkowski 3-space R_1^3 are given. In section 3, spherical helices in R_1^3 are discussed by indicating some examples. Similarly, in section 4, slant helices in R_1^3 are examined.

2. Basic Concepts

Let us consider the Minkowski 3-space R_1^3 with the Lorentzian inner product

$$\langle x, y \rangle = x_1 y_1 + x_2 y_2 - x_3 y_3$$

where $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ and $y = (y_1, y_2, y_3) \in R_1^3$. The pseudo-norm of a vector x is given by $||x|| = \sqrt{|\langle x, x \rangle|}$. In the space R_1^3 , the Lorentzian cross-product is defined as follows

$$x \wedge y = \begin{vmatrix} e_1 & e_2 & -e_3 \\ x_1 & x_2 & x_3 \\ y_1 & y_2 & y_3 \end{vmatrix} = (x_2y_3 - x_3y_2, \quad x_3y_1 - x_1y_3, \quad x_2y_1 - x_1y_2).$$

Email addresses: bulent.altunkaya@ahievran.edu.tr (B. Altunkaya) lkula@ahievran.edu.tr (L. Kula)

It's clearly seen that the cross-product has the following properties [3],

(i)
$$x \wedge y = -(y \wedge x)$$

(ii) $\langle x \wedge y, z \rangle = det(x, y, z)$
(iii) $x \wedge (y \wedge z) = \langle x, y \rangle z - \langle x, z \rangle y$
(iv) $\langle x \wedge y, x \wedge y \rangle = (\langle x, y \rangle)^2 - \langle x, x \rangle \langle y, y \rangle$
(y) $\langle x \wedge y, x \wedge y \rangle = 0$ $\langle x \wedge y, y \rangle = 0$

where $x, y, z \in R_1^3$.

A vector $x \in R_1^3$ is called spacelike if $\langle x, x \rangle > 0$ or x = 0, timelike if $\langle x, x \rangle < 0$, lightlike if $\langle x, x \rangle = 0$ and $x \neq 0$ [8]. In [8], the hyperbolic plane (resp. pseudosphere) center $q \in R_1^3$ and of radius r > 0 are defined by,

$$H^{2}(r;q) = \left\{ x = (x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}) \in R_{1}^{3} : \langle x - q, x - q \rangle = -r^{2}, x_{3} - q_{3} > 0 \right\},\$$

$$S_1^2(r;q) = \left\{ (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in R_1^3 : \langle x - q, x - q \rangle = r^2 \right\}.$$

When r = 1 and p is the origin, the hyperbolic plane is denoted by H^2 and the pseudosphere is denoted by S_1^2 .

In this paper, when a helix lies on $H^2(r;q)$ or $S_1^2(r;q)$, we call it spherical curve.

Given a regular curve $\alpha(t) : I \subset R \to R_1^3$. We say that α is spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike) at *t* if $\alpha'(t)$ is a spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike) vector. The curve α is called spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike) if it is for any $t \in I$ [8].

A non-lightlike curve $\alpha : I \subset R \longrightarrow E_1^3$ is said to be parametrized by the pseudo arclength parameter s, if $|\langle \alpha'(s), \alpha'(s) \rangle| = 1$. In this case, we call α is a unit speed curve.

For a unit speed non-lightlike curve α with a spacelike or timelike normal vector N(s), the Frenet formulae are given in [8]. It's easy to calculate the formulae for arbitrary speed non-lightlike curves as follows.

If α is a timelike curve,

$$\begin{bmatrix} T'\\N'\\B'\end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \kappa v & 0\\\kappa v & 0 & \tau v\\0 & -\tau v & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T\\N\\B\end{bmatrix}$$
(2.1)

If α is a spacelike curve with a spacelike normal vector N(t),

$$\begin{bmatrix} T' \\ N' \\ B' \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \kappa v & 0 \\ -\kappa v & 0 & \tau v \\ 0 & \tau v & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T \\ N \\ B \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.2)

If α is a spacelike curve with a timelike normal vector N(t),

$$\begin{bmatrix} T'\\N'\\B' \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \kappa v & 0\\\kappa v & 0 & \tau v\\0 & \tau v & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T\\N\\B \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.3)

where

$$\kappa = \frac{\|\alpha' \wedge \alpha''\|}{\|\alpha'\|^3}, \tau = \frac{\det\left(\alpha', \alpha'', \alpha'''\right)}{\|\alpha' \wedge \alpha''\|^2}, \nu = \sqrt{|\langle \alpha', \alpha' \rangle|}.$$
(2.4)

In the formulae above, we denote unit tangent vector with T(t), unit binormal vector with B(t), unit normal vector with N(t).

A regular timelike or spacelike curve α is a helix, if τ/κ is a constant function.

For a unit speed curve α in R_1^3 , slant helix characterization is given in [1]. Also, some characterizations of Lorentzian unit speed curves which lies on H^2 or S_1^2 were investigated in [9, 10, 11, 12]. With the help of these papers, we easily have the Lemmas for arbitrary speed curves below.

Lemma 2.1. Let α be a timelike curve in R_1^3 . Then, α is a slant helix if and only if either one of the next two functions

$$\frac{\kappa^2}{v\left(\tau^2 - \kappa^2\right)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)' \quad or \quad \frac{\kappa^2}{v\left(\kappa^2 - \tau^2\right)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)' \tag{2.5}$$

is constant everywhere $\tau^2 - \kappa^2$ does not vanish.

Lemma 2.2. Let α be a spacelike curve in R_1^3 with a spacelike normal vector. Then, α is a slant helix if and only if either one of the next two functions

$$\frac{\kappa^2}{\nu \left(\tau^2 - \kappa^2\right)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)' \quad or \quad \frac{\kappa^2}{\nu \left(\kappa^2 - \tau^2\right)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)' \tag{2.6}$$

is constant everywhere $\tau^2 - \kappa^2$ does not vanish.

Lemma 2.3. Let α be a spacelike curve in R_1^3 with a timelike normal vector. Then, α is a slant helix if and only if the function

$$\frac{\kappa^2}{\nu \left(\tau^2 + \kappa^2\right)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)' \tag{2.7}$$

is constant.

Lemma 2.4. Let α be a spacelike curve in R_1^3 with a spacelike normal vector. Image of α lies on the pseudosphere (resp. hyperbolic plane) of radius r and center q if and only if

$$\frac{1}{\kappa^2} - \left(\frac{1}{\nu\tau} \left(\frac{1}{\kappa}\right)'\right)^2 = \pm r^2 (resp.)$$
(2.8)

where $r > 0 \in R, \kappa \neq 0, \tau \neq 0$.

Lemma 2.5. Let α be a timelike curve in R_1^3 . Image of α lies on the pseudosphere of radius r and center q if and only if

$$\frac{1}{\kappa^2} + \left(\frac{1}{\nu\tau} \left(\frac{1}{\kappa}\right)'\right)^2 = r^2 \tag{2.9}$$

where $r > 0 \in R, \kappa \neq 0, \tau \neq 0$.

Lemma 2.6. Let α be a spacelike curve in R_1^3 with a timelike normal vector. Image of α lies on the hyperbolic plane of radius r and center q if and only if

$$\frac{-1}{\kappa^2} + \left(\frac{1}{\nu\tau} \left(\frac{1}{\kappa}\right)'\right)^2 = -r^2 \tag{2.10}$$

where $r > 0 \in R, \kappa \neq 0, \tau \neq 0$.

Let γ be a non-lightlike unit speed spherical curve with the arc-length parameter *s* and denote $\gamma' = t$ where $\gamma' = d\gamma/ds$. If we set a vector $p = \gamma \wedge t$, by definition we have an orthonormal frame $\{\gamma, t, p\}$. This frame is called the pseudo-Sabban frame of γ [5, 6]. Thus, we have the following Lemma .

Lemma 2.7. Let $\gamma(s)$ be a unit speed spherical curve in R_1^3 , then (*i*) If γ is a timelike curve on S_1^2 then,

$$\begin{array}{l}
\dot{\gamma} = t \\
\dot{z} = k_g p + \gamma \\
p' = k_g t
\end{array}$$
(2.11)

(ii) If γ is a spacelike curve on S_1^2 , then

$$\begin{array}{l}
\gamma = t \\
t' = -k_g p - \gamma \\
p' = -k_g t
\end{array}$$
(2.12)

(iii) If γ is a spacelike curve on H^2 , then

$$\begin{array}{l}
\dot{\gamma}' = t \\
\dot{t}' = k_g p + \gamma \\
p' = -k_g t
\end{array}$$
(2.13)

where $k_g = det(\gamma, t, t')$ the geodesic curvature of curve γ .

3. Spherical helices on $S_1^2(r; p)$ and $H^2(r; p)$

Let us take the curve

$$\alpha(s) = b \int e^{\int k(s)ds} \gamma(s)ds + a \tag{3.1}$$

at [4]. If we make the neccessary calculations, we have

$$\alpha'(s) = be^{\int k(s)ds} \gamma(s),$$

$$\alpha''(s) = be^{\int k(s)ds} \left(k(s)\gamma(s) + \gamma'(s)\right),$$

$$\alpha'''(s) = be^{\int k(s)ds} \left(\left(k^{2}(s) + k'(s)\right)\gamma(s) + 2k(s)\gamma'(s) + \gamma''(s)\right).$$
(3.2)

If we calculate κ , τ , and ν of the curve α by using the equations at (2.4) and (3.2), we find

$$\kappa(s) = \frac{1}{be^{j \cdot k(s)ds}},$$

$$\tau(s) = \frac{k_s(s)}{be^{j \cdot k(s)ds}},$$

$$v(s) = be^{j \cdot k(s)ds}.$$
(3.3)

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}'(s), \boldsymbol{\alpha}'(s) \rangle = b^2 e^{2\int k(s)ds} \langle \boldsymbol{\gamma}(s), \boldsymbol{\gamma}(s) \rangle,$$

$$T(s) = \boldsymbol{\gamma}(s),$$

$$T'(s) = t(s).$$

$$(3.4)$$

So, we can say if γ is a unit speed spacelike curve which lies on S_1^2 , then α is a spacelike curve with a spacelike normal vector N.

If γ is a unit speed spacelike curve which lies on H^2 , then α is a timelike curve with a spacelike normal vector N.

If γ is a unit speed timelike curve which lies on S_1^2 then α is a spacelike curve with a timelike normal vector N.

Now, we want to show, under which circumstances the curve α at equation (3.1) is a spherical helix on $S_1^2(r; p)$.

Theorem 3.1. If the curve γ is a unit speed spacelike curve with a constant geodesic curvature, which lies on S_1^2 , the curve α defined by (3.1) is a spherical helix which lies on the pseudosphere of the radius |bd| and of the center origin if and only if the function $k(s) = k_g \tanh[(k_g)(s-c)]$ where $b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. From (3.2), (3.3), and (3.4), we know the curve

$$\alpha(s) = b \int e^{\int k(s)ds} \gamma(s)ds + a$$

is a spacelike curve with a spacelike normal vector N(s). So we need to use (2.8). Let's take the derivate of (2.8) with respect to s. Then, we have

$$\left(\frac{1}{\nu}\left[\frac{1}{\nu\tau}\left(\frac{1}{\kappa}\right)'\right]' - \frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)(s) = 0$$

By putting (3.3) in this equation, we have

$$\left(\frac{1}{be^{\int kds}} \left[\frac{1}{k_g} \left(be^{\int kds}\right)'\right]' - k_g\right)(s) = 0$$
$$k'(s) + k^2(s) = k_g^2.$$

If we solve this differential equation, we have

$$k(s) = k_g tanh\left[\left(k_g\right)(s-c)\right]$$

Conversely, if we take $k(s) = k_g tanh [(k_g)(s-c)]$ in (14), then

$$\int k(s) \, ds = \int k_g tanh\left[\left(k_g\right)(s-c)\right] \, ds.$$

Let $u = k_g (s - c) = k_g s - k_g c$ then $k_g ds = du$, by using these equations

$$\int k(s) ds = \int \tanh u du$$
$$= \ln \cosh u + \ln d$$
$$= \ln \left[d \cosh \left(k_g \left(s - c \right) \right) \right]$$

we have

$$\alpha(s) = b \int e^{\int k(s)ds} \gamma(s)ds + a$$
$$= b \int e^{\ln[d\cosh(k_g(s-c))]} \gamma(s)ds + a$$
$$= b \int d\cosh(k_g(s-c)) \gamma(s)ds + a$$

where $c, d \in R$. Now, we must show that curve α is spherical. If we use (2.8) to do it, we have

$$r^{2} = \left(\left(\frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} - \left(\frac{1}{\nu \tau} \left(\frac{1}{\kappa} \right)' \right) \right)^{2} \right) (s)$$
$$= \left(b^{2} e^{2 \int k ds} \left(1 - \frac{k^{2}}{k_{g}^{2}} \right) \right) (s)$$
$$= b^{2} d^{2} \cosh^{2} \left(k_{g} \left(s - c \right) \right) \left(\frac{1}{\cosh^{2} \left(k_{g} \left(s - c \right) \right)} \right)$$
$$= b^{2} d^{2}.$$

Therefore, it can be said that the curve α lies on S_1^2 which has a radius |bd|.

Now, we can give another theorem.

Theorem 3.2. If the curve γ is a unit speed spacelike curve with a constant geodesic curvature, which lies on H^2 , the curve α defined by (3.1) is a spherical helix which lies on the pseudosphere of the radius |bd| and of the center origin if and only if the function $k(s) = k_g tan[(k_g)(s-c)]$ where $b, c, d \in R$.

Proof. By using (2.9) instead of (2.8) in Theorem 3.1, the proof is similar.

Theorem 3.3. If the curve γ is a unit speed timelike curve with a constant geodesic curvature, which lies on S_1^2 , the curve α defined by (3.1) is a spherical helix which lies on the hyperbolic plane of the radius |bd| and of the center origin if and only if the function $k(s) = k_g \tanh[(k_g)(s-c)]$ where $b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. By using (2.10) instead of (2.8) in Theorem 3.1, the proof is similar.

Example 3.4. Let's take $\gamma(s) = \left\{\sqrt{2}\cos\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right), \sqrt{2}\sin\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right), 1\right\}$, we know that γ is a spacelike curve on S_1^2 with the geodesic curvature $\sqrt{2}$. Then due to Theorem 3.1,

$$k(s) = k_g tanh\left[\left(k_g\right)(s-c)\right]$$

and

$$\alpha(s) = b \int d\cosh\left(k_g(s-c)\right)\gamma(s)ds + a$$

where $b, c, d \in R$. If we take b = 2, c = 0, d = 1; then, we have

$$\alpha_{1}(s) = 2\cosh\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right)\sin\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right) + 2\cos\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right)\sinh\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right)$$
$$\alpha_{2}(s) = -2\cos\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right)\cosh\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right) - 2\sin\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right)\sinh\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right)$$
$$\alpha_{3}(s) = 2\sqrt{2}\sinh\left(s/\sqrt{2}\right)$$

where α (*s*) = (α_1 (*s*), α_2 (*s*), α_3 (*s*)) *and a* = (0,0,0)

Example 3.5. Let's take $\gamma(s) = \{\cos(s), \sin(s), \sqrt{2}\}$, we know that γ is a spacelike curve on H^2 with the geodesic curvature $\sqrt{2}$. Then, due to Theorem 3.2,

$$k(s) = k_g tan\left[\left(k_g\right)(s-c)\right]$$

and

$$\alpha(s) = b \int d\cos\left(k_g(s-c)\right)\gamma(s)ds + a$$

where $b, c, d \in R$. If we take b = 2, c = 0, d = 1; then, we have

$$\alpha_{1}(s) = -2\cos\left(\sqrt{2}s\right)\sin(s) + 2\sqrt{2}\cos(s)\sin\left(\sqrt{2}s\right)$$
$$\alpha_{2}(s) = 2\cos(s)\cos\left(\sqrt{2}s\right) + 2\sqrt{2}\sin(s)\sin\left(\sqrt{2}s\right)$$
$$\alpha_{3}(s) = 2\sin\left(\sqrt{2}s\right)$$

where α (*s*) = (α_1 (*s*), α_2 (*s*), α_3 (*s*)) *and a* = (0,0,0)

Example 3.6. Let's take $\gamma(s) = \left\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\cosh\left(\sqrt{3}s\right), \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\sinh\left(\sqrt{3}s\right)\right\}$, we know that γ is a timelike curve on S_1^2 with the geodesic curvature $\sqrt{2}$. Then, due to Theorem 3.3,

$$k(s) = k_g tanh\left[\left(k_g\right)(s-c)\right]$$

and

$$\alpha(s) = b \int d\cosh\left(k_g(s-c)\right)\gamma(s)ds + a$$

where $b, c, d \in R$. If we take b = 2, c = 0, d = 1; then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_1(s) &= -2\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\cosh\left(\sqrt{3}s\right)\sinh\left(\sqrt{2}s\right) + 2\cosh\left(\sqrt{2}s\right)\sinh\left(\sqrt{3}s\right)\\ \alpha_2(s) &= \frac{2\sinh\left(\sqrt{2}s\right)}{\sqrt{3}}\\ \alpha_3(s) &= 2\cosh\left(\sqrt{2}s\right)\cosh\left(\sqrt{3}s\right) - 2\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\sinh\left(\sqrt{2}s\right)\sinh\left(\sqrt{3}s\right) \end{aligned}$$

where α (*s*) = (α_1 (*s*), α_2 (*s*), α_3 (*s*)) *and a* = (0,0,0)



Figure 3.1: Spherical Helices (Resp. Example 1,2, and 3)

4. Constructing slant helices from unit speed spherical curves

In this section, we want to give some characterizations about slant helices.

Theorem 4.1. Let $\gamma(s)$ be a unit speed spacelike curve on S_1^2 ; b,m,n be constant numbers; and a be a constant vector. The geodesic curvature of $\gamma(s)$ satisfies

$$k_g^2(s) = \frac{(ms+n)^2}{1+(ms+n)^2}$$

if and only if

$$\alpha(s) = b \int e^{\int k(s)ds} \gamma(s)ds + a$$

is a spacelike slant helix with a spacelike normal vector.

Proof. Let, for γ

$$k_g^2(s) = \frac{(ms+n)^2}{1+(ms+n)^2}.$$
(4.1)

From (3.2), (3.3), and (3.4), we know α is a spacelike curve with a spacelike normal vector *N*. So; from (2.6), the geodesic curvature of the spherical image of the principal normal indicatrix of α is as follows

$$\sigma(s) = \left(\frac{\kappa^2}{\nu \left(\kappa^2 - \tau^2\right)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)'\right)(s)$$
$$= \left(\frac{\frac{1}{\nu^2}}{\nu \left(\frac{1}{\nu^2} - \frac{k_g^2}{\nu^2}\right)^{3/2}} k_g'\right)(s).$$

So, we have

$$\sigma(s) = \frac{k_g'(s)}{\left(1 - k_g^2(s)\right)^{3/2}}$$
(4.2)

Now, let's take u(s) = ms + n, then we have (4.1)

$$k_g^2(s) = \frac{u^2(s)}{1 + u^2(s)}.$$
(4.3)

If we take the derivates of the both sides of (4.3) with respect to s, we have

$$2k_{g}(s)k_{g}'(s) = \left(\frac{2uu'(1+u^{2}) - (2uu')u^{2}}{(1+u^{2})^{2}}\right)(s)$$
$$k_{g}(s)k_{g}'(s) = \left(\frac{uu'}{(1+u^{2})^{2}}\right)(s)$$

$$k_{g}'(s) = \left(\left(\frac{uu'}{\left(1+u^2\right)^2} \right) \left(\varepsilon \sqrt{\frac{1+u^2}{u^2}} \right) \right)(s)$$

$$(4.4)$$

where $\varepsilon = \pm 1$. Putting (4.3) and (4.4) in (4.3), we have

$$\sigma(s) = \frac{k_g^{-}(s)}{\left(1 - k_g^{-2}(s)\right)^{3/2}}$$
$$= \left(\varepsilon \frac{\sqrt{1 + u^2}uu'}{|u| \left(1 + u^2\right)^2} \left(1 + u^2\right)^{3/2}\right)(s)$$
$$= \varepsilon \frac{ms + n}{|ms + n|}m$$
$$= \varepsilon m$$

which is constant.

Conversely, let $\alpha(s)$ be a spacelike slant helix, then the geodesic curvature of the spherical image of the principal normal indicatrix of α is a constant function. So, we can take

$$\sigma(s) = \left(\frac{\kappa^2}{\nu \left(\kappa^2 - \tau^2\right)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)'\right)(s) = m$$

where $m \in R$. Therefore, from (4.2)

$$m = \left(\frac{\kappa^2}{\nu \left(\kappa^2 - \tau^2\right)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)'\right)(s)$$
$$= \frac{k_g'(s)}{\left(1 - k_g^2(s)\right)^{3/2}}$$

If we solve this differential equation, we have

$$\frac{k_g(s)}{\sqrt{1-k_g^2(s)}} = ms + n$$

where $n \in R$. Then,

Theorem 4.2. Let $\gamma(s)$ be a unit speed spacelike curve on H^2 ; b,m,n be constant numbers; and a be a constant vector. The geodesic curvature of $\gamma(s)$ satisfies

 $k_g^2(s) = \frac{(ms+n)^2}{1+(ms+n)^2}$

$$k_g^2(s) = \frac{(ms+n)^2}{1+(ms+n)^2}$$

if and only if

$$\alpha(s) = b \int e^{\int k(s)ds} \gamma(s)ds + a$$

is a timelike slant helix with a spacelike normal vector.

Proof. By using (2.5) instead of (2.6) in Theorem 4.1, the proof is similar.

Theorem 4.3. Let $\gamma(s)$ be a unit speed timelike curve on S_1^2 ; b,m,n be constant numbers; and a be a constant vector. The geodesic curvature of $\gamma(s)$ satisfies

$$k_{g}^{2}(s) = \frac{(ms+n)^{2}}{1-(ms+n)^{2}}$$

if and only if

$$\alpha(s) = b \int e^{\int k(s)ds} \gamma(s)ds + a$$

is a spacelike slant helix with a timelike normal vector.

Proof. By using (2.7) instead of (2.6) in Theorem 4.1, the proof is similar.

References

- [1] Ali Ahmad, T. and Lopez, R., Slant helices in Minkowski space E_1^3 , J. Korean Math. Soc. 48, no. 1, 159–167. 2011.
- [2] Altunkaya, B. and Kula, L., Some characterizations of slant and spherical helices due to sabban frame, Mathematical Sciences and Applications E-Notes, Vol 3, No. 2, 64-73, 2015.
 Babaarslan, M. and Yaylı, Y. On spacelike constant slope surfaces and Bertrand curves in Minkowski 3-space, Annals of the Alexandru Ioan Cuza
- University -Mathematics, 2015. doi:10.1515/aicu-2015-0009.

- [4] Encheva, R. and Georgiev, G., Shapes of space curves, Journal for Geometry and Graphics, Vol 7, No. 2, 145-155, 2003.
 [5] Güner, G. and Ekmekci, N., On the spherical curves and Bertrand curves in Minkowski 3-space, J. Math. Comput. Sci., No. 4, 898-906, 2012.
 [6] Izuyama, S., Pei, D.H., Sano, T., and Torii, E., Evolutes of hyperbolic plane curves, Acta Mathematica Sinica, Vol.20, no.3, pp. 543-550, 2004.
 [7] Izumiya, S. and Takeuchi, N., New special curves and developable surfaces, Turk. J. Math. 28, 153-163, 2004.
 [8] Lenge D. Differential Georgiev and Complexity Michaevia Michaevia and Win 00, 2025 [2014].
- [8] Lopez, R., Differential Geometry of Curves and Surfaces in Lorentz-Minkowski space, arXiv:0810.3351v1 [math.DG], 2008.
- [9] Pekmen, Ü. and Paşalı, S., Some characterizations of Lorentzian spherical spacelike curves, Mathematica Moravica 3, 31-37, 1999.
- [10] Petrović-Torgašev, M. and Šućurović, E., Some characterizations of Lorentzian spherical spacelike curves with the timelike and the null principal normal, Math. Moravica, 4, 83-92, 2000.
- [11] Petrović-Torgašev, M. and Šućurović, E., Some characterizations of Lorentzian spherical timelike and null curves, Matematički Vesnik, 53, 21-27, 2001.
- [12] Petrović-Torgašev, M. and Šućurović, E., Some characterizations of the spacelike, the timelike and the on the pseudohyperbolic space H_0^2 in E_1^3 , Krugajevac J. Math., 22, 71-82, 2000.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Quantum metrics on noncommutative spaces

Maysam Maysami Sadr^{a*}

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Institute for Advanced Studies in Basic Sciences (IASBS), Zanjan, Iran ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: sadr@iasbs.ac.ir

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: C*-algebra, Enveloping von Neumann algebra, Quantum metric 2010 AMS: 46L52, 46L85, 81R60 Received: 3 March 2018 Accepted: 15 March 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018

We introduce two new algebraic formulations for the notion of 'quantum metric on noncommutative space'. For a compact noncommutative space associated to a unital C*-algebra, our quantum metrics are elements of the spatial tensor product of the C*-algebra with itself. We consider some basic properties of these new objects, and state some connections with the Rieffel theory of compact quantum metric spaces.

1. Introduction

There are at least two mathematically rigorous algebraic formulations for the notion of 'quantum (noncommutative) metric space' in the literature. The famous one is due to Rieffel, and the other has been recently introduced by G. Kuperberg and N. Weaver. Following some ideas from Connes [1, Chapter VI] in noncommutative Riemannian geometry [2], Rieffel has introduced the notions of 'compact quantum metric space' and 'quantum Hausdorff-Gromov distance' [6, 7, 8]. In his theory, a compact quantum metric space q is identified with the state space of a unital C*-algebra \mathscr{A} (or more generally, with the state space of an order unit space) together with a weak*-compatible metric which must be induced by a 'Lipschitz seminorm' on \mathscr{A} via Monge-Kantorovich's formula. Thus, in the Rieffel theory, the role of quantum metrics is played by Lipschitz seminorms. In Kuperberg-Weaver theory [4] the noncommutative space is distinguished by a von Neumann algebra $\mathscr{M} \subseteq \mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H})$ and the role of quantum metric is played by a specific one-parameter family $\{\mathscr{V}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ of weak closed operator systems in $\mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H})$ such that $\mathscr{V}_0 = \mathscr{M}'$. This construction also can be characterized by a specific "quantum distance function" between projections of the von Neumann algebra $\mathscr{M} \otimes \mathbf{L}(\ell^2)$.

The notion of 'quantum metric' recently has been considered by many authors. See [5, 9, 10, 11] and references therein. In this note, we introduce two new models for 'quantum metrics on noncommutative spaces'. Our formulations are natural translations of the concept of '(ordinary) metric' into noncommutative geometric language. In Section 2, we give our first model for quantum metrics based on 'atomic representation' of C*-algebras. We also consider some basic properties of this model. In Section 3, we show that there is no quantum metric of the first model on 'noncommutative two point space'. In Section 4, we consider a relation between our first model and the Rieffel's model of quantum metrics. In Section 5, we introduce our second model of quantum metrics.

2. The first new model of quantum metrics

For preliminaries on C* and von Neumann algebras we refer the reader to [3] or [12]. Let \mathscr{X} be a compact metrizable space. A function ρ is a compatible metric on \mathscr{X} if and only if $\rho \in \mathbb{C}(\mathscr{X}^2) = \mathbb{C}(\mathscr{X}) \bigotimes \mathbb{C}(\mathscr{X})$ and the following five conditions are satisfied for $x, y, z \in \mathscr{X}$.

(1) $\rho(x,y) \ge 0.$

(2) $\rho(x,x) = 0.$

(3) If $\rho(x, y) = 0$, then x = y.

(4) $\rho(x,y) = \rho(y,x).$

(5) $\rho(x,y) \leq \rho(x,z) + \rho(z,y).$

Let \mathscr{A} be a unital C*-algebra. Suppose that an element $\rho \in \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ deserves to be called a compatible metric on $\mathfrak{q} \mathscr{A}$. Then, ρ must satisfy the following analogues of (1),(4),(5).

(1') $\rho \in (\mathscr{A} \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A})^+$.

Email addresses: sadr@iasbs.ac.ir (M. M. Sadr)

- (4') $\mathfrak{F}(\rho) = \rho$, where $\mathfrak{F} : \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ denotes the flip.
- (5') $\mathfrak{M}(\rho) \leq \rho \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \rho$, where $\mathfrak{M} : \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ denotes the *-morphism that puts 1 in the mid position, i.e. $\mathfrak{M}(a \otimes b) := a \otimes 1 \otimes b \ (a, b \in \mathscr{A})$.

There are many ways to state the noncommutative analogues of (2) and (3). But, it seems that the most effective and applicable way is as follows. Let $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to \mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H})$ denote a representation for \mathscr{A} by bounded operators on a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} . We say that π is an *atomic* representation if there is a family $\{\pi_i : \mathscr{A} \to \mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H}_i)\}$ of pairwise inequivalent irreducible representations of \mathscr{A} such that $\pi = \oplus \pi_i$. (Note that our atomic representations are special cases of the atomic representations defined in [12].) Then, it follows from [3, Corollary 10.3.9] that the enveloping von Neumann algebra $\pi(\mathscr{A})''$ is equal to $\oplus_i \mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H}_i)$. Let $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to \mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H})$ be a faithful atomic representation of \mathscr{A} . We consider \mathscr{A} as a subalgebra of $\mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H})$ and write \mathscr{A}'' for $\pi(\mathscr{A})''$. The *characteristic function of the diagonal* (w.r.t. π) of $\mathfrak{A} \times \mathfrak{A} \mathscr{A}$ is denoted by P_{δ} and defined to be the supremum of the family of all projections of the form $p \otimes p$ in $\mathscr{A}'' \otimes \mathscr{A}'' = (\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A})'' \subseteq \mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{H})$ such that $p \in \mathscr{A}''$ is a minimal projection. (In the classical case that $\mathscr{A} = \mathbf{C}(\mathscr{X})$, if we choose π to be the *reduced atomic representation* then $\pi(\mathbf{C}(\mathscr{X}))''$ is isomorphic to $\ell^{\infty}(\mathscr{X})$ and P_{δ} is identified with the usual characteristic function of the diagonal of $\mathscr{X} \times \mathscr{X}$.) The analogues of (2) and (3) are as follows.

(2')
$$\rho P_{\delta} = P_{\delta} \rho = 0.$$

(3') Let \mathscr{H}_{δ} denote the image of the projection P_{δ} in $\mathscr{H} \bar{\otimes} \mathscr{H}$. Then, 0 is not an eigenvalue of the operator $\rho|_{\mathscr{H}_{\delta}^{\perp}} \in L(\mathscr{H}_{\delta}^{\perp})$.

Definition 2.1. Let \mathscr{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and let $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to \mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H})$ be a faithful atomic representation. A (compatible) quantum metric w.r.t. π on $\mathfrak{q}\mathscr{A}$ is an element $\rho \in \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ satisfying (1')-(5'). In this case, we call (\mathscr{A}, ρ, π) a compact quantum metric space.

Let (\mathscr{A}, ρ, π) be a compact quantum metric space. Comparing with the classical case, it is natural that we consider the value $\|\rho\|$ as the diameter of ρ . It is clear that if (\mathscr{X}, ρ) is an ordinary compact metric space then $(\mathbf{C}(\mathscr{X}), \rho, \pi)$ is a compact quantum metric space where π is an arbitrary atomic representation of $\mathbf{C}(\mathscr{X})$. (Indeed, it is easily checked that for any of such representation $\pi(\mathbf{C}(\mathscr{X}))''$ is isomorphic to $\ell^{\infty}(\mathscr{X}_0)$ where \mathscr{X}_0 is a dense subspace of \mathscr{X} .)

Similar to the case of ordinary metric spaces, we have the following three theorems.

Theorem 2.2. Let ρ_1 and ρ_2 be quantum metrics on $q\mathcal{A}$ w.r.t. the same representation π of \mathcal{A} . Then, for every positive real number r, $\rho_1 + r\rho_2$ is a quantum metric on $q\mathcal{A}$ w.r.t. π .

Proof. Straightforward.

Theorem 2.3. Let $(\mathscr{A}_1, \rho_1, \pi_1)$ and $(\mathscr{A}_2, \rho_2, \pi_2)$ be compact quantum metric spaces and let r be a real number not less than $2^{-1} \max(\|\rho_1\|, \|\rho_2\|)$. Then, $(\mathscr{A}_1 \oplus \mathscr{A}_2, \rho, \pi_1 \oplus \pi_2)$ is a compact quantum metric space where $\rho = \rho_1 + \rho_2 + r \mathbb{1}_{\mathscr{A}_1 \otimes \mathscr{A}_2} + r \mathbb{1}_{\mathscr{A}_2 \otimes \mathscr{A}_1}$.

Proof. The conditions (1') and (4') are trivial for ρ . (2') and (3') follows from the fact that any minimal projection in $(\pi_1 \oplus \pi_2)(\mathscr{A}_1 \oplus \mathscr{A}_2)'' = \pi_1(\mathscr{A}_1)'' \oplus \pi_2(\mathscr{A}_2)''$ is a minimal projection of $\pi_1(\mathscr{A}_1)''$ or of $\pi_2(\mathscr{A}_2)''$. Let $\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{M}_1, \mathfrak{M}_2$ denote the corresponding morphisms as in (5') respectively for $\mathscr{A}_1 \oplus \mathscr{A}_2, \mathscr{A}_1, \mathscr{A}_2$. With the notation $1_{ijk} := 1_{\mathscr{A}_i \otimes \mathscr{A}_k \otimes \mathscr{A}_k}$ we have,

$$\mathfrak{M}(\rho_1) \leq \mathfrak{M}_1(\rho_1) + 2r \mathfrak{l}_{121}, \quad \mathfrak{M}(\rho_2) \leq \mathfrak{M}_2(\rho_2) + 2r \mathfrak{l}_{212}.$$

It follows that,

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{M}(\rho) &= \mathfrak{M}(\rho_{1}) + \mathfrak{M}(\rho_{2}) + r\mathbf{1}_{112} + r\mathbf{1}_{122} + r\mathbf{1}_{211} + r\mathbf{1}_{221} \\ &\leq \mathfrak{M}_{1}(\rho_{1}) + \mathfrak{M}_{2}(\rho_{2}) + 2r\mathbf{1}_{121} + 2r\mathbf{1}_{212} + r\mathbf{1}_{112} + r\mathbf{1}_{122} + r\mathbf{1}_{211} + r\mathbf{1}_{221} \\ &\leq \rho_{1} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{1} + \mathbf{1}_{1} \otimes \rho_{1} + \rho_{2} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{2} + \mathbf{1}_{2} \otimes \rho_{2} + 2r\mathbf{1}_{121} + 2r\mathbf{1}_{212} + r\mathbf{1}_{112} + r\mathbf{1}_{122} + r\mathbf{1}_{211} + r\mathbf{1}_{221} \\ &\leq \rho_{1} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{1} + \rho_{1} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{2} + \rho_{2} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{1} + \rho_{2} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{2} + r\mathbf{1}_{121} + r\mathbf{1}_{122} + r\mathbf{1}_{211} + r\mathbf{1}_{212} \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{1} \otimes \rho_{1} + \mathbf{1}_{2} \otimes \rho_{1} + \mathbf{1}_{1} \otimes \rho_{2} + \mathbf{1}_{2} \otimes \rho_{2} + r\mathbf{1}_{112} + r\mathbf{1}_{212} + r\mathbf{1}_{121} + r\mathbf{1}_{221} \\ &= \rho \otimes \mathbf{1} + \mathbf{1} \otimes \rho. \end{split}$$

 \square

Theorem 2.4. Let $(\mathscr{A}_1, \rho_1, \pi_1)$ and $(\mathscr{A}_2, \rho_2, \pi_2)$ be compact quantum metric spaces. Then, $(\mathscr{A}_1 \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A}_2, \rho, \pi_1 \otimes \pi_2)$ is a compact quantum metric space where

$$\rho = (\rho_1 \otimes 1_{\mathscr{A}_1 \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A}_2} + 1_{\mathscr{A}_1 \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A}_1} \otimes \rho_2) \in (\mathscr{A}_1 \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A}_1) \check{\otimes} (\mathscr{A}_2 \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A}_2) \cong (\mathscr{A}_1 \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A}_2) \check{\otimes} (\mathscr{A}_1 \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A}_2).$$

Proof. Straightforward.

3. A non-example

In this section, we show that there is no quantum metric on the *two-point noncommutative space* $\mathbf{q}\mathbf{M}_2$. Let $\mathscr{A} = \mathbf{M}_2$ be the algebra of complex 2×2 matrices. Then, $\pi = \text{id}$ is an atomic representation of \mathscr{A} on $\mathscr{H} = \mathbb{C}^2$. Let $\{e_1, e_2\}$ (resp. $\{f_1, \dots, f_4\}$) denote the Euclidean basis of \mathbb{C}^2 (resp. \mathbb{C}^4). We identify $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ with \mathbb{C}^4 via $e_1 \otimes e_1 \mapsto f_1$, $e_2 \otimes e_2 \mapsto f_4$, $e_1 \otimes e_2 \mapsto f_2$, $e_2 \otimes e_1 \mapsto f_3$. Then, $\mathbf{M}_2 \otimes \mathbf{M}_2$ is identified with \mathbf{M}_4 via,

$$\sum_{i,j,k,\ell} \lambda_{ijk\ell} 1_{ij} \otimes 1_{k\ell} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{1111} & \lambda_{1112} & \lambda_{1211} & \lambda_{1212} \\ \lambda_{1121} & \lambda_{1122} & \lambda_{1221} & \lambda_{1222} \\ \lambda_{2111} & \lambda_{2112} & \lambda_{2211} & \lambda_{2212} \\ \lambda_{2121} & \lambda_{2122} & \lambda_{2221} & \lambda_{2222} \end{pmatrix}.$$

With these identifications, P_{δ} is the projection onto the linear subspace generated by $f_1, f_4, f_2 + f_3$, and hence,

$$P_{\delta} = \left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/2 & 1/2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/2 & 1/2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{array}\right)$$

Suppose that $\rho \in \mathbf{M}_4$ satisfies (1')-(4'). Then, ρ must be of the form,

$$\rho = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & -\lambda & 0 \\ 0 & -\lambda & \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

for some real number $\lambda > 0$. The 8 × 8 matrix $M = \rho \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \rho - \mathfrak{M}(\rho)$ is equal to,

For any vector $X = (x_1, \dots, x_8) \in \mathbb{R}^8$ we have,

$$\lambda^{-1} \langle MX, X \rangle = (x_3 - x_2 - x_5)^2 + (x_3^2 - x_2^2 - x_5^2) + (x_6 - x_4 - x_7)^2 + (x_6^2 - x_4^2 - x_7^2).$$

Thus *M* is not positive and hence ρ does not satisfy (5').

Although we just mentioned a negative result on the existence of quantum metrics but it seems that there must be a huge class of quantum metrics on qM_n for $n \ge 3$.

Question 3.1. Does there exist a quantum metric on qM_n for some $n \ge 3$?

4. Some relation between our first model and Rieffel's model of quantum metrics

In this section, we consider some relations between our first model of 'compact quantum metric space' and the model introduced by Rieffel [7]. Let (\mathscr{A}, ρ, π) be a compact quantum metric space. We are able to define a new seminorm on \mathscr{A} which generalizes the Lipschitz seminorm for continuous functions on an ordinary metric space. Let \mathscr{H} denote the Hilbert space of π and let \mathscr{H}_{δ} be as in (3'). Let ρ^{-1} denote the inverse of the operator $\rho|_{\mathscr{H}_{\delta}^{\perp}} \in \mathbf{L}(\mathscr{H}_{\delta}^{\perp})$. For any $a \in \mathscr{A}$, the Lipschitz seminorm $||a||_{Lip}$ are defined to be the (possibly infinite) value $||(a \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes a)\rho^{-1}||$, that is the operator norm of $(a \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes a)\rho^{-1}$ as an operator from the image of $\rho|_{\mathscr{H}_{\delta}^{\perp}}$ into $\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{H}$. For $a, b \in \mathscr{A}$ with ab = ba the Leibnitz rule is satisfied:

$$\begin{aligned} \|ab\|_{Lip} &= \|(ab\otimes 1 - 1\otimes ab)\rho^{-1}\| \\ &= \|(ab\otimes 1 - a\otimes b + a\otimes b - 1\otimes ab)\rho^{-1}\| \\ &= \|[(a\otimes 1)(b\otimes 1 - 1\otimes b) + (a\otimes 1 - 1\otimes a)(1\otimes b)]\rho^{-1}\| \\ &\leq \|(a\otimes 1)(b\otimes 1 - 1\otimes b)\rho^{-1}\| + \|(1\otimes b)(a\otimes 1 - 1\otimes a)\rho^{-1}\| \\ &\leq \|a\|\|b\|_{Lip} + \|a\|_{Lip}\|b\| \end{aligned}$$

Also, it is clear that for any normal element *a* we have $||a||_{Lip} = ||a^*||_{Lip}$. The seminorm $||\cdot||_{Lip}$ gives rise to a semimetric on the state space $S(\mathscr{A})$ of \mathscr{A} via Monge-Kantorovich formula:

$$d(\phi, \psi) := \sup_{a^* = a, \|a\|_{Lip} \le 1} |\langle \phi - \psi, a \rangle| \qquad (\phi, \psi \in S(\mathscr{A})).$$

We give an upper bound for $d(\phi, \psi)$ in the case that ϕ and ψ are some special pure states of \mathscr{A} : Let π be the direct sum of $\{\pi_i : \mathscr{A} \to L(\mathscr{H}_i)\}$. Suppose that $i \neq j$, and let v and w be two unit vectors respectively in \mathscr{H}_i and \mathscr{H}_j . Let ϕ and ψ be pure states on \mathscr{A} defined respectively by $a \mapsto \langle \pi_i(a)v, v \rangle$ and $a \mapsto \langle \pi_j(a)w, w \rangle$. Let a be a self-adjoint element of \mathscr{A} with $||a||_{Lip} \leq 1$. Since $v \otimes w \in \mathscr{H}_{\delta}^{\perp}$, we have $||a(v) \otimes w - v \otimes a(w)|| \leq ||\rho(v \otimes w)||$. Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \phi - \psi, a \rangle|^2 &= \langle a(v), v \rangle^2 + \langle a(w), w \rangle^2 - 2\langle a(v), v \rangle \langle a(w), w \rangle \\ &\leq \langle a(v), a(v) \rangle + \langle a(w), a(w) \rangle - 2\langle a(v), v \rangle \langle a(w), w \rangle \\ &= \langle a(v), a(v) \rangle \langle w, w \rangle + \langle a(w), a(w) \rangle \langle v, v \rangle - 2\langle a(v), v \rangle \langle a(w), w \rangle \\ &= \|a(v) \otimes w - v \otimes a(w)\|^2 \le \|\rho(v \otimes w)\|^2. \end{aligned}$$

This shows that $d(\phi, \psi) \leq \|\rho(v \otimes w)\|$.

5. The second new model of quantum metrics

As we saw above, the most problematic part of the definition of a quantum metric is the translation of conditions (2) and (3). We now translate these conditions in another way where there is no using of enveloping von Neumann algebras. Let \mathscr{A} be a unital *spatially continuous multiplication* C*-algebra, that means the multiplication of \mathscr{A} , $m : a \otimes b \mapsto ab$, is continuous w.r.t. spatial tensor norm (e.g. \mathscr{A} is abelian or finite dimensional). For $\rho \in \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ satisfying (1'), consider the following conditions.

 $(2'') m(\rho) = 0.$

(3") For every positive element $v \in \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ with m(v) = 1 and $\mathfrak{F}(v) = v$, the element $\rho + v$ is invertible in $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$.

In the case that $\mathscr{A} = \mathbb{C}(\mathscr{X})$, it is easily checked that these conditions coincide with (2),(3).

Definition 5.1. Let \mathscr{A} be a unital spatially continuous multiplication C^* -algebra. An element $\rho \in \mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ which satisfies (1'), (2''), (3''), (4'), (5') is called an algebraic (compatible) quantum metric on $\mathfrak{q}\mathscr{A}$. In this case, (\mathscr{A}, ρ) is called an algebraic compact quantum metric space.

Theorem 5.2. Let (\mathscr{A}_1, ρ_1) and (\mathscr{A}_2, ρ_2) be algebraic compact quantum metric spaces. Then, $(\mathscr{A}_1 \oplus \mathscr{A}_2, \rho)$ is an algebraic compact quantum metric space where ρ is as in Theorem 2.3.

Proof. We only show that ρ satisfies (3"). The other conditions are easily checked. Let $\mathscr{A} := \mathscr{A}_1 \oplus \mathscr{A}_2$. Let m, m_1, m_2 denote respectively the multiplications of $\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A}_1, \mathscr{A}_2$, and let $\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_1, \mathfrak{F}_2$ denote the corresponding flips as in (4'). We have $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A} = \bigoplus_{i,j=1,2} \mathscr{A}_i \otimes \mathscr{A}_j$. Let v be a positive element of $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ with m(v) = 1 and $\mathfrak{F}(v) = v$. Let $v_{ij} \in \mathscr{A}_i \otimes \mathscr{A}_j$ be such that $v = \sum v_{ij}$. Then, v_{ij} is positive and we have $m_i(v_{ii}) = 1_{\mathscr{A}_1}$ and $\mathfrak{F}_i(v_{ii}) = v_{ii}$. It follows that $\rho_i + v_{ii}$ is invertible in $\mathscr{A}_i \otimes \mathscr{A}_i$, and $r_{1}_{\mathscr{A}_i} \otimes 1_{\mathscr{A}_j} + v_{ij}$ is invertible in $\mathscr{A}_i \otimes \mathscr{A}_j$ for $i \neq j$. Thus, $\rho + v$ is invertible in $\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathscr{A}$.

Theorem 5.3. Let (\mathscr{A}_1, ρ_1) and (\mathscr{A}_2, ρ_2) be algebraic compact quantum metric spaces such that \mathscr{A}_1 is commutative. Then, $(\mathscr{A}_1 \check{\otimes} \mathscr{A}_2, \rho)$ is an algebraic compact quantum metric space where ρ is as in Theorem 2.4.

Proof. We only show that ρ satisfies (3"). The other conditions are easily checked. Let m, m_2 denote respectively the multiplications of $\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{A}_2$, and let $\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_2$ denote the corresponding flips as in (4'). Let \mathscr{X} denote the Gelfand spectrum of \mathscr{A}_1 . Thus, $\mathscr{A}_1 \cong \mathbb{C}(\mathscr{X})$ and $\mathscr{A}_1 \bigotimes \mathscr{A}_2 \cong \mathbb{C}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{A}_2)$, the algebra of \mathscr{A}_2 valued continuous functions on \mathscr{X} . Let $v \in \mathbb{C}(\mathscr{X} \times \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{A}_2 \bigotimes \mathscr{A}_2)$ be a positive element with m(v) = 1 and $\mathfrak{F}(v) = v$. Then, for every $x, y \in \mathscr{X}, v(x, y)$ is positive, $m_2(v(x, y)) = 1_{\mathscr{A}_2}$, and $\mathfrak{F}_2(v(x, y)) = v(x, y)$. Thus, $\rho_2 + v(x, y)$ is invertible in $\mathscr{A}_2 \bigotimes \mathscr{A}_2$. It follows that $1_{\mathscr{A}_1 \bigotimes \mathscr{A}_1} \otimes \rho_2 + v$ (which is equal to the function $(x, y) \mapsto \rho_2 + v(x, y)$) is invertible. \square

The main gap in our work is the lack of a nonclassical example:

Problem 5.4. Give an example of a nonclassical (algebraic) quantum metric.

References

- [1] A. Connes, Noncommutative geometry, Academic Press, 1994.
- [2] A. Connes, On the spectral characterization of manifolds, J. Noncommutative Geometry 7 (1) (2013): 1–82.
- [3] R.V. Kadison, J.R. Ringrose, Fundamentals of the theory of operator algebras: Advanced theory, Vol. 2, American Mathematical Soc., 1997.
- [4] G. Kuperberg, N. Weaver, A von Neumann algebra approach to quantum metrics/quantum relations, Vol. 215, no. 1010. American Mathematical Society, 2012.
- [5] P. Martinetti, From Monge to Higgs: a survey of distance computations in noncommutative geometry, Noncommutative Geometry and Optimal Transport 676, 2016.
- [6] M.A. Rieffel, Metrics on state spaces, Doc. Math. 4 (1999): 559-600.
- [7] M.A. Rieffel, Group C*-algebras as compact quantum metric spaces, Doc. Math. 7 (2002): 605–651.
- [8] M.A. Rieffel, *Gromov-Hausdorff distance for quantum metric spaces/Matrix algebras converge to the sphere for quantum Gromov-Hausdorff distance*, Vol. 168, no. 796. American Mathematical Soc., 2004.
- [9] M.M. Sadr, Metric operator fields. (arXiv:1705.03378 [math.OA])
- [10] M.M. Sadr, Vietoris topology on hyperspaces associated to a noncommutative compact space, Mathematica, 60 (83) (1) (2018): 72–82.
- [11] M.M. Sadr, Quantum metric spaces of quantum maps, Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications, 1 (1) (2018): 54-60.
- [12] M. Takesaki, *Theory of operator algebras I*, Reprint of the first (1979) edition, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 124, Operator Algebras and Noncommutative Geometry, 5. (2002).



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Some new Pascal sequence spaces

Harun Polat^{a*}

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Muş Alparslan University, Muş, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: h.polat@alparslan.edu.tr

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: α-, β- and γ-duals and basis of sequence, Matrix mappings, Pascal sequence spaces 2010 AMS: 46A35, 46A45, 46B45 Received: 27 March 2018 Accepted: 25 June 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018	The main purpose of the present paper is to study of some new Pascal sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 . New Pascal sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 are found as <i>BK</i> -spaces and it is proved that the spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 are linearly isomorphic to the spaces l_{∞} , c and c_0 respectively. Afterward, α -, β - and γ -duals of these spaces p_c and p_0 are computed and their bases are constructed. Finally, matrix the classes $(p_c : l_p)$ and $(p_c : c)$ have been characterized.

1. Preliminaries, background and notation

By w, we shall denote the space all real or complex valued sequences. Any vector subspace of w is called a sequence space. We shall write l_{∞} , c, and c_0 for the spaces of all bounded, convergent and null sequence are given by $l_{\infty} = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \sup_{k \to \infty} |x_k| < \infty \right\}$,

 $c = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{k \to \infty} x_k \text{ exists} \right\}$ and $c_0 = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{k \to \infty} x_k = 0 \right\}$. Also by *bs*, *cs*, l_1 and l_p we denote the spaces of all bounded, convergent, absolutely convergent and *p*-absolutely convergent series, respectively.

A sequence space λ with a linear topology is called an *K*-space provided each of the maps $p_i : \lambda \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by $p_i(x) = x_i$ is continuous for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$; where \mathbb{C} denotes the set of complex field and $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$. An *K*-space λ is called an *FK*-space provided λ is a complete linear metric space. An *FK*-space provided whose topology is normable is called a *BK*- space [1].

Let *X*, *Y* be any two sequence spaces and $A = (a_{nk})$ be an infinite matrix of real numbers a_{nk} , where $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, we write $Ax = ((Ax)_n)$, the *A*-transform of *x*, if $A_n(x) = \sum_k a_{nk}x_k$ converges for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If $x \in X$ implies that $Ax \in Y$, then we say that *A* defines a matrix transformation from *X* into *Y* and denote it by $A : X \to Y$. By (X : Y) we denote the class of all infinite matrices *A* such that $A : X \to Y$. For simplicity in notation, here and in what follows, the summation without limits runs from 0 to ∞ .

Let *F* denote the collection of all finite subsets on \mathbb{N} and *K*, $\mathbb{N} \subset F$. The matrix domain *X*_A of an infinite matrix *A* in a sequence space *X* is defined by

$$X_{A} = \{x = (x_{k}) \in w : Ax \in X\}$$
(1.1)

which is a sequence space.

The approach constructing a new sequence space by means of the matrix domain of a particular limitation method was used by authors [2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8]. They introduced the sequence spaces $(c_0)_{T^r} = t_0^r$ and $(c)_{T^r} = t_c^r$ in [2], $(c_0)_{E^r} = e_0^r$ and $(c)_{E^r} = e_c^r$ in [3], $(c_0)_C = \overline{c_0}$ and $c_C = \overline{c}$ in [4], $(l_p)_{E^r} = e_p^r$ in [5], $(l_\infty)_{R^l} = r_\infty^t$, $c_{R^l} = r_c^t$ and $(c_0)_{R^l} = r_0^r$ in [6], $(l_p)_C = X_p$ in [7] and $(l_p)_{N_q}$ in [8] where T^r , E^r , C, R^t and N_q denote the Taylor, Euler, Cesaro, Riesz and Nörlund means, respectively.

Following [2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8], this way, the purpose of this paper is to introduce the new Pascal sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 and derive some results related to those sequence spaces. Furthermore, we have constructed the basis and computed the α -, β - and γ -duals of the spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 . Finally, we have characterized the matrix mappings from the space p_c to l_p and from the space p_c to c.

2. The Pascal matrix of inverse formula and Pascal sequence spaces

Let P denote the Pascal means defined by the Pascal matrix [9] as is defined by

$$P = [p_{nk}] = \begin{cases} \binom{n}{n-k}, (0 \le k \le n) \\ 0, (k > n) \end{cases}, (n, k \in \mathbb{N})$$

and the inverse of Pascal's matrix $P_n = [p_{nk}]$ [10] is given by

$$P^{-1} = [p_{nk}]^{-1} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{n-k} \binom{n}{n-k}, \ (0 \le k \le n) \\ 0, \ (k > n) \end{cases}, (n, k \in \mathbb{N}).$$

$$(2.1)$$

There is some interesting properties of Pascal matrix. For example; we can form three types of matrices: symmetric, lower triangular, and upper triangular, for any integer n > 0. The symmetric Pascal matrix of order n is defined by

$$S_n = (s_i j) = {\binom{i+j-2}{j-1}}i, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(2.2)

We can define the lower triangular Pascal matrix of order *n* by

$$L_n = (l_{ij}) = \begin{cases} \binom{i-1}{j-1}, (0 \le j \le i) \\ 0, \quad (j > i) \end{cases},$$
(2.3)

and the upper triangular Pascal matrix of order n is defined by

$$U_n = (u_{ij}) = \begin{cases} \binom{j-1}{i-1}, (0 \le i \le j) \\ 0, \quad (j > i) \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

We notice that $U_n = (L_n)^T$, for any positive integer *n*.

i. Let S_n be the symmetric Pascal matrix of order *n* defined by (2.1), L_n be the lower triangular Pascal matrix of order *n* defined by (2.3), and U_n be the upper triangular Pascal matrix of order *n* defined by (2.4), then $S_n = L_n U_n$ and $det(S_n) = 1$ [11].

ii. Let *A* and *B* be $n \times n$ matrices. We say that *A* is similar to *B* if there is an invertible $n \times n$ matrix *P* such that $P^{-1}AP = B$ [12].

iii. Let S_n be the symmetric Pascal matrix of order *n* defined by (2.2), then S_n is similar to its inverse S_n^{-1} [11].

iv. Let L_n be the lower triangular Pascal matrix of order *n* defined by (2.3), then $L_n^{-1} = ((-1)^{i-j}l_{ij})$ [13].

We wish to introduce the Pascal sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 , as the set of all sequences such that *P*-transforms of them are in the spaces l_{∞} , *c* and c_0 , respectively, that is

$$p_{\infty} = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{n-k} x_k \right| < \infty \right\},$$
$$p_c = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{n-k} x_k \text{ exists} \right\}$$

and

$$p_0 = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{n-k} x_k = 0 \right\}.$$

With the notation of (1.1), we may redefine the spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 as follows:

$$p_{\infty} = (l_{\infty})_P, p_c = (c)_P \text{ and } p_0 = (c_0)_P.$$
 (2.5)

If λ is an normed or paranormed sequence space, then matrix domain λ_P is called an Pascal sequence space. We define the sequence $y = (y_n)$ which will be frequently used, as the *P*-transform of a sequence $x = (x_n)$ i.e.,

$$y_n = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{n-k} x_k, \quad (n \in N).$$
 (2.6)

It can be shown easily that p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 are linear and normed spaces by the following norm:

$$\|x\|_{p_0} = \|x\|_{p_c} = \|x\|_{p_{\infty}} = \|Px\|_{l_{\infty}}.$$
(2.7)

Theorem 2.1. The sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 endowed with the norm (2.7) are Banach spaces.

Proof. Let sequence $\{x^t\} = \{x_0^{(t)}, x_1^{(t)}, x_2^{(t)}, ...\}$ at p_{∞} a Cauchy sequence for every fixed $t \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, there exists an $n_0 = n_0(\varepsilon)$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $||x^t - x^r||_{\infty} < \varepsilon$ for all $t, r > n_0$. Hence, $|P(x^t - x^r)| < \varepsilon$ for all $t, r > n_0$ and for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $\{Px_k^t\} = \{(Px^0)_k, (Px^1)_k, (Px^2)_k, ...\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the set of complex numbers \mathbb{C} . Since \mathbb{C} is complete, it is convergent say $\lim_{t \to \infty} (Px^t)_k = (Px)_k$ and $\lim_{m \to \infty} (Px^m)_k = (Px)_k$ for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence, we have

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \left| Px_k^t - x_k^m \right| = \left| P\left(x_k^t - x_k \right) - P\left(x_k^m - x_k \right) \right| \le \varepsilon \text{ for all } n \ge n_0$$

This implies that $||x^t - x^m|| \to \infty$ for $t, m \to \infty$. Now, we should that $x \in p_{\infty}$. We have

$$\|x\|_{\infty} = \|Px\|_{\infty} = \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{n-k} x_{k} \right| = \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{n-k} (x_{k} - x_{k}^{t} + x_{k}^{t} \right|$$
$$\leq \sup_{n} |P(x_{k}^{t} - x_{k})| + \sup_{n} |Px_{k}^{t}|$$
$$\leq \|x^{t} - x\|_{\infty} + |Px_{k}^{t}| < \infty$$

for $t, k \in \mathbb{N}$. This implies that $x = (x_k) \in p_{\infty}$. Thus, p_{∞} the space is a Banach space with the norm (2.7). It can be shown that p_0 and p_c are closed subspaces of p_{∞} which leads us to the consequence that the spaces p_0 and p_c are also the Banach spaces with the norm (2.7). Furthermore, since p_{∞} is a Banach space with continuous coordinates, i.e., $\|P(x_k^t - x)\|_{\infty} \to \infty$ imples $|P(x_k^t - x_k)| \to \infty$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, it is also a *BK*-space.

Theorem 2.2. The sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 are linearly isomorphic to the spaces l_{∞} , c and c_0 respectively, i.e $p_{\infty} \cong l_{\infty}$, $p_c \cong c$ and $p_0 \cong c_0.$

Proof. To prove the fact $p_0 \approx c_0$, we should show the existence of a linear bijection between the spaces p_0 and c_0 . Consider the transformation T defined, with the notation (2.6), from p_0 to c_0 . The linearity of T is clear. Further, it is trivial that x = 0 whenever Tx = 0 and hence T is injective.

Let $y \in c_0$. We define the sequence $x = (x_k)$ as follows:

$$x_k = \sum_{i=0}^k (-1)^{k-i} \binom{k}{k-i} y_i$$

Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (Px)_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{n-k} \sum_{i=0}^k (-1)^{k-i} \binom{k}{k-i} y_i = \lim_{n \to \infty} y_n = 0.$$

Thus, we have that $x \in p_0$. In addition, note that

$$\|x\|_{p_0} = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left| \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{n-k} \sum_{i=0}^k (-1)^{k-i} \binom{k}{k-i} y_i \right| = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} |y_n| = \|y\|_{c_0} < \infty.$$

Consequently, T is surjective and is norm preserving. Hence, T is a linear bijection which therefore says us that the spaces p_0 to c_0 are linearly isomorphic. In the same way, it can be shown that p_c and p_{∞} are linearly isomorphic to c and l_{∞} , respectively, and so we omit the detail. \square

Before giving the basis of of the sequence spaces p_c and p_0 , we define the Schauder basis. A sequence $(b_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in a normed sequence space λ is called a Schauder basis (or briefly basis) [14], if for every $x \in \lambda$ there is a unique sequence (α_n) of scalars such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|x - (\alpha_0 x_0 + \alpha_1 x_1 + \dots + \alpha_n x_n)\| = 0.$$

In the following theorem, we shall give the Schauder basis for the spaces p_c and p_0 .

Theorem 2.3. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ a fixed natural number and $b^{(k)} = \left\{ b_n^{(k)} \right\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ where

$$b_n^{(k)} = \begin{cases} 0, & (0 \le n < k) \\ (-1)^{n-k} \binom{n}{n-k}, & (n \ge k \end{cases}$$

Then the following assertions are true:

i. The sequence $\{b_n^{(k)}\}\$ is a basis for the space p_0 and every $x \in p_0$ has a unique representation of the from $x = \sum_k \lambda_k b^{(k)}$ where $\lambda_k = (Px)_k$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

 $\sum_{k} (\lambda_k - l) b^{(k)}$, where $l = \lim_{k \to \infty} (Px)_k$ and $\lambda_k = (Px)_k$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

3. The α -, β - and γ - duals of the spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0

In this section, we state and prove the theorems determining the α -, β - and γ -duals of the sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 . For the sequence spaces X and Y define the set S(X,Y) by

$$S(X,Y) = \{z = (z_k) \in w : xz = (x_k z_k) \in Y \text{ for all } x \in X\}.$$

ŀ

The α -, β - and γ -duals of the sequence spaces λ , which are respectively denoted by λ^{α} , λ^{β} and λ^{γ} are defined by Garling [15], by $\lambda^{\alpha} = S(\lambda, l_1)$, $\lambda^{\beta} = S(\lambda, cs)$ and $\lambda^{\gamma} = S(\lambda, bs)$. We shall begin with the Lemmas due to Stieglitz and Tietz [16], which are needed in the proof of the Theorems 3.4-3.6.

Lemma 3.1. $A \in (c_0 : l_1) = (c : l_1)$ *if and only if*

$$\sup_{K \in F} \sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k \in K} a_{nk} \right| < \infty.$$
(3.1)

Lemma 3.2. $A \in (c_0 : c)$ if and only if

$$\sup_{n} \sum_{k} |a_{nk}| < \infty, \tag{3.2}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} a_{nk} = \alpha_k, \ (k \in \mathbb{N}). \tag{3.3}$$

Lemma 3.3. $A \in (c_0 : l_\infty)$ if and only if (3.2) holds.

Theorem 3.4. The α - dual of the sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 is the set

$$D = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sup_{K \in F} \sum_n \left| \sum_{k \in K} (-1)^{n-k} \binom{n}{n-k} a_n \right| < \infty \right\}.$$

Proof. Let $a = (a_n) \in w$ and consider the matrix *B* whose rows are the products of the rows of the matrix P^{-1} and sequence $a = (a_n)$. Bearing in mind the relation (2.3), we immediately derive that

$$a_n x_n = \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^{n-k} \binom{n}{n-k} a_n y_k = \sum_{k=0}^n b_{nk} y_k = (By)_n, \ (n \in \mathbb{N}).$$
(3.4)

Therefore by (3.4) we observe that that $ax = (a_n x_n) \in l_1$ whenever $x \in p_{\infty}$, p_c and p_0 if and only if $By \in l_1$ whenever $y \in l_{\infty}$, c, and c_0 . Then, we derive by Lemma 3.1 that

$$\sup_{K\in F} \sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k\in K} (-1)^{n-k} \binom{n}{n-k} a_n \right| < \infty$$

which yields the consequences that $\{p_{\infty}\}^{\alpha} = \{p_{c}\}^{\alpha} = \{p_{0}\}^{\alpha} = D.$

Theorem 3.5. Consider the sets D_1 , D_2 and D_3 defined as follows:

$$D_1 = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{k=0}^n \left| \sum_{i=k}^n (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i \right| < \infty \right\},$$
$$D_2 = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sum_{i=k}^\infty (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i \text{ exists for each } k \in \mathbb{N} \right\},$$

and

$$D_3 = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \sum_{i=k}^n (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i \text{ exists} \right\}.$$

Then $\{p_0\}^{\beta} = D_1 \cap D_2$, $\{p_c\}^{\beta} = D_1 \cap D_2 \cap D_3$ and $\{p_{\infty}\}^{\beta} = D_2 \cap D_3$.

Proof. We give the proof only for the space p_0 . Since the proof may be given by a similar way for the spaces p_c and p_{∞} , we omit it. Consider the equation

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k x_k = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[\sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} y_i \right] a_k = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[\sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i \right] y_k = (Dy)_n,$$
(3.5)

where

$$D = (d_{nk}) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} {i \choose i-k} a_i, \ (0 \le k \le n) \\ 0, \ (k > n) \end{cases}, \ (n, k \in \mathbb{N}).$$
(3.6)

Thus, we deduce from Lemma 3.2 with (3.5) that $ax = (a_k x_k) \in cs$ whenever $x = (x_k) \in p_0$ if and only if $Dy \in c$ whenever $y = (y_k) \in c_0$. Therefore, using relations (3.2) and (3.3), we conclude that $\lim_{n\to\infty} d_{nk}$ exists fo each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{k=0}^{n}\left|\sum_{i=k}^{n}(-1)^{i-k}\binom{i}{i-k}a_{i}\right|<\infty$$

which shows that $\{p_0\}^{\beta} = D_1 \cap D_2$.

Theorem 3.6. The γ - dual of the sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 are D_1 .

Proof. We give the proof only for the space p_0 . Consider the equality

$$\begin{vmatrix} \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k x_k \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k \left[\sum_{i=0}^{k} (-1)^{k-i} \binom{k}{k-i} y_i \right] \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{vmatrix} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[\sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i \right] y_k \end{vmatrix}$$
$$\leq \sum_{k=0}^{n} \begin{vmatrix} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i \end{vmatrix} |y_k|.$$

Taking supremum over $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we get

$$\begin{split} \sup_{n \in N} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k x_k \right| &\leq \sup_{n \in N} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} \left| \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i \right| |y_k| \right) \\ &\leq \||y\|_{c_0} \sup_{n} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} \left| \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i \right| \right) \leq \infty. \end{split}$$

This means that $a = (a_k) \in \{p_0\}^{\gamma}$. Hence,

$$D_1 \subset \{p_0\}^{\gamma}. \tag{3.7}$$

Conversely, let $a = (a_k) \in \{p_0\}^{\gamma}$ and $x \in p_0$. Then one can easily see that

$$\left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[\sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_i\right] y_k\right) \in l_{\infty}$$

whenever $ax = (a_k x_k) \in bs$. This implies that the matrix D given at the (3.6) is in the class $(c_0 : l_\infty)$. Hence, the condition

$$\sup_{n} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} \left| \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{i} \right| \right) < \infty$$

is satisfied, which implies that $a = (a_k) \in D_1$. In other words,

$$\{p_0\}^{\gamma} \subset D_1. \tag{3.8}$$

Therefore, by combining inclusions (3.7) and (3.8), we establish that the γ -dual of the sequence spaces p_0 is D_1 , which completes the proof.

4. Some matrix mappings related to Pascal sequence spaces

Lemma 4.1. [16, p. 57] The matrix mappings between BK-spaces are continuous. **Lemma 4.2.** [16, p. 128] $A \in (c : l_p)$ if and only if

$$\sup_{K \in F} \sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k \in K} a_{nk} \right|^{p} < \infty, \ 1 \le p < \infty.$$

$$(4.1)$$

Theorem 4.3. $A \in (p_c : l_p)$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied: For $1 \le p < \infty$,

$$\sup_{K\in F}\sum_{k}\left|\sum_{k\in K}\sum_{i=k}^{n}(-1)^{i-k}\binom{i}{i-k}a_{ni}\right|^{p}<\infty,$$
(4.2)

$$\sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} \text{ exists for all } k, n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(4.3)

$$\sum_{k}\sum_{i=k}^{n}(-1)^{i-k}\binom{i}{i-k}a_{ni} \text{ converges for all } n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(4.4)

$$\sup_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{k=0}^{m}\left|\sum_{i=k}^{m}(-1)^{i-k}\binom{i}{i-k}a_{ni}\right|<\infty,\ n\in\mathbb{N},$$
(4.5)

and for $p = \infty$, conditions (4.3) and (4.5) are satisfied and

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{k=0}^{n}\left|\sum_{i=k}^{n}(-1)^{i-k}\binom{i}{i-k}a_{ni}\right|<\infty.$$
(4.6)

Proof. Let $1 \le p < +\infty$. Assume that conditions (4.2) - (4.6) are satisfied and take any $x \in p_c$. Then $(a_{nk}) \in (p_c)^{\beta}$ for all $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$, which implies that Ax exists. We define the matrix $G = (g_{nk})$ with

$$g_{nk} = \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni}$$

for all $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, since condition (4.1) is satisfied for the matrix *G*, we have $G \in (c : l_p)$. Now consider the following equality obtained from the s. th partial sum of the series $\sum_k a_{nk} x_k$:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{s} a_{nk} x_k = \sum_{k=0}^{s} \sum_{i=k}^{s} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} y_k, \, m, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(4.7)

Therefore, we derive from (4.7) as $s \to \infty$ that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{nk} x_k = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} y_k, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(4.8)

Whence taking l_p -norm we get

$$\|Ax\|_{l_p} = \|Gy\|_{l_p} < \infty.$$
(4.9)

This means that $A \in (p_c : l_p)$. Now let $p = \infty$. Assume that conditions (4.2) - (4.6) are satisfied and take any $x \in p_c$. Then $(a_{nk}) \in (p_c)^{\beta}$ for all $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$, which implies that Ax exists. Whence taking l_{∞} -norm (4.8)

$$\|Ax\|_{l_{\infty}} = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left| \sum_{k} g_{nk} \right| \le \|y\|_{l_{\infty}} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{k} |g_{nk}| < \infty$$

T

T

Then, we have $A \in (p_c : l_\infty)$.

Conversely, assume that $A \in (p_c : l_p)$. Then, since p_c and l_p are *BK*-spaces, it follows from Lemma 4 that there exists a real constant K > 0 such that

$$|Ax||_{l_p} = K ||x||_{h_c} \tag{4.10}$$

for all $x \in p_c$. Since inequality (4.10) also holds for the sequence

 $x = (x_k) = \sum_{k \in F} b^{(k)} \in p_c,$

where

$$b^{(k)} = \{b_n^{(k)}\} = \begin{cases} 0, (0 \le n < k) \\ (-1)^{n-k} \binom{n}{n-k}, (n \ge k) \end{cases}$$

for every fixed $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We have

$$||Ax||_{l_p} = \left[\sum_{n} \left|\sum_{k \in F} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni}\right|^p\right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \le K ||x||_{p_c} = K$$

which shows the necessity of (4.2).

Theorem 4.4. $A \in (p_c : c)$ if and only if conditions (4.3), (4.5) and (4.6) are satisfied,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} = \alpha_k \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{N}$$
(4.11)

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} = \alpha.$$

$$(4.12)$$

Proof. Assume that A satisfies conditions (4.3), (4.5), (4.6), (4.11) and (4.12). Let us take an arbitrary an $x = (x_k)$ in p_c such that $x_k \to l$ as $k \to \infty$. Then Ax exists, and it is trivial that the sequence $y = (y_k)$ associated with the sequence $x = (x_k)$ by relation (2.3) belongs to c and is such that $y_k \to l$ as $k \to \infty$. At this stage, it follows from (4.11) and (4.6) that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} |\alpha_j| \leq \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{j} \left| \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} \right| < \infty$$

for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. This yield $\alpha_n \in l_1$. Considering (4.8), we write

$$\sum_{k} a_{nk} x_{k} = \sum_{k} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} (y_{k}-l) + l \sum_{k} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} y_{k}.$$
(4.13)

In this situation, letting $n \to \infty$ in (4.13), we establish that the first term on the right-hand side tends to $\sum_k \alpha_k (y_k - l)$ by (4.6) and(4.11), and the second term tends to $l\alpha$ by (4.11). Taking these facts into account, we deduce from (4.13) as $n \to \infty$ that

$$(Ax)_n \to \sum_k \alpha_k (y_k - l) + l\alpha$$

which shows that $A \in (p_c : c)$.

Conversely, assume that $A \in (p_c : c)$. Then, since the inclusion $c \subset l_{\infty}$ holds the necessity of (4.3), (4.5) and (4.6) is immediately obtained from

$$\sup_{n} \sum_{k} \left| \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} \right| < \infty$$

To prove the necessity of (4.11) consider the sequence $x = b^{(k)} = \left\{ b_n^{(k)} \right\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in p_c . Where

$$b^{(k)} = \{b_n^{(k)}\} = \begin{cases} 0, (0 \le n < k) \\ (-1)^{n-k} \binom{n}{n-k}, (n \ge k) \end{cases}$$

for every fixed $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Since Ax exists and belongs to c for every $x \in p_c$, one can easily see that

$$Ab^{(k)} = \left\{ \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} \right\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$$

for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, which yields the necessity of (4.11). Similarly, by setting x = e = (1, 1, ...) in (4.8), we obtain

$$Ax = \left\{ \sum_{k} \sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_{ni} \right\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}},$$

which belongs to the space c, and this shows the necessity of (4.12). This step conludes the proof.
References

- [1] B. Choudhary and S. Nanda, Functional Analysis with Applications, Wiley, New Delhi, 1989.

- [1] D. Choddiar y and S. Palada, Punctional Analysis with Applications, why, few Deni, 1997.
 [2] M. Kirişçi, On the Taylor Sequence Spaces of Non-Absolute Type which Include The Spaces c₀ and c, Journal of Math. Analysis 6 (2015), 22-35.
 [3] B. Altay, F. Başar, Some Euler Sequence Spaces of Non-Absolute Type, Ukrainian Math. J. 57 (2005), 1-17.
 [4] M. Şengönül, F. Başar, Some New Cesaro Sequence Spaces of Non-Absolute Type which Include The Spaces c₀ and c, Soochow J. Math. 31 (2005), 107-119.
- [5] B. Altay, F. Başar, M. Mursaleen, On the Euler sequence spaces which include in the spaces l_p and l_∞, Inform. Sci. 176 (2006), 1450-1462.
- [6] E. Malkowsky, Recent results in the theory of matrix transformations in sequences spaces, Mat. Vesnik 49 (1997), 187-196.
 [7] P. N. Ng, P. Y. Lee, Cesaro sequences spaces of non-absolute type, Comment. Math. Prace Mat. 20 (1978), 429-433.
 [8] C. S. Wang, On Nörlund sequence spaces, Tamkang J. Math. 9 (1978), 269-274.

- [9] G. H. Lawden, *Pascal matrices*, Mathematical Gazette 56 (1972), 325-327.
 [10] S. Dutta and P. Baliarsingh, *On some Toeplitz matrices and their inversions*, J. Egypt Math. Soc. 22 (2014), 420-423.
- [11] R. Brawer, *Potenzen der Pascal matrix und eine Identitat der Kombinatorik*, Elem. der Math. 45 (1990), 107-110.
 [12] A. Edelman and G. Strang, *Pascal Matrices*, The Mathematical Association of America, Monthly 111 (2004), 189-197.
 [13] C. Lay David, *Linear Algebra and Its Applications*, 4th Ed. Boston, Pearson, Addison-Wesley, 2012.
- [14] I. J. Maddox, *Elements of Functional Analysis*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1981.
- [15] D.J.H. Garling, The α-, β and γ Duality of Sequence Spaces, Proc. Comb. Phil. Soc. 63 (1967), 963-981.
 [16] M. Stieglitz, H. Tietz, Matrixtransformationen von Folgenraumen Eine Ergebnisübersict, Math. Z. 154 (1977), 1-16.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



A comparison study for solving systems of high-order ordinary differential equations with constants coefficients by exponential Legendre collocation method

Mohamed Elarbi Benattia^{a*}, Kacem Belghaba^a and Noureddine Bouteraa^b

^aLaboratory of Mathematics and its Applications (LAMAP) University of Oran 1, Ahmed Ben Bella, Algeria ^bLaboratory of Fundamental and Applied Mathematics of Oran (LMFAO) University of Oran 1, Ahmed Ben Bella, Algeria ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: mohamed.benattia74@yahoo.com

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Exponential Legendre functions, System of ordinary differential equations, Collocation method, System of linear algebraic equations 2010 AMS: 65D15, 65L05 Received: 17 April 2018 Accepted: 5 June 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018

In this article we are interested to study the use of the Legendre exponential (EL) collocation method to solve systems of high order linear ordinary differential equations with constant coefficients. The method transforms the system of differential equations and the conditions given by matrix equations with constant coefficients a new system of equations that corresponds to the system of linear algebraic equations which can be solved . Numerical problems are given to illustrate the validity and applicability of the method. For obtaining the approximate solution Maple software is used.

1. Introduction

Legendre polynomials are one of the most important special functions, which are widely used in numerical analysis[6]. The Legendre polynomials are orthogonal with respect to the weight function 1 on the interval [-1;1] and the recurrence relations is

$$L_0(x) = 1, L_1(x) = x, L_{n+1}(x) = \frac{2n+1}{n+1}xL_n(x) - \frac{n}{n+1}L_{n-1}(x), n \ge 1.$$

One of the applications of Legendre polynomials is the solution of ordinary differential equations with boundary conditions with collocation points. Under a transformation that maps the interval [-1;1] into a semi-infinite domain $[0;\infty)$, we applied spectral methods to solve problems on semi-infinite intervals[3, 1, 8, 9]. In their studies, the basis functions called exponential Legendre (EL) functions $E_n(t)$ are orthogonal in [-1;1]. The EL functions are defined as

$$E_0(t) = 1, E_1(t) = 1 - 2e^{-t}$$
$$E_{n+1}(t) = \frac{2n+1}{n+1}(1 - 2e^{-t})E_n(t) - \frac{n}{n+1}E_{n-1}(t), n \ge 1.$$

Recently, we reported a new operational matrix of derivatives of EL functions for solving ODEs in semi infinite domains. In this paper we applied the matrix of derivative mentioned in [3] to solve systems of ordinary differential equations defined on the whole range by means of collocation method. The organization of this paper is as follows. In Section 2, Preliminaries introduced while in Section 3 Properties of the exponential Legendre (EL) functions are presented. In Section 4, we formulated the fundamental matrix relation based on collocation Points. In Section 5, method of solution is presented. Section 6 contains numerical illustrations.

2. Preliminaries

In this paper, we considered a system of k linear differential equations with variable coefficients of the mth order in the form

$$\sum_{n=0}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{k} p_{ij}^{n}(t) y_{j}^{(n)}(t) = f_{i}(t), \ i = 1, 2, \dots, k.$$
(2.1)

This system can be written as follow

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} P_i(t) Y^{(i)}(t) = F(t),$$
(2.2)

where the $p_{ij}^n(t)$ and $f_i(t)$ are well defined functions on the interval $[0,\infty)$ where the matrices $P_i(t)$, $Y^{(i)}(t)$ and F(t) on the form

$$P_{i}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} p_{11}^{i} & p_{12}^{i} & \cdots & p_{1k}^{i} \\ p_{21}^{i} & p_{22}^{i} & \cdots & p_{2k}^{i} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ p_{k1}^{i} & p_{k2}^{i} & \cdots & p_{kk}^{i} \end{pmatrix}, \quad Y^{(i)}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} y_{1}^{(i)}(t) \\ y_{2}^{(i)}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ y_{k}^{(i)}(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad F(t) = \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}(t) \\ f_{2}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ y_{k}^{(i)}(t) \end{pmatrix}$$

We consider the above system under the mixed condition defined as

$$\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} a_i Y^{(i)}(a) + b_i Y^{(i)}(b) + c_i Y^{(i)}(c) = \lambda, \ 0 \le a \le c \le b < \infty,$$
(2.3)

where a_i, b_i, c_i and λ are real valued vectors, and $a \to 0, b \to \infty$.

3. The exponential Legendre functions

In this section we list some properties of the EL functions.

3.1. Orthogonality of EL functions

The weight function $\omega(t)$ corresponding to the EL function, such that they are orthogonal in the interval $[0,\infty)$ is given by $2e^{-t}$, with orthogonal condition

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} E_n(t)E_m(t)\omega(t)dt = \frac{2}{2n+1}\delta_{nm},$$

where δ_{nm} is the Kronecker function.

3.2. Function expansion in terms of EL functions

A function f(t) is well defined over the interval $[0,\infty)$ and can be expanded in terms of EL functions as

$$f(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n E_n(t),$$
(3.1)

where

$$a_n = \frac{2n+1}{2} \int_0^\infty E_n(t) f(t) \omega(t) dt.$$

If the summation in expression (3.1) is truncated to N where $N < \infty$ it takes the following form

$$f(t) \cong \sum_{n=0}^{N} a_n E_n(t),$$

the (k)th-order derivative of f(t) can be written as

$$f^{(k)}(t) \cong \sum_{n=0}^{N} a_n (E_n(t))^{(k)},$$
(3.2)

where $(E_n(t))^{(0)} = E_n(t)$.

3.3. The operational matrix

The new representation of EL functions is presented as follows. If we use the expression $v(t) = 1 - 2e^{-t}$ in the EL functions, we can express it explicitly in terms of powers of v(t) as

$$E_n(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{[n2]} q_k^{(n)} v^{n-2k}(t),$$

where

$$q_k^{(n)} = (-1)^k \frac{1}{2^n} \binom{n}{k} \binom{2n-2k}{n}, \quad n \ge 2k,$$

and [n2] denotes the integer part of the value $\frac{n}{2}$. From previous relation with simple modification we can define: if *n* is even number

$$E_{2l}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{l} (-1)^{l-j} \frac{1}{2^{2l}} \binom{2l}{l-j} \binom{2l+2j}{2l} v^{2j}(t),$$

if *n* is odd number

$$E_{2l+1}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{l} (-1)^{l-j} \frac{1}{2^{2l+1}} \binom{2l+1}{l-j} \binom{2l+2j+2}{2l+1} v^{2j+1}(t)$$

Form above relations we can deduce general matrix form of EL functions as

$$E(t) = V(t)L^T, (3.3)$$

where E(t) and V(t) are two matrices of the form:

 $E(t) = \begin{bmatrix} E_0(t) & E_1(t) & \cdots & E_N(t) \end{bmatrix},$

$$V(t) = \begin{bmatrix} v^0(t) & v(t) & \cdots & v^N(t) \end{bmatrix}$$

and $v^0(t) = 1$, $v^1(t) = 1 - 2e^{-t}$, $v^2(t) = (1 - 2e^{-t})^2$, ..., $v^N(t) = (1 - 2e^{-t})^N$, and *L* is a matrix given by

Now, from (3.3) we can obtain the k^{th} derivative of matrix E(t) as:

$$E^{(0)}(t) = V(t)L^{T}$$

$$E^{(1)}(t) = V^{(1)}(t)L^{T}$$

$$E^{(2)}(t) = V^{(2)}(t)L^{T}$$

$$\vdots$$

then, by induction the k^{th} -order derivative of the matrix E(t) defined as:

$$E^{(k)}(t) = V^{(k)}(t)L^{T},$$
(3.4)

the equation (3.4) represents the new operational matrix of derivatives of the EL functions.

4. Fundamental matrix relations

Let us define the collocation points, so that $0 \le t_s < \infty$, as

$$t_s = \frac{1 + \cos(\frac{s\pi}{N})}{1 - \cos(\frac{s\pi}{N})}$$

and at the boundaries $(s = 0, s = N), t_0 \rightarrow \infty, t_N \rightarrow 0$, since the EL functions are convergent at both boundaries 0 and ∞ , namely their values are ± 1 , the appearance of infinity in the collocation points does not cause a loss or divergence in the method. We assume that the solution $y_i(t)$ of (2.1) can be expressed in the form (3.2), which is a truncated Legendre series in terms of EL functions. Then $y_i(t)$ and its derivative $y_i^{(j)}(t)$ can be written in the matrix form as

$$y_i(t) = E(t)A_i$$

and

$$y_i^{(j)}(t) = E^{(j)}(t)A_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, k, \quad j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, m.$$
 (4.1)

where

$$A_i = [a_{i0}, a_{i1}, \dots, a_{iN}]^T$$

By substituting relation (3.4) into (4.1), we obtain

$$y_i^{(j)}(t) = V^{(j)}(t)L^T A_i, \quad j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, m$$

So, the matrix $y^{(i)}(t)$ defined as a column matrix that is formed of i^{th} derivatives of unknown functions, can be expressed by

$$y^{(i)}(t) = V^{(i)}(t)L^{T}A$$
(4.2)

where $V^{(i)}(t)$, L^T are two size matrix $k \times k$,

$$V^{(i)}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} V^{(i)}(t) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & V^{(i)}(t) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & V^{(i)}(t) \end{pmatrix}, \ L^{T} = \begin{pmatrix} L^{T} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & L^{T} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & L^{T} \end{pmatrix}, \quad A = \begin{pmatrix} A_{0} \\ A_{1} \\ \vdots \\ A_{k} \end{pmatrix}_{k \times 1}$$

By putting the collocation points t_s in (4.2), we have the system

. ...

$$y^{(i)}(t_s) = V^{(i)}(t_s)L^T A,$$
(4.3)

the system (4.3) can be written in the matrix form as

$$Y^{(i)} = \widetilde{V}^{(i)} L^T A$$

where

$$\widetilde{V}^{(i)} = \begin{pmatrix} V^{(i)}(t_0) \\ V^{(i)}(t_1) \\ \vdots \\ V^{(i)}(t_N) \end{pmatrix},$$

then, the equation (2.2) becomes as follows

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} \widetilde{P}_{i} \widetilde{V}^{(i)} L^{T} A = F.$$
(4.4)

Next, we can obtain the corresponding matrices form for the conditions by using the relation (2.3), we have the fundamental matrix equation corresponding to the mixed conditions (2.3) as

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \left[a_i V^{(i)}(a) + b_i V^{(i)}(b) + c_i V^{(i)}(c) \right] L^T A = \alpha.$$
(4.5)

5. Collocation method

The fundamental matrix (4.4) for equation (2.1) corresponding to system of (N + 1) algebraic equations for the (N + 1) unknown coefficients $a_{0,,a_1,...,a_N}$. We can write equation (4.4) as

$$HA = M. \tag{5.1}$$

So that $H = (h_{d,t}) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} \widetilde{P}_i \widetilde{V}^{(i)} L^T$, $d, t = 1, 2, \dots, k(N+1)$. We can obtain the matrix form for the mixed conditions by means of (4.5)

$$RA = [\alpha_i], \tag{5.2}$$

and

$$R = \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \left[a_i V^{(i)}(a) + b_i V^{(i)}(b) + c_i V^{(i)}(c) \right] L^T.$$

To obtain the solution of Eq(2.1) under the conditions (2.3) we replace the rows of matrices(5.2) by the last m rows of the matrix (5.1) Then, we have the required augmented matrix as

$$\widetilde{R}, \widetilde{F}] = \begin{pmatrix} h_{1,1} & h_{1,2} & \cdots & h_{1,k(N+1)} & ; & f_1(t_0) \\ h_{2,1} & h_{2,2} & \cdots & h_{2,k(N+1)} & ; & f_2(t_0) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ h_{k,1} & h_{k,2} & \cdots & h_{k,k(N+1)} & ; & f_k(t_0) \\ h_{k+1,1} & h_{k+1,2} & \cdots & h_{k+1,k(N+1)} & ; & f_1(t_1) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ h_{k(N-m+1),1} & h_{k(N-m+1),2} & \cdots & h_{k(N-m+1),k(N+1)} & ; & f_k(t_{N-m}) \\ r_{1,1} & r_{1,2} & \cdots & r_{1,k(N+1)} & ; & \alpha_1 \\ r_{2,1} & r_{2,2} & \cdots & r_{2,k(N+1)} & ; & \alpha_2 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ r_{mk,1} & r_{mk,2} & \cdots & r_{mk,k(N+1)} & ; & \alpha_{mk} \end{pmatrix}$$

or the corresponding matrix equation

$$\widetilde{R}A = \widetilde{F}$$

then we can write

$$A = (\widetilde{R})^{-1} \widetilde{F}.$$

6. Illustrative examples

In this section, we demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed Legendre exponential function method with numerical examples.

Example 6.1. Consider the system

$$\begin{cases} x' - x - 8y = -12e^{-2t} \\ y' - 2x - y = \frac{15}{4} - 9e^{-t} - \frac{9}{2}e^{-2t} \\ y' = 0 \le t < \infty \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

with the conditions x(0) = 4, $y(\infty) = \frac{1}{4}$, where the exact solution

$$\begin{cases} x(t) = -2 + 6e^{-t} \\ y(t) = \frac{1}{4} - \frac{3}{2}e^{-t} + \frac{3}{2}e^{-2t} \end{cases}$$

for this example we have

$$k = 2$$
, $m = 1$, $f_1(t) = -12e^{-2t}$, $f_2(t) = -\frac{9}{2}e^{-2t} - 9e^{-t} + \frac{15}{4}e^{-2t}$

and

$$P_0 = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -8 \\ -2 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad P_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then, for N = 2, the collocation points are $t_0 \rightarrow \infty$, $t_1 \rightarrow 1$, $t_2 \rightarrow 0$, and the fundamental matrix is

$$\left[\widetilde{P}_{0}\widetilde{V}^{(0)}+\widetilde{P}_{1}\widetilde{V}^{(1)}\right]L^{T}A=F,$$

where \widetilde{P}_0 , \widetilde{P}_1 , $\widetilde{V}^{(0)}$ and $\widetilde{V}^{(1)}$ are matrices of order (6 × 6) given as:

and $F = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{15}{4} & -12e^{-2} & -\frac{9}{2}e^{-2} - 9e^{-1} + \frac{15}{4} & -12 & -\frac{39}{4} \end{bmatrix}$, and the augmented matrix for the conditions with N = 2 is $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & -11 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$; 4] for the first condition x(0) = 4, and for the other condition $y(\infty) = \frac{1}{4}$, the augmented matrix is $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$; $\frac{1}{4}$]. After the augmented matrices of the system and condition are computed, we obtain the solution

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{4} \end{bmatrix}$$

therefore, we find the approximate solutions as

$$\begin{cases} x(t) = E_0 - 3E_1 = 1 - 3(1 - 2e^{-t}) = 1 - 3 + 6e^{-t} = -2 + 6e^{-t} \\ y(t) = 0E_0 + 0E_1 + \frac{1}{4}E_2 = \frac{1}{4}\left[\frac{3}{2}(1 - 2e^{-t})^2 - \frac{1}{2}\right] = \frac{1}{4} - \frac{3}{2}e^{-t} + \frac{3}{2}e^{-2t} \end{cases}$$

Example 6.2. Consider the second order system of two equations

$$\begin{cases} y'' + x'' - x = 90e^{-3t} - 24e^{-2t} + \frac{23}{4}e^{-t} - 3\\ y'' - 2x' = 90e^{-3t} - 108e^{-2t} + \frac{119}{4}e^{-t} &, \quad 0 \leq t < \infty \end{cases}$$

with the conditions x(0) = 3, $y(\infty) = 3$, $x(\infty) = \frac{1}{2}$, $y(0) = \frac{5}{4}$. Where the exact solutions $x(t) = 3 - 12e^{-t} + 12e^{-2t}$ and $y(t) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{23}{4}e^{-t} - 15e^{-2t} + 10e^{-3t}$. In this system, we have

$$k = 2$$
, $m = 2$, $f_1(t) = 90e^{-3t} - 24e^{-2t} + \frac{23}{4}e^{-t} - 3$, $f_2(t) = 90e^{-3t} - 108e^{-2t} + \frac{119}{4}e^{-t}$

and

$$P_0 = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad P_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad P_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then, for N = 4, the collocation points are $t_0 \rightarrow \infty$, $t_1 \rightarrow 3 + 2\sqrt{2}$, $t_2 \rightarrow 1$, $t_3 \rightarrow 3 - 2\sqrt{2}$, $t_4 \rightarrow 0$, and the fundamental matrix is

$$\left[\widetilde{P}_{0}\widetilde{V}^{(0)} + \widetilde{P}_{1}\widetilde{V}^{(1)} + \widetilde{P}_{2}\widetilde{V}^{(2)}\right]L^{T}A = F_{2}$$

where $\widetilde{P_0}$, $\widetilde{P_1}$, $\widetilde{P_2}$, $\widetilde{V}^{(0)}$, $\widetilde{V}^{(1)}$ and $\widetilde{V}^{(2)}$ are matrices of order (10×10)

and the augmented matrix for the conditions with N = 4 is $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 & 1 & -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0; 3 \end{bmatrix}$ for the first condition x(0) = 3, and $y(\infty) = 3$, the augmented matrix is $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1; 3 \end{bmatrix}$, and for the other condition $x(\infty) = \frac{1}{2}$ we have $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0; \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}$ and $y(0) = \frac{5}{4}$ we have the augmented matrix $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 1 & -1 & 1; \frac{5}{4} \end{bmatrix}$. After the augmented matrices of the system and condition are computed, we obtain the solution

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & -\frac{1}{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Finally, we find the approximate solutions as

$$\begin{cases} x(t) = E_0 + 2E_2 = 1 + 2\left[\frac{3}{2}(1 - 2e^{-t})^2 - \frac{1}{2}\right] = 3(1 - 2e^{-t})^2 \\ y(t) = E_1 - \frac{1}{2}E_3 = \frac{7}{4} - \frac{7}{4}e^{-t} - \frac{5}{4}(1 - 2e^{-t})^3 \end{cases}$$

7. Conclusion

Systems of high order linear differential equations are generally difficult to solve analytically under mixture conditions. In many cases, obtaining approximate solutions is necessary especially if the problem is defined in semi-infinite domain. For this reason, the Legendre exponential collocation method is proposed to obtain an approximate solution of high order linear differential equation. The new definition of EL functions is studied and introduced to solve the system of high order linear ordinary differential equations with constant coefficients. In addition, an interesting feature of this method is to find the exact solutions if the system has an exact solution that is a polynomial exponential function. Examples of problems are used to demonstrate the applicability and effectiveness of the proposed technique.

References

- M. Elarbi Benattia, K. Belghaba. Application of the Galerkin Method with Chebyshev Polynomials for Solving the Integral Equation. Journal of Computer Science & Computational Mathematics, DOI: 10.20967/jcscm.2017.03.008.
- [2] M. Elarbi Benattia, K. Belghaba. Numerical Solution for Solving Fractional Differential Equations using Shifted Chebyshev Wavelet. General Letters in Mathematics Vol. 3, No. 2, Oct 2017, pp.101-110.
- [3] Mohamed A. Ramadana, Kamal R. Raslanb, Talaat S. El Danafa, Mohamed A. Abd El Salamb. Solving systems of high-order ordinary differential equations with variable coefficients by exponential Chebyshev collocation method. Journal of Modern Methods in Numerical Mathematics 8:1-2 (2017), 40–51.
 [4] Mehdi Dehghan, Mohammad Shakourifar, and Asgar Hamidi, The solution of linear and nonlinear systems of volterra functional equations using
- [4] Mehdi Dehghan, Mohammad Shakourifar, and Asgar Hamidi, The solution of linear and nonlinear systems of volterra functional equations using adomian-pade technique, Chaos, Solutions & Fractals 39 (2009), no. 5, 2509–2521.
- [5] Elcin Gokmen and Mehmet Sezer, Taylor collocation method for systems of high-order linear differential-difference equations with variable coefficients, Ain Shams Engineering Journal 4 (2013), no. 1, 117–125.
- [6] F. Baharifard Saeed Kazem K. Parand. Rational and Exponential Legendre Tau Method on Steady Flow of a Third Grade Fluid in a Porous Half Space, Int. J. Appl. Comput. Math (2016) 2:679–698.
- [7] Hossein Jafari and Varsha Daftardar-Gejji, Revised adomian decomposition method for solving systems of ordinary and fractional differential equations, Applied Mathematics and Computation 181 (2006), no. 1, 598–608.
- [8] IH Abdel-Halim Hassan, Application to differential transformation method for solving systems of differential equations, Applied Mathematical Modeling 32 (2008), no. 12, 2552–2559.
- [9] Nebiye Korkmaz and Mehmet Sezer, An approach to numerical solutions of system of high-order linear differential-difference equations with variable coefficients and error estimation based on residual function, New Trends in Mathematical Sciences 2 (2014), no. 3, 220–233.

- Mehdi Tatari and Mehdi Dehghan, Improvement of hes variational iteration method for solving systems of differential equations, Computers & Mathematics with Applications 58 (2009), no. 11, 2160–2166.
 Montri Thongmoon and Sasitorn Pusjuso, The numerical solutions of differential transform method and the Laplace transform method for a system of differential equations, Nonlinear Analysis: Hybrid Systems 4 (2010), 425–431.
 Salih Yalc, Inbas, Nesrin Ozsoy, and Mehmet Sezer, Approximate solution of higher order linear dierential equations by means of a new rational chebyshev collocation method, Mathematical & Computational Applications 15 (2010), no. 1, 45–56.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Transverse vibration of nonuniform Euler-Bernoulli beams on bounded time scales

Hüseyin Tuna^{a*} and Hatice Bulut^a

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Burdur, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: hustuna@gmail.com

Abstract

Keywords: Dissipative extensions, Self adjoint extensions, A boundary value space, Boundary condition, Nonuniform beam, Time scale 2010 AMS: 74H45, 34N05, 34B20, 34B24, 47B25 Received: 27 March 2018 Accepted: 24 May 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018 In this article, we consider Euler-Bernoulli equation of transverse vibrations of nonuniform beams on bounded time scales \mathbb{T} . We will give a description of all maximal dissipative, maximal accretive, self adjoint and other extensions of such operators.

1. Introduction

The theory of symmetric extensions of a symmetric operator in a Hilbert space developed by J. von Neumann [27]. Especially, it plays a central role in spectral problems associated with formally self-adjoint linear differential operators. The problem on the description of all self adjoint extensions of a symmetric operator in terms of abstract boundary conditions was given by Calkin [25]. Later, Rofe- Beketov [28] described self adjoint extensions of a symmetric operator in terms of abstract boundary conditions with aid of linear relations. Bruk [24] and Kochubei [12] are introduced the notion of a space of boundary values. They described all maximal dissipative, accretive, self adjoint extensions of symmetric operators. This problem has been investigated by many mathematicians (see [13]-[20]). For a more comprehensive discussion of extension theory of symmetric operators, the reader is referred to [26].

The theory of time scales unifies continuous and discrete analysis. It was introduced by Hilger (see [1]). Recently, it has received a lot of attention. The study of dynamic equations on time scales has several important applications, e.g., in the study of heat transfer, insect population models, epidemic models stock market, and neural networks (see [1]-[5]).

On the other hand, transverse vibration of nonuniform beams is one of the important problems in mechanical and civil engineering. It has led to several applications in modern engineering, e.g., turbine blade, helicopter blades, satellites structure, even robotic arms etc. It has been studied by many investigators (see [29]-[43]).

In this article, we consider Euler-Bernoulli dynamic equation of transverse vibrations of nonuniform beans on bounded time scales. A space of boundary value is constructed for this operator. It is given a description all maximal dissipative, accretive, self adjoint and other extensions of such operators in terms of boundary conditions.

2. Preliminaries

Now, we recall some necessary fundamental concepts of time scales, and we refer to [8], [9] for more detail.

Definition 2.1. Let \mathbb{T} be a time scale, i.e., a non-empty closed subset of real numbers \mathbb{R} . The forward jump operator $\sigma : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ is defined by

 $\sigma(t) = \inf \{s \in \mathbb{T} : s > t\} \text{ where } t \in \mathbb{T}$

and the backward jump operator $\rho : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ is defined by

 $\rho(t) = \sup \{s \in \mathbb{T} : s < t\}$ where $t \in \mathbb{T}$.

Email addresses: hustuna@gmail.com (H. Tuna) bulut.math@hotmail.com.tr (H. Bulut)

It is convenient to have graininess operators $\mu_{\sigma} : \mathbb{T} \to [0,\infty)$ and $\mu_{\rho} : \mathbb{T} \to (-\infty,0]$ defined by $\mu_{\sigma}(t) = \sigma(t) - t$ and $\mu_{\rho}(t) = \rho(t) - t$, respectively. A point $t \in \mathbb{T}$ is left scattered if $\mu_{\rho}(t) \neq 0$ and left dense if $\mu_{\rho}(t) = 0$. A point $t \in \mathbb{T}$ is right scattered if $\mu_{\sigma}(t) \neq 0$ and right dense if $\mu_{\sigma}(t) = 0$. We introduce the sets \mathbb{T}^k , \mathbb{T}_k , \mathbb{T}^* which are derived from the time scale \mathbb{T} as follows. If \mathbb{T} has a left scattered maximum t_1 , then $\mathbb{T}^k = \mathbb{T} - \{t_1\}$, otherwise $\mathbb{T}^k = \mathbb{T}$. If \mathbb{T} has a right scattered minimum t_2 , then $\mathbb{T}_k = \mathbb{T} - \{t_2\}$, otherwise $\mathbb{T}_k = \mathbb{T}$. Finally, $\mathbb{T}^* = \mathbb{T}^k \cap \mathbb{T}_k$.

Definition 2.2. A function f on \mathbb{T} is said to be Δ -differentiable at some point $t \in \mathbb{T}$ if there is a number $f^{\Delta}(t)$ such that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a neighborhood $U \subset \mathbb{T}$ of t such that

$$|f(\sigma(t)) - f(s) - f^{\Delta}(t)(\sigma(t) - s)| \le \varepsilon |\sigma(t) - s|$$
 where $s \in U$.

Analogously one may define the notion of ∇ -differentiability of some function using the backward jump ρ . One can show (see [11])

$$f^{\Delta}(t) = f^{\nabla}(\sigma(t)), \qquad f^{\nabla}(t) = f^{\Delta}(\rho(t))$$

for continuously differentiable functions.

Example 2.3. *If*
$$\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$$
, then we have

$$\sigma(t) = t, \ f^{\Delta}(t) = f'(t).$$

If $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$, then we have

$$\sigma(t) = t + 1, \ f^{\Delta}(t) = \Delta f(t) = f(t+1) - f(t).$$

If $\mathbb{T} = q^{\mathbb{N}_0} = \left\{q^k : q > 1, \ k \in \mathbb{N}_0\right\}$, then we have

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(t) = qt, \ f^{\Delta}(t) = \frac{f(qt) - f(t)}{qt - t}.$$

Definition 2.4. Let $f : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function, and $a, b \in \mathbb{T}$. If there exists a function $F : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $F^{\Delta}(t) = f(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^k$, then F is a Δ -antiderivative of f. In this case the integral is given by the formula

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t) \Delta t = F(b) - F(a) \text{ for } a, b \in \mathbb{T}$$

Analogously one may define the notion of ∇ -antiderivative of some function.

Let $L^2_{\Lambda}(\mathbb{T}^*)$ be the space of all functions defined on \mathbb{T}^* such that

$$||f|| := \left(\int_{a}^{b} |f(t)|^{2} \Delta t\right)^{1/2} < \infty.$$

The space $L^2_{\Lambda}(\mathbb{T}^*)$ is a Hilbert space with the inner product (see [23])

$$(f,g) := \int_{a}^{b} f(t) \overline{g(t)} \Delta t, \ f,g \in L^{2}_{\Delta}(\mathbb{T}^{*})$$

3. Main results

Let us consider Euler-Bernoulli dynamic expression of transverse vibrations of nonuniform beams

$$l(y) := \left(EI^{*}(t) y^{\Delta \nabla} \right)^{V\Delta}(t) - \rho_{0} w^{2} A^{*}(t) y(t), \ t \in \mathbb{T}_{1} = \mathbb{T}^{*} \cap (a, b), a < b,$$
(3.1)

where y is the transverse displacement, E, ρ_0 and w are Young modulus, mass density, and natural frequency, respectively, $A^*(t)$ and $I^*(t)$ are the area and moment of inertia of current cross-section, respectively; t is the current longitudinal coordinate of the beam, and a and b are the coordinates of the fixed end and the free end of the beam, respectively.

For simplicity of notation, we have

Let $y_i, 1 \le i \le 4$, be solutions of Eq. (3.1). The Wronskian of y_1, y_2, y_3 and y_4 is defined to be (see [6])

$$W(y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4) = \begin{vmatrix} y_1 & y_2 & y_3 & y_4 \\ y_1^{[1]} & y_1^{[2]} & y_1^{[1]} & y_1^{[1]} \\ y_1^{[2]} & y_2^{[2]} & y_3^{[2]} & y_4^{[2]} \\ y_1^{[3]} & y_2^{[3]} & y_3^{[3]} & y_4^{[3]} \\ y_1^{[3]} & y_2^{[3]} & y_3^{[3]} & y_4^{[3]} \end{vmatrix}$$

.

We will denote by Dom_{max} the set of all functions y(t) in $L^2_{\Delta}(\mathbb{T}_1)$ such that first three Δ derivatives are locally Δ absolutely continuous in \mathbb{T}_1 , and $l(y) \in L^2_{\Delta}(\mathbb{T}_1)$. We define the maximal operator L_{\max} on Dom_{\max} by the equality $L_{\max}y = ly$. For every $y, z \in Dom_{max}$, we have Green's formula

$$\int_{a}^{b} (ly)(t)\overline{z(t)}\Delta t - \int_{a}^{b} y(t)\overline{(lz)(t)}\Delta t = [y,z]_{b} - [y,z]_{a},$$
(3.2)

where $[y,z]_t := y^{[0]}(t)\overline{z}^{[3]}(t) - y^{[3]}(t)\overline{z}^{[0]}(t) + y^{[1]}(t)\overline{z}^{[2]}(t) - y^{[2]}(t)\overline{z}^{[1]}(t)$ (see [6]). Let Dom_{\min} denote the linear set of all vectors $y \in Dom_{\max}$ satisfying the conditions

$$y^{[0]}(a) = y^{[1]}(a) = y^{[2]}(a) = y^{[3]}(a) = 0,$$

$$y^{[0]}(b) = y^{[1]}(b) = y^{[2]}(b) = y^{[3]}(b) = 0.$$

If we restrict the operator L_{max} to the set Dom_{min} , then we obtain the minimal operator L_{min} . It is clear that $L_{\text{min}}^* = L_{\text{max}}$, and L_{min} is a closed symmetric operator (see [6]). Now we recall the following definitions.

Definition 3.1. A linear operator M (with dense domain D(M)) acting on some Hilbert space H is called dissipative (accumulative) if $\Im(Mf, f) \ge 0$ ($\Im(Mf, f) \le 0$) for all $f \in D(M)$ and maximal dissipative (maximal accumulative) if it does not have a proper dissipative (accumulative) extension (see [14], [16]-[19]).

Definition 3.2. A triplet $(\mathbb{H}, \Phi_1, \Phi_2)$ is called a space of boundary values of a closed symmetric operator M on a Hilbert space H if Φ_1 and Φ_2 are linear maps from $D(M^*)$ to H, with equal deficiency numbers and such that:

i) For every $f, g \in D(M^*)$ we have

$$(M^*f,g)_H - (f,M^*g)_H = (\Phi_1 f, \Phi_2 g)_{\mathbb{H}} - (\Phi_2 f, \Phi_1 g)_{\mathbb{H}}$$

ii) For any $F_1, F_2 \in H$ there is a vector $f \in D(M^*)$ such that $\Phi_1 f = F_1$ and $\Phi_2 f = F_2$ (see [10]). Let's define by Φ_1 , Φ_2 the linear maps from *D* to \mathbb{C}^4 by the formula

$$\Phi_{1}y = \begin{pmatrix} -y^{[0]}(a) \\ -y^{[1]}(a) \\ y^{[0]}(b) \\ y^{[1]}(b) \end{pmatrix}, \ \Phi_{2}y = \begin{pmatrix} y^{[3]}(a) \\ y^{[2]}(a) \\ y^{[3]}(b) \\ y^{[2]}(b) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.3)

[2]

Now we will state and prove a theorem.

Theorem 3.3. The triple $(\mathbb{C}^4, \Phi_1, \Phi_2)$ defined by (3.3) is a boundary spaces of the operator L_{\min} .

Proof. For every $y, z \in Dom_{max}$, we have

$$\begin{split} (\Phi_{1}y,\Phi_{2}z)_{\mathbb{C}^{4}} &- (\Phi_{1}z,\Phi_{2}y)_{\mathbb{C}^{4}} &= -y^{[0]}(a)\overline{z}^{[3]}(a) - y^{[1]}(a)\overline{z}^{[2]}(a) \\ &+ y^{[0]}(b)\overline{z}^{[3]}(b) + y^{[1]}(b)\overline{z}^{[2]}(b) \\ &- (-\overline{z}^{[0]}(a)y^{[3]}(a) - \overline{z}^{[1]}(a)y^{[2]}(a)) \\ &- (\overline{z}^{[0]}(b)y^{[3]}(b) + \overline{z}^{[1]}(b)y^{[2]}(b)) \\ &= y^{[0]}(b)\overline{z}^{[3]}(b) - \overline{z}^{[0]}(b)y^{[3]}(b) \\ &+ y^{[1]}(b)\overline{z}^{[2]}(b) - \overline{z}^{[1]}(b)y^{[2]}(b) \\ &+ \overline{z}^{[0]}(a)y^{[3]}(a) - y^{[0]}(a)\overline{z}^{[3]}(a) \\ &- y^{[1]}(a)\overline{z}^{[2]}(a) + \overline{z}^{[1]}(a)y^{[2]}(a) \\ &= [y,z](b) - [y,z](a). \end{split}$$

[0]

From Green's formula (3.2), we obtain the following equation

$$(\Phi_1 y, \Phi_2 z)_{\mathbb{C}^4} - (\Phi_1 z, \Phi_2 y)_{\mathbb{C}^4} = [y, z](b) - [y, z](a) = (L_{\max} y, z) - (y, L_{\max} z).$$

So, we proved the first requirement of the definition of a space of boundary values.

Now, we will prove the second requirement of the definition of a space of boundary values. Let $u = \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \\ u_3 \\ u_4 \end{pmatrix}$, $v = \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \\ v_3 \\ v_4 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^4$. Then the

vector-valued function

$$y(t) = \alpha_1(t)u_1 + \alpha_2(t)v_1 + \alpha_3(t)u_2 + \alpha_4(t)v_2 + \alpha_5(t)u_3 + \alpha_6(t)v_3 + \alpha_7(t)u_4 + \alpha_8(t)v_4$$

where $\alpha_i(t) \in H$ (*i* = 1,...,8) satisfy the conditions

$$\begin{split} & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}^{[0]}(a) = 1 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}^{[1]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}^{[2]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}^{[3]}(a) = 0 \\ & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}^{[0]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}^{[1]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}^{[2]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}^{[3]}(a) = 1 \\ & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{3}^{[0]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}^{[1]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{2}^{[2]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{3}^{[3]}(a) = 0 \\ & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{4}^{[0]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{4}^{[1]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{4}^{[2]}(a) = 1 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{3}^{[3]}(a) = 0 \\ & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{5}^{[0]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{5}^{[1]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{5}^{[2]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{5}^{[3]}(a) = 0 \\ & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{6}^{[0]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{6}^{[1]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{5}^{[2]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{5}^{[3]}(a) = 0 \\ & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{7}^{[0]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{7}^{[1]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{7}^{[2]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{7}^{[3]}(a) = 0 \\ & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{8}^{[0]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{8}^{[1]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{8}^{[2]}(a) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{8}^{[3]}(a) = 0 \\ & \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{8}^{[0]}(b) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}^{[1]}(b) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}^{[2]}(b) = 0 \quad \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{1}^{[3]}(b) = 0 \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha_{1}^{[0]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{1}^{[1]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{1}^{[2]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{1}^{[3]}(b) = 0 \\ &\alpha_{2}^{[0]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{2}^{[1]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{2}^{[2]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{2}^{[3]}(b) = 0 \\ &\alpha_{3}^{[0]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{3}^{[1]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{3}^{[2]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{3}^{[3]}(b) = 0 \\ &\alpha_{4}^{[0]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{4}^{[1]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{4}^{[2]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{4}^{[3]}(b) = 0 \\ &\alpha_{5}^{[0]}(b) = -1 & \alpha_{5}^{[1]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{5}^{[2]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{5}^{[3]}(b) = 0 \\ &\alpha_{6}^{[0]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{6}^{[1]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{5}^{[2]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{5}^{[3]}(b) = 1 \\ &\alpha_{7}^{[0]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{7}^{[1]}(b) = 1 & \alpha_{7}^{[2]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{7}^{[3]}(b) = 0 \\ &\alpha_{8}^{[0]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{8}^{[1]}(b) = 0 & \alpha_{8}^{[2]}(b) = 1 & \alpha_{7}^{[3]}(b) = 0 \end{aligned}$$

belongs to the set Dom_{max} and $\Phi_1 y = u$, $\Phi_2 y = v$

Corollary 3.4. For any contraction T in \mathbb{C}^4 the restriction of the operator L_{\max} to the set of functions $y \in \text{Dom}_{\max}$ satisfying either

$$(T-I)\Phi_1 y + i(T+I)\Phi_2 y = 0 \tag{3.4}$$

or

$$(T-I)\Phi_1 y - i(T+I)\Phi_2 y = 0 \tag{3.5}$$

is respectively the maximal dissipative and accretive extension of the operator L_{\min} . Conversely, every maximal dissipative (accretive) extension of the operator L_{\min} is the restriction of L_{\max} to the set of functions $y \in \text{Dom}_{\max}$ satisfying (3.4) ((3.5)), and the extension uniquely determines the contraction T. If T is an isometry in \mathbb{C}^4 , then the conditions (3.4) ((3.5)) describe the maximal symmetric extensions of L_{\min} in L^2_{Λ} (\mathbb{T}_1).

The general form of dissipative and accretive extensions of an operator L is given by the conditions

$$T(\Phi_1 y + i\Phi_2 y) = \Phi_1 y - i\Phi_2 y, \quad \Phi_1 y + i\Phi_2 y \in Dom(T),$$

$$T(\Phi_1 y - i\Phi_2 y) = \Phi_1 y + i\Phi_2 y, \quad \Phi_1 y - i\Phi_2 y \in Dom(T),$$
(3.6)

respectively, where T is a linear operator with

$$||Tf|| \le ||f||, f \in Dom(T).$$

4. Conclusion

In this paper, we have considered Euler-Bernoulli equation of transverse vibrations of nonuniform beams on bounded time scales T.. In this context, we have constructed a space of boundary values of the minimal operator and described all maximal dissipative, maximal accretive, self-adjoint extensions of of such operators.

References

- [1] Hilger S., Analysis on measure chains—a unified approach to continuous and discrete calculus, Results in Math., (1990), 1818-1856.
- Hilger S., Analysis on measure chains—a unified approach to continuous and discrete calculus, Results in Math., (1990), 1818 1856.
 Agarwal R. P., Bohner M., and Li W.-T., Nonoscillation and Oscillation Theory for Functional Differential Equations, vol. 267 of Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics, Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, USA, 2004.
 Jones M. A., Song B. and Thomas D. M., "Controlling wound healing through debridement," Mathematical and Computer Modelling, vol. 40, no. 9-10, pp. 1057–1064, 2004.
 Spedding V., "Taming nature's numbers," New Scientist, vol. 179, no. 2404, pp. 28–31, 2003.
 Thomas D. M., Vandemuelebroeke L. and Yamaguchi K., "A mathematical evolution model for phytoremediation of metals," Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems. Series B, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 411–422, 2005.ker, Florida, 2004.

- [6] Anderson D. R., Guseinov Gusein Sh., and Hoffacker J., Higher-order self-adjoint boundary-value problems on time scales, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 194, 2, (2006) 309-342.
- [7] Atici Merdivenci F. and Guseinov Gusein Sh., On Green's functions and positive solutions for boundary value problems on time scales, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 141, 1-2, (2002) 75-99.
- Bohner M. and Peterson A., Dynamic Equations on Time Scales, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2001.
- Bohner M. and Peterson A., (Eds.), Advances in Dynamic Equations on Time Scales, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2003.
- [10] Gorbachuk M. L. and Gorbachuk V.I., Boundary Value Problems for Operator Differential Equations, Naukova Dumka, Kiev, 1984; English transl. 1991, Birkhauser Verlag.
- [11] Guseinov Gusein Sh., Self-adjoint boundary value problems on time scales and symmetric Green's functions, Turkish J. Math., 29 (4), (2005) 365-380. [12] Kochubei A. N., Extensions of symmetric operators and symmetric binary relations, Mat. Zametki 17, (1975) 41-48; English transl. in Math. Notes
 - 17, (1975) 25 28.
- [13] M.G. Krein, On the indeterminate case of the Sturm-Liouville boundaryvalue problem in the interval $(0,\infty)$ ', Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 16, (1952), 292 - 324.
- [14] F.G. Maksudov and B.P. Allahverdiev, On the extensions of Schrödinger operators with a matrix potentials, Dokl. Akad. Nauk 332, no.1, (1993), 18-20;English transl. Russian Acad. Sci. Dokl. Math. 48 (1994), no.2, 240-243.
- [15] M. M. Malamud and V. I. Mogilevskiy, On extensions of dual pairs of operators, Dopov. Nats Akad. Nauk. Ukr. (1997) ,no. 1, 30-37.
- [16] B.P. Allahverdiev, Extensions of symmetric singular second-order dynamic operators on time scales. Filomat 30 (2016), no. 6, 1475–1484.
- B.P. Allahverdiev, Extensions of symmetric infinite Jacobi operator. Linear Multilinear Algebra 62 (2014), no. 9, 1146-1152.
- [18] B.P. Allahverdiev, Extensions of symmetric second-order difference operators with matrix coefficients. J. Difference Equ. Appl. 19 (2013), no. 5, 839-849
- [19] A. Canoğlu and B.P. Allahverdiev, Selfadjoint and dissipative extensions of a symmetric Schrödinger operator. Math. Balkanica (N.S.) 17 (2003), no. 1-2, 113–120.
- [20] H. Tuna and B. P. Allahverdiev, Dissipative Extensions of Fourth Order Differential Operators, Thai Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 16 (1), (2018), [20] H. Hund and D. F. Anarverdiev, Dissipative Enclosure 1997 275-285.
 [21] Lakshmikantham V., Sivasundaram S. and Kaymakcalan B., Dynamic Systems on Measure Chains, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1996.
 [22] Naimark M. A., Linear Differential Operators, 2nd edn., 1968, Nauka, Moscow, English transl. of 1st. edn., 1,2, 1969, New York.
 [23] Rynne B. P., L² spaces and boundary value problems on time-scales, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **328**, (2007) 1217 – 1236.

- [24] V.M. Bruk, On a class of boundary –value problems with a spectral parameter in the boundary conditions, Mat. Sb., 100, (1976), 210 216.
- [25] J. W. Calkin, Abstract boundary conditions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., Vol 45, No. 3, (1939), 369 442.
 [26] M.L. Gorbachuk, V.I. Gorbachuk and A.N. Kochubei, 1989. The theory of extensions of symmetric operators and boundary-value problems for differential equations', Ukrain. Mat. Zh. 41, (1989), 1299-1312; English transl. in Ukrainian Math. J. 41(1989), 1117-1129.
- [27] J. von Neumann, Allgemeine Eigenwertheorie Hermitischer Functionaloperatoren, Math. Ann. 102, (1929), 49-131.
- [28] F.S. Rofe-Beketov, Self-adjoint extensions of differential operators in a space of vector valued functions', Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 184, (1969), 1034 1037;English transl. in Soviet Math. Dokl. 10(1969), 188-192
- [29] H.D. Conway, J.F. Dubil, Vibration frequencies of truncated wedge and cone beam, Journal of Applied Mechanics 32E (1965) 932–935.
- [30] J.J. Mabie, C.B. Rogers, Traverse vibrations of tapered cantilever beams with end support, Journal of Acoustical Society of America
- 44 (1968) 1739–1741. N.A. De Rosa, N.M. Auciello, Free vibrations of tapered beams with flexible ends, Computers & Structures 60 (2) (1996) 197-202.
- H.D. Conway, E.C.H. Becker, J.F. Dubil, Vibration frequencies of tapered bars and circular plates, Journal of Applied Mechanics June (1964) 329-331. [32]
- [33] E.T. Cranch, A. Adler, Bending vibrations of variable section beams, Journal of Applied Mechanics March (1956) 103-108.
- [34] N.M. Auciello, G. Nole, Vibrations of a cantilever tapered beam with varying section properties and carrying a mass at the free end, Journal of Sound and Vibration, 214 (1) (1998) 105-119.
- [35] H.C. Wang, Generalized hypergeometric function solutions on the transverse vibrations of a class of non-uniform beams, Journal of Applied Mechanics 34E (1967) 702–708
- [36] D. Storti, Y. Aboelnaga, Bending vibrations of a class of rotating beams with hypergeometric solutions, Journal of Applied Mechanics, 54 (1987)
- [37] D.I. Caruntu, On nonlinear vibration of nonuniform beam with rectangular cross-section and parabolic thickness variation, Solid Mechanics and its Applications, Vol. 73, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Boston, London, 2000, pp. 109–118.
- [38] D.I. Caruntu, Relied studies on factorization of the differential operator in the case of bending vibration of a class of beams with variable cross-section, Revue Roumaine des Sciences Techniques, Série de Mecanique Appliquee, 41 (5–6) (1996) 389–397.
- [39] D.I. Caruntu, Dynamic modal characteristics of transverse vibrations of cantilevers of parabolic thickness. Mechanics Research Communications 36: (2009)391-404
- [40] S. Naguleswaran, The vibration of a "complete" Euler-Bernoulli beam of constant depth and breadth proportional to axial co-ordinate raised to a positive exponents, Journal of Sound and Vibration, 187 (2) (1995) 311-327.
- [41] S. Naguleswaran, A direct solution for the transverse vibration of Euler-Bernoulli wedge and cone beams, Journal of Sound and Vibration, 172 (3) (1994) 289-304
- A.D. Wright, C.E. Smith, R.W. Thresher, J.L.C. Wang, Vibration modes of centrifugally stiffened beam, Journal of Applied Mechanics, 49 (1982) [42] 197–202.
 [43] Q. Wang, Sturm–Liouville equation for free vibration of a tube-in-tube tall building, Journal of Sound and Vibration, 191 (3) (1996), 349–355.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Differential bubordinations and argument inequalities for certain multivalent functions defined by convolution structure

Mohamed Kamal Aouf^a, Rabha El-Ashwah^b and Ekram Elsayed Ali^{c*}

^aDepartment of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Mansoura University, Mansoura 35516, Egypt ^bDepartment of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Damietta University, New Damiette, 34517, Egypt ^cDepartment of Mathematics and Computer Science, Faculty of Science, Port-Said University, Port-Said, 42521, Egypt ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: ekram_008eg@yahoo.com

operator $D_{\lambda,n}^n(f*g)(z)$ defined by Hadamard product

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Multiplier transformation , Hadamard product, Subordination 2010 AMS: 30C45 Received: 12 March 2018 Accepted: 5 June 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018

1. Introduction

Let A(p) denote the class of functions of the form:

$$f(z) = z^{p} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_{k+p} z^{k+p} \quad (p \in \mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, \dots\}),$$
(1.1)

The main object of the present paper is to investigate certain interesting argument inequalities

and differential subordinations properties of multivalent functions associated with a linear

which are analytic and *p*-valent in the open unit disc $U = \{z : z \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } |z| < 1\}$. If *f* and *g* are analytic in *U*, we say that *f* is subordinate to *g*, written symbolically as follows:

$$f \prec g \text{ or } f(z) \prec g(z)$$
,

if there exists a Schwarz function w, which (by definition) is analytic in U with w(0) = 0 and |w(z)| < 1 ($z \in U$) such that f(z) = g(w(z)) ($z \in U$). In particular, if the function g(z) is univalent in U, then we have the following equivalence (cf., e.g., [4], [13]; see also [14, p. 4]:

$$f(z) \prec g(z) \Leftrightarrow f(0) = g(0) \text{ and } f(U) \subset g(U).$$

For functions $f(z) \in A(p)$ given by (1.1), and $g(z) \in A(p)$ defined by

$$g(z) = z^{p} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_{k+p} z^{k+p} \quad (p \in \mathbb{N}),$$
(1.2)

The Hadamard product (or convolution) of f(z) and g(z) is given by

$$(f * g)(z) = z^p + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_{k+p} b_{k+p} z^{k+p} = (g * f)(z) \quad (p \in \mathbb{N}; z \in U).$$
(1.3)

For functions $f, g \in A(p)$, we define the following differential operator:

Email addresses: mkaouf127@yahoo.com (M. K. Aouf) r_elashwah@yahoo.com (R. M. El-Ashwah) ekram_008eg@yahoo.com (E. E. Ali)

$$D^{0}_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z) = (f*g)(z), \qquad (1.4)$$

$$D^{1}_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z) = D_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z) = (1-\lambda)(f*g)(z) + \frac{\lambda z}{p}(f*g)'(z) \ (\lambda \ge 0),$$
(1.5)

and (in general)

$$D_{\lambda,p}^{n}(f*g)(z) = D_{\lambda,p}(D_{\lambda,p}^{n-1}(f*g)(z))$$

$$= z^{p} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{p+\lambda k}{p}\right)^{n} a_{k+p} b_{k+p} z^{k+p}$$

$$(\lambda \geq 0; p \in \mathbb{N}; n \in \mathbb{N}_{0} = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}).$$
(1.6)

From (1.6) it is easy to verify that

$$\frac{\lambda}{p} z(D_{\lambda,p}^{n}(f*g)(z))' = D_{\lambda,p}^{n+1}(f*g)(z) - (1-\lambda)D_{\lambda,p}^{n}(f*g)(z) \ (\lambda > 0; n \in \mathbb{N}_{0}).$$
(1.7)

The operator $D_{\lambda,p}^n(f * g)(z)$, when p = 1, was introduced and studied by Aouf and Mostafa [3].

We observe that the linear operator $D_{\lambda,p}^n(f*g)(z)$ reduces to several interesting operators for different choices of n, λ, p and the function g(z):

(*i*) For $\lambda = 1$ and $g(z) = \frac{z^p}{1-z}$ (or $b_{k+p} = 1$), $D_{1,p}^n(f * g)(z) = D_p^n f(z)$, where D_p^n is the *p*-valent Salagean operator introduced and studied by Kamali and Orhan [9], Orhan and Kiziltunc [17] (see also [2]); (*ii*) For $g(z) = \frac{z^p}{1-z}$ (or $b_{k+p} = 1$), we have

$$D^n_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z) = D^n_{\lambda,p}f(z) = z^p + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{p+\lambda k}{p}\right)^n a_{k+p} z^{k+p} \quad (\lambda \ge 0);$$

for p = 1, the operator D_{λ}^{n} is the generalized Sălăgean operator introduced and studied by Al-Oboudi [1]) which in turn contains as special case the Sălăgean operator see [20]; (*iii*) For n = 0 and

 $g(z) = z^p + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[rac{p+\ell+\lambda k}{p+\ell}
ight]^m z^{k+p} \ (\lambda \ge 0; p \in \mathbb{N}; \ell, m \in \mathbb{N}_0),$

we see that $D^0_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z) = (f * g)(z) = I_p^m(\lambda, \ell)f(z)$, where $I_p^m(\lambda, \ell)$ is the generalized multiplier transformation which was introduced and studied by Cătaş [5], the operator $I_p^m(\lambda, \ell)$, contains as special cases, the multiplier transformation $I_p^m(\ell)$ (see Kumar et al. [11] and Srivastava et al. [23]); (*iv*) For n = 0,

$$g(z) = z^{p} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\alpha_{1})_{k}...(\alpha_{q})_{k}}{(\beta_{1})_{k}...(\beta_{s})_{k}} \cdot \frac{z^{k+p}}{k!}$$
(1.8)

$$\begin{aligned} &(\boldsymbol{\alpha}_i \in \mathbb{C}; i = 1, ..., q; \boldsymbol{\beta}_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}_0^- = \{0, -1, -2, ...\}; j = 1, ..., s; \\ & q \leq s+1; q, s \in \mathbb{N}_0, p \in \mathbb{N}; z \in U) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$(\boldsymbol{\theta})_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} = \frac{\Gamma(\boldsymbol{\theta} + \boldsymbol{\nu})}{\Gamma(\boldsymbol{\theta})} = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} 1 & (\boldsymbol{\nu} = 0; \boldsymbol{\theta} \in \mathbb{C}^* = \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}), \\ \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{\theta} - 1)...(\boldsymbol{\theta} + \boldsymbol{\nu} - 1) & (\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{N}; \boldsymbol{\theta} \in \mathbb{C}), \end{array} \right.$$

we have $D^{0}_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z) = (f*g)(z) = H_{p,q,s}(\alpha_1) f(z)$, where $H_{p,q,s}(\alpha_1)$ is the Dziok-Srivastava operator introduced and studied by Dziok and Srivastava [8]. The operator $H_{p,q,s}(\alpha_1)$ contains in turn many interesting operators such as, Carlson and Shaffer linear operator (see [19]), the Ruscheweyh derivative operator (see [10]), the Choi-Saigo-Srivastava operator (see [7]), the Cho-Kwon-Srivastava operator (see [6]), the differeintegral operator (see Srivastava and Aouf [22] and Patel and Mishra [18]) and the Noor integral operator (see Liu and Noor [12]);

(v) For p = 1 and g(z) of the form (1.8), the operator $D_{\lambda}^{n}(f * g)(z)$ inroduced and studied by Selvaraj and Karthikeyan [21]. For $f, g \in A(p), \lambda > 0, \delta \ge 0, p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$, we define a function H(z) by

$$H(z) = H^n_{\lambda,p,\delta}(f * g)(z) = \left[1 - \delta\left(1 + \frac{p}{\lambda} - p\right)\right] D^n_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z) + \delta\frac{p}{\lambda} D^{n+1}_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z).$$
(1.9)

We note that:

(*i*) For $\lambda = 1$ and $g(z) = \frac{z^p}{1-z}$ in (1.9), we obtain

$$H_{1,p,\delta}^{n}(f*\frac{z^{p}}{1-z})(z) = G_{p,\delta}^{n}f(z) = G(z) = (1-\delta)D_{p}^{n}f(z) + \delta p D_{p}^{n+1}f(z);$$
(1.10)

(*ii*) For $g(z) = \frac{z^p}{1-z}$ in (1.9), we obtain

$$H^{n}_{\lambda,p,\delta}(f*\frac{z^{p}}{1-z})(z) = K^{n}_{\lambda,p,\delta}f(z) = K(z)$$

$$= \left[1-\delta\left(1+\frac{p}{\lambda}-p\right)\right]D^{n}_{\lambda,p}f(z) + \delta\frac{p}{\lambda}D^{n+1}_{\lambda,p}f(z).$$
(1.11)

In this paper, we investigate some interesting argument inequalities and differential subordinations properties of the function H(z) given by (1.9). The following lemma will be required in our investigation.

Lemma 1.1. [15], [16] Let a function $\phi(z) = 1 + b_1 z + ...$ be analytic in U and $\phi(z) \neq 0$ ($z \in U$). If there exists a point $z_0 \in U$ such that

$$|\arg\phi(z)| < \frac{\pi}{2}\beta \ (|z| < |z_0|) \ and \ |\arg\phi(z_0)| = \frac{\pi}{2}\beta \ (0 < \beta \le 1),$$

then we have $z_0 \phi'(z_0) / \phi(z_0) = ik\beta$, where

$$k \geq \frac{1}{2}(a+\frac{1}{a}) \quad (\text{where } \arg \phi(z_0) = \frac{\pi\beta}{2}) ,$$

$$k \leq -\frac{1}{2}(a+\frac{1}{a}) \quad (\text{where } \arg \phi(z_0) = -\frac{\pi\beta}{2}) ,$$

and $(\phi(z_0))^{\frac{1}{\beta}} = \pm ia \ (a > 0).$

2. Main results

Unless otherwise mentioned, we shall assume in the reminder of this paper that $\lambda > 0, \delta \ge 0, p \in \mathbb{N}, n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and g(z) is given by (1.2). **Theorem 2.1.** Let $f, g \in A(p)$ and let H be defined by (1.9). If

$$\left|\arg\left(\frac{H^{(q)}(z)}{z^{p-q}}\right)\right| < \frac{\pi}{2}\beta \quad (z \in U) ,$$
(2.1)

then

$$\left| \arg \left(\frac{\left(D_{\lambda,p}^n(f \ast g)(z) \right)^{(q)}}{z^{p-q}} \right) \right| < \frac{\pi}{2} \beta \quad (z \in U) \; ,$$

where $0 < \beta \leq 1$ and $0 \leq q \leq p$.

Proof. Let

$$\phi(z) = \frac{(p-q)!}{p!} \frac{\left(D_{\lambda,p}^{n}(f * g)(z)\right)^{(q)}}{z^{p-q}} \quad (z \in U).$$
(2.2)

Then $\phi(z)$ is analytic in U, $\phi \neq 0$ for all $z \in U$ and $\phi(z)$ can be written as $\phi(z) = 1 + b_1 z + \dots$. Since

$$\left(z\left(D_{\lambda,p}^{n}(f*g)(z)\right)'\right)^{(q)} = q\left(D_{\lambda,p}^{n}(f*g)(z)\right)^{(q)} + z\left(D_{\lambda,p}^{n}(f*g)(z)\right)^{(q+1)},$$
(2.3)

we have from (1.7), (1.9) and (2.3) that

$$\begin{split} H^{(q)}(z) &= \left[1 - \delta\left(1 + \frac{p}{\lambda} - p\right)\right] \left(D^n_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z)\right)^{(q)} + \delta\frac{p}{\lambda} \left(D^{n+1}_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z)\right)^{(q)} \\ &= \left[1 - \delta\left(1 + \frac{p}{\lambda} - p\right)\right] \left(D^n_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z)\right)^{(q)} + \delta\left(z \left(D^n_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z)\right)'\right)^{(q)} \\ &+ \delta\frac{p}{\lambda}(1 - \lambda) \left(D^n_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z)\right)^{(q)} \\ &= (1 - \delta + \delta q) (D^n_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z))^{(q)} + \delta z (D^n_{\lambda,p}(f * g)(z))^{(q+1)}. \end{split}$$

It is easy to see from (2.4) and (2.2) that

$$\frac{H^{(q)}(z)}{z^{p-q}} = (1-\delta+\delta q) \frac{(D^{n}_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z))^{(q)}}{z^{p-q}} + \delta \frac{z(D^{n}_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z))^{(q+1)}}{z^{p-q}} \\
= \frac{p!(1-\delta+\delta q)}{(p-q)!} \phi(z) + \frac{\delta p!}{(p-q)!} \left((p-q)\phi(z) + z\phi'(z)\right) \\
= \frac{p!(1-\delta+\delta p)}{(p-q)!} \left(\phi(z) + \frac{\delta}{1-\delta+\delta p} z\phi'(z)\right).$$
(2.5)

Suppose there exists a point $z_0 \in U$ such that

$$|\arg\phi(z)| < \frac{\pi}{2}eta \quad (|z| < |z_0|)$$

and

 $|\arg\phi(z_0)| = \frac{\pi}{2}\beta$.

Then, by using Lemma 1.1, we can write that $z_0\phi'(z_0)/\phi(z_0) = ik\beta$ and $(\phi(z_0))^{\frac{1}{\beta}} = \pm ia$ (a > 0). Therefore, if $\arg \phi(z_0) = \frac{\pi}{2}\beta$, then by using (2.5), we have

$$\frac{H^{(q)}(z_0)}{z_0^{p-q}} = \frac{p!(1-\delta+\delta p)}{(p-q)!}\phi(z_0)\left(1+\frac{\delta}{1-\delta+\delta p}\frac{z_0\phi'(z_0)}{\phi(z_0)}\right) \\
= \frac{p!(1-\delta+\delta p)}{(p-q)!}a^{\beta}e^{i\pi\beta/2}\left(1+\frac{\delta}{1-\delta+\delta p}ik\beta\right).$$

This shows that

$$\begin{split} \arg\left(\frac{H^{(q)}(z_0)}{z_0^{p-q}}\right) &= \frac{\pi}{2}\beta + \arg\left(1 + \frac{\delta k\beta i}{1-\delta+\delta p}\right) \\ &= \frac{\pi}{2}\beta + \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\delta k\beta}{1-\delta+\delta p}\right) \\ &\geq \frac{\pi}{2}\beta, \ (where \ k \geq \frac{1}{2}(a+\frac{1}{a}) \geq 1), \end{split}$$

which contradicts the condition (2.1). Similarly, if $\arg \phi(z_0) = \frac{-\pi\beta}{2}$, then we obtain

$$\arg\left(rac{H^{(q)}(z_0)}{z_0^{p-q}}
ight) \leq -rac{\pi}{2}eta \;,$$

which also contradicts the condition (2.1). Thus, the function $\phi(z)$ satisfies $|\arg \phi(z)| < \frac{\pi\beta}{2}$ ($z \in U$). This shows that

$$\left| \arg\left(\frac{\left(D_{\lambda,p}^n(f * g)(z) \right)^{(q)}}{z^{p-q}} \right) \right| < \frac{\pi}{2} \beta \quad (z \in U)$$

This completes the proof of Theorem 2.1.

Putting n = 0 and $\lambda = 1$ in Theorem 2.1, we obtain the following corollary. **Corollary 2.2.** Let $f, g \in A(p)$ and let Q be defined by

$$Q(z) = (1 - \delta)(f * g)(z) + \delta \frac{z}{p} \left((f * g)(z) \right)'.$$
(2.6)

If

$$\left| \arg\left(\frac{Q^{(q)}(z)}{z^{p-q}} \right) \right| < \frac{\pi}{2} \beta \quad (z \in U) \; ,$$

$$\left| \arg \left(\frac{((f \ast g)(z))^{(q)}}{z^{p-q}} \right) \right| < \frac{\pi}{2} \beta \quad (z \in U) \; ,$$

then

(2.4)

Theorem 2.3. Let $f, g \in A(p)$ and let H be defined by (1.9). If

$$\frac{\left(D^{n}_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z)\right)^{(q)}}{z^{p-q}} \prec \frac{p!}{(p-q)!} \frac{1 + (1-2\alpha)z}{1-z} \quad (z \in U) \;.$$
(2.7)

Then

$$\frac{H^{(q)}(z)}{z^{p-q}} \prec \frac{p!(1-\delta+\delta p)}{(p-q)!} \frac{1+(1-2\alpha)z}{1-z} \quad (|z|<\rho) \ , \tag{2.8}$$

where $0 \le q \le p, 0 \le \alpha < 1$, and

$$\rho = \left[1 + \left(\frac{\delta}{1 - \delta + \delta p}\right)^2\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\delta}{1 - \delta + \delta p} .$$
(2.9)

The bound $\rho \in (0,1)$ *is the best possible.*

Proof. Set

$$\psi(z) = (1 - \gamma) \frac{z}{1 - z} + \gamma \frac{z}{(1 - z)^2} \quad (z \in U) ,$$

where $\gamma = \frac{\delta}{1 - \delta + \delta p} > 0$. We need to show that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\psi(\rho z)}{\rho z}\right\} > \frac{1}{2} \quad (z \in U) , \qquad (2.10)$$

where $\rho = (1 + \gamma^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \gamma$ and $0 < \rho < 1$. Let $\frac{1}{1-z} = R e^{i\theta}$ and |z| = r < 1. In view of

$$\cos \theta = \frac{1 + R^2 (1 - r^2)}{2R} , R \ge \frac{1}{1 + r} ,$$

we have

$$2\operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\psi(z)}{z} - \frac{1}{2}\right\} = 2(1 - \gamma)R\cos\theta + 2\gamma R^2\cos 2\theta - 1$$

= $R^4\gamma(1 - r^2)^2 + R^2\left((1 - \gamma)(1 - r^2) - 2\gamma r^2\right)$
 $\geq R^2(\gamma(1 - r)^2 + (1 - \gamma)(1 - r^2) - 2\gamma r^2)$
= $R^2(1 - 2\gamma r - r^2) > 0$

for $|z| = r < \rho$, which gives (2.10). Thus the function ψ has the integral representation

$$\frac{\psi(\rho z)}{\rho z} = \int_{|x|=1}^{\infty} \frac{d\mu(x)}{1-xz} \quad (z \in U) , \qquad (2.11)$$

where $\mu(x)$ is a prabability measure on |x| = 1.

Now letting $\phi(z)$ be in the form (2.2), we see that $\phi(z) = 1 + b_1 z + ...$ is analytic in U and it follows from (2.7) that

$$\operatorname{Re}\phi(z) > \alpha \quad (0 \le \alpha < 1; z \in U) . \tag{2.12}$$

Since we can write

$$\phi(z) + \gamma z \phi'(z) = \left(\frac{\psi(z)}{z}\right) * \phi(z) ,$$

it follows from (2.11) that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{\phi(\rho z) + \gamma \rho z \phi'(\rho z)\right\} = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\left(\frac{\psi(\rho z)}{\rho z}\right) * \phi(z)\right\}$$
$$= \operatorname{Re}\left\{\int_{|x|=1}^{\infty} \phi(xz) d\mu(x)\right\} > \alpha \quad (z \in U) .$$
(2.13)

Thus, from (2.3) and (2.13), we conclude that (2.8)) holds. To show that the bound ρ is sharp we take $f, g \in A(p)$ defined by

$$\frac{(p-q)!}{(p)_q}\frac{\left(D^n_{\lambda,p}(f*g)(z)\right)^{(q)}}{z^{p-q}}=\alpha+(1-\alpha)\frac{1+z}{1-z}.$$

Since

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{(p-q)!}{(p)_q(1-\delta+\delta p)} \frac{H^{(q)}(z)}{z^{p-q}} &= \alpha + (1-\alpha)\frac{1+z}{1-z} + \gamma(1-\alpha)z\left(\frac{1+z}{1-z}\right) \\ &= \alpha + (1-\alpha)\frac{1+2\gamma z - z^2}{(1-z)^2} = \alpha \end{aligned}$$

for $z = -\rho$, it follows that ρ is sharp.

Remark 2.4. (i) Putting $\lambda = 1$ and $g(z) = \frac{z^p}{1-z}$ in the above results we obtain the results for function G(z) defined by (1.10). (ii) Putting $g(z) = \frac{z^p}{1-z}$ in the above results we obtain the results for function K(z) defined by (1.11).

3. Conclusion

In this paper, three subclasses $H^n_{\lambda,p,\delta}(f*g)(z)$, $G^n_{p,\delta}f(z)$ and $K^n_{\lambda,p,\delta}f(z)$ are introduced and certain interesting argument inequalities and differential subordinations properties are investigated.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the referees for their valuable suggestions to improve the paper.

References

- [1] F. M. Al-Oboudi, On univalent function defined by a generalized Salagean operator, Internat. J. Math. Math. Sci., 27(2004),1429-1436.
- M. K. Aouf and A.O. Mostaafa, On a subclass of p-valent functions prestarlike functions, Comput. Math. Appl., (2008), no. 55, 851-861. [2]
- [3] M.K.Aouf and A.O.Mostafa, Sandwich theorems for analytic functions defined by convolution, Acta Univ. Apulensis, 21(2010), 7-20.
- [4] T. Bulboaca, Differential Subordinations and Superordinations, Recent Results, House of Scientific Book Publ., Cluj-Napoca, 2005.
- [5] A. Catas, On certain classes of p-valent functions defined by multiplier transformations, in Proceedings of the International Symposium on Geometric Function Theory and Applications: GFTA 2007 Proceedings (Istanbul, Turkey; 20-24 August 2007) (S. Owa and Y. Polatoglu, Editors), pp. 241-250, TC İstanbul Kűltűr University Publications, Vol. 91, TC İstanbul Kűltűr University, İstanbul, Turkey, 2008.
- [6] N. E.Cho, O. S. Kwon and H. M Srivastava, Inclusion relationships and argument properties for certain subclasses of multivalent functions associated
- with a family of linear operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 292(2004), 470-483. [7] J. H. Choi, M. Saigo and H. M. Srivastava, Some inclusion properties of a certain family of integral operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 276(2002), 432-445. [8] J. Dziok and H. M. Srivastava, Classes of analytic functions associated with the generalized hypergeometric function, Appl. Math. Comput. 103 (1999), no. 1, 1–13.
- [9] M. Kamali and H. Orhan, On a subclass of certian starlike functions with negative coefficients, Bull. Korean Math. Soc. 41 (2004), no. 1, 53-71.
 [10] Vinod Kumar and S. L. Shukla, Multivalent functions defined by Ruscheweyh derivatives, I and II, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 15(1984), no. 11,
- 1216-1227, 15(1984), no. 1, 1228-1238.
- [11] S. S. Kumar, H. C. Taneja and V. Ravichandran, Classes multivalent functions defined by Dziok-Srivastava linear operator and multiplier transformations, Kyungpook Math. J. (2006), no. 46, 97-109.
- [12] J. L. Liu and K. I. Noor, Some properties of Noor integral operator, J. Natur. Geom. 21(2002), 81-90.
 [13] S. S. Miller and P. T. Mocanu, Differential subordinations and univalent functions, Michigan Math. J. 28(1981), 157-171.
- [14] S. S. Miller and P. T. Mocanu, Differential Subordinations : Theory and Applications, Series on Monographs and Texbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol.225, Marcel Dekker, New York and Basel, 2000.
- [15] N. Nunokawa, On properties of non- caratheodory functions, Proc. Jpn Acad. Ser.A Math. Sci. 68(1992), 152-153.
- [16] N. Nunokawa, S. Owa, H. Saitoh, A. Ikeda and N. Koike, Some results for strongly starlike functions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 212(1997), 98-106.
 [17] H. Orhan and H. Kiziltunc, A generalization on subfamily of *p*-valent functions with negative coefficients, Appl. Math. Comput., 155(2004), 521-530.
 [18] J. Patel and A. K. Mishra, On certain subclasses of multivalent functions associated with an extended fractional differintegral operator, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 332(2007), 109-122.
- [19] H. Saitoh, A linear operator and its applications of first order differential subordinations, Math. Japon. 44(1996), 31-38.
 [20] G. S. Salagean, Subclasses of univalent functions, Lecture Notes in Math. (Springer-Verlag) 1013(1983), 362-372.
- [21] C. Selvaraj and K. R. Karthikeyan, Differential subordination and superordination for certain subclasses of analytic functions, Far East J. Math. Sci. (FJMS), 29 (2008), no. 2, 419-430.
- [22] H. M. Srivastava and M. K. Aouf, A certain fractional derivative operator and its applications to a new class of analytic and multivalent functions with negative coefficients. I and II, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 171(1992), 1-13, 192(1995), 673-688.
- [23] H. M. Srivastava, K. Suchithra, B. Adolf Stephen and S. Sivasubramanian, Inclusion and neighborhood properties of certian subclasses of multivalent functions of complex order, J. Ineq. Pure Appl. Math. 7(2006), no. 5, Art. 191, 1-8.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Initial value problems spreadsheet solver using VBA for engineering education

Çiğdem Dinçkal^{a*}

^aÇankaya University, Ankara, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: cdinckal@cankaya.edu.tr

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Excel spreadsheet, Initial Value Problems (IVPs) spreadsheet solver, Runge-Kutta methods, VBA programming 2010 AMS: 65LXX, 65YXX, 68WXX,68UXX, 68NXX Received: 4 March 2018 Accepted: 22 April 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018

Spreadsheet solver using VBA programming has been designed for solving initial value problems (IVPs), analytically and numerically by all Runge-Kutta (RK) methods including also fifth order with calculation of true percent relative error for corresponding RK method. This solver is user-friendly especially for beginner users of Excel and VBA.

1. Introduction

IVPs arise in any field of science and engineering education such as mechanics, geotechnics, dynamics, chemical kinetics, optimization and stability, et cetera. There are computing approaches; exact solution method and numerical methods for solving these IVPs. Numerical methods are both applicable and practical in solving IVPs in many engineering problems because of the existence of complicated problems in engineering and limitations of exact solution method [1, 2]. Numerical methods yield approximate the solutions of the IVPs, particularly for the nonlinear IVPs.

This study mainly has focussed on numerical solutions followed by Euler and various Runge-Kutta methods for solving single IVPs. These methods progress the solution over step starting from some given initial condition at the initial starting point. To simplify the steps in solving IVPs by RK methods, a tool is used. This tool is a prevalent spreadsheet application, fundamentally called as Excel, also commonly used by professionals for diverse applications in business [3], engineering and science [4]-[6].

Numerical methods in science and engineering may also be implemented in by use of Excel and also VBA. Use of VBA in explicit form Visual Basic for Applications programming capability lurks in the background behind Excel handled in the texts like Lilley and Chapra [2, 7]. In addition to this, a series of studies in literature employed spreadsheet as a calculator or solver to focus on design of solver and calculator for polynomial interpolation [8, 9], solution for systems of linear and nonlinear equations [10, 11], computation of eigenvalues [12, 13], design of spreadsheet calculator for numerical differentiation [14]-[16], spreadsheet solver for solution of partial differential equations [17], a spreadsheet solution of system of initial value problems using fourth-order RK method [18], and fourth-order RK method by spreadsheet [19]. Only the works of Tay et al. [20, 21] include design of spreadsheet calculator for solving system of IVPs using fourth-order RK method and also solving IVPs using fourth-order RK method with use of VBA programming.

In this study, a spreadsheet solver is designed to solve both IVPs by all RK methods and also exact solution method in the spreadsheet environment based on VBA programming. Microsoft Excel 2010 and Microsoft Visual Basics for Applications 7.0 are used during this study. The generation of VBA programming includes three steps. The first step is to develop an user interface input form is designed to acquire the needed information such as initial conditions of independent and dependent variables for each RK method, step size and number of steps. Then a general VBA code for any IVPs is created behind the Solve button in user interface input form. The third step is to generate function files depending on the related IVP and its analytical solution. Once the SOLVE button in user interface input form is clicked, the complete numerical and analytical solutions of the IVP and corresponding true percent relative error will be computed automatically for each order of RK method.

Examples are presented from various fields of engineering to demonstrate the merits of this unconventional solver design which shields the tedious algorithmic implementation details from the user (such as students and educators) and greatly simplifies solving an IVP using RKSOLVER.

This spreadsheet solver is user-friendly such that users only require to enter initial conditions of independent and dependent variables for each RK method, step size and number of steps at the first step to compute the complete solution of the IVPs automatically without typing any commands in the spreadsheet cells. Here, complete solution of the IVPs means solutions from each order of RK method, exact solutions and also true percent relative errors in terms of comparison with each RK method and exact solutions. So users as educators have an oppurtunity to elucidate students the differences and similarities that exist between each order of RK method and also exact solutions at the same time and be able to comment on the solution of any engineering problem including IVPs correctly. There is no need to know the various derivations of RK methods and memorize the complicated formulations of RK methods. The solver is general and standard for any engineering problem. The main aim of this paper is to design a tool in other words spreadsheet solver which employes both numerical methods: RK methods with fifth order and also analytical methods giving exact solutions with automatically calculated true percent relative errors in solving IVPs at the same time. Therefore this solver is called as IVP spreadsheet solver.

2. Runge Kutta (RK) methods

This section is devoted to solving IVPs of the form given below:

$$\frac{dy}{dx} = f(x, y) \tag{2.1}$$

with the initial value $y(x_0) = y_0$ for the number of points *n* within the interval $x_0 \le x \le x_n$. Here *x* is the independent variable, *y* is the dependent variable, *f* is the function of derivation (in other words slope) and *h* is the fixed step size. *n*, the number of steps can be found as $(x_n - x_0)/h$ [1].

1) First-Order RK Method

Euler's Method:

$$y_{i+1} = y_i + hk_1 \tag{2.2}$$

where $k_1 = f(x, y)$

2) Second-Order RK Methods

a) Heun's Method:

$$y_{i+1} = y_i + h(\frac{k_1 + k_2}{2}) \tag{2.3}$$

where $k_2 = f(x_i + h, y_i + hk_1)$

b) Midpoint (Improved Polygon) Method:

$$y_{i+1} = y_i + hk_2 \tag{2.4}$$

where $k_2 = f(x_i + \frac{h}{2}, y_i + \frac{k_1 h}{2})$

c) Ralston's Method:

$$y_{i+1} = y_i + \left(\frac{k_1 + 2k_2}{3}\right)h\tag{2.5}$$

where $k_2 = f(x_i + \frac{3h}{4}, y_i + \frac{3hk_1}{4})$

3) Third-Order RK Method

$$y_{i+1} = y_i + \left(\frac{k_1 + 4k_2 + k_3}{6}\right)h\tag{2.6}$$

where $k_2 = f(x_i + \frac{h}{2}, y_i + \frac{k_1 h}{2}), \quad k_3 = f(x_i + h, y_i - k_1 h + 2k_2 h)$

4) Fourth-Order RK Method

$$y_{i+1} = y_i + \left(\frac{k_1 + 2k_2 + 2k_3 + k_4}{6}\right)h$$
(2.7)

Function $f(x, y0, h)$
f = y0 / 0.2254
End Function

Table 1: Function module for stress-strain relationship IVP

Function fexact(x, y0, h, i)
fexact = Exp((h * i) / 0.2254)
End Function

Table 2: Function module for exact solution of stress-strain relationship

where $k_2 = f(x_i + \frac{h}{2}, y_i + \frac{k_1 h}{2}), \quad k_3 = f(x_i + \frac{h}{2}, y_i + \frac{k_2 h}{2}), \quad k_4 = f(x_i + h, y_i + k_3 h)$

5) Fifth-Order RK Method

$$y_{i+1} = y_i + \left(\frac{7k_1 + 32k_3 + 12k_4 + 32k_5 + 7k_6}{90}\right)h$$
(2.8)

where $k_2 = f(x_i + \frac{h}{4}, y_i + \frac{k_1 h}{4}), \quad k_3 = f(x_i + \frac{h}{4}, y_i + \frac{k_1 h}{8} + \frac{k_2 h}{8}), \quad k_4 = f(x_i + \frac{h}{2}, y_i - \frac{k_2 h}{2} + k_3 h), \quad k_5 = f(x_i + \frac{3h}{4}, y_i + \frac{3k_1 h}{16} + \frac{9k_4 h}{16}),$ and $k_6 = f(x_i + h, y_i - \frac{3k_1 h}{7} + \frac{2k_2 h}{7} + \frac{12k_3 h}{7} - \frac{12k_4 h}{7} + \frac{8k_5 h}{7})$

It should be noted that k's are recurrence relationships. In other words, k_1 appears in the equation for k_2 which appears in the equation for k_3 and so on. Since each k is a functional evaluation, this recurrence makes RK methods efficient for computations [1].

In this work, fifth-order RK method yields the superior results in terms of less error than the other order of RK methods. As the order of RK method increases, convergence to the exact results also increases in terms of less errors.

3. Numerical examples

Numerical examples are presented from various engineering applications.

1) Geotechnical Engineering

To mIVPl the the behavior of soil under the effect of load, it is required to formulate the stress and strain relationship and this is achieved by the following IVP:

$$\frac{d\sigma}{d\varepsilon} = \frac{\sigma}{c_C} \tag{3.1}$$

The exact solution for equation (3.1) is

$$\sigma = e^{\frac{\varepsilon}{c_c}} \tag{3.2}$$

where σ is the stress, ε is the strain of soil and c_C is the compression index and it is 0.2254 for this soil type. Initial conditions are, ε_0 is 0 for independent variable and σ_0 is 1 kPa for dependent variable. Final ε is 1.2 and step size (h) is 0.1. This means that number of steps (n) is 12. At first, for each numerical example, function modules are prepared for both IVP and exact solution of it respectively. These modules change from example to example. The functions for IVP and exact solution are illustrated in the following tables.

Here x is the independent variable, y0 is the initial dependent variable, i is the counter of steps.

Then equations (2.2) to (2.8) are applied to obtain the solutions by each order of RK method respectively. Besides exact solution of the IVP with true percent relative error for each RK method are also incorporated in the computations.

Finally IVP spreadsheet solver is applied which is discussed in the next section to obtain the complete solutions.

2) Mechanical Engineering

To determine the change in velocity in other words acceleration of a free-falling body to the forces acting on it with considering the air resistance, the following IVP is used:

$$\frac{dv}{dt} = g - \frac{c}{m}v \tag{3.3}$$

The exact solution for equation (3.3), which also gives velocity of the object, is

$$v(t) = \frac{gm}{c} (1 - e^{(-\frac{c}{m})t})$$
(3.4)

where v is the velocity (dependent variable y), t is the time in seconds (indepedent variable x), g is the gravitational constant, 9.8 m/s², m is the mass of the object, 68.1 kg and c is the drag coefficient, 12.5 kg/s. Initial conditions are, t_0 is 0 s and v_0 is 0 m/s [1]. Final value of time is 5 s and step size (h) is 0.5. This means that number of steps (n) for computation is 10.

At first, for this example, function modules are written for both IVP and exact solution of it respectively. These functions are illustrated in Table 3 and Table 4 respectively.

Here x is the independent variable corresponding to time, y0 is the initial dependent variable corresponding to velocity.

Function f(x, y0, h)
f = 9.8 - ((12.5 / 68.1) * y0)
End Function

Table 3: Function module for exact solution yielding velocity

```
Function fexact(x, y0, h,i)
fexact = ((9.8 * 68.1) / 12.5) * (1 - Exp((-12.5 / 68.1) * (h * i)))
End Function
```

Table 4: Function module for exact solution yielding velocity

Like geotechnical engineering example, equations (2.2) to (2.8) are employed to find the solutions by each order of RK method respectively. Besides exact solution of the IVP with true percent relative error for each RK method are also inserted in the computations. Finally IVP spreadsheet solver is used which is mentioned in the next section to obtain the complete solutions.

3) Chemical Engineering: Mixture Problem

The mixture problem related to a tank containing 1000 L of brine with 15 kg of dissolved salt. Pure water enters the tank at a rate of 10 L/min. The solution is kept thoroughly mixed and drains from the tank at the same time. In this problem, it is required to determine the amount of salt after t minutes in this tank. For this reason, the following IVP is employed:

$$\frac{dA}{dt} = \frac{-A}{100} \tag{3.5}$$

A(t) is the amount of salt after t minutes in tank, also the dependent variable is obtained by the following exact solution:

$$A(t) = 15e^{\left(\frac{-t}{100}\right)}$$
(3.6)

Initial conditions are, t_0 is 0 min and A_0 is 15 kg. Final value of time is 0.96 min and step size (h) is 0.02. Number of steps (n) for computation is 49.

At first, function modules are formed for both IVP and exact solution of the problem respectively. These functions are displayed in Table 5 and Table 6 respectively.

Here x is the independent variable corresponding to time, y0 is the initial dependent variable corresponding to amount of salt after t minutes in the tank.

Then, equations (2.2) to (2.8) are used to determine the solutions by writing codes for each order of RK method respectively. These codes are standard and valid for any scince and engineering problem including IVP. So there is no need to write cIVP for various problems. Besides exact solution of the IVP with true percent relative error for each RK method are also included in the computations. True percent relative error is in the following form:

$$\varepsilon_T = \left| \frac{ExactResult - ApproximateResult}{ExactResult} \right| \times 100 \tag{3.7}$$

Where Exact Result in other words true result represents the solution obtained by analytically. Approximate Result corresponds with the corresponding solution obtained by numerical methods, any order of RK methods.

Finally IVP spreadsheet solver is employed which is argued in the next section to obtain the complete solutions.

4. IVP spreadsheet solver

Using this IVP spreadsheet solver leads to a macro named RKSOLVER which solves the whole IVP at once completely.

The general procedure for obtaining complete solution of an IVP is composed of some steps. These steps are standard and applicable for any type of IVP.

The first step is to design an user interface input form (userform) called as UserForm4 to enable users to enter required data for solving an IVP completely. The standard form of UserForm4 for any problem is illustrated in Figure 4.1.

The second step is to generate a new tab name as IVP Solver with RKSOLVER macro including codes for solving IVP by both numerically (by each order of RK method) and analytically (gives exact solution). RKSOLVER also provides user to compute true percent relative error for each RK method.

Figure 4.2 illustrates the standard IVP Solver tab with RKSOLVER button. One more variation is to add a button assigned RKSOLVER macro in the spreadsheet. So user is able to run the macro simply by clicking this button. It is sufficient to start the complete solution procedure of IVPs.

Function f(x, y0, h)
f = -y0 / 100
End Function

Function fexact(x, y0, h, i) fexact = 15 * Exp(-(h * i) / 100) End Function

Table 6: Function module for exact solution of the problem

erForm4						
petine inputs						
nitial value of Independent N	umber of Steps (n):	Step Si	(h):			
ariable:		1				1 1 1 1 1 1
						:::::
Initial value of Dependent Variable	es:					
For Eule	er's Method					11111
For Heu	un's Method					
						1 1 1 1 1 1
For Mid	lpoint's Method					
						🔛
For Ral	ston's Method					
Eor Thir	rd Oder Bunge Kutta	Method				1 1 1 1 1 1
10111	d Oder Kunge Kutta	-ieulou				
For Fou	urth Oder Runge Kutt	ta Method				
*********************					SOLVE	E : : : E
For Fift	th Oder Runge Kutta	Method	::::::::	:		t : : : []
						: : : : :
						::::: :
						: : : : : :
						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Figure 4.1: The standard userform for all examples

X	4 9 • (4 • -				exa	amples - Microsof	't Excel	And Division		
File	Home Insert	Page L	ayout Fo	ormulas D	ata Review View Developer	Developer	ODE Solver			
dd-J	ns Macros RKSolver									
_	G10 •	0	f _x							
4	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J
1										
2		Xi	k1	k2_Heun	k2_Midpoint, Third and Fourth ord	er k2_Ralston's	k2_fifth order	k3_Third order	k3_Fourth order	k3_Fifth order
3										
	DICOLLED	-								
	RKSULVER									
0										
1										
2										
13										

Figure 4.2: The standard IVP Solver tab with RKSOLVER button

File	Home	Insert	Page La	iyout l	Formulas Data Review	View D)eveloper [Developer O	DE Solver					
Q ²	EA 🛃													
10-11	s macros RKSom	C1												
_	G10	- (e		fx										
4	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	Ĩ	K	L	М	N
		Xi	k1	k2_Heun	k2_Midpoint, Third and Fourth order	k2_Ralston's	k2_fifth order	k3_Third order	k3_Fourth order	k3_Fifth order	k4_Fourth order	k4_Fifth order	k5	k6
		_												

Figure 4.3: The standard blank spreadsheet image with k's (recurrence relationships) titles

-		A 16	of Sectors	and the state	(xamples - Micr	osoft Excel		-					
ie Layou	it Fo	ormulas	Data R	eview View	w Develope	Developer	ODE S	olver						3 ۵
<i>f</i> x 0	P	q	R	S	T	U	V	W	X	Y	Z	AA	AB	AC
ri+1Euler	yi+1Heun	yi+1Midpoint	yi+1Raiston's	yi+1Third Order	yi+1Fourth Order	yi+1Fifth Order	TRUE Results	Error_Euler	Error_Heun	Error_midpoint	Error_Raiston	Error_third order	Error_fourth order	Error_fifth order

Figure 4.4: The standard blank spreadsheet image with RK results, exact results and error titles

	The	5	CITE	2	iev		Tue	194		-	<u>u</u> r				5	-0	-ug	9		-	, CII	1		-	.0		>	3	-	-0	-1	113		-	CX II		.0			-	1e	P													
		- 6		36		63	122	. 6	裕		10		C'		1	*	1	00				ų	~	2		9	ŝ	1	Г	1	2		39		6	?)								_			_								
	888880	10101010		100.00					888		818181			81818	881			881			1818	80	386			888				888													88							188			0010	٩.,	
se	rForr	m4																																																ļ		224			
et	ine Ir	pu	ts .	4.4		11	11		:	: :		: :	:	: :	:		: :	:		:		:		: :		:		: :		:			: :		: :		:		:			:		: :		:		: :	:	1					
nit	al va	lue	ofI	nde	per	nder	nt		1	lur	nb	er	of	St	ep	s	(n)):				1	:	S	te	P	Si	e	Ch):							;	:	:		3	;	;			:		: :	;	;	;	:			
ari	able:									Г								-	•	•		:	:	г	-	_	_	_			_	_			-		:	:	:		:	:	:	: :	:	:	: :	: :	:	:	:	:	: :		
Ι.,					11	11	11				•	• •	•	• •	•	•	• •	•		:		-				•		• •		•	•	• •			• •		:		:			:		: :		:			:	-	:				
						1.1	2.2						÷.		•			•		•		÷.				•				•							•					•				•			•	•					
In	itial \	/alu	e of	De	per	der	nt V	ari	abl	es	:						• •	÷		÷		÷				÷											÷					•		: :		•			•						
		0.00					+ $+$		1			• •			-			-		•						•																•				-			-						
Г							F	or	Eu	ler	's I	٩e	the	bd				÷		÷		3		-		÷				-							-		1			÷				-			-						
							÷ •					• •					• •	•		•		•				•											•					•				•			•						
Г							F	or	He	un	s	Чe	th	od				-		÷						÷				-							-		÷			÷				-			-	8					
-								1				• •		• •	1		• :	:	-		-	-	-			:	-			-	-		. :	-	: :		-	-	:		-		-			•	1			-	-		: 1		
Г							F	or	Mi	dp	oin	ťs	M	eth	101	4		1		1		8				1																1								1					
-			• • •	• •		• •		•		• •	•	• •	•	• •			• :	:	:	:	-	:	:	: :		:	:	: :			:	: :	: :	:	: :	: :	:	:	:		-	:	:	: :		:	1	: :	:	:	:	:	: :		
Г							: F	or	Ra	Ist	on	sI	Me	th	od		1	:	1	:	1	:	:	: :	1	:	1	: :	:	:	:	: :	: :	1	: :	: :	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	: :	:	:	: :	: :	:	1	:	:	: :		
10	: :		11	1.1	1.1	1.1	::			: :	1	: :	:	: :	:	1	: :	:	1	:	1	1		: :		:	:	:		:			: :	:			:		:			:				:		: :	:	:	1				
E.					_		С. F	or	Th	ird	0	der	R	ur	a	K	aut	ta	N	1e	th	10	ь			:		: :														:				:		: :							
Į.,							t .																			1		: :		1			: :				1		:			:				:		: :	1	1					
_			•••		• •	• •				• •		• •	•	• •			• •					1				:		: :		;					• •		•		•	•		•		• •		•		• •	•		2				
ι.							: F	or	Fo	ur	th	od	er	R	n	ge	K	ut	ta	P	1e	th	100	d		:																									Ł				
1	01010		: :	1.1	1.1	11	11		1	: :		: :	1	: :	1	1	: :	:		:		1		: :		:		: :		1			1								S	0	LV	'E							E				
-			•••				i F	or	Fif	th	00	ler	R	un	ge	K	ut	ta	M	le	th	00				:		: :					: :		-			-	-				-				-			-	Ł				
ι.							1.																			:		: :														1				1		: :							
: :	:::		:::	::	1.1	::	11		:	: :		: :	:	: :	:	1	: :	:		:		:		: :		:		: :		:			: :		: :		:		:	: :		:	1	: :		:		: :	:	1	1	:	: :		
			: : :	11	11	11	11		:	: :		: :	:	: :	:		: :	:		:		:		: :		:		: :		:			: :		: :		:		:			:		: :		:		: :	:	1					
			: :									: :	;	: :			: :	;		;				: :		;		:)																		;		: :							
							11			: :		: :	:	: :			: :	:		:				: :		:																				:		: :							

Figure 4.5: Userform for geotechnical engineering example

Then the only thing is to specify sufficient place in spreadsheet cells to make macro fill them with solutions for any IVP examples. For this reason, the titles for k's, RK results, exact results and error titles are written as is the case with Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4 respectively.

The working procedure for IVP solver namely RKSOLVER is described for each numerical examples (geotechnical engineering, mechanical engineering and chemical engineering). The steps for geotechnical engineering example are illustrated in the Figure 4.5- Figure 4.11.

The first step is to call userform by clicking run in the toolbar or simply clicking RKSOLVER button. The image of this userform for geotechnical engineering example is given in Figure 4.5. This userform is standard for any IVP example.

Due to the fact that initial conditions are different for all IVPs, the filled userform is distinctive for all problems. As is the case with geotechnical engineering example. Userform is filled with initial conditions of the problem in Figure 4.6. Then by clicking SOLVE button in UserForm4; k's, numerical solutions obtained form all RK methods, exact solutions (true solutions) and true percent relative errors can be obtained and displayed as the spreadsheet images in Figure 4.7 to Figure 4.11 respectively.

To Figure 4.10 and Figure 4.11, fifth-order RK method gives the best solution in terms of the least error and best convergence to exact solutions.

Similarly for mechanical engineering, userform is invoked by clicking RKSOLVER in Figure 4.12. Then this form is filled with necessary data as it is shown in Figure 4.13.

By clicking the SOLVE button in userform, computations are performed and given in the spreadsheet images of Figure 4.14 to Figure 4.18. To Figure 4.17 and Figure 4.18, the worst solution is obtained by Euler's method while fifth-order RK method is the best one with the least error and best convergence to the exact solution.

For mixture problem, userform is called by clicking RKSOLVER button in spreadsheet. Figure 4.19 illustrates this process.

Then this userform is filled by entering initial conditions as given in Figure 4.20. Clicking the SOLVE button in userform leads to complete solution of the problem. These solutions are displayed in Figure 4.21 to Figure 4.25.

To Figure 4.24 and Figure 4.25, all RK methods give quite well solutions with convergence to exact results in terms of less errors.

5. Conclusion

An IVP solver with use of RK methods including also the highest order; fifth order has been generated by VBA for the first time in literature. Emphasis was on all types of RK methods usable simultaneously and the solver generated applicable to IVPs for science and engineering problems.

1			-	1000	The same	100		x_geotechic	al engineering	- Microsof	ft Excel	And the owner of the owner of the owner of the owner of the owner of the owner of the owner owne		-
	Home In	sert Pa	ge Layout	Formulas	Data	Review	View [Developer	Developer	ODE Sol	ver			-
þ														
Ir	Macros RKSolver													
	New Group	6												
_	K23	+ (-	Jx											_
	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	н	1	L	к	L	M	
			6.1	k2 Herre	1-2 Adida	ha Dalat	a la fifth	in the The local	alia Countle	ha rifth a	he Countin	hd Lifth and a	1.15	1.6
		~1	K1	K2_Hean	k2_whop	K2_Kaiso	JIK2_IIIIII	JIKS_IIIIIG	CKS_POULUI	K5_FIITIO	K4_POULT	K4_FITCH OTCLET	NJ.	KO
	RKSOLVER													
						_	_							
					UserForm								25	
					Define Inp	uts								
					Initial valu	e of Indeper	ident Nu	mber of Step	s (n):	Step Size (h):			
					o o			12		0.1				
					Initial va	lue of Deper	ident Variable	s:						
							Eor Eule	r's Method						
					1		For Heu	n's Method						
							For Mide	oint's Method						
					1		For Rals	ton's Method						
					1		For Thin	d Oder Runge	Kutta Method					
							Eor Fou	th Oder Run	ae Kutta Metho	a			1	
					1		101104	ar other rearry	ge Hatta Pietro			SOLVE		
							- For Fifth	Oder Runge	Kutta Method					
					1									

Figure 4.6: Filled userform for geotechnical engineering example

X	J = (= - =	Sec. 1	-	-	-		ex	_geotechical	engineering	g - Microsof	't Excel	A		
Fi	le Home In	sert Pag	e Layout	Formulas	Data	Review	View De	eveloper	Developer	ODE Sol	ver			
dd Add	Ins Macros RKSolver													
	AC14	- (**	fx 11.8	3919479320	589									
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	M	N
1														
2		Xi	k1	k2_Heun	k2_Midpo	k2_Ralsto	k2_fifth or	k3_Third c	k3_Fourth	k3_Fifth o	k4_Fourth	k4_Fifth order	k5	k6
3		C	4.436557	6.404861	5.420709	5.912785	4.928633	7.278111	5.639022	4.955922	6.938341	5.541972342	6.188649	6.909886
4		0.1	6.404861	9.683039	8.262263	8.972651	7.624295	11.3957	8.746018	7.691921	10.79344	8.635190014	9.601664	10.81352
5	RKSOLVER	0.2	9.246415	14.51246	12.5582	13.51918	11.77238	17.70682	13.48594	11.91246	16.68329	13.42041413	14.86514	16.87125
6		0.3	13.34864	21.60281	19.0397	20.25015	18.14649	27.34529	20.69257	18.41256	25.64941	20.80938265	22.96947	26.2515
7		0.4	19.27084	31.98343	28.80048	30.18418	27.92855	42.01913	31.61722	28.40868	39.25563	32.19948491	35.42978	40.74824
8		0.5	27.82046	47.14615	43.47453	44.80645	42.92275	64.29676	48.13482	43.76028	59.84624	49.73011234	54.5618	63.11256
9		0.6	40.16316	69.25174	65.50021	66.28005	65.881	98.03436	73.0507	67.30723	90.93029	76.67334187	83.90165	97.55845
10		0.7	57.98178	101.4283	98.51241	97.75227	100.9975	149.0128	110.5568	103.383	137.7531	118.0289297	128.8446	150.5341
11		0.8	83.70573	148.2025	147.9243	143.7986	154.6603	225.8868	166.9091	158.5952	208.1455	181.4298683	197.6162	231.8965
12		0.9	120.8423	216.1221	221.7897	211.0657	236.5922	341.5963	251.4339	243.0114	313.7849	278.5197644	302.7478	356.7003
13		1	174.4546	314.6556	332.0807	309.2025	361.5829	515.4661	378.0198	371.9605	472.0657	427.0466658	463.3177	547.9192
14		1.1	251.8524	457.4918	496.5791	452.2083	552.1159	776.3237	567.3289	568.7676	708.8726	654.0442822	708.3533	840.5834
15														
16														

Figure 4.7: Computation results for k's for geotechnical engineering example

			-	-	ex_ge	eotechical engineering - M	crosoft Excel
ne Inse	rt Page	Layout	Formul	as Data Rev	riew View Deve	loper Developer O	DE Solver
RKSolver							
-	. (-	f _x 1	1.891947	9320589			
0	Р		Q	R	S	т	U
yi+1Euler	yi+1Heun	yi+1Mi	dpoint	yi+1Ralston's	yi+1Third Order	yi+1Fourth Order	yi+1Fifth Orde
1.443656	1.542071	1.5	42070924	1.542070924	1.556625079	1.558239338	1.55839448
2.084142	2.346466	2.3	68297181	2.353743026	2.404118656	2.411820362	2.42233410
3.008783	3.534409	3.6	24117018	3.563235792	3.69055243	3.712120001	3.75650291
4.343647	5.281982	5.5	28087286	5.358200416	5.638098147	5.686496553	5.81332352
6.270731	7.844696	8.4	08135761	8.012840169	8.579629901	8.675861063	8.97927695
9.052777	11.59303	12.	75558858	11.92728563	13.01321875	13.1906175	13.8454980
13.06909	17.06377	19.	30560932	17.68472762	19.68319123	19.99387199	21.315293
18.86727	25.03428	29.	15685081	26.13427148	29.70059605	30.22509227	32.7677855
27.23784	36.62969	43.	94928083	38.51103481	44.72209143	45.58372588	50.3068297
39.32207	53.47791	66	5.1282487	56.6101552	67.21537894	68.60163262	77.1394174
56.76753	77.93342	99.	33631407	83.03881122	100.852767	103.046987	118.150615
81.95277	113.4006	148	3.9942263	121.5811084	151.0943093	154.5226722	180.776672

Figure 4.8: Computation results for each RK method for geotechnical engineering example

V W X Y Z AA AB IRUE Results Error_Euler Error_Heun Error_midpoint Error_salston's Error_third order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_salston's Error_third order Error_fourth order Error_solston Error_solston Error_solston Error_solston Error_solston Error_solston Error_solston Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_third order Error_solston's Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third order Error_third ord	Constanting
V W X Y Z AA AB RUE Results Error_Euler Error_Heun Error_midpoint Error_Ralston's Error_third order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_station 60050920 1.047421393 0.1047421393 0.1047421393 0.013501165 0.009916402 0.069056924 0.069056924 0.069056925 0.069056925 0.069056925 0.069056925 0.069056925 0.069056925 0.069056926 0.069056926 0.069056926 0.069056926 0.069056926 0.96056926 0.96056926 0.96056926 0.96056926 0.96056926 0.96056926 0.96056926 0.970774666 0.8205616 2.63346012 0.43714535 4.34003701 5.851617122 2.487636662 1.91774866 9.19149146 1.4.7708100 1.4.6326716 6.32265406 1.2.8232154 6.656680305 5.609904312 9.191495146 31.7708100 1.4.6326716 6.32265406 1.2.8232154 6.656680305 5.609904312	۵ 🕜 🗖
V V X Y Z AA AB RUE Results Error_Euler Error_Heun Error_midpoint Error_Ralston's Error_third order Error_fourth order E 1.558393874 7.362589976 1.047421393 1.047421393 0.1047421393 0.013501165 0.069056924 2.428591448 14.1810264 3.8101137 2.482685143 3.08196229 1.00795683 0.069056924 3.784703066 20.50144892 6.613271655 4.24303701 5.851617122 2.487636662 1.91774866 5.893056116 3.177651002 1.04526716 6.32266406 1.28232124 4.05563059 5.069904312	
V W X Y Z AA AB RUE Results Error_Euler Error_Heun Error_nidpoint Error_Ralston's Error_third order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_s005693 0.113501165 0.009916402 0.103501165 0.009916402 0.103501165 0.00916402 0.005056933 0.0690569245 0.03055663 0.069056925 0.00505663 0.069056925 0.103501165 0.0905916402 0.191774866 5.880056516 26.35460128 10.41321393 3.081596229 1.0076255633 0.0690569324 0.191774866 5.880056516 26.35460128 0.44583833 6.27273119 9.151511461 4.407525912 3.5869436471 9.1391495146 31.77681002 14.6526716 8.522654606 12.8232154 6.656680399 5.609904312	
V W X Y Z AA AB RUE Results Error_Euler Error_Heun Error_midpoint Error_Ralston's Error_third order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_station Error_station Error_third order Error_fourth order Error_station <th></th>	
V W X Y Z AA AB RUE Results Error_Euler Error_Heun Error_midpoint Error_Ralston's Error_third order Error_fourth order Error_fourth order Error_station Error_third order Error_station Error_third order Error_station Error_third order Error_third o	
RUE Results Error_Euler Error_Heun Error_midpoint Error_Ralston's Error_third order Error_fourth order E 1.558393874 7.362589976 1.047421393 1.047421393 0.1047421393 0.103501165 0.009916402 2.428591448 1.418310264 3.8161137 2.482695413 3.08196292 1.00795683 0.0690569245 3.784702066 20.50144892 6.613271633 4.243003701 5.551617122 2.487636652 1.91774866 5.898056516 26.35460128 0.44528333 6.27273119 9.153118461 4.40752912 3.566934047 9.134495146 31.777681002 1.4.6526716 8.322654066 12.8232154 6.66660309 5.60904312	AC
1.558393874 7.362589976 1.047421393 1.047421393 0.103501165 0.009916402 2.425931468 14.1810264 3.8161137 2.482685143 3.081990229 1.00759583 0.0690569324 3.764702066 20.50144892 6.61271635 4.243093701 5.851617122 2.487636622 1.91774866 5.89056516 26.35460128 1.04452333 6.2727319 9.153118461 4.40752912 3.58694347 9.191495146 31.77681002 1.46.526716 8.32265406 1.28232154 6.66663059 5.050904312	Error_fifth order
2.428591468 14.18310264 3.381611137 2.482685413 3.081969229 1.007695683 0.6690569245 3.784702066 20.50144892 6.612271635 4.243003701 5.581617122 2.487636662 1.917774866 5.898056516 26.35406128 10.483833 6.2727319 9.153114841 4.40752912 3.586943671 9.191495146 31.77681002 14.6526716 8.522654606 12.82332154 6.656863059 5.609904312	3.93667E-0
3.784702066 20.50144892 6.613271635 4.243003701 5.851617122 2.487636662 1.91774866 5.88056516 26.35460128 10.4458833 6.27273119 9.153118461 4.40752912 3.586943671 9.191495146 31.77681002 1.4.6526716 8.522654066 12.232154 6.65680359 5.609904312	0.25765403
5.898056516 26.35460128 10.44538333 6.27273119 9.153118461 4.407525912 3.586943647 9.191495146 31.77681002 14.6526716 8.522654606 12.82332154 6.656863059 5.609904312	0.74508253
9.191495146 31.77681002 14.6526716 8.522654606 12.82332154 6.656863059 5.609904312	1.43662563
	2.30885385
14.32396973 36.79980377 19.06555263 10.94934701 16.73198244 9.150752258 7.912277461	3.34035693
22.32238668 41.45297508 23.55758767 13.51458252 20.77582085 11.82308816 10.43129807	4.51158468
34.78707067 45.76355247 28.03568497 16.18480588 24.87360685 14.62173883 13.11400561	5.80470019
54.21195784 49.75675972 32.43245311 18.93065186 28.96210293 17.50511655 15.91573575	7.2034440
84.48358301 53.45596349 36.70023859 21.72651024 32.99271506 20.43971557 18.79885987	8.6930090
131.6586982 56.88281006 40.80648133 24.55013198 36.92873139 23.3983259 21.73172879	10.2599242
205.1761088 60.05735196 44.7301015 27.38227316 40.74304797 26.35872171 24.68778502	11.8919479

Figure 4.9: Computation results for exact results (true results) and true percent relative errors of each RK method for geotechnical engineering example

		and the second division of the second divisio	ex_geotechical e	ngineering - Mi	crosoft Excel	-			-	- 0
c	Data Re	view View	Developer D	eveloper OI	DE Solver					a 🕜 🗆
	U	v	w	×	Y	-	Z	AA	AB	AC
+3	Fifth Order	TRUE Results	Error_Euler	Error_Heun	Error_midpoint		rror_Raiston's	Error_third order	Error_fourth order	Error_fifth order
	1.55839448	1.55839	7.3625899	1.047421393	1.0474213	93	1.047421393	0.113501165	0.009916402	3.93667E-
	2.422334104	4 2.42859	1468 14.1831020	3.381611137	2.4826854	13	3.081969229	1.007695683	0.690569245	0.2576540
	3.75650291	3.78470	2066 20.5014489	6.613271635	4.2430037	01	5.851617122	2.487636662	1.917774866	0.7450825
	5.81332352	5 5.89805	6516 26.354601	10.44538333	6.272731	19	9.153118461	4.407525912	3.586943647	1.4366256
	8.97927695	9.19149	5146 31.7768100	14.6526716	8.5226546	06	12.82332154	6.656863059	5.609904312	2.3088538
	13.8454980	1 14.3239	6973 36.799803	7 19.06555263	10.949347	01	16.73198244	9.150752258	7.912277461	3.3403569
	21.315293	3 22.3223	8668 41.4529750	23.55758767	13.514582	52	20.77582085	11.82308816	10.43129807	4.5115846
	32.7677855	1 34.7870	45.7635524	28.03568497	16.184805	88	24.87360685	14.62173883	13.11400561	5.8047001
	50.3068297	54.2119	49.756759	2 32.43245311	18.930651	86	28.96210293	17.50511655	15.91573575	7.2034444
	77.1394174	84.4835	8301 53.4559634	49 36.70023859	21.726510	124	32.99271506	20.43971557	18.79885987	8.6930090
	118.150615	5 131.658	6982 56.8828100	40.80648133	24.550131	98	36.92873139	23.3983259	21.73172879	10.2599242
	180.7766720	8 205.176	1088 60.057351	44.7301015	27.382273	16	40.74304797	26.358/21/1	24.68778502	11.891947
		Comp	arison of Tru merical Solut Metho	e Solution ions of All ods	with RK			Comparison Error versus first through	of True Perce Computation fifth order R	nt Relative al Effort for K methods
		250					È 55		1	
		200		1 -	yi+1Heun		50 - 45 -	_		Error_third order
		150			- yi+1Midpoint		월 40 -		-	Error_midpoint
		100			yi+1Raiston's yi+1Third Order yi+1Fourth Order		22 35 - 24 30 - 25 -			Error_Raiston's
		50		e -	- yi+1Fifth Order - TRUE Results		20 15 10			Error_Euler
		-0.4	0.1 0.6	1.1			: L	×	-	

Figure 4.10: Graphical display of the computation results for geotechnical engineering example

d 17 -	64	- -						-			1.11				c	x_geote	hical eng	ineering -	Microsoft Ex	cel	-			-	-	-		- 0
	lome	e	Inser	t	Page	Layou	at .	Form	ulas	Da	ita F	Review		View	(Develope	r Dev	eloper	ODE Solver								۵	() - d
ns Macr	os R	KSolv	er	_																								
¥3	7		*	(*		f _x																						
A	8	c	0	e		6				x		M	N	0	,	9		5	۲	14	v	w	x	Y	1	**	Að	AC
OLVER	0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5	43 4.4566 6.4049 8.2464 12.346 13.2464 13.2464 13.2468 14.2468	12,90,0 5,4040 3,600 14,510 14,510 11,600 67,140 67,140 105,40 145,51 145,51 145,51 145,51	40_010 5.422 6.262 12.55 18.0 18.0 18.0 18.1 147.6 147.6 221.7 552.0	5 31_9401 5 3110 6 3912 10 30 1	12 k2_579 + 0 4.9200 1 .6242 0 11.772 0 11.40 4 .9200 1 .6242 0 11.40 4 .9200 1 .6242 1 .6242 1 .025 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .6467 1 .64777 1 .64777 1 .64777 1 .64777 1 .64777 1 .64777 1 .647777 1 .647777 1 .647777 1 .647777 1 .64777777 1 .64777777 1 .64777777777777777777777777777777777777	145_fhid 7.2761 11.596 17.707 27.545 42.010 64.207 95.054 149.01 225.69 341.6 515.47	14,76,45 1415 1416 1146 1146 1146 1146 1147 46,115 110,146 116,511 111,146 111,14	43,000 (43220 7,0010 11,012 12,412 12,420 42,74 42,74 42,74 10,327 102,55 10,55	44_70_010 k 0.3003 10.793 10.603 10.603 10.646 10.546 10.546 10.546 10.546 10.546 10.575 10.615 10.715 1	4,4% order 5,54971541 6,63911541 8,63911541 10,40041413 10,40041413 10,40041413 10,40041413 10,4004041 10,4004051 41,4044051	45 0.0000 0.0017 14.000 22.004 04.002 04.002 130.02 130.02 130.02 130.02 130.02 130.02 130.02 130.02 145.02 14	6 3099 10.014 10.014 10.011 10.012 40.740 40.740 40.740 10.015 10	y-ch/or 1.4437 2.0541 3.0088 4.3428 6.2707 9.0528 18.049 18.647 27.258 39.522 54.768	y-1924 1.5411 1.5415 1.3445 1.3544 1.355 1.555 1.555 1.555 1.555 1.555 1.555 1.555 1.555	+-///dpoint	y-(%/s/201) 1.5+207022- 2.55742020 2.55742020 3.55220420 3.55220420 3.52220420 3.5222742 24.55427345 35.5120545 35.610552 35.610552	y+thid Orde 1.556015079 2.454118505 3.850502147 8.87961905 19.8651913 29.7059405 44.72109145 47.7155745 10.652747	yx*our0 0x0v 1 x00000000 1 x11000000 8 x0000000 8 x0000000 10 x0000100 90 x0000100 90 x0000000 45 x0000000 45 x0000000 10 x00000000 10 x0000000000000	p=470 Order 1.0000440 1.420040 1.420040 1.420040 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.400000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.4000000 1.40000000 1.40000000 1.40000000 1.4000000000000000000000000000000000000	THUE ROUTS 1 00000000 2 40000000 1 00000000 1 00000000 1 00000000 1 00000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 000000 1 000000 1 000000 1 000000 1 000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 000000 1 000000 1 000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 0000000 1 00000000 1 00000000 1 00000000 1 00000000 1 000000000 1 0000000000	Bror, S. Jo 7. 30200097 14. 100000 10. 0004400 10. 0004400 10. 746000 14. 400000 40. 400000 40. 400000 40. 766000 40. 766000 40. 766700 40. 767000 40. 767000 40. 767000 40. 767000 40. 76700	0101_70_1 1.01142139 3.55165114 6.61337165 10.4638536 10.665836 23.6786716 10.0658536 23.6786716 10.055656 53.4524553 54.7003566 40.0064633	5ror_midpoint 1.047421393 4.240000703 4.240000703 4.240000703 4.240000703 4.240000703 1.8400000 1.8400000 1.84000000 1.840000000 1.726000000 1.40000000 1.40000000 1.40000000 1.400000000 1.40000000 1.400000000 1.400000000 1.400000000 1.400000000 1.400000000 1.40000000 1.400000000 1.40000000 1.400000000 1.40000000 1.40000000 1.400000000 1.400000000 1.40000000 1.400000000 1.400000000 1.400000000 1.40000000 1.400000000 1.400000000 1.4000000000000000000000000000000000000	800 (Adder) 1.04742100 3.00100000 3.0000000 3.0000000 3.000000 30.7700000 30.0770000 30.0770000 30.0770000 30.0077000 30.0077000	5mg (hind oxfor 0.1130001000 0.407000000 0.407000000 0.407000000 0.107700000 0.10770000 0.10770000 0.10770000 0.10700000 0.10700000 0.40700000 0.40900000 0.10900000 0.10900000 0.1090000000000	bror_bourdt oxide 1 0.0000000440 0.0000000440 0.0000000440 0.000040047 0.000040047 0.00007460 0.000040040 0.00075575 0.00075575 0.00075575 0.00075575	Hen, (M) onder 3.936676-03 0.127654-030 0.74060330 1.45063300 1.45063500 4.931755-483 8.804730189 7.2054440 7.2054440 1.450500074 10.20594-12
																					Compari Nume	son of True rical Soluti Metho	Solution ons of All ds	with RK		Comparison Error versus first through	of True Percen Computational fifth order RK	t Relative Effort for methods
																				and the state				-y-bien -y-biene -y-biene -y-biene -y-biene -y-biene -y-biene -y-biene -y-biene -y-biene	These Processing Registerion of the			Conception of the Conception of the conception of Conception of the Conception of Conception of the Conception of the Co
																					2			-Yor tauts -y-Sizer			*****	Sec. Ser

Figure 4.11: The spreadsheet image of full computation results for geotechnical engineering

le Ie	Home Insert	Page Li	ayout Fo	ormulas D	ex_mechanica ata Review View Developer	Developer	ODE Solver	1000	A. 92	100.0
n	s Macros RKSolver									
	G10 -	-	f _x							
	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J
		×i	k1	k2_Heun	k2_Midpoint, Third and Fourth order	k2_Ralston's	k2_fifth order	k3_Third order	k3_Fourth order	k3_Fifth orde
	DIVEOUNED			_						
	RKSOLVER			UserF	orm4				23	
				Defin	e Inputs					
				Initia	value of Independent Number of Steps (n)): Step :	Size (h):			
				Init	al value of Dependent Variables:					
					For Euler's Method					
					Provide states of					
					For Hearts Mediloa					
					For Midpoint's Method					
					For D slaten's Mathead					
					. or Relatoria Heardo					
					For Third Oder Runge Kut	ta Method				
					For Fourth Oder Runge K	utta Method				
								SOLVE		
					For Fifth Oder Runge Kut	ta Method				

Figure 4.12: Userform in spreadsheet for mechanical engineering example

La	n) - (n - =		_	-	-	-	Statement of the local division of the local	ex_mechani	cal engineering -	Microsoft Excel	And Address of the Owner of the	-
File	Home Insert	Page Lay	out Fo	rmulas	Data	Review	View	Developer	Developer	ODE Solver		
d-Ins	Macros RKSolver											
	F11 -	- 1	Se									
	A	В	с	E	C		E		F	G	Ĥ	1
		×i	k1	k2_H	leun k2_	Midpoint,	Third and	Fourth orde	er k2_Ralston's	k2_fifth order	k3_Third order	k3_Fourth o
	DISCOLUTED	1		-								
	RKSOLVER				JserForm4							235
					Define Inp	uts						
					Initial valu	e of Indepen	dent N	umber of Steps	(n): Step	Size (h):		
					0			10	0.5	5		
					Initial va	ue of Depend	ent Variable	s:				
-					0		For Eule	r's Method				
					_		_					
					0		For Heu	n's Method				
					0		For Mid	oint's Method				
					-		For Ral	hon's Method				
					10							
					0		For This	d Oder Runge H	Kutta Method			
					1 -							
					0		For Fou	rth Oder Runge	Kutta Method			
					1						SOLVE	
							— For Fift	n Oder Runge K	utta Method			
-					1.5							
-				- 1								
				U								

Figure 4.13: Filled userform for mechanical engineering example

X	₽, (* * =				1.0 1.1	ex_m	echanical engin	eering - Microso	ft Excel	- 8 7	1.01	-	20	
File	Home 1	Insert	Page Layo	out Fo	ormulas Data Review \	/iew Deve	loper Devel	oper ODE So	lver					۵ 🕜
المن المن من المن المن من المن المن المن	s Macros RKSolve	r												
	B25	• (*	fs.											
4	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	I	J	K	L	М	N
1		x	k1	k2 Heun	k2 Midpoint Third and Fourth or	k2 Raiston's	k2 fifth order	k3 Third order	k3 Fourth order	k3 Fifth order	k4 Fourth order	k4 Fifth order	k5	kf
3			0 9.8	8.90059	9.350293686	9.125440529	9.575146843	8.983132583	9.370929989	9.577726381	8.939966044	9.360375096	9.14814	8.94066
4		(.5 8.90059	8.12499	8.533426269	8.329209415	8.736408948	8.19112368	8.549041052	8.738292419	8.156022704	8.53955312	8.34661	8.1549
5	RKSOLVER		1 8.08372	7.41869	7.787740461	7.603528599	7.971397809	7.469476731	7.799767812	7.97268638	7.441297036	7.790959346	7.61556	7.43843
6		1	.5 7.34182	6.77539	7.107051081	6.942077706	7.273610816	6.81193767	7.116673628	7.274393342	6.789659303	7.108216871	6.94877	6.78512
7		1	2 6.66801	6.18942	6.485708696	6.339106972	6.637120738	6.212807884	6.493893042	6.637475138	6.195523118	6.485513589	6.34056	6.18939
8			.5 6.05604	5.65558	5.918553387	5.789385453	6.056524649	5.666894927	5.926081097	6.056519137	5.653797286	5.91755202	5.78577	5.64614
9			3 5.50024	5.16916	5.400872476	5.288153952	5.52689741	5.169467617	5.408367139	5.526591591	5.159841909	5.399503602	5.2797	5.15074
10		3	4.99545	4.72588	4.928361896	4.831082233	5.043749286	4.716215096	4.936312726	5.043195139	4.709428386	4.926967059	4.81805	4.69895
11			4 4.53698	4.32186	4.497090889	4.414230134	4.602987332	4.303209528	4.505873268	4.602230083	4.298702946	5 <u>4.495930472</u>	4.39691	4.28693
12		1	.5 4.12059	3.95356	4.103469728	4.034012211	4.200880221	3.926872106	4.113363062	4.199959123	3.924153425	4.102736727	4.01271	3.91116

Figure 4.14: Computation results for k's for mechanical engineering example

				C.C.mee	channear eng	incering where	SSOIT EXCEL
Inse	rt	Page L	ayout Fo	rmulas D	ata Rev	view View	Developer
	Ca	libri (Body	/) ~ 10	т А^ А	= = =		Wrap Text
nter	в	ΙŪ	•	🏠 - <u>A</u> -			🖬 Merge & Center
rs _i			Font	rsi.		Alignment	
	- 6		f.x.				
0	6	Р	Q	R	S	т	U
yi+sEu	ler	yi+1Heun	yi+1Midpoint	yi+1Ralston's	yi+1Third Ord	yi+1Fourth Order	yi+1Fifth Order
	4.9	4.67515	4.67514684	4.67514684	4.6820256	4.681867783	4.68187063
9.35	029	8.93154	8.94185998	8.93498121	8.9508103	8.950329842	8.951759743
13.3	922	12.8071	12.8357302	12.8167774	12.842823	12.8419993	12.84604052
17.0	631	16.3364	16.3892557	16.3544403	16.39132	16.39024353	16.39786458
20.3	971	19.5508	19.6321101	19.5788115	19.626625	19.62547184	19.63744819
23.4	251	22.4787	22.5913868	22.5179473	22.576388	22.57539771	22.59233293
26.1	752	25.1461	25.291823	25.197372	25.265821	25.26527779	25.28762321
28.6	729	27.5764	27.756004	27.6403069	27.717913	27.71812971	27.74620258
30.9	414	29.7911	30.0045494	29.8678802	29.953626	29.95493061	29,98893081
22.0	017	31 8096	32 0562843	31 899316	31 992071	31 99479802	32 03482341

Figure 4.15: Computation results for each RK method for mechanical engineering example

rosoft Excel			Statement Statement		Chart	Fools		-
Develop	er Deve	loper Ol	DE Solver	Des	ign Layo	out Format		
Wrap Tex	t	General	*					Σ AutoS
Merge &	Center -	······································	00, 0,. 0.€ 00.	Cor	nditional F natting - as	ormat Cell Table - Styles -	Insert Delete F	ormat
t.	Esc.	Numbe	er 🗇	_	Styl	es	Cells	
V	W	x	Y		Z	AA	AB	AC
TRUE Results	Error_Euler	Error_Heun	Error_midpoin	t	Error_Raistor	Error_third order	Error_fourth order	Error_fifth order
4.6818706	4.6590216	0.1436134	0.14361	3389	0.1436134	0.003310099	6.09425E-05	1.30578E-07
8.9531822	4.4354227	0.241706	0.12646	0405	0.2032908	0.026492481	0.031858677	0.015887815
12.849937	4.2196044	0.3330287	0.11056	0409	0.2580538	0.055359434	0.061773432	0.030324126
16.404981	4.0114882	0.4177613	0.09585	5366	0.3080802	0.083269244	0.089834125	0.04337841
19.648278	3.8109851	0.4960917	0.08228	7895	0.3535514	0.110203575	0.116073336	0.055119649
22.607167	3.617996	0.568215	0.069	8014	0.3946518	0.136147269	0.140527115	0.065616264
25.306587	3.4324119	0.6343328	0.058340	0185	0.4315674	0.161088317	0.163234757	0.074935927
27.769291	3.2541143	0.6946524	0.04784	9573	0.4644862	0.185017819	0.184238583	0.083145376
30.016038	3.0829762	0.7493857	0.03827	6016	0.4935966	0.207929928	0.203583685	0.090310244
32.065765	2.918862	0.7987488	0.02956	7196	0.5190872	0.229821773	0.221317681	0.096494889

Figure 4.16: Computation results for exact results (true results) and true percent relative errors of each RK method for mechanical engineering example



Figure 4.17: Graphical display of the computation results for mechanical engineering example

X 🔒	7 - (4 e	Ŧ				-	100	-		Acres	eçr	mechanica	l eng	ineeri	ng -	Micros	soft E	Excel		frank 1					-		-		- (3	3
File	Hor	ne	Ins	ert P	Page La	rout	Form	ulas	Data	Review	View	v Dev	eloper	Dev	/elope	.r	ODE S	Solver	r											۵ ()	- 6	9 8
Ê,	Cut			Calibri		×	11	A A	=	= =	\$	Wra	p Text		Gen	eral			¥	ł	4	J			+	*		Σ Auto	Sum *	7	A	
Paste	J Form	nat P	ainter	B /	Ū		- 3	• <u>A</u>	E	13	律律	Mer Mer	ge & Cente	17		• %	•	•.0 .00	.00. 0.¢	Condi Format	tional F ting * as	ormat Table	Cell * Styles	• li	nsert *	Delete I	ormat	2 Clear	FI FI	ort & Fi ilter * Si	ind & elect *	
CI	ppoard		19	6	-	Font			*		Alignm	ent		198		NUI	imper	_	18		STY	les				Cells			Eartin	9		-
	C23		. 0	6		lx .	,	6	×	1	1	(N	N	0	1	9	1	1	7	U	1 V	W	x	Y	1		14	ĸ	10	T
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	8	11 05 12 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	42,54 8.8 8.900 805 8.104 807 7.408 807 6.000 804 5.000 804 5.000 804 6.000 804 8.000 804 8.000 804 8.000 804 8.000 804 8.000	e k2_Mappin, TY 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 8 8 8 8 8 8	Station S	2 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52	42_Results 8_125440028 8_200004405 7_400000000 8_540007706 4_20000570 5_20005702 5_20005702 5_20005702 4_20000000 4_404000000 4_404000000 4_4040000000	12,000 prov 8,000 prov 1,000	C. Thirdonian A SECTION A SECTION T 455-1570 C 2005/1994 C 2005/19	12 Fourth onder 8 375000000 2 54000000 7 100070000 5 40000000 5 40000000 5 40000000 4 50007000 4 50007000 4 10000000	K2_FM10164 8_100716680 8_10016459 1_0708659 6_050747559 6_050747559 6_050747559 6_050747559 6_050747559 6_050745559 6_050745559 6_05075559 6_100095159	42 (South order 8 (1996)(1994) 8 (1995)(1994) 9 (1995)(1994) 9 (1997)(1994) 9 (1997)(1994) 9 (1997)(1994) 9 (1994)(1994)(1994) 9 (1994)(1994)(1994) 9 (1994)(1994	K4_FR1036F \$ 36071394 \$ 350502 1 70050394 1 30018871 6 4001058 \$ 5170503 5 5170503 4 2005705 4 2005705 4 3001977	15 5 1414 6 24611 7 5155 6 34877 6 34550 5 78277 5 3757 4 51815 4 31851 4 31871	13 9405 8 9405 8 1540 7 42940 6 78023 6 78023 6 78025 5 44024 8 10005 8 4 10005 8 10005 8 10005 8 10005 8 10005	-dar y 43 5253 1351 7361 2371 1451 8476 1455 2464 1367	V-CHALK (1-00) 4 (1751) 4 (17 0 (2015) 0 (10) 10 (2015) 10 (10) 10 (2015) 10 (10) 10 (2015) 10 (10) 10 (2016) 10 (10) 10 (2016) 10 (10) 10 (2016) 10 (10) 10 (2016) 10 (10)	Adadim 15146843 4250077 4257000 4200075 4200075 4200075 9018020 9018020 9018020 9018040 900840 900840	y-character 4 CTL Hallon 14 ED-Shill 14 ED-Shill 14 ED-Shill 15 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 16 ED-Shill 17 ED-Shill 18 ED-Shill 18 ED-Shill 19 ED-Shill 19 ED-Shill 10 E	9-7110 0rd 4 560000 10 940600 16 960600 16 960600 16 960600 16 960600 16 960600 10 970600 10 970600 10 950600 10 950600 10 950600	Saurt Drar 4 0000000 10 240000 10 240000 10 200000 10 200000 10 200000 10 200000 10 200000 10 200000 10 200000	440 440 1144 1144 1144 1146 1146 1146 11	r 75,074 2755 4,612 2755 4,612 2755 4,612 2755 1,2405 2655 12,405 2655 12,405 2055 12,605 2055 2,755 2055 2,755 2055 2,055	Ja Droji, 104 (114) 114 (114) 115 (114) 115 (114) 115 (114) 115 (114) 115 (114) 115 (114) 115 (114) 115 (114)	ar Droja 1948 1948 1979 1947 1988 1947 1988 1947 1988 1940 1988 1940 1994 1946 1996 1946 1996 1946	LA DYD_NGC 100 0.140 100 0.155 101 0.155 101 0.155 107 0.055 100 0.055	r Croy An 13385 8 1446 65455 8 2005 85456 8 2005 97056 8 2005 97056 8 2005 97056 8 2005 97056 8 2005 97056 8 2005 97056 8 2005 97056 8 2005	LET D'UT_TI'S D'US LES 0 CELLOS LES 0 CELL	Sing_louthon 8 6 19430 9 0 000275 94 0 000275 94 0 00000 15 0 12675 15 0 12675 15 0 126257 15 0 126257 15 0 126257 15 0 126252 15 0 126552 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 126555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 1265555 15 0 12655555 15 0 12655555 15 0 12655555 15 0 126555555555 15 0 126555555555555555555555555555555555555	av Croy What di 1207 47 1005 47 1005 47 1005 18 104 18 105 19 105 19 105 19 105 10 105 10 105 10 105 10 105	547 196-07 20103 20103 20104 20104 20105 2010000000000	
																						mparisc erical Sc	n of True Autions of	Solution All RK N	with Aethods	and and and and and and and and and and		Compariso Error versu first throug	1 of True Pe s Computation h fifth orde	rcent Relat onal Effort r RK methr transform transform transform transform transform transform	tive tfor ods	
22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22																																

Figure 4.18: The spreadsheet image of full computation results for mechanical engineering example

X 🖬 🤊 • 🕬 • =		_	-	_	_	ALMOST ALC:	ex_mixt	ure prob	lem - Microso	oft Excel	COLUMN TWO IS	-		-
File Home	Insert	Page Layout	Formulas	Data	Review	View	Developer	Dev	eloper OD	E Solver				
Paste - Format Pair	Calib ter B	n Z <u>U</u> - [- 11 - A	A [*] = ▲ [*] ≡	= =	»»	ि Wrap Text Merge & Ce	nter *	General	+ 00, 00, 00, 00,	Conditional Formatting	Format as Table + S	Cell ityles *	Insert Delete
M22	- (=	fx		198		Alignment		194	Numbe	r Gr		Styles		Cells
A	В	C	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	к	L	M	N	0
1 2 2	×i	k1	k2_Heun	k2_Midpo	k2_Rals	to k2_fifth	ork3_Third	c <mark>k3_Fo</mark>	urth k3_Fifth	o k4_Fou	rth k4_Fifth	o k5	kő	yi+1Eule
4 5 RKSOLVER				UserForm4									23	Л
8 9 10 11 12 12 13 14 14 15 10 10 10 20 21 22 22 23 24 25 26				Initial valu Variable: Initial va	e of Indepe	ndent N ndent Variabik For Euk For Hes For Mid For Mid For Ral For Thi For Fos For Fos	amber of Steps s: s's Method in's Method aton's Method d Oder Runge rth Oder Runge	Kutta Me e Kutta Me Kutta Me	thod thod	(0):	s	OLVE		

Figure 4.19: Userform in spreadsheet for mixture problem

	_	_	_	-	_	Statistics of	ex_mixt	are prol	blem - Mi	crosoft	Excel	Contraction of the local division of the loc	-	-	-
Home	Insert	Page Layout	Formulas	Data	Review	View	Developer	Dev	eloper	ODE S	olver				
K Cut	Cali	bri	~ 11 ~ A	=	= =	æ»	Wrap Text		General		-				
e Format Pair	ter B	I U -	HH * 🌆 *	<u>A</u> · =	**		Merge & Ce	nter •	- %	, ,	**** 85**	Conditional Formatting	as Table	Styles -	Insert Dele
M22	- (=	fx.	it.	- 4		Angrinici	it.		110	in o ci			JUICI		cen
А	В	С	D	Е	F	G	н	1	1.1	J	к	L	м	N	0
	×i	k1	k2_Heun	k2_Midpo	k2_Raist	ork2_fift	h ork3_Third	k3_Fc	ourth k3_F	ifth o	k4_Four	th k4_Fifth	o k5	k6	yi+1Eule
RKSOLVER			ſ	UserForm4										83	Л
				Variable: 0 Initial val 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	ue of Deper	dent Varial For E For M For R For F For F	49 Vies: Uter's Method eun's Method aliaton's Method aliaton's Method aliaton's Method hird Oder Runge ourth Oder Runge	Sutta Me	ethod ethod ethod	2		54	OLVE		

Figure 4.20: Filled userform for mixture problem

a - (-	- I V					ex_m	ixture problem	- Microsoft	Excel	Concession in the local division in the loca	-	-	
Home	Inse	rt P	age Layou	it Formulas Data I	teview Vie	w Develope	r Develop	oer ODES	olver				
_	8												
	5 2												
ns Macros RI	Colver												
New Group													
AC51		· (=	f.v.	3.66004384452085E-08									
A	15	C	D	r		2	н	1	1	K	1	14	
	NI	k1	k2_Heun	k2_Midpoint, Third and Fourth orde	k2_Raiston's	k2_fifth order	k2_Third order	k2_Fourth orde	k3_Fifth order	k4_Fourth orde	k4_Fifth order	kS	kG
	0	-0.15	-0.15	-0.149985	-0.1499775	-0.1499925	-0.14997001	-0.149985002	-0.1499925	-0.149970002	-0.149985	-0.15	
	0.02	-0.15	-0.1499	-0.149955006	-0.14994751	-0.149962504	-0.14994001	-0.149955007	-0.149962505	-0.149940012	-0.14995501	-0.1499	-0
RSOLVER	0.04	-0.1499	-0.1499	-0.149925018	-0.14991752	-0.149932515	-0.14991003	-0.149925019	-0.149932515	-0.149910027	-0.14992502	-0.1499	5
	0.06	-0.1499	-0.1499	-0.149895036	-0.14988754	-0.149902531	-0.14988005	-0.149895037	-0.149902532	-0.149880048	-0.14989504	-0.1499	
	0.08	-0.1499	-0.1499	-0.14986506	-0.14985757	-0.149872554	-0.14985008	-0.149865061	-0.149872554	-0.149850075	-0.14986506	-0.1499	
	0.1	-0.1499	-0.1498	-0.14983509	-0.1498276	-0.149842582	-0.14982011	-0.149835091	-0.149842583	-0.149820108	-0.14983509	-0.1498	
	0.12	-0.1498	-0.1498	-0.149905126	-0.14979762	-0.149912617	-0.14979015	-0.149805127	-0.149912617	-0.149790147	-0.14980512	-0.1499	
	0.14	-0.1498	-0.1498	-0.149775168	-0.14976768	-0.149782657	-0.14976019	-0.149775169	-0.149782658	-0.149760192	-0.14977517	-0.1498	
	0.16	-0.1498	-0.1497	-0.149745216	-0.14978778	-0.149752704	-0.14978025	-0.149745217	-0.149752704	-0.149780248	-0.14974522	-0.1497	
	0.18	-0.1497	-0.1497	-0.14971527	-0.14970778	-0.149722756	-0.1497003	-0.149715271	-0.149722757	-0.1497003	-0.14971527	-0.1497	-
	0.2	-0.1497	-0.1497	-0.14968533	-0.14967784	-0.149692815	-0.14967037	-0.149685331	-0.149692815	-0.149670363	-0.14968533	-0.1497	-
	0.22	-0.1497	-0.1496	-0.149655396	-0.14964791	-0.149662879	-0.14964043	-0.149655397	-0.149662879	-0.149640432	-0.1496554	-0.1496	- 1
	0.24	-0.1496	-0.1496	-0.149625460	-0.14961799	-0.14963295	-0.14961051	-0.149625469	-0.14962295	-0.149610507	-0.14962547	-0.1496	-
	0.26	-0.1496	-0.1496	-0.149595546	-0.14958807	-0.149602026	-0.14958059	-0.149595547	-0.149602026	-0.149580587	-0.14959555	-0.1496	
	0.28	-0.1496	-0.1496	-0.149565629	-0.14955815	-0.149573108	-0.14955068	-0.149565631	-0.149578109	-0.149550674	-0.14956563	-0.1496	1 1
	0.3	-0,1496	-0,1495	-0.149535719	-0.14952824	-0.149543197	-0.14952077	-0.149535721	-0.149543197	-0.149520767	-0.14953572	-0.1495	-
	0.32	-0.1495	-0.1495	-0.149505815	-0.14949834	-0.149513291	-0.14949087	-0.149505817	-0.149513291	-0.149490866	-0.14950582	-0.1495	-
	0.34	-0.1495	-0.1495	-0.149475917	-0.14946844	-0.149483391	-0.14946097	-0.149475918	-0.149483392	-0.149460971	-0.14947592	-0.1495	
	0.26	-0.1495	-0.1494	-0.149446025	-0.14943855	-0.149453498	-0.14943108	-0.149446026	-0.149453498	-0.149431082	-0.14944603	-0.1494	- 1
	0.28	-0.1494	-0.1494	-0.149416129	-0.14940867	-0.14942261	-0.1494012	-0.14941614	-0.14942261	-0.149401199	-0.14941614	-0.1494	
	0.4	-0.1494	-0.1494	-0.149286258	-0.14937879	-0.149292728	-0.14927122	-0.14928626	-0.149393729	-0.149271221	-0.14928626	-0.1494	÷ - ا
	0.42	-0.1494	-0.1498	-0.149856884	-0.14984892	-0.149363853	-0,14984145	-0.149356386	-0.149363853	-0.14984145	-0.14935638	-0.1498	4
	0.44	-0.1493	-0.1493	-0.149326516	-0.14931905	-0.149333983	-0.14931159	-0.149326517	-0.149333983	-0.149311585	-0.14932652	-0.1493	
	0.46	-0.1493	-0.1493	-0.149296653	-0.14928919	-0.149304119	-0.14928173	-0.149296655	-0.149304119	-0.149281725	-0.14929665	-0.1493	-
	0.48	-0.1493	-0.1493	-0.149266797	-0.14925933	-0.149274261	-0.14925167	-0.149266799	-0.149274261	-0.149251872	-0.1492668	-0.1493	- 1
	0.5	-0.1493	-0.1492	-0.149236947	-0.14922948	-0.149244409	-0.14922202	-0.149236948	-0.149244409	-0.149222025	-0.14923695	-0.1492	-
	0.52	-0.1492	-0.1492	-0.149207102	-0.14919964	-0.149214562	-0.14919219	-0.149207104	-0.149214564	-0.149192192	-0.1492071	-0.1492	-
	0.54	-0.1492	-0.1492	-0.149177264	-0.1491698	-0.149184723	-0.14916285	-0.149177265	-0.149184724	-0.149162348	-0.14917726	-0.1492	-
	0.56	-0,1492	-0.1491	-0.149147481	-0.14913997	-0.14915489	-0.14913252	-0.149147433	-0.14915489	-0.149132518	-0.14914743	-0.1491	1.1
	0.58	-0.1491	-0.1491	-0.149117605	-0.14911015	-0.149125062	-0.1491027	-0.149117606	-0.149125062	-0.149102695	-0.14911761	-0.1491	-
	0.6	-0.1491	-0.1491	-0.149087784	-0.14908033	-0.149095239	-0.14907288	-0.149087786	-0.14909524	-0.149072877	-0.14908779	-0.1491	
	0.62	-0.1491	-0.149	-0.14905797	-0.14905052	-0.149065423	-0.14904307	-0.149057971	-0.149065424	-0.149043066	-0.14905797	-0.1491	
	0.64	-0.149	-0.149	-0.149028161	-0.14902071	-0.149025612	-0.14901226	-0.149028162	-0.149025614	-0.14901226	-0.14902816	-0.149	
	0.66	-0.149	-0.149	-0.142992259	-0.14899091	-0.149005809	-0.14898246	-0.14899826	-0.149005809	-0.14898246	-0.14899826	-0.149	
	0.68	-0.149	-0.149	-0.148968562	-0.14896111	-0.148976011	-0.14895367	-0.148968563	-0.148976011	-0.148953666	-0.14896856	-0.149	
	0.7	-0.149	-0.1489	-0.148938771	-0.14893132	-0.148946219	-0.14892388	-0.148938773	-0.148946219	-0.148923879	-0.14893877	-0.1489	
	0.72	-0.1489	-0.1489	-0.148908986	-0.14890154	-0.148916433	-0.1488941	-0.148908988	-0.148916433	-0.148894097	-0.14890899	-0.1489	•
	0.74	-0.1489	-0.1489	-0.148879207	-0.14887176	-0.148886652	-0.14886432	-0.148879209	-0.148886652	-0.148864321	-0.14887921	-0.1489	• •
	0.76	-0.1499	-0.1400	-0.140049435	-0.14004199	-0.148856878	-0.14002455	-0.140049436	-0.149956978	-0.140024551	-0.14004944	-0.1499	-
	0.78	-0.1488	-0.1488	-0.148819668	-0.14991222	-0.148827109	-0.14880479	-0.149919669	-0.14882711	-0.148804787	-0.14881967	-0.1488	-
	0.8	-0.1488	-0.1488	-0.148789907	-0.14878247	-0.148797847	-0.14877503	-0.148789908	-0.148797847	-0.148775029	-0.14878991	-0.1488	-
	0.82	-0,1488	-0,1487	-0.148760152	-0.14875271	-0.148767591	0.14874528	-0.148760153	-0.148767591	-0.148745277	-0.14876015	-0.1488	-
	0.84	-0.1487	-0.1487	-0.148730403	-0.14872297	-0.14873784	-0.14871553	-0.148730404	-0.14875784	-0.148715531	-0.1487304	-0.1487	-
	0.86	-0.1487	-0.1487	-0.14870066	-0.14869322	-0.148708095	-0.14868579	-0.148700661	-0.148708096	-0.148685791	-0.14870066	-0.1487	-
	0.00	-0.1487	-0.1487	-0.148670922	-0.14066349	-0.148678357	-0.14065606	-0.148670924	-0.148678357	-0.148656057	-0.14867092	-0.1487	-
	0.9	-0.1497	-0.1496	-0.149641191	-0.14963376	-0.149649624	-0.14962622	-0.149641193	-0.149649624	-0.149626329	-0.14964119	-0.1496	-
	0.92	-0.1486	-0.1486	-0.148611466	-0.14860402	-0.148618897	-0.14859661	-0.148611468	-0.148618897	-0.148596606	-0.14861147	-0.1486	-
	0.94	-0.1486	-0.1486	-0.148581747	-0.14857482	-0.148589177	-0.14856689	-0.148581748	-0.148589177	-0.14856689	-0.14858175	-0.1486	

Figure 4.21: Computation results for k's for mixture problem

T U	5	R	a	P	0
www.mounth.conter. www.mitth.conter	Third Coder	And a state of the state of the	No. of Designation	No. of Management	and Manahana
	14 88 7000 8	1.4 88 7000	1.0.000000	10.007	TO MOT
	14 0040013	10 000013	14 0040013	10.000	10.000
7 14 9910027 14 991002	14 9910027	14 9910027	14 9910027	14 991	14.001
5 14,9550045 14,955004	14,9550045	14,9550045	14.9550045	14,900	14.955
5 14,9850075 14,985007	14,9850075	14,9050075	14,9850075	14,903	14.903
5 14.9520105 14.952010	14.9820108	14.9820108	14.9820108	14.902	14.902
9 14.97901469 14.9790146	14.97901469	14.97901469	14.9790147	14.979	14.979
9 14.97601919 14.9760191	14.97601919	14.97601919	14.9760192	14.976	14.976
9 14.97302429 14.9730242	14.97302429	14.97302429	14.9730243	14.973	14.973
E 14.9700299E 14.9700295	14.97002998	14.97002998	14.97003	14.97	14.97
7 14.99703927 14.9970392	14.00703027	14.98703827	14.9870383	14.997	14.997
7 14.98404817 14.8840481	14.004817	14.98404817	14.004042	1.4.0-0.4	1.4.9-8-4
e 14.96105066 14.9610506	14.96105066	14.90105086	14.9010507	14.0011	14.981
5 14.05B05875 14.05B0587	14.05805875	14.05805875	14.0580587	14.0581	14.0581
5 14.95506745 14.9550674	14.05506743	14.05506745	14.0550674	14.0551	14.9551
2 14.95207672 14.9520767	14.9520/6/2	14.95207672	14.9520767	14.9921	14.9521
	14.9490866	14.9490866	14.9490866	14.9491	14.9491
	44.04340846	44 04340847	44 0434083	44 0434	100000
4 14 94011984 14 9401198	14 94011984	14 94011984	14 9401198	14 9401	14 9401
2 14 93713212 14 9371321	14 93713212	14 93713212	14 9371321	14 9371	4 9371
9 14.93414499 14.9341449	14,93414499	14,93414499	14,924145	14.9241	14.9341
0 14.93115840 14.9311584	14.93115849	14.93115840	14.9311585	34.9332	5.6.9.9.1.2.
8 14.02817258 14.0281725	14.92817258	14.92817253	14.9281725	2.4.9282	14.92.82
0 14.02518710 14.0251871	14.92518719	14.92518719	14.9251872	14.9292	14.9292
14.92220245 14.9222024	14.92220245	14.92220246	14.9222024	14.9222	4.9222
1 14.01021831 14.0102183	14.01021831	14.01021851	14.0102185	14.0102	14.0102
7 14.91623477 14.9162347	14,91623477	14.91623477	14.9162348	14.9162	14.9162
2 14.91325182 14.9132518	14.91325182	14.91325182	14.9132518	14.9133	14.9132
7 14.91026947 14.9102694	14.91026947	14.91026947	14.9102695	14.9103	14.9103
1 14.90728771 14.9072877	14.90728771	14.90728771	14.9072877	14.9073	14.9073
5 14.90430555 14.9043065	14.90430655	14.30430656	14.3043065	1.4.9043	14.3043
V 14.V0132599 14.9013259	14.90132599	14.90132599	14.901326	14.9013	14.9013
- 14.00034002 14.0003400	10000002	1	1.000346		
	11.0000000	14.4000000	11.0000000		
T 14 FEBACET 14 FEBACE	1.0 BERGORT	1.0 BERGORT	10 8880087	10	A HIMMA
1 14.88843211 14.8884321	14.88843211	14.88843212	14.8884321	ad. mmmd	Ld. BERGA
2 14.88349912 14.8834991	14.88345512	14.88345513	14.8834551	1.4	A.R.R.R.A.
s 14.88047875 14.8804787	14.88047875	14.88047874	14.8804787	14.8805	14.8805
3 14,87750293 14,8775029	14.87750293	14.87750294	14.8775029	14.8775	14.8775
3 14.87452773 14.8745277	14.87452773	14.87452774	14.8745277	14.0745	14.8745
2 14.07155312 14.0715531	14.07155512	14.07155313	14.0715531	14.0710	14.8715
1 14.06057911 14.060579	14.06057911	14.00057912	14.0005791	14.0000	14.0000
9 14.86560569 14.8656056	14.06560569	14.8656057	14.8656057	14.0050	14.0656
7 14.86263287 14.8626328	14.06263207	14.06263200	14.0626329	14.0626	14.0020
4 14.85966064 14.8596606	14.85966064	14.85966065	14.8596606	14.8597	14.0596
9 14.856689 14.85668	14.856689	14.85668902	14.856689	14.8567	14.8567

Figure 4.22: Computation results for each RK method for mixture problem

~	w	×	Y	z	AA	AB	AC
RUEResults	Error_Euler	Error_Heun	Error_midpoint	Error_Raiston's	Error_third order	Error_fourth order	Error_fifth order
14.9970003	2.000276-06	1.22256-10	1.33348E-10	1.33348E-10	1.18447E-14	0	0
14,9940012	4.000538-06	4.66758-10	2.66667E-10	4.000538-10	6.665198-11	6.667568-11	3,112246-11
14.9910027	6.0008E-06	1.00028-09	3.999325-10	8.00101E-10	1.999728-10	2.00007E-10	2.335036-11
14,2000040	8.001075-06	1.73375-09	5.33168E-10	1.333525-09	3.99965E-10	4.000246-10	1.06695-10
14.9850075	1.000126-05	2.66746-09	6.662625-10	2.000325-09	6.666586-10	6.667295-10	2.11156-10
14.9820108	1.20016E-05	8.80116-09	7.99514E-10	2.80049E-09	1.00006E-09	1.00013E-09	4.66735E-10
14.97901469	1.400198-05	5.1356-09	9.32637E-10	3.73407E-09	1.400168-09	1.400246-09	6.53441E-10
4.97601919	1.60021E-05	6.66912-09	1.06571E-09	4.801035-09	1.866995-09	1.86703E-09	8.71251E-10
4.97302429	1.800246-05	8.40226-09	1.199725-09	6.00146-09	2.40055E-09	2.400555-09	1.120185-09
4.97002998	2.00027E-05	1.03388-08	1.221726-09	7.22526-09	3.00086E-09	2.00079E-09	1.40023E-09
4.96703627	2.200296-05	1.24728-08	1.46469E-09	8.802428-09	3.66794E-09	3.66776E-09	1.711418-09
4.96404317	2.400325-05	1.48075-08	1.59765-09	1.040315-08	4,401785-09	4,401465-09	2.05376-09
4.96105066	2.600355-05	1.73425-08	1.730475-09	1.213725-08	5.202395-09	5.201895-09	2.42711E-09
4.95805875	2.800375-05	2.00785-08	1.862216-09	1.400475-08	6.06985-09	6.069086-09	2.821655-09
4.95506743	8.0004E-05	2.80146-08	1.9961E-09	1.600578-08	7.004018-09	7.00B01E-09	3.26731E-09
4.95207672	3.200435-05	2.6155-08	2.128875-09	1.814028-08	8.005048-09	8.003728-09	3,73416-09
14.9490866	3.400455-05	2.94865-08	2.261585-09	2.040825-08	9.072885-09	2.071185-02	4.231995-09
4.94609708	2.600485-05	2.20225-08	2.294265-09	2.280975-08	1.020765-08	1.020545-08	4.761046-09
4.94310816	2.800516-05	3.6765-08	2.526885-09	2.534465-08	1.14091E-08	1.140656-08	5.32117E-09
9.99011989	4.000535-05	4.0597E-08	2.659485.09	2.801315-08	1.267755-08	1.267435-08	5.912455.09
4.93713211	4.200565-05	4,48355-08	2.792036-09	3.08155-08	1.401285-08	1.400895-08	6.534855-09
4.93414499	4.400595-05	4.91746-08	2.924545-09	3.37505E-08	1.541495-08	1.541035-08	7.100375-09
4.92115846	4.600616-05	5.27126-08	2.057015-09	2.681965-08	1.688395-08	1.687855-08	7.873025-09
4.92817252	4.800646-05	5.84528-08	8.18944E-09	4.002218-08	1.841996-08	1.841355-08	8.58879E-09
4.92518719	5.000675-05	6.33928-08	3.321855-09	4.335835-08	2.002275-08	2.001535-08	9.3357E-09
4.92220245	5.200695-05	6.65325-00	3,454166-09	4.682795-08	2.169255-08	2.16845-08	1.011375-08
4.91921821	5.400725-05	7.29725-09	2.586515-09	5.043125-08	2.242925-08	2.241955-08	1.092295-08
4.91623476	5.600756-05	7.9415E-08	3.71879E-09	5.416816-08	2.523295-08	2.522185-08	1.176325-08
4.91325181	5.800778-05	8.51578-08	3.85102E-09	5.803855-08	2.710358-08	2,70918-08	1.263468-08
4.91026946	6.0008E-05	9.10995-08	3.963216-09	6.204255-08	2.904116-08	2.902716-08	1.353716-08
4.90728771	6.200825-05	9.72425-08	4.115375-09	6.618015-08	3.104575-08	2,1035-08	1.447085-08
4.90420655	6.400855-05	1.02595-07	4.247485-09	7.045146-08	2.211725-08	2.209986-08	1.542565-08
4.90182598	6.60088E-05	1.1018E-07	4.37956E-09	7.485628-08	3.52558E-08	8.523646-08	1.64315E-08
4.89834602	6.80098-05	1.16885-07	4.51166-09	7.939478-08	3.746148-08	3,743998-08	1.745868-08
4.89536664	7.000938-05	1.23625-07	4.643595-09	8.406685-08	3.97346-08	3.971035-08	1.851675-08
4.89238787	7.200966-05	1.20975-07	4.775536-09	8.88726E-08	4.207366-08	4.20476E-08	1.960616-08
4.88940969	7.400986-05	1.38326-07	4.90745E-09	9.281216-08	4.448026-08	4.445186-08	2.07265E-08
14.8864321	7.601018-05	1.45868-07	5.039328-09	9.888528-08	4.69546-08	4.69238-08	2.18781E-08
4.88345512	7.801046-05	1.53616-07	5.171156-09	1.040928-07	4.949486-08	4.94616-08	2.30608E-08
4.00047072	8.00106E-05	1.6156E-07	5.30295E-09	1.094326-07	5.210275-08	5.206595-08	2.427475-08
4.97750292	8.201095-05	1.69716-07	5.43475-09	1.149075-07	5.477775-08	5.472785-08	2.551975-08
.87452772	8.401128-05	1.7807E-07	5.566438-09	1.205148-07	5.751998-08	5.74766E-08	2.67958E-08
87155511	8.601146-05	1.86628-07	5.698096-09	1.262566-07	6.032918-08	6.028235-08	2.81055-08
14.8685791	8.80117E-05	1.95375-07	5.829736-09	1.321315-07	6.32054E-08	6.315516-08	2.244146-08
4.96560569	9.00125-05	2.04325-07	5.961316-09	1.20146-07	6.614895-08	6.609475-08	2.08115-08
9.86263286	9.201226-05	2.13485-07	6.09286E-09	1.442836-07	6.915956-08	6.910136-08	3.22116E-08
4.85966063	9.401258-05	2.22846-07	6.22438E-09	1.50568-07	7.223738-08	7.217498-08	3.364348-08
4.85668899	9.601286-05	2.32395-07	6.35586E-09	1.56976-07	7.538228-08	7.531546-08	3.510646-08

Figure 4.23: Computation results for exact results (true results) and true percent relative errors of each RK method for mixture problem



Figure 4.24: Graphical display of the computation results for mixture problem

le.			_	-	-	ex_n	nixture p	problem	- Micro	soft Exc	:el			-		-			art Tools			-	-	-	-	-	6	8
and the second se	Home	Insert	Page La	yout	Formula	s Da	ata	Review	View	D	eveloper	D	evelop	er	ODE	Solver	Desig	n L	ayout	Form	at					a (ø
l-Ins Ma	acros RKS	82 iolver																										
Ch	art 7	Ψ (f.x																								_
	0 C	0	1		4	×			ĸ		M N	0		٩		1	τ	w.	Ψ	w	×		I		A8	ĸ	10	R
-		1. 18a 12, 1988	n. Trissenstauren ander	12,Releases	2,000 and 0	a, Stander K	2,7 marth ander 1	2,7Ph ander	A farmers	(Theaster	14 14	-		Mante y	-teres	-	Auro Date		The Chanter	tran Later	Dran, have	Dran, middates	Erer, Islands	iner, the arter	Energianth ander	Inv./Minanier		
	0.02 -0.1488*	-0.1-094	-0.149900000	-0.149947508	-0.14990/004	-0.1488-0115	-0.149900027	-0 149901202	-0.1-999-001.0	-0 148900007	-0 14990 -0 1499	14.994	14 394 14	-	14 3940012	14 9940012	14 3940012	14 9940512	14 3940012	4 000348-00	4.007939-12	1.000070-12	4.000349-12	8.505199-11	8 887398-11	A 1107-0-11		
KOLVER	0.04 -0.14994	-0 10001	-1 140000114	-0.140007825	-0 140000011	-1 14000000	-0 LANDONESE	- LANGERT	A LANGESOCK	C 140406117	-3 14960 -5 1496	14.005	14 335 14	0000007	14 0003004	14 BELLEOP	La passona	14 BESTORP	14 BERGER	A 100000-04	1 100104-00	A 0000000.13	1 100000-00	1 000100.10	2 000076-10	1 44400.11		
	0.08 -0.14988	-0 14983	-0.149985308	-0.149807398	-0.149672234	-0.1494000718	-0.149900001	-0.149471034	-0.049690079	-0.1499823061	-0.14988 -0.1498	14.80	14,002 14	84800072	14.8600072	14 9830015	14.86500**2	14 9830075	14 8830079	1 000136-08	1.007270-09	6.069600-02	1.000338-09	6.000340-02	0.007330-10	3 11130-10		
	81-01-000	-0 1-041	-0.14980309	-0.149827287	-0.1498-0781	-0.149407111	-0.149890091	-0.149840583	-0.1-040010.04	-0.149400091	-0.14980 -0.1498	14.942	14.947 14	-	14 MARTINE	14.9490508	14 34201.04	14 9830508	14 9890108	1 000104-07	8.805.539-09	1 3351-0-12	1.000-00-00	1.000008-08	1.0001.84-09	+ 007300-10		
	0.14 -0.14079	0.14876	0.140770160	-0.140767670	-0.140700487	-0.140762365	-0.140776140	-0 140700458	-0 LHETROLAD	0.140770140	-0.14077 -0.1407	14.076	14.876 14.	4740CAD	14 STROLAGE	14 27401212	14.874002018	14 27401002	14 274022212	1 400112-04	4.440062-00	1.045710-00	4.005/00-00	1.000000-00	1.847026-08	a 712416-10		
	0.16 -0.14978	-0.14973	-0.149740336	-0.149797718	-0.349750704	-0.149790346	-0.148740317	-0.248750704	-0.0487900-0	0.1497-0117	-0.14974 -0.1497	14.872	14,972 14.	8790040	14 87300408	14.9*202+09	14.87302408	14.01203400	14.97303409	1 800340-00	8.400080-08	1.100720-09	6.000+0-08	1 400000-00	1.400808-09	1.130546-08		
	8.8 -8.1487	-0.1-047	-0 Longertage	-0.1495*****	-0 Leadered	-0.149670455	-0.149545441	-0 Leaders	-0 Loss Plana	-D LANSAUGUEL	-1 14958 -1 1495	14.107		Services.	LA SEPTIMET	14 SETERAT	14 54756517	LA SUPERAT	14 99104527	1 000000-05	1.207049-08	L ADADAG -CO	A 400-00-00	1.557542-03	+ 667174-04	1. T11414-09		
	0.12 -0.14967	-0.14844	-0.140606304	-0.1496/1012	-0.149662876	-0.149640438	-0.140483307	-0.140440076	-0 149440493	0.140483304	-314968 -51496	L4.96×	14.064 14	6610103	14 66101017	14 26404217	14.86404307	14 24404217	14.86404267	1 406324-04	1.447746-04	1.89765-09	1.040310-08	4.405780-08	A SCLARE-OF	3.04376-06		
	0.10 -0.14961	-0.14938	-0.14903046	-0.14008000	-0.14960908	-1.14908039	-0.148580247	-0.149608038	-0.04856087	0.149593246	-0.14909 -0.1490	14,856	14 HOME 14	1040047	14.85805872	14 8080817	14 82802872	14 10803472	14 80800817	1.80077-02	1.007789-08	1.45200-02	1409478-08	6.0000-00	4 00000-00	1.481000-09		
	0.18 -0.14958	-0 14955	-0.146505029	-0.14955815	-0.149579108	-0.149550877	-0.149505841	-0.149579109	-0.549550574	-0.14950564	-0 14950 -0 1497	14 9555	14 9551 14	\$5508TM	14 95505748	14 99905748	14 95505748	14 95510748	14 \$55007va		1.01105-10	1.99510-09	1.00078-08	1.004238-09	T CONTRACTO			
	A 12 -0 14965	- Long -	-1 144404114	1 140404110	C 140670787	A LANGED TY	10 140626101	-C 14647 1081	A LABORATES	A LODGERTS	-1 14042 -1 1404	14.0425	te best to	6430747	TA SADOWID	14 BADDINESS	To percent	14 BASSINGS	14 BESCHETS	1 000424-04	1 4140 12-04	1 100010-00	1.00000.00	1.000040.00	A 000100-00	4 10100-00		
	0.34 -0.14949	-0.04940	-0.149470917	-0.140408442	-0.149480091	-0.149403374	-0.149475918	-0 149480093	-0.049400970	0.149472918	-0.14947 -0.1494	14,040.0	14,9482 14	3400970	14.34009709	14 84008708	14.84009708	14 94009708	14.84008708	3 800488-02	3.300389-08	1.384080-09	1.180970-08	1.002769-08	1.00040-08	4.763040-08		
	0.50 -0.14940	-0.14948	-0.149440025	-0.149408557	-0.149400498	-0.149401045	-0.149440030	-0.149450408	-0 149491097	-0.149440C15	-0.14948 -0.1494	14, 5485	14 8492 14	\$485.047	14.54852817	14 94930655	14 94930908	14 84830855	14 94930958	1 405514-55	8.073039-08	1.115445-09	1.504408-08	1.1-0910-04	1.140606-08	5 #11178-08		
	2.4 -0.1494	0.14827	-0.140004130	-0.140078700	-0.140000738	-0.140071324	-0.14000424	-0.146200738	0.048271200	0.140006100	-0.14000 -0.1402	14,6275	14 8971 14	6071303	14.62712012	14 80712012	14 88712012	14 80718112	14 80712011	4 200842-05	1.100010-08	3.790030-09	10000-00	1 101340-04	1.400880-08	6.024000-00		
	0.42 -0.1490*	-0.04834	-0.340006384	-0.140048918	-0.149963953	-0.148040488	-0.148306386	-0.148363903	-0.54894548	-0.140005380	-0.14900 -0.1490	14,894	14 30+1 14	A 304040	1433414403	14.92424400	14.83414408	14.00404400	14,80+1++00	4.400388-02	4.007080-08	1.814040-09	3.373030-08	10040-08	1.0+1000-08	7.188270-09		
	0.44 -0.14880	-0 14981	-0.14000010	-0.149003049	-0.149800040	-0.149201728	-0.14981991*		-0.1-0011540	-0.149908914	-1 14927 -1 1492	14 1000	14 9012 14	6061705	14 93917062	14 931154-5	14 52517054	LA BORITINA	LA BORITISA	4 800004-05	1.0100-04	1 100000-00	1.00000-00	1.00000-00	L BELLER			
	0.48 -0.14908	-0 14838	-0.14006797	-0.140088333	-0.140274041	-0.140081478	-0.148266788	-0.148274043	0.148363870	0.14006794	-0.14004 -0.1483	14.4040	14.0003 14.	6262.873	14.03012738	14 80838758	14 82622718	14 20812712	14 aperature	£ 200475-04	4.100102-08	3 311460-09	4.306830-08	1 000370-04	3 005830-08	8 33670-08		
	0.5 -0.14005	010011	-0.34000047	-0.140030404	-0.148044408	-0.149030017	-0.148036948	-0.54804408	-0.04000000	-0.14903694T	-0.14003 -0.1401	14,000	14,0032 14	82222224	14.81110046	14 80130040	14 811100-0	14 00000040	14 80130040	1 100694-02	1.000000-08	3.404080-00	1.00790-08	110000-00	1.00040-00	1.00000-00		
	0.54 -0.14818	-0 14910	-0.546577384	-0.1491/09404	-0.149584788	-0.149150453	-0.546577085	-0.14934-704	-0.149352248		-0.14917 -0.1493					14 BURGENTY	14 \$150000		to stressors	5.501754-05	1.610.055-04	A 114796-09	5.415416-04	1.100306-08	2 522146-04	1.175204-04		
	0.88 -0.14008	10 10013	-0.1400/h01	-1 140120415	10.1405.0400	-0.140520421	-0.148117608	-0.14000-1400	A Designed	0.140047422	A LINE A LINE	14 8120	14 2022 14	8120418	TA BOOMING	14 01210120	14 BILLOUIS	14 Million and	14 BURDELLE	A DOOMLOT	A STREET, OR	3 441306-06	6 100000-00	1 1000000	1 00002-00	1 10210-00		
	0.0 -0.1490	-0 14907	-0.149097784	-0.14909081819	-0.149090339	-0.14907288	-0.1490emted	-0.14909034	-0.149071877	-0.14908***85	-0 14908 -0 1490	14.9079	14 9279 14	BC*18**	14 90718771	14 NOTIFITS	14 80718771	14 80738773	14 80718771	4 100628-02	8.724028-08	4 113979-09	6.614039-08	310-079-08	8.1088-08	1.447080-08		
	0.42 -0.1490*	-0.54904	-0.14909797	-0.149050515	-0.149055418	-0.149049564	-0.149057973	-0.149055434	-0.549549555	-0.149057971	-0 14905 -0 1490	14.9042	14 9042 14	9048055	14.90420858	14 90495555	14 90490505	14 90490555	14 9049555	A 400454-05	1.015451-07	4.247485-09	1.040349-08	8.855725-08	8 879985-78	1.548556-08		
	0.66 -0.14905	-0.14898	-0.140000330	-0.140000000	-0.149000809	-0.140000402	-0.140000006	-0.249005808	-0.24888246	-0.1400003300	-0.14000 -0.1400	14,0000	14 2042 14	1.000010	14.00024612	14 88624800	14.00024022	14 89834800	14 80624600	6.80080-08	1.142760-07	1.11140-00	1.000470-08	174040-08	3 742000-00	1.740862-00		
	0.08 -0.14898	-0.14880	-0.1409063022	-0.140901113	-0.148978511	-0.148903909	-0.148969058	-0.348978033	-0.1-48939056	-0.148906008	-0.14898 -0.1488	14,8804 (14.8004 14	1000008	14.880300000	14 88330002	14 89230002	14 89039000	14 8033000+	1 000886-00	1.198329-0*	+ 040000-09	8.40888-08	1 97240-08	3 973086-08	1.851679-08		
	0.72 -0.14000		- Longerer	- Logarita	-0.100010100	-D Longert	-D. LANSING MARK	-0.100014-003		-0. LABORATTY	-11100 -11100	1	14 8854 14	4441047	LA CONTRACTOR	La agencer	14.6000007	LA BREADERS	LA BRENDER	1 000000-01	1,200,01,01	1.007105-00	1.00000000	1.110101-04	A 202758-08	2.072556.00		
	0.74 -0.14888	-0.14884	-0.140879307	-0.140071763	-0.140000023	-0.140004314	-0.148879008	-0.140006653	-0.148864000	0.140879300	-0.14007 -0.1400	E 14.666× 1	14.8804 14.	446+000	14.88640013	14.88642011	14.88642011	14 880483311	14 8864205	1 401012-05	1.488640-07	E. C000000-00	8.000000-08	4.43040-02	4.48030-08	3.147952-08		
	0.70 -0.14880	-0.0488	-0.1488-0433	-0.1488-0881	-0.048800879	-0.14880+034	-0.148840400	-0.048800878	-0.048834000	-0.1488-0-132	-0.14884 -0.1488	14,000	14 8832 14	440-000	14.86240013	14.88340000	14.86340002	14.88242222	14.88340003	1 803048-02	1.00530-07	3.171130-09	1.040808-07	1,04040-08	4.34022-08	1.308068-08		
		4 14919	-A LANDAUGT	-1.140703467	-0.140707047	-0.140770122	-0.144749914	-0.Lagranger	-6 LANTTANK			LA OTS	1	-		14 07752000				4 201004-05	1.447146-07	5.10176-00	1.1.0075-07	S. APPTING. AN	5.472796.04	2 552276.00		
	0.42 -0.148**	-0 1-6278	4.14050103	-0.140703713	-0.348797883	-0.14274532	-0.144740043	-0.344747883	-0 144748377	0.140762183	-0.14878 -0.1487	14.4746	14.2745 14	4148277	14.87482774	14.87482779	14 81482772	14.87482772	14 87482772	4 401134-04	1,790480-07	E 546-00-00	1 108140-07	8.765862-08	E. TYTERE CO	3.479630-00		
	0.80 -0.14872	-0.14959	-0.24870080	-0.140000114	-0.144728282	-0.148087794	-0.148720861	-0.148728290	-0.048080790	-0.14870080	-0.14809 -0.1480	11.0000	14.8082 14	8080793	14.85857912	14 80427911	14 80807903	14.8582791	14 8082790	8 MILLION-CO.	1.850718-07	3 819790-09	1.811818-07	6 202249-08	0.012004-08	E Bester-CR		
	0.00 -0.14050	-014455	-0.144670522	-0.144053444	-0.146576497	-0.14405618	-0.144670934	-0.148579457	-0.1445505*	-0.144670518	-1 14455 -0 1465	1 14 6555 I		4555157	14.6556757	14 00551550				\$ 00125-05	1.042054-07	5.552216-09	1.24146-07	6.51.0005-04	5.004PL-14	2.04124-04		
	0.02 -0.1400	0.0486	-0.14960240	-0.14080408	-0.24062887	-0.148290829	-0.140612408	-0.24863887	-0.24834900	0.04060467	-0.1480 -0.148	14,404	14 april 14.	4024000	14 ADDRESS	14 8090004	14.80060004	24 8086000	14 82960202	0.40100-00	1.100000-07	6.124080-02	1,0000-07	122720-08	1.317400-00	3.301040-00		
	0.94 -0.1488	-0.14827	-0.248082747	-0.148074917	-0.148069077	-0.144000493	-0.048080748	-0.0480690**	-0.14836589	0.148081747	-0.1480* -0.1487	14,8587 1	14 8087 14	* 850549	14 830589022	14 830589	14.850549	14 830089	14 80008899	3 001388-02	1.919939-0*	8.100400-09	1.0079-07	* 20K229-08	7 331546-08	8.230846-08		
	1 M -1 140*	-0.54854	-0.14000004	-0.140544805	-0.14abba-dr	-0.148007188	-0.544554545	-0.5-addands	-0.54854754	-0.148000044		to allow 1	DA MONT DA		14 85471798	LA REATTING	LA MEATERING	14 KONTITUS	14 ADJITING	1 4114-15	1.0000-01	8.487198-CB	1.56554-07	1 400-10-04	7 atom-te			
														-	Comparis	no of True S	chaine with	h Nemer	iral			Comea	rison of Tru	Percent B	elative Error v	PC SUS		
																shallows of	AR ON BRIDE					COROLES	riseal affe	the first th	routh 6th or	for my		
														14.00	· ·	Construction of a	IN PARTY	Party is				compens		methods	noogn men or			
																								inconces.				
															-						1							
															1				and the second		2							
														f					a division i	11	1				THE REAL PROPERTY.	-		
														à				- +	e-Chester's	11	1							
														1						1	1							
														2		-		- *			1				-10- Bally 1			
														14.88		1		- +	Contraction of the local division of the loc									
																1			150.00							ar.		
																					1000							
															1 1	a a	3.5	× .		1	- eee		Coloradore and	Montes Martin				

Figure 4.25: The spreadsheet image of full computation results for mixture problem

This spreadsheet solver is so user-friendly that users (students, educators and also beginner users of Excel and VBA) only require to click RKSOLVER button and enter relevant information in userform to perform all computations for the complete solution of IVPs efficiently without typing any commands in the spreadsheet.

It is hoped that this spreadsheet solver can be used as a marking scheme for users who need the complete solutions of IVPs numerically and analytically with comparison of them in terms of error at the same time. Lastly, it is hoped that this spreadsheet solver could serve as not only a numerical IVP tool but also an analytical IVP tool with a comparison of them that is convenient for the community of engineering educators and students.

References

- S.C. Chapra, R.P. Canale, Numerical Methods for Engineers, McGraw Hill, 2006.
- [1] D.C. Chippe, K.F. Gunder, Multiclust Burgers, Cambridge University Press, 2010.
 [2] D.C. Lilley, Numerical Methods Using Excel/VBA for Engineers, Cambridge University Press, 2010.
 [3] E.D. Laughbaum, K. Seidel, Business Math Excel Applications, Prentice Hall, 2008.
- [4] R.W. Larsen, Engineering with Excel, Pearson Prentice Hall, 2009.
- [5] D.M. Bourq, Excel Scientific and Engineering, Cookbook. O'Reilly, 2006.
- [6] E. J. Billo, Excel for Scientists and Engineers, Wiley -Interscience, 2007.
- S.C. Chapra, Power Programming with VBA/Excel, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, 2003.
- [8] S.L. Kek, K.G. Tay, Design of spreadsheet solver for polynomial interpolation, National Seminar on Science and Technology (PKPST 2009), 69-73 (2009)
- [9] K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, R. Abdul-Kahar, A bivariate approximation spreadsheet calculator by Lagrange interpolation, Spreadsheets in Education (eJSiE), 7,
- 1-8 (2014).
 S.L. Kek, K.G. Tay, Solver for system of linear equations, Proceeding of the National Symposium on Application of Science Mathematics 2008 (SKASM 2008), 605-615 (2008).
 S.G. W. K. B. Akdul Kabar, Solving non-linear systems by Newton's method using spreadsheet Excel, Proceeding of the 3rd International [10]
- K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, R. Abdul-Kahar, Solving non-linear systems by Newton's method using spreadsheet Excel, Proceeding of the 3rd International Conference on Science and Mathematics Education (CoSMED 2009), 452-456 (2009). [11]
- [12] K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, Approximating the dominant eigenvalue using Power method through spreedsheet Excel, Proceeding of the National Symposium on Application of Science Mathematics 2008 (SKASM 2008), 599-604 (2008). K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, Approximating the Smallest Eigenvalue Using Inverse Method Through Spreadsheet Excel, Proceeding of the 17th National [13]
- Symposium on Mathematical Science (SKSM 2009), 653-658 (2009).
- [14] K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, R. Abdul-Kahar, Improved Richardson's Eextrapolation spreadsheet calculator for numerical differentiation, AIP Conference Proceedings, 1605, 740-743 (2014).
- [15] K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, R. Abdul-Kahar, M.A. Azlan, M.F. Lee, A Richardson's extrapolation spreadsheet calculator for numerical differentiation, Spreadsheets in Education (eJSiE), 6, 1-5 (2013).
- K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, R. Abdul-Kahar, Numerical differentiation spreadsheet calculator, Proceedings of the National Symposium on Application of [16] Science Mathematics 2008 (SKASM 2013), 111-120 (2013).
- C.K. Ghaddar, Unlocking the spreadsheet utility for calculus: A pure worksheet solver for differential equations, Spreadsheets in Education (eJSiE), 9, [17] -16 (2016)
- [18] K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, R. Abdul-Kahar, A spreadsheet solution of a system of initial value problems using the fourth-order Runge-Kutta method, Spreadsheets in Education (eJSiE), 5, 1-10, (2012).
- K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, Fourth Order Runge-Kutta Method Using Spreadsheet Excel. Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Research and [19] Education in Mathematics (ICREM4). 666-672 (2009). K.G. Tay, T.H. Cheong, M.F. Lee, S.L. Kek, R. Abdul-Kahar, A fourth-order Runge-Kutta (RK4) spreadsheet calculator for solving a system of two
- [20] first-order initial value problems using Visual Basic (VBA) Programming, Spreadsheets in Education (eJSiE), 8, 1-9 (2015). [21] K.G. Tay, S.L. Kek, T.H. Cheong, R. Abdul-Kahar, M. F. Lee, The fourth order Runge-Kutta spreadsheet calculator using VBA programming for initial
- value problems, Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 204, 231-239 (2015).



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma



Elzaki transform combined with variational iteration method for partial differential equations of fractional order

Djelloul Ziane^a, Tarig M. Elzaki^b and Mountassir Hamdi Cherif^{c*}

^aLaboratory of mathematics and its applications (LAMAP), University of Oran1 Ahmed Ben Bella, Oran, 31000, Algeria ^bDepartment of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Alkamil University of Jeddah, Jeddah, P.O. Box 21931, 21931, Saudi Arabia. ^{a,c}Department of Mathematics and Informatics, Electrical and Energy Engineering Graduate School (ESGEE), Oran, Algeria ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: mountassir27@yahoo.fr

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Analytical solution, Caputo fractional derivative, Elzaki transform, Variational iteration method. 2010 AMS: 35A15, 44A05, 34A08, 35G20. Received: 17 April 2018 Accepted: 10 June 2018 Available online: 30 June 2018

The idea, which will be communicated through this paper is to make a change to the proposed method by Tarig M. Elzaki [21] and we extend it to solve nonlinear partial differential equations with time-fractional derivative. This document also includes illustrative examples show us how to apply this method, we also show the interest of combining these two methods is the speed of the calculates the terms, and not calculating the Lagrange multipliers.

1. Introduction

The nonlinear differential equations are a type of equations which are difficult to solve with respect to linear differential equations. Therefore, we find that a lot of researchers are working to discover new methods to enable us to solve this kind of equations. These efforts made, which is still ongoing, resulted in the promotion of this research in many methods, among them, we find the homotopy analysis method, Adomian decomposition method, variational iteration method [7, 8, 9] and homotopy perturbation method, which have become known in a large number of researchers in this area. A new option emerged recently, includes the composition of Laplace transform, Sumudu transform, natural transform or Elzaki transform with these methods. Among wich are the Laplace homotopy analysis method [15], homotopy analysis Sumudu transform method [18], modified fractional homotopy analysis transform method [11], Adomian decomposition method coupled with Laplace transform method [16], Sumudu decomposition method for nonlinear equations [5], Elzaki transform decomposition algorithm [13], natural decomposition method [14], variational iteration method coupled with Laplace transform method [3], Elzaki variational iteration method [21], homotopy perturbation transform method [17], homotopy perturbation Sumudu transform method [10], homotopy perturbation Elzaki transform method [12].

The motivation of this article is to make a change on the method proposed by Elzaki and suggested in [21], and then extend it to solve nonlinear partial differential equations with time-fractional derivative.

The present paper has been organized as follows: In Section 2 some basic definitions of ELzaki transform are montioned. In section 3 we will propose an analysis of the modified method. In section 4 it was presented three examples of application of this method (FEVIM). Finally, the conclusion follows

2. Basic definitions

2.1. Fractional calculus

In this section, we present some basic definitions and properties of fractional calculus [1, 6], and we focus specifically on the definitions of the following concepts: Riemann–Liouville fractional, Caputo fractional derivative, some important results, definition of Elzaki transform and Elzaki transform of fractional derivatives which are used further in this paper.

Definition 2.1. Let $\Omega = [\alpha, \beta]$ $(-\infty < \alpha < \beta < +\infty)$ be a finite interval on the real axis \mathbb{R} . The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral $I^{\rho}h$ of order $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$ $(\rho > 0)$ is defined by

$$(I^{\rho}h)(\tau) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\rho)} \int_{0}^{\tau} \frac{h(\zeta)d\zeta}{(\tau-\zeta)^{1-\rho}}, \quad \tau > 0, \, \rho > 0,$$

$$(I^{0}h)(\tau) = h(\tau),$$

$$(2.1)$$

where $\Gamma(x) = \int_0^\infty \tau^{x-1} e^{-\tau} d\tau$, x > 0, is called the gamma function of Euler.

Theorem 2.2. Let $\rho \ge 0$ and let $m = [\rho] + 1$. If $h(\tau) \in AC^m[\alpha, \beta]$, then the Caputo fractional derivative $({}^cD_{0+}^{\rho}h)(\tau)$ exist almost evrywhere on $[\alpha, \beta]$.

If $\rho \notin \mathbb{N}$, $({}^{c}D^{\rho}_{\tau}h)(\tau)$ is represented by

$$(^{c}D^{\rho}_{\tau}h)(\tau) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-\rho)} \int_{0}^{\tau} \frac{h^{(m)}(\zeta)d\zeta}{(\tau-\zeta)^{\rho-m+1}},$$
(2.2)

where $D = \frac{d}{d\tau}$ and $m = [\rho] + 1$.

Proof. (see [1]).

Remark 2.3. The time-fractional derivative in the Caputo's sense, is given by

$${}^{(c}D^{\rho}_{\tau}w)(\varkappa,\tau) = \frac{\partial^{\rho}w(\varkappa,\tau)}{\partial\tau^{\rho}}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(k-\rho)}\int_{0}^{\tau}(\tau-\zeta)^{k-\rho-1}\frac{\partial^{\rho}w(\varkappa,\zeta)}{\partial\zeta^{\rho}}, \ k-1<\rho< k, \\ \frac{\partial^{k}w(\varkappa,\tau)}{\partial\tau^{k}}, \ \rho=k, \end{cases}$$

$$(2.3)$$

where $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\rho \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

(1) Let $\rho > 0$ and let $m = [\rho] + 1$ for $m \notin \mathbb{N}$, $m = \rho$ for $m \in \mathbb{N}$. If $h(\tau) \in AC^m[\alpha, \beta]$, then

$$(I_{0+}^{\rho}{}^{c}D_{0+}^{\rho}h)(\tau) = h(\tau) - \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{h^{(j)}(0)}{j!}\tau^{j}.$$

 $\begin{aligned} & (2) \ (I^{\rho}_{0+}x^{\lambda-1})(\tau) = \frac{\Gamma(\lambda)}{\Gamma(\lambda+\rho)}\tau^{\lambda+\rho-1}, \rho > 0, \lambda > 0. \\ & (3) \ ({}^{c}D^{\rho}_{0+}x^{\lambda-1})(\tau) = \frac{\Gamma(\lambda)}{\Gamma(\lambda-\rho)}t^{\lambda-\beta-1}, \alpha > 0, \beta > m. \\ & (4) \ ({}^{c}D^{\rho}_{0+}C)(\tau) = 0, \ where \ C \ is \ constant. \end{aligned}$

2.2. Definitions of Elzaki transform

A new integral transform called Elzaki transform [20] defined for functions of exponential order, is proclaimed. They consider functions in the set G defined by

$$G = \left\{ h(\tau) : \exists Q, \ p_1, p_2 > 0, \ |h(\tau)| < Qe^{\frac{|\tau|}{p_i}}, \ if \ \tau \in (-1)^i \times [0, \ \infty) \right\}.$$

Definition 2.4. If $h(\tau)$ is function defined for all $\tau \ge 0$, its Elzaki transform is defined by E[h]

$$E[h(\tau)] = T(s) = s \int_0^\infty h(\tau) e^{-\frac{\tau}{s}} d\tau.$$
(2.4)

Theorem 2.5. Elzaki transform amplifies the coefficients of the power series function

$$h(\tau) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \tau^n, \tag{2.5}$$

on the new integral transform "Elzaki transform", given by

$$E[h(\tau)] = T(\nu) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n! a_n \nu^{n+2}.$$
(2.6)
Theorem 2.6. Let $h(\tau)$ be in G and Let $T_n(v)$ denote Elzaki transform of nth derivative $h^{(n)}(\tau)$ of $h(\tau)$, then for $n \ge 1$,

$$T_n(v) = \frac{T(v)}{v^n} - \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} v^{2-n+j} h^{(j)}(0).$$
(2.7)

By using the integration by parts, Elzaki transform of partial derivative is given as

$$E\left(\frac{\partial h(\varkappa,\tau)}{\partial \tau}\right) = \frac{1}{\nu}T(\varkappa,\nu) - \nu h(\varkappa,0),$$

$$E\left(\frac{\partial^2 h(\varkappa,\tau)}{\partial \tau^2}\right) = \frac{1}{\nu^2}T(\varkappa,\nu) - h(\varkappa,0) - \nu \frac{\partial h(\varkappa,0)}{\partial \tau}$$
(2.8)

2.3. Elzaki transform of fractional derivatives

To give the formula of Elzaki transform of Caputo fractional derivative, we use the Laplace transform formula for the Caputo fractional derivative [6]

$$L\{ ({}^{c}D_{\tau}^{\rho}h)(\tau); u\} = u^{\rho}F(u) - \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} s^{\rho-i-1}f^{(i)}(0),$$

where $n-1 < \rho \leq n, n \in \mathbb{N}^*$.

Theorem 2.7. [19] Let G defined as above. With Laplace transform F(u), then the Elzaki transform T(v) of $h(\tau)$ is given by

$$T(v) = vF(\frac{1}{v}).$$

Theorem 2.8. Suppose T(v) is the Elzaki transform of the function $h(\tau)$ then

$$E\{ (^{c}D_{t}^{\rho}h)(\tau), v\} = \frac{T(v)}{v^{\rho}} - \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} v^{i-\rho+2} h^{(i)}(0).$$
(2.9)

Proof. (see [2]).

3. Fractional Elzaki Variational Iteration Method (FEVIM)

The work that we will do in this paragraph, is to make a change to the method proposed in [21], and we extend to solve nonlinear partial differential equations of order ρ , ($n - 1 < \rho \le n, n = 1, 2, ...$). For this cause, we consider a general nonlinear partial differential equation with time-fractional derivative

$${}^{c}D^{\rho}_{\tau}Z(\varkappa,\tau) + RZ(\varkappa,\tau) + NZ(\varkappa,\tau) = f(\varkappa,\tau), \tag{3.1}$$

subject to the initial conditions

$$\left[\frac{\partial^{n-1}Z(\varkappa,\tau)}{\partial\tau^{n-1}}\right]_{\tau=0} = g_{n-1}(\varkappa), \tag{3.2}$$

where ${}^{c}D_{\tau}^{\rho} = \frac{\partial^{\rho}}{\partial \tau^{\rho}}$ is the Caputo fractional derevative, *R* is the linear differential operator, *N* represents the general nonlinear differential operator, and $g(\varkappa, \tau)$ is the source term.

Applying Elzaki transform on both sides of (3.1), we obtain

$$E\left[{}^{c}D_{\tau}^{\rho}Z(\varkappa,\tau)\right] + E\left[RZ(\varkappa,\tau)\right] + E\left[NZ(\varkappa,\tau)\right] = E\left[f(\varkappa,\tau)\right].$$
(3.3)

Depending on the properties of Elzaki transform, the equation (3.3) becomes

$$E[Z(\varkappa,\tau)] = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} v^{i+2} g_i(\varkappa) + v^{\rho} E[f(\varkappa,\tau)] - v^{\rho} E[RZ(\varkappa,\tau) + NZ(\varkappa,\tau)].$$
(3.4)

Operating with the inverse Elzaki transform on both sides of (3.4), we obtain

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = K(\varkappa,\tau) - E^{-1} \left(\nu^{\rho} E \left[R Z(\varkappa,\tau) + N Z(\varkappa,\tau) \right] \right).$$
(3.5)

where $K(\varkappa, \tau) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} v^{i+2} g_i(\varkappa) + v^{\rho} E[f(\varkappa, \tau)]$. Applying $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ on both sides of (3.5), we have

$$\frac{\partial Z(\varkappa,\tau)}{\partial \tau} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} E^{-1} \left(\nu^{\rho} E\left[R Z(\varkappa,\tau) + N Z(\varkappa,\tau) \right] \right) - \frac{\partial K(\varkappa,\tau)}{\partial \tau} = 0.$$
(3.6)

According to the variational iteration method [8], we can construct a correct functional as follows

$$Z_{m+1}(\varkappa,\tau) = Z_m(\varkappa,\tau) - \int_0^\tau \left[\frac{\partial Z_m}{\partial \zeta} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta} E^{-1} \left(v^{\rho} E \left[R Z_m + N Z_m \right] \right) - \frac{\partial K}{\partial \zeta} \right] d\zeta.$$
(3.7)

Or alternately

$$Z_{m+1}(\varkappa,\tau) = K(\varkappa,\tau) - E^{-1} \left(\nu^{\rho} E \left[R Z_m(\varkappa,\tau) + N Z_m(\varkappa,\tau) \right] \right).$$
(3.8)

Recall that $Z(\varkappa, \tau) = \lim_{m \to \infty} Z_m(\varkappa, \tau).$

According to the preceding limit, we can obtain the exact solution if it exists, or we obtain an approximate solution for the considered equation.

4. Applications

In the following examples, we'll apply the method proposed in the previous paragraph to solve nonlinear time-fractional partial differential equations.

Example 4.1. First, we consider the nonlinear time-fractional partial differential equation

$${}^{c}D^{\rho}_{\tau}Z + ZZ_{\varkappa} - Z_{\varkappa} = 0, \ 0 < \rho \leqslant 1, \tag{4.1}$$

subject to the initial condition

$$Z(\varkappa, 0) = \varkappa + 1. \tag{4.2}$$

If $\rho = 1$, we obtain

$$Z_{\tau} + Z Z_{\varkappa} - Z_{\varkappa} = 0. \tag{4.3}$$

The exact solution of (4.3), is

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = 1 + \frac{\varkappa}{1+\tau}.$$
(4.4)

According to (3.8), we can construct the following formula

$$Z_{m+1}(\varkappa,\tau) = \varkappa + 1 - E^{-1} \left(v^{\rho} E\left[(Z_m - 1) (Z_m)_{\varkappa} \right] \right).$$
(4.5)

Using the iteration formula (4.5), we get

$$Z_{0}(\varkappa, \tau) = \varkappa + 1,$$

$$Z_{1}(\varkappa, \tau) = 1 + \varkappa - \varkappa \frac{\tau^{\rho}}{\Gamma(\rho+1)},$$

$$Z_{2}(\varkappa, \tau) = 1 + \varkappa - \varkappa \frac{\tau^{\rho}}{\Gamma(\rho+1)} + 2\varkappa \frac{\tau^{2\rho}}{\Gamma(2\rho+1)} - \varkappa \frac{\Gamma(2\rho+1)}{\Gamma^{2}(\rho+1)} \frac{\tau^{3\rho}}{\Gamma(3\rho+1)},$$

$$Z_{3}(\varkappa, \tau) = 1 + \varkappa - \varkappa \frac{\tau^{\rho}}{\Gamma(\rho+1)} + 2\varkappa \frac{\tau^{2\rho}}{\Gamma(2\rho+1)} - a_{1}\varkappa \tau^{3\rho} + a_{2}\varkappa \tau^{4\rho} - a_{3}\varkappa \tau^{5\rho} + a_{4}\varkappa \tau^{6\rho} - a_{5}\varkappa \tau^{7\rho},$$

$$(4.6)$$

where $\begin{aligned} a_1 &= \left[\frac{4}{\Gamma(2\rho+1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma^2(\rho+1)}\right] \frac{\Gamma(2\rho+1)}{\Gamma(3\rho+1)}, a_2 = \left[\frac{4}{\Gamma(\rho+1)\Gamma(2\rho+1)} + \frac{2\Gamma(2\rho+1)}{\Gamma^2(\rho+1)\Gamma(3\rho+1)}\right] \frac{\Gamma(3\rho+1)}{\Gamma(4\rho+1)}, \\ a_3 &= \left[\frac{2\Gamma(2\rho+1)}{\Gamma^3(\rho+1)\Gamma(3\rho+1)} + \frac{4}{\Gamma^2(2\rho+1)}\right] \frac{\Gamma(4\rho+1)}{\Gamma(5\rho+1)}, a_4 = \frac{4}{\Gamma^2(\rho+1)\Gamma(3\rho+1)} \times \frac{\Gamma(5\rho+1)}{\Gamma(6\rho+1)}, \\ a_5 &= \frac{\Gamma^2(2\rho+1)}{\Gamma^4(\rho+1)\Gamma^2(3\rho+1)} \times \frac{\Gamma(6\rho+1)}{\Gamma(7\rho+1)}. \end{aligned}$ Recall that, the exact solution of Eq.(4.1) is calculated by

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau)=\lim_{m\to\infty}Z_m(\varkappa,\tau).$$

From (4.6), the approximate solution of (4.1), is

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = 1 + \varkappa - \varkappa \frac{\tau^{\rho}}{\Gamma(\rho+1)} + 2\varkappa \frac{\tau^{2\rho}}{\Gamma(2\rho+1)} - a_1 \varkappa \tau^{3\rho} + a_2 \varkappa \tau^{4\rho} - a_3 \varkappa \tau^{5\rho} + a_4 \varkappa \tau^{6\rho} - a_5 \varkappa \tau^{7\rho} \cdots$$

and in the special case $\rho = 1$, is

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = 1 + \varkappa \left(1 - \tau + \tau^2 - \tau^3 + \frac{2}{3}\tau^4 - \frac{1}{3}\tau^5 + \frac{1}{9}\tau^6 - \frac{1}{63}\tau^7 + \cdots\right).$$

When $m \rightarrow +\infty$, we get the following exact solution

$$Z(arkappa, au) = 1 + rac{arkappa}{1+ au}, \ | au| < 1.$$

which is an exact solution to the nonlinear partial differential equation.



Figure 4.1: (a) Exact solution, (b) The approximate solution in the case $\rho = 1$, (c) The exact solution and approximate solutions to (4.1) for different values of ρ when $\varkappa = 1$. From (c) noted that the graphics have changed his position based on ρ values, if ρ took values closer to 1, we see that the graph corresponding to this value is barely graphical representation of the exact solution.

Example 4.2. Next, we consider the nonlinear time-fractional partial differential equation

$${}^{c}D_{\tau}^{\alpha}Z + \frac{2}{\tau}ZZ_{\varkappa} = 0, \ \tau > 0, \ \varkappa \neq 0, \ 1 < \rho \leqslant 2,$$
(4.7)

with

$$Z(\varkappa, 0) = 0, \ Z_{\tau}(\varkappa, 0) = \frac{1}{\varkappa}.$$
(4.8)

If $\rho = 2$, we obtain

$$Z_{\tau} + \frac{2}{\tau} Z Z_{\varkappa} = 0, \ \tau > 0, \ \varkappa \neq 0$$
(4.9)

The exact solution of (4.9), is

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = \tan\left(\frac{\tau}{\varkappa}\right). \tag{4.10}$$

According to (3.8), we can construct the iteration formula as follows

$$Z_{m+1} = \frac{\tau}{\varkappa} - E^{-1} \left[\nu^{\rho} E\left[\frac{2}{\tau} Z_m(Z_m)_{\varkappa} \right] \right].$$
(4.11)

Using the iteration formula (4.11), we obtain

$$Z_{0}(\varkappa,\tau) = \frac{\tau}{\varkappa},$$

$$Z_{1}(\varkappa,\tau) = \frac{\tau}{\varkappa} + \frac{2}{\varkappa^{3}} \frac{\tau^{\rho+1}}{\Gamma(\rho+2)},$$

$$Z_{2}(\varkappa,\tau) = \frac{\tau}{\varkappa} + \frac{2}{\Gamma(\rho+2)} \frac{\tau^{\rho+1}}{\varkappa^{3}} + \frac{16}{\Gamma(2\rho+2)} \frac{\tau^{2\rho+1}}{\varkappa^{5}} + \frac{24\Gamma(2\rho+2)}{\Gamma^{2}(\rho+2)\Gamma(3\rho+2)} \frac{\tau^{3\rho+1}}{\varkappa^{7}},$$

$$\vdots$$

The approximate solution is giveb by

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = \frac{\tau}{\varkappa} + \frac{2}{\Gamma(\rho+2)} \frac{\tau^{\rho+1}}{\varkappa^3} + \frac{16}{\Gamma(2\rho+2)} \frac{\tau^{2\rho+1}}{\varkappa^5} + \frac{24\Gamma(2\rho+2)}{\Gamma^2(\rho+2)\Gamma(3\rho+2)} \frac{\tau^{3\rho+1}}{\varkappa^7} + \dots$$
(4.12)

As $\rho \longrightarrow 2$, we obtain

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = \frac{\tau}{\varkappa} + \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{\tau}{\varkappa}\right)^3 + \frac{2}{15} \left(\frac{\tau}{\varkappa}\right)^5 + \frac{1}{63} \left(\frac{\tau}{\varkappa}\right)^7$$

And in closed form, is given by

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = \tan\left(\frac{\tau}{\varkappa}\right)$$

we get the exact solution of (4.7) when $\rho = 2$.



Figure 4.2: (a') Exact solution, (b') the approximate solution in the case $\rho = 2$, (c') The exact solution and approximate solutions to (4.7) for different values of ρ when $\varkappa = 2$. From (c') noted that the graphics have changed his position based on ρ values, if ρ took values closer to 2, we see that the graph corresponding to this value is barely graphical representation of the exact solution.

Example 4.3. finally, we consider the nonlinear time-fractional partial differential equation

$${}^{c}D_{\tau}^{\rho}Z - \frac{3}{8}\left[(Z_{\varkappa\varkappa})^{2} \right]_{\varkappa} = \frac{3}{2}\tau, \ 2 < \rho \leqslant 3,$$
(4.13)

with

$$Z(\varkappa,0) = \frac{1}{2}\varkappa^2, \ Z_{\tau}(\varkappa,0) = \frac{1}{3}\varkappa^3, \ Z_{\tau\tau}(\varkappa,0) = 0.$$
(4.14)

If $\rho = 3$, we obtain

$$Z_{\tau\tau\tau} - \frac{3}{8} \left[(Z_{\varkappa\varkappa})^2 \right]_{\varkappa} = \frac{3}{2} \tau.$$
(4.15)

According to (3.8), we can construct the following iteration formula

$$Z_{m+1} = -\frac{1}{2}\varkappa^2 + \frac{1}{3}\varkappa^3 \tau + \frac{3}{2}\frac{\tau^{\rho+1}}{\Gamma(\rho+2)} - E^{-1}\left(\nu^{\rho}E\left[-\frac{3}{8}\left[(Z_{m\varkappa\varkappa})^2\right]_{\varkappa}\right]\right).$$
(4.16)

Use the (4.16) to get

$$Z_{0}(\varkappa, \tau) = -\frac{1}{2}\varkappa^{2} + \frac{1}{3}\varkappa^{3}\tau,$$

$$Z_{1}(\varkappa, \tau) = -\frac{1}{2}\varkappa^{2} + \frac{1}{3}\varkappa^{3}\tau + 6\varkappa \frac{\tau^{\rho+2}}{\Gamma(\rho+3)},$$

$$Z_{2}(\varkappa, \tau) = -\frac{1}{2}\varkappa^{2} + \frac{1}{3}\varkappa^{3}\tau + 6\varkappa \frac{\tau^{\rho+2}}{\Gamma(\rho+3)},$$

$$Z_{3}(\varkappa, \tau) = -\frac{1}{2}\varkappa^{2} + \frac{1}{3}\varkappa^{3}\tau + 6\varkappa \frac{\tau^{\rho+2}}{\Gamma(\rho+3)},$$

$$\vdots$$
(4.17)

The approximate solution in a series form, is given by

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = -\frac{1}{2}\varkappa^2 + \frac{1}{3}\varkappa^3\tau + 6\varkappa\frac{\tau^{\rho+2}}{\Gamma(\rho+3)}.$$
(4.18)

As $\rho \longrightarrow 3$, we obtain the following exact solution

$$Z(\varkappa,\tau) = \frac{1}{20} \varkappa \tau^{5} + \frac{1}{3} \varkappa^{3} \tau - \frac{1}{2} \varkappa^{2}$$

That gives the exact solution of (4.13) when $\rho = 3$.



Figure 4.3: (a") Exact solution, (b") the approximate solution in the case $\rho = 2.90$, (c") The exact solution and approximate solutions to (4.13) for different values of ρ when $\varkappa = 1$. From (c") noted that the graphics have changed his position based on ρ values, if ρ took values closer to 3, we see that the graph corresponding to this value is barely graphical representation of the exact solution.

5. Conclusion

Coupling of Variational Iteration Method and Elzaki Transform, to be an effective method for solving nonlinear partial differential equations with time-fractional derivative. The proposed algorithm is suitable for such problems and is very efficient. From the results, it is clear that the FVIETM yields very accurate approximate solutions using only a few iterates. It provides a solution as a more realistic series, which converges rapidly to the exact solution.

References

- [1] A. A. Kilbas, H. M. Srivastava and J. J. Trujillo, Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2006.
- [2] A. Neamaty, B. Agheli and R. Darzi, New Integral Transform for Solving Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations of fractional order, Theor. Appr. Appl. 10(1), (2014), 69-86.
- [3] A. S. Abedl-Rady, S. Z. Rida, A. A. M. Arafa and H. R Abedl-Rahim, Variational Iteration Sumudu Transform Method for Solving Fractional Nonlinear Gas Dynamics Equation, Int. J. Res. Stu. Sci. Eng. Tech. 1 (2014), 82-90.
- [4] A. S. Arife and A. Yildirim, New Modified Variational Iteration Transform Method (MVITM) for solving eighth-order Boundary value problems in one Step, W. Appl. Sci. J. 13 (2011), 2186 -2190.
- [5] D. Kumar, J. Singh and S. Rathore, Sumudu Decomposition Method for Nonlinear Equations, Int. Math. For. 7 (2012), 515-521.
- [6] I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential Equations, Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 1999.
- [7] J. H. He and X. H. Wu, Variational iteration method: new development and applications, Comput. Math. Appl. 54(7/8), (2007), 881-894.
- [8] J. H. He, A variational iteration approach to nonlinear problems and its applications, Mech. Appl. 20(1), (1998), 30-31
- [9] J. H. He, Variational iteration method for autonomous ordinary differential systems, Appl. Math. Comput. 114(2/3), (2000), 115-123.
- [10] J. Singh, D. Kumar and Sushila, Homotopy Perturbation Sumudu Transform Method for Nonlinear Equations, Adv. Theor. Appl. Mech. 4 (2011),
- 165-175. [11] K. Wang and S. Liu, Application of new iterative transform method and modified fractional homotopy analysis transform method for fractional Fornberg-Whitham equation, J. Nonlinear. Sci. Appl. 9 (2016), 2419-2433.
- [12] P. K. G. Bhadane and V. H. Pradhan, Elzaki Trusform Homotopy Perturbation Method for Solving Porous Medium Equation, Int. J. Res. Eng. Tech. **2**(12), (2013), 116-119.
- [13] M. Khalid, M. Sultana, F. Zaidi and U. Arshad, An Elzaki Transform Decomposition Algorithm Applied to a Class of Non-Linear Differential Equations, J. of Natural Sci. Res. 5 (2015), 48-55.

- [14] M. S. Rawashdeh S. Maitama, Solving Coupled System of Nonliear PDEs Using the Naturel Decomposition Method, Int. J. of Pure. Appl. Math. 92(5), (2014), 757-776.
- [15] M. Zurigat, Solving Fractional Oscillators Using Laplace Homotopy Analysis Method, Annals of the Univ. Craiova. Math. Comp. Sci. Series. 38 (2011), [16] S. A. Khuri, A Laplace decomposition algorithm applied to a class of nonlinear differential equations, J. Math. Annl. Appl. 4 (2001), 141-155.
 [17] S. Kumar, A. Yildirim, Y. Khan and L. Weid, A fractional model of the diffusion equation and its analytical solution using Laplace transform, Scientia Iranica B. 19 (2012), 1117-1123.
 [18] S. Pattere, D. Kumar, A. Sinder, C. Serter, Humatere Anglesia, Served a Tempform Method for Method for Methods and L. Veider, A (2012).
- S. Rathore, D. Kumar, J. Singh and S. Gupta, Homotopy Analysis Sumudu Transform Method for Nonlinear Equations, Int. J. Industrial. Math. 4 (2012), [18]
- [10] S. Kathar, J. Shigh and S. Oupla, Homotopy Analysis Sumula Transform Method for Nonlinear Equations, Inc. 5: Industrial: Math. 4 (2012), 301-314.
 [19] T. M. Elzaki and S. M. Elzaki, On the Connections Between Laplace and ELzaki Transforms, Adv. Theor. Appl. Math. 6(1), (2014), 1-10.
 [20] T. M. Elzaki, S. M. Elzaki and E. A. Elnour, On the New Integral Transform "ELzaki Transform" Fundamental Properties Investigations and Applications, Glo. J. Math. Sci. 4 (2012), 1-13.
 [21] T. M. Elzaki, The Solution of Radial Diffusivity and Shock Wave Equations by Elzaki Variational Iteration Method, Int. J. Math. Analy. 9(22), (2015), 1065-1071.